
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL
RHONDDA CYNON TAF

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

A meeting of the CABINET will be held at the Council Chamber, The Pavilions, 
Cambrian Park, Clydach Vale, Tonypandy, CF40 2XX

Thursday, 24th January, 2019 at 1.00 pm

Contact: Emma Wilkins - Principal Executive & Regulatory Business Officer (Tel No. 
01443 424110)

Councillors and members of the public wishing to request the facility to 
address the Cabinet on any of the business as listed below, must request to do 
so by 5pm on the Tuesday, 22 January 2019 Councillors and Members of the 
public should stipulate if this address will be in the medium of English or 
Welsh.
It must be noted that the facility to address the Cabinet is at the discretion of 
the Chair and each request will be considered based on the agenda items 
being considered, the public interest/interest of the member in each matter and 
the demands of the business on that day. To make such a request please 
email:- ExecutiveandRegulatoryBusinessUnit@rctcbc.gov.uk

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
To receive disclosures of personal interest from Members in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct.

Note:

1. Members are requested to identify the item number and subject 
matter that their interest relates to and signify the nature of the 
personal interest; and

2. Where Members withdraw from a meeting as a consequence of 
the disclosure of a prejudicial interest they must  notify the 
Chairman when they leave.

2. MINUTES 
To receive the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on the 18th 
December, 2018 as an accurate record.

(Pages 5 - 16)

mailto:ExecutiveandRegulatoryBusinessUnit@rctcbc.gov.uk
mailto:ExecutiveandRegulatoryBusinessUnit@rctcbc.gov.uk


3. PROPOSALS TO ESTABLISH PRIMARY EDUCATION PROVISION 
FOR THE LLANILID HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
To receive the report of the Director, Education and Inclusion Services 
advising Members of the outcome of the recent consultation in respect 
of proposals to establish new primary education provision to serve the 
new housing development at Llanilid, Llanharan.

(Pages 17 - 76)
4. 21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS PROGRAMME - PROPOSALS TO 

IMPROVE EDUCATION PROVISION IN CYNON VALLEY 
To receive the report of the Chief Executive advising Members of the 
outcome of the recent consultation in respect of proposals to improve 
education provision in the Cynon Valley.

(Pages 77 - 204)
5. PROPOSAL TO RE-ALIGN LEARNING SUPPORT CLASS 

PROVISION WITHIN RCT 
To receive the report of the Director, Education & Inclusion Services 
advising Members of the outcome of the recent consultation in respect 
of the proposal to realign the mainstream Learning Support Class (LSC) 
provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT).

(Pages 205 - 426)
6. KEY STAGE 4 AND KEY STAGE 5 EXAMINATION RESULTS AND 

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION FOR 
2018 
To receive the report of the Director, Education & Inclusion Services 
providing Members with the final confirmation of Key Stage 4 and Key 
Stage 5 examination results for 2017-18 and the Welsh Government 
Primary and Secondary School Categorisation for 2018-19.

(Pages 427 - 440)
7. NATIONAL ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018 AND THE 

VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF REGIONAL ADOPTION 
COLLABORATIVE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18 
To receive the report of the Group Director, Community & Children’s 
Services providing Members with an update on the progress of the Vale, 
Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption Collaborative through the Annual 
Reports.

(Pages 441 - 494)
8. THE INTRODUCTION OF FIXED PENALTY NOTICES TO DEAL WITH 

SMALL SCALE FLY-TIPPING 
To receive the report of the Director of Highways and Streetcare 
advising Members of new legislative powers available and to consider 
the range of measures to improve the approach to address fly-tipping 
across the Authority.

(Pages 495 - 500)



9. PORTH TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION STRATEGY 
To receive the report of the Director, Regeneration, Planning and 
Housing providing Members with the feedback of the public consultation 
undertaken in respect of the draft Porth Town Centre Strategy.

(Pages 501 - 580)
10. TO CONSIDER PASSING THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION: 

“That the press and public be excluded from the meeting under Section 
100A(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
the exempt information as defined in paragraph 12  and 13  of Part 4 of 
the Schedule 12A of the Act”.

11. REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S SENIOR AND ASSOCIATED 
MANAGEMENT POST STRUCTURE - UPDATE 
To receive the report of the Chief Executive, containing exempt 
information, providing Members with an update on the review of the 
Council’s Senior and Associated Management Post Structure.

(Pages 581 - 592)
12. URGENT ITEMS 

To consider any urgent business as the Chairman feels appropriate.

Director of Communications & Interim Head of Democratic Services



Circulation:-

Councillors: Councillor A Morgan (Chair)
Councillor M Webber (Vice-Chair)
Councillor R Bevan
Councillor A Crimmings
Councillor G Hopkins
Councillor M Norris
Councillor J Rosser
Councillor R Lewis
Councillor C Leyshon

Officers: Chris Bradshaw, Chief Executive
Chris Jones, Director, Legal & Democratic Services
Christian Hanagan, Director of Communications & Interim Head of 
Democratic Services
Chris Lee, Group Director Corporate & Frontline Services
Gio Isingrini, Group Director Community & Children's Services
Colin Atyeo, Director of Corporate Estates & Procurement
Esther Thomas, Temporary Service Director for Access & Inclusion 
Services
Jane Cook, Director, Regeneration, Planning & Housing
Nigel Wheeler, Director of Highways & Streetcare Services
Paul Mee, Director, Public Health, Protection & Community 
Services
Richard Evans, Director of Human Resources
Simon Gale, Service Director, Planning
Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services
Derek James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity



 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL CABINET 
Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet meeting held on  Tuesday, 18 December 2018 at 10.30 am at 

the Council Chamber, The Pavilions, Cambrian Park, Clydach Vale, Tonypandy, CF40 2XX. 
 
 

County Borough Councillors - Cabinet Members in attendance:- 
 

Councillor A Morgan (Chair) 
 

Councillor M Webber Councillor R Bevan 
Councillor A Crimmings Councillor G Hopkins 

Councillor M Norris Councillor J Rosser 
Councillor R Lewis Councillor C Leyshon 

 
 

Officers in attendance 
 

Mr C Bradshaw, Chief Executive 
Mr C Jones, Director, Legal & Democratic Services 

Mr C Lee, Group Director Corporate & Frontline Services 
Mr G Isingrini, Group Director Community & Children's Services 

Mr N Wheeler, Director of Highways & Streetcare Services 
Mr P Mee, Director, Public Health, Protection & Community Services 

Mr R Evans, Director of Human Resources 
Mr. M. Phillips, Revenues Services Manager 

Ms G Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity 

Ms A Batley, Service Director, Children's Services 
Mr D Batten, Head of Leisure 

Ms L Davies, Head of Public Protection 
Ms Z Lancelott, Head of Engagement & Participation 

Ms A Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools 
Mr A Cope – Regional Development Manager –Fostering Services 

Ms A Browning – Head of Service, Looked After Children 
 

Others in attendance 
 

Councillor P Jarman 
Councillor M Weaver 
Councillor E Webster 

 
Mr D  Lewis-Rowlands (RCT Member of the UK Youth Parliament) 

 
92   Declaration of Interest  

 
 

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, the following declarations of 
interest were made pertaining to agenda item 12:- 
 

• County Borough Councillor R Bevan declared a personal interest in the 
matter and remained in the meeting when the item was discussed and 
voted upon:  “A family Member works as a Senior Officer within the 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

Authority although the post is not referenced within the report”. 
 
The following officers declared a personal and pecuniary interest in this 
matter and left the meeting when the matter was discussed and voted 
upon: 
• Mr C Lee – Group Director, Corporate & Frontline Services 
• Mr G Isingrini – Group Director, Community & Children’s Services 
• Mr C Jones – Director, Legal & Democratic Services 
• Mr N Wheeler – Director, Highways & Streetcare Services 
• Ms G Davies - Director, Education & Inclusion Services 
• Mr P Mee - Director, Public Health, Protection & Community Services 
• Mr D James - Head of Regeneration & Prosperity 
• Mr D Batten - Head of Leisure, Parks & Countryside 
• Mr M Phillips  Head of Service – Revenue & Benefits 
• Ms L Davies – Head of Public Protection 
 
The following officers declared personal and pecuniary interests in this 
matter but remained present whilst the report was considered in order to 
advise Cabinet:- 
 
• Mr C Bradshaw – Chief Executive 
• Mr R Evans – Director, Human Resources 

 
 

93   MINUTES  
 

 

 The Cabinet RESOLVED to approve the minutes of the 21st November, 2018 as 
an accurate reflection of the meeting. 
 

 

94   CONSULTATION ON VOTES AT 16  
 

 

 The Head of Community Wellbeing and Resilience, together with Mr D  Lewis-
Rowlands (RCT Member of the UK Youth Parliament) provided Members with an 
overview of the outcomes of the Votes at 16 Consultation in response to the UK 
Youth Parliament National Make Your Mark Campaign.  
 
Members were advised of an 8 week consultation with all residents of the 
County Borough, with  452 young people engaging in the consultation and 161 
adults.   The RCT Member of the UK Youth Parliament commented that  349 
young people were in support of the votes at 16.  It was also highlighted that a  
large concern from residents of Rhondda Cynon Taf regarding the Votes at 16 
campaign relates to their belief that there is a lack of education and information 
available to everyone, not just young people.  A commitment to improve 
education and more readily available information could have a significant 
positive impact on voter engagement including the 5,253 potential additional 
voters within Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children & Young People welcomed the consultation 
feedback and also took the opportunity to thank Mr Lewis-Rowlands for his 
contributions to RCT through the Youth Forums.  The Cabinet Member spoke of 
taking forward a piece of work in respect of improving education, awareness and 
information for residents across the County Borough in respect of voting rights 
and democracy. 
 

 

Page 6



 

County Borough Councillor P Jarman also spoke on this item. 
 
Following discussions it was RESOLVED: 
 
 

1. To support the Rhondda Cynon Taf County Youth Forum with its Votes at 
16 campaign activities by promoting them via the Council’s formal 
communication channels including the corporate website and social 
media platforms. 
 

2. To support the Rhondda Cynon Taf County Youth Forum to conduct 
further research into the type of information members of the public would 
like to see available to improve their knowledge and understanding of 
voting in response to the consultation findings. 
 

3. To make a commitment to improve the information and communication 
available to residents of all ages on politics, local government and voting 
within Rhondda Cynon Taf prior to the next election period. 

 
 

95   HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2018-2022  
 

 

 The Head of Public Protection advised members of the statutory duty placed 
upon the Council under the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 to undertake a 
homelessness review for its area, advising of the subsequent Homelessness 
Strategy formulated through the reviews findings.   Members were informed that  
there was a further duty on the Council to formulate and adopt a Homelessness 
Strategy that would prevent homelessness and ensure suitable accommodation 
and satisfactory support is available for people who are or who may become 
homeless. 
 
Members were referred to the Strategy within the report and details of the 
consultation undertaken with the relevant stakeholders was highlighted.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Stronger Communities, Well-being & Cultural Services 
commented on the strategy and the pressures and demands placed on services, 
commenting on the importance of having  a strategy which was ‘fit for purpose’ 
in place.  The Cabinet Member spoke of the preventative measures and the 
need to support those most vulnerable. 
 
The Leader also commented on the service and the valuable and hard work 
taking place behind the scenes. 
 
Following discussions it was AGREED: 
 

1. To note the feedback in respect of the Draft Homelessness Strategy 
2018-2022 from the Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee held on 
the 6th November 2018 and the actions taken in response, as detailed in 
paragraph 6.4 of the report. 
 

2. To approve the Rhondda Cynon Taf Homelessness Strategy 2018-2022 
(attached as Appendix 1 of the report). 

 
 

 

Page 7



 

96   OUT & ABOUT TWO: THE RIGHTS OF WAY IMPROVEMENT PLAN FOR 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF 2019-2029  
 

 

 The Head of Leisure, Parks & Countryside provided Members with an overview 
of his report in respect of the recent review undertaken on the Council’s Rights 
of way Improvement plan. 
 
Members were informed of the key themes for action taken forward within the 
plan and the consultation taken forward to help shape its contents with the 
public, consultees and the Public Service Delivery, Communities & Prosperity 
Scrutiny Committee.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment, Leisure & Heritage Services  welcomed 
the revised plan and the responses received during the consultation highlighting 
the importance and value the public place on the ‘out doors’ of the County 
Borough.  The Cabinet Member spoke of the positive work undertaken with 
volunteering, tourism and the popularity of short walks all impacting on the 
positive wellbeing of the residents of Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 
Members RESOLVED: 
 

1. To endorse to Council the adoption of the ‘Out & About Two: The Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan for Rhondda Cynon Taf 2019-2029’. 

 

 

97   A COUNCIL WIDE PLAN FOR THE DELIVERY OF ACCESSIBLE ARTIFICIAL 
TURF PITCHES (ATP) AND 3G PITCHES  
 

 

 The Head of Leisure, Parks & Countryside provided Members with an overview 
of his report which proposed  the development of a Council wide plan for full 
public access to artificial turf pitches (ATP) and 3G pitches with a common 
pricing policy. 
 
Members were advised that through a collaborative approach between Leisure 
and Parks with 21st Century Schools, the Council has invested in the 
development of 3G pitches over the last 3 years, committing to achieve its aim of 
every resident to live within a 3-mile radius of a 3G pitch. The Head of Leisure, 
Parks & Countryside proceeded to advise Members of the proposal to develop a  
public access plan for ATP and 3G pitches across the County Borough.  The 
proposal would ensure that schools would access the facilities for curriculum and 
extra-curriculum sessions (8am – 5pm) with full public access from 5pm on 
weeknights and over the weekend (9am – 5pm on both days).   
 
The Officer further discussed the pricing policy as detailed within the report 
discussing the rationale for the pricing policy going forward. To offset any 
potential concerns from the users the Head of Service proposed that the revised 
prices be introduced from April 2019 and be frozen until April 2021. 
 
The Cabinet Member Environment, Leisure & Heritage Services referenced the 
importance the Council places on the Health & Well Being of its residents, 
commenting on the proposals within the report of improving access for all 
residents.  The Cabinet Member spoke on the facilities available and the 
possibility for residents to continue with their sporting activities on the 3G pitches 
regardless of the weather.  She added that full public access alongside 
streamlined administration procedures would ensure that access to top quality 
sports facilities are maximised by those that live, work and visit Rhondda Cynon 

 

Page 8



 

Taf. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education & Young People welcomed the proposals 
although commented on the concerns raised by some schools in respect of the 
income and potential administration burden.  The Cabinet Member clarified that 
the administration of the pitches would be taken forward by the Council and that 
any financial impact would be minimised. 
 
The Leader and Deputy Leader also spoke positively on the proposals and the 
importance of ensuring the provisions are accessible for the schools and the 
whole communities.  The Leader referenced the efficiency savings that would be 
achieved through the Council administration of the proposals. 
 
It was RESOLVED: 
 

1. To approve the proposed full public access plan alongside the common 
pricing policy for ATP and 3G pitches as set out in Section 5 of the 
report. 
 

2. That Leisure and Parks, with 21st Century Schools, continually engage 
with Secondary Schools in the development and implementation of the 
proposed full public access plan and common pricing policy. 

 
98   CABINET WORK PROGRAMME: 2018- 19  

 
 

 The Director, Legal & Democratic Services provided Cabinet Members with a 
draft work programme for the 2018-19 Municipal Year, which listed matters 
requiring consideration by Cabinet. The Director commented that utilising the 
programme assists with openness and transparency of the decision making 
process within the Council and gives greater opportunity for Pre-Scrutiny.  
 
Members RESOLVED: 
 

1. To  approve the Work Programme for the 2018-19 Municipal Year 
(with appropriate amendment where necessary) and receive a 
further update on a 3 monthly basis. 

 

 

99   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 

 RESOLVED – that the press and public be excluded from the meeting under 
Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 (as amended) for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure 
of exempt information, as defined in: Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act, 1972 (as amended), namely information relating to 
the financial affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). Transparency in the conduct of local authority business is 
desirable; however, personal financial information will be discussed and 
considered. Consequently it is considered; the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing information by virtue of 
which the meeting is likely not to be open to the public during its consideration. 
 
 

 

100   MOUNTAIN ASH TOWN CENTRE: DRAFT REGENERATION FRAMEWORK  
 

 

Page 9



 

 The Head of Regeneration, Housing & Property provided Members with 
an overview of his report which contained exempt information.  The report 
provided Members with the draft regeneration framework which 
coordinated the current investment package that would deliver 
improvements for Mountain Ash Town Centre 
 
Following consideration of the Report by Cabinet Members it was 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To the Mountain Ash Town Centre Regeneration Framework as a basis 
for coordinating and delivering the schemes as set out within the 
document. 
 

2. To initiate a planning application on the proposals to redevelop the site of 
Rhos Square. 
 

3. To take all necessary steps to secure the making, confirmation and 
implementation of a CPO, if negotiations to acquire the land identified on 
the plan at Appendix 1 of the report fail.   
 

(N.B. With the agreement of the Chair, County Borough Councillor P Jarman 
spoke on this item.) 
 

 

101   FOSTERING SERVICES - REGIONAL COLLABORATION TO CREATE A 
FRONT DOOR FOR FOSTER CARER RECRUITMENT  
 

 

 The Regional Development Manager - Fostering   Services and Service Director 
Children’s Services  provided Members with an overview of their report which 
contained exempt information.  The report provided Cabinet with a proposal to 
create a Cwm Taf Regional front door for Fostering Services. 
 
Following consideration of the report it was RESOLVED: 
 
 

1. To note the information contained within the report and to give formal 
approval to commence specific proposals to work collaboratively with 
MTCBC to create a regional front door for fostering recruitment enquiries, 
consisting of a call centre function, recruitment officer and marketing 
officer.  
 

2. To terminate all elements of the current contract arrangements and bring 
the assessment of potential foster carers back in house to RCTCBC. 

 

 

102   WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS  
 

 

 The Group Director, Corporate & Frontline Services provided Members with a 
position statement on  irrecoverable debt which contained exempt information. 
 
Following consideration of the report it was RESOLVED: 
 

1. To write-off the accounts as set out in the attached schedule to the 
appropriate Bad Debt Provision contained within the Council’s accounts ( 
and if further information on any debt becomes available, payment to be 
pursued). 

 

Page 10



 

 
 
 

 
103   REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S SENIOR AND ASSOCIATED MANAGEMENT 

POST STRUCTURE  
 

  
The Chief Executive provided Members with his report which contained exempt 
information, outlining the proposed revisions to the Council’s Senior and 
Associated Management post structure. Members were advised that 
Implementation of the proposed revised structures would provide an overall 
estimated reduction in annual management costs at the Senior and Associated 
Management grade levels of £404,604 (inclusive of on-costs). 
 
Following consideration of the report it was RESOLVED: 
 

 
1. That the revised directorate structures shown at Appendices 2(i), 2(ii), 2 (iii) 

and 2(iv) to the report be implemented from April 2019, subject to the 
necessary staff consultation process. Implementation of these revised 
structures would provide an overall estimated reduction in annual 
management costs at the Senior and Associated Management grade levels 
of £404,604 (inclusive of on-costs); 
 

2. To note that as part of the ongoing efficiency savings programme (and 
subject to any required approval of the Council’s Appointment’s Committee), 
these revisions would result in the deletion of the following posts with effect 
from April 2019 from the Council’s structure: 

 
i) Director of Legal & Democratic Services (Director Level 1); 
ii) Head of Legal Services - Litigation, Community & Children, Planning 

& Environment (Head of Service Level 1); 
iii) Head of Legal Services - Corporate, Democratic Services, 

Information Governance, Elections & Business Support (Head of 
Service Level 1); 

iv) Director of Corporate Estates & Procurement (Director Level 1); 
v) Service Director – Corporate Design & Maintenance (Service 

Director Level 2); 
vi) Head of Procurement & Energy (Head of Service Level 1) x 0.6 FTE; 
vii) Group Director – Corporate & Frontline Services (Group Director 

grade); 
viii) Director of Highways & Streetcare (Director Level 2); 
ix) Director of Regeneration & Planning (Director Level 1); and 
x) Service Director – Planning (Service Director Level 2); 

 
3. To note that emanating from the decision in 1. above Cabinet have 

authorised: 
 

i. The amendment of the post of Head of Legal Services – Planning & 
Environment (Head of Service Level 2) to Head of Legal Services 
(Head of Service Level 1); 
 

ii. The amendment of the post of Service Director – Cabinet Office & 
Public Relations (Service Director Level 2) to Service Director – 

 

Page 11



 

Democratic Services & Communications (Service Director Level 2); 
 

iii. The amendment of the post of Head of Payroll & Pensions (Head of 
Service Level 1) to Service Director – Pensions, Procurement & 
Transactional Services (Service Director Level 2); 

 
iv. The amendment of the post of Head of Audit & Procurement Delivery 

(Head of Service Level 2) to Head of Procurement Delivery (Head of 
Service Level 1); 

 
v. The amendment of the post of Service Director – Highways & 

Streetcare (Service Director Level 2) to Service Director – Highways 
& Streetcare (Service Director Level 1); 

 
vi. The amendment of the post of Head of Streetcare (Head of Service 

Level 1) to Service Director – Streetcare Services (Service Director 
Level 2); 

 
vii. The amendment of the post of Head of Strategic Investment Projects 

(Head of Service Level 2) to Head of Strategic Investments (Head of 
Service Level 1); 

 
viii. The amendment of the post of Head of Regeneration & Prosperity 

(Head of Service Level 1) to Service Director – Prosperity and 
Development (Service Director Level 2); 

 
ix. The amendment of the post of Director of Financial Services 

(Director Level 2) to Director of Finance & Digital Services (Director 
Level 1); 

 
x. The amendment of the post of Service Director – Resources & 

Performance Services (Service Director Level 2) to Service Director 
– Finance & Improvement Services (Service Director Level 1); 

 
xi. The amendment of the post of Head of ICT (Head of Service Level 

1) to Service Director – ICT & Digital Services (Service Director 
Level 2); 

 
xii. The amendment of the post of Service Director – Children’s Services 

(Service Director Level 1) to Director of Children’s Services (Director 
Level 2); 

 
xiii. The amendment of the post of Service Director - Adult Services 

(Service Director Level 1) to Director of Adult Services (Director 
Level 2); 

 
xiv. The amendment of the post of Head of Transformation Services 

(Head of Service Level 1) to Head of Children Looked After (Head of 
Service Level1); 

 
xv. The amendment of the post of Head of Assessment & Direct 

Services (Head of Service Level 1) to Head of Care & Support (Head 
of Service Level1); 

 
xvi. The amendment of the post of Head of Assessment & Care Planning 

Page 12



 

(Head of Service Level 1) to Head of Intensive Intervention (Head of 
Service Level 1); 

 
xvii. The amendment of the post of Head of Environmental Health & 

Trading Standards (Head of Service Level 2) to Service Director – 
Public Protection Services (Service Director Level 2); 

 
xviii. The amendment of the post of Head of Community Learning (Head 

of Service Level 1) to Service Director – Community Services 
(Service Director Level 2); 

 
xix. The amendment of the post of Head of Participation & Engagement 

(Head of Service Level 1) to Head of Community Wellbeing & 
Resilience (Head of Service Level1); 

 
xx. The creation of the post of Director of Legal Services (Director Level 

2); 
 

xxi. The creation of the post of Service Director – Legal Services 
(Service Director Level 2); 

 
xxii. The creation of the post of Director of Corporate Estates (Director 

Level 2); 
 

xxiii. The creation of the post of Head of Corporate Design (Head of 
Service Level 2); 

 
xxiv. The creation of the post of Head of Corporate Maintenance Services 

(Head of Service Level 2); 
 

xxv. The creation of the post of Head of Estates (Head of Service Level 
2); 

 
xxvi. The creation of the post of Group Director – Prosperity, Development 

& Frontline Services (Group Director Grade); and 
 

xxvii. The creation of the post of Director of Prosperity and Development 
(Director Level 2);  

 
4. To recommend to Council that Mr. Gio Isingrini, the Group Director for 

Community & Children’s Services, undertake the role of Deputy Chief 
Executive (commencing the day after Mr. Lee finishes in that role); 
 

5. To recommend to Council that the designation of the Chief Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer) role be assigned to the incumbent Director of Financial 
Services, Mr Barrie Davies; 

 
6. To transfer certain functions outlined in the report from the Prosperity, 

Development & Frontline Services Group (currently Corporate & Frontline 
Services Group) to the Chief Executive Group; 

 
7. To transfer certain functions outlined in the report from the Chief Executive 

Group to the Prosperity, Development & Frontline Services Group (currently 
Corporate & Frontline Services Group); 

 

Page 13



 

8. To transfer certain functions outlined in the report from Legal Services 
(currently Legal & Democratic Services) to Democratic Services & 
Communication (currently Cabinet Office and Public Relations); 

 
9. To transfer certain functions outlined in the report from Democratic Services 

& Communications (currently Cabinet Office and Public Relations) to 
Prosperity & Development Services and Public Health, Protection & 
Community Services; 

 
10. To transfer certain functions outlined in the report from Public Health, 

Protection & Community Services to Highways & Streetcare Services; 
 

11. To authorise the Chief Executive, in conjunction with the Director of Human 
Resources, to commence the staff consultation process in accordance with 
the Council’s agreed Managing Change Policy and, subject to 12 below 
(2.12 of the report), thereafter implement the proposals; 

 
12. Subject to the completion of the consultation process referred to at  11. 

above ( 2.11 of the report), and where necessary, refer the matter of the 
terms and conditions of employment and remuneration of the posts included 
in the proposed revised directorate’s structure, shown at Appendices 2(i) 
to 2(iv) of the report, to the Appointments Committee and/or full Council as 
appropriate; and 

 
13. To note that consequential changes would be required to the Council’s 

Constitution in terms of the removal and creation of Chief Officer posts. 
 
N.B With the agreement of the Chair, County Borough Councillor P Jarman 
spoke on this item. 
 
(As referenced in Minute  a number of Officers provided Declarations of Interest 
in relation to this item and left the meeting when the item was discussed and 
voted upon) 
 

 
 

This meeting closed at 12.00 pm Cllr A Morgan 
Chairman. 

 

Page 14



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
24 JANUARY 2019 

 
PROPOSALS TO ESTABLISH PRIMARY EDUCATION PROVISION FOR 
THE LLANILID HOUSING DEVELOPMENT  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION 
SERVICES IN DISCUSSION WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR 
EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR MRS J ROSSER) 

Authors: Andrea Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools and Lisa Howell, 
Business and School Organisation Manager. 
  
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to advise Members of the outcome of the 

recent consultation in respect of proposals to establish new primary 
education provision to serve the new housing development at Llanilid, 
Llanharan.  
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Note the information contained within the attached Consultation Report, 

which includes details of correspondence received during the 
consultation exercise, and notes of the various meetings held. 

 
2.2 Agree to progress the proposals to the next stage of the consultation 

process by firstly agreeing to publish the Consultation Report, and 
secondly issuing an appropriate Statutory Notice two weeks after the 
Consultation Report is published. 

 
 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To progress the proposal in accordance with the process outlined in 

Welsh Government legislative guidance (the School Organisation 
Code). 

 
4. BACKGROUND  
 
4.1 Members will recall that, at the meeting of the Cabinet held on 20th   

September 2018, approval was given to begin a process to formally 
consult on a proposal to establish new primary education provision to 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



serve the new housing development at Llanilid, Llanharan. This will be 
achieved in the first instance, by treating the new building that will be 
provided by the housing developers as an extension to the dual-
language provision at the existing Dolau Primary School. 

 
 

5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Welsh Language, Equality and Community Impact Assessments were 

prepared in respect of this proposal and were published on the 
Council’s website together with the consultation document that outlines 
the proposal in detail. Copies of these reports are attached as 
Appendix A to this report. 

 
6 CONSULTATION  
 
6.1 The consultation process in respect of this proposal has been 

undertaken under the arrangements outlined in the Welsh 
Government’s School Organisation Code, which was introduced on 1st 
October 2013 and recently updated in November 2018. These 
arrangements stipulate that a Consultation Report must be prepared 
and published prior to the publication of any Statutory Notices which 
will progress the proposal. It further states that this Report must be 
published within 26 weeks of the end of the consultation period, which 
is 1st July 2019 in this instance. 

 
6.2 The Consultation Report prepared in respect of this particular proposal 

is attached at Appendix B for your attention. It contains information in 
respect of meetings held to discuss the proposal, with copies of the 
notes taken at these meetings. It also contains details of 
correspondence received together with the responses given to the 
points raised in this correspondence. 

 
6.3 It must be noted that there has been a limited response to this 

particular consultation process with only 6 responses received. 
Approximately 25 people attended the open evening held to provide 
further information on 18th October 2018. 

 
7. THE STATUTORY PROCESS 

7.1 The Statutory Notice for this proposal will refer to: 

• Creating new Primary education provision to serve the 
new housing development at Llanilid, Llanharan.  

• This will be achieved, in the first instance, by treating the 
new building that will be provided by the housing 

Page 18



developers as an extension to the dual-language 
provision at the existing Dolau Primary School. 
 

7.2 If agreed, and subject to the matter not being called in for consideration 
by Scrutiny, the Consultation Report will be published on January 30th 
2019, and following a 2 week period the Statutory Notice will be 
published on 13th February 2019 and will allow for a 28 day period for 
objections, ending on 12th March 2019.  

 
7.3 If any objections are received during this period, in accordance with the 

aforementioned Code, an Objections Report will be prepared. This 
matter will then be reported to a future meeting of Cabinet, probably in 
April 2019, for Members to receive and consider the Objections Report 
and to make a final decision on this proposal. 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
  
8.1 The capital cost of constructing the new school will be met by the 

housing developers (Persimmon Homes) as part of their Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) responsibilities.  

 
9 LINKS TO THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND THE WELL BEING OF FUTURE 
GENERATIONS ACT 

 
9.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan commits to “Continue to invest in 

improving school buildings, to ensure the County Borough’s pupils have 
the learning environment fit for the 21st Century.” The proposals 
considered in the report contribute to all 7 well-being goals in the 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 
 
10 CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Members are asked to consider the contents of the attached 

Consultation Report, to agree to its immediate publication, and to give 
officers approval to publish an appropriate Statutory Notice on 
February 13th 2019 to progress this proposal. 

 
 

Page 19



  
 
Appendices to the report are: 

 
• Equality Impact Assessment 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Welsh Language Impact Assessment 
• Consultation Report 

 
Contact Officer 
 
Lisa Howell, Business and School Organisation Manager 
01443 744062 
 
 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Children and Young People 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



                                                                                                                                            

 
 PLEASE NOTE THAT A WELSH VERSION OF THIS DOCUMENT WILL BE AVAILABLE 

PRIOR TO PUBLICATION 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

Proposal : To establish new Primary Education provision to serve the new 

housing development at Llanilid, Llanharan.   

 

1. Purpose of the Consultation Report 

 

This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School 

Organisation Code, statutory document 011/2018. Its purpose is to inform the 

outcome of the consultation held during the period 1st October 2018 and 31st 

December 2018 between all stakeholders and interested parties listed below. 

 

 

2. Who did we consult with? 

 

A copy of a consultation document which fully outlined and explained our proposal 

was sent to the following stakeholders. The document was also published on the 

Council website at www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations 

 The governing body of Dolau Primary 
School 

 Pupils of Dolau Primary School 

 Parents, carers, and staff members 
of Dolau Primary School 

 The governors, pupils, parents, 
carers and staff members of Ysgol 
Llanhari and Y Pant Comprehensive 
School 

 Other governing bodies of 
neighbouring primary schools, 
including those in adjacent local 
authority areas 

 The governing body of Pencoed 
Comprehensive School 

 The Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Diocesan Authorities 

 Welsh Minister for Education & Skills 

 Assembly Members for the Rhondda 

 Members of Parliament for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf constituencies 

 Estyn 

 Teaching and staff trade unions 

 Central South Education Consortium 

 South East Wales Transport 
Association 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 Cwm Taf Local Health Board 

 The Early Years and Childcare 
Partnership  

 Llanharan Community Council 

 Llanharry Community Council 

 The Welsh Language Commissioner 

 Menter Iaith 

 Mudiad Meithrin 

 Neighbouring local authorities 

Page 21

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations


                                                                                                                                            

 
Cynon Taf constituencies and 
regional Assembly Members for the 
area 

Copies were also sent to all local authorities that share a boundary with Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

3. The Proposal 

Outline planning consent for the construction of up to 1,850 homes at the former Llanilid 

Opencast Site, Llanharan, was granted by the Council’s Development Control Committee in 

January 2016. 

As part of the planning process, the Council will collect a Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) on each dwelling constructed, which will be utilised to provide the essential 

infrastructure that is required to support a housing development of this size. A new Primary 

school building, of 540 places in total (including Nursery provision) will form part of the 

essential infrastructure.  

The Council has undertaken a full assessment of the potential impact of this large 

development on existing school provision in this area and has also calculated the numbers 

of children that are likely to reside on this development. To ensure that the demand for 

school places can be met in future years, through the preferred language medium of the 

parents’ choice, it is proposed that the new school building be established, in the first 

instance, as an extension to the dual language school provision of Dolau Primary School.  

The developers are proposing to construct the new school building in a single phase, so 

when it opens in 2021 it will initially have considerable surplus capacity. This capacity will be 

filled as and when the new homes are constructed and become occupied, but in order to 

avoid the unacceptable scenario of a new school opening with very few pupils on day 1, we 

have instead decided to treat the new building as an extension to an already well 

established school in the first instance. The Headteacher of Dolau will be able to utilise the 

new building to accommodate classes between the two buildings as he sees fit, to make the 

best use of all available resources. The school will then ‘grow’ as more houses are 

constructed. 

The construction of 1,850 dwellings is considered to be the first phase of what is likely to be 

a much larger development in forthcoming years. The new school building will form part of 

the education provision that will serve this wider area and by this time, its provision will be 

firmly established under the management and guidance of Dolau Primary School. At this 

point in time, the Council will make an assessment of the requirements and demand for 

school places, including the likely language medium choices being expressed by parents, and 

will consider establishing the Llanilid primary school building as a new school in its own 

right. 

Page 22



                                                                                                                                            

 

Details of the proposal and the rationale behind it are fully outlined in the consultation 

document that was circulated to all the stakeholders listed overleaf which is attached as 

Appendix 1. 

 

4. The Consultation Process 

All stakeholders identified in Section 2 overleaf were sent paper or electronic copies of our 

consultation documentation. The following meetings were also convened: 

School Affected Group Time/Date Venue 

Dolau Primary School Governing Body 

and Staff Meeting 

Thursday, 18th October 

2018, 3.30 – 4.15pm 

Dolau Primary School 

Dolau Primary School School Council Thursday, 18th October 

2018, 2pm 

Dolau Primary School 

 

Members of the local 

community 

Parents and public 

drop in session and 

exhibition  

Thursday, 18th October 

2018, 4.30 – 6pm 

Dolau Primary School 

 

Notes of all of the above meetings were taken and are attached as Appendix 2. These notes 

record questions raised, comments and statements made, with responses provided where 

appropriate.  

An open evening/exhibition was held at Dolau Primary School on 18th October 2018, the 

purpose of which was to provide further information on the proposal, answer any questions 

and give people the opportunity to ask questions. Officers from the Education and Inclusion 

Services Directorate and Persimmon were in attendance. This event was attended by 

approximately 25 people which included school governors, pupils, parents and local 

residents. 

5. Summary of Responses to Consultation 

Responses to the matters raised at the meetings outlined above are, as indicated, 

summarised in the notes of the meetings attached as Appendix 2. In addition to this 6 

written responses were received, and 10 comments were submitted during the public drop-

in session on post-it notes via the ‘Have your say’ board. All comments have been collated 

and are attached at Appendix 3. No questionnaires or feedback opposing the proposals 

were received. 

Page 23



                                                                                                                                            

 

A summary of comments raised during the consultation period are below. Where 

appropriate our responses are included: 

 Concerns were raised in relation to the existing highway infrastructure, and 

whether it would cope with the increase in traffic that the school could generate 

A further planning application will be submitted specifically for the new school, and as a part 

of this there will be a Traffic Impact Assessment undertaken focussing on both the 

immediate and surrounding area. This assessment will not only look at the current capacity 

of the highway, but also the impact of any increase in traffic flow, on not just the highway 

but also on pedestrian and cycling routes. 

The expectation is that this report will contain recommendations in relation to improving 

the existing highway infrastructure as well as incorporating pedestrian safety measures 

which could include traffic calming or additional pedestrian crossing points.  

 The size of the primary school was raised as a concern.  

The exact pupil numbers that will be generated from the housing development are not yet 

known, nor do we have control of the timescales, but it is likely that as the school grows a 

decision will be made to split the school and create 2 separate primary schools. If this does 

occur, then this will be subject to another consultation.  

 The impact upon secondary school places in the area was raised as a concern. 

The Council has a statutory duty to manage the supply and demand for pupil school places. 

The Council acts in the best interests of all local children and ensures there is sufficient 

capacity for language and faith choice in the local Community. The Council monitors the 

situation continually and will ensure that appropriate strategies are in place to manage any 

future demand from the proposed housing developments in the area and will collaborate 

cross border with other local authorities should the need arise. 

 Will additional community services and infrastructure be catered for? 

The Council will ensure that it collaborates with all parties who have a vested interest in the 

community. 

Estyn’s response to the consultation by Rhondda Cynon Taf Borough Council to establish 
new primary school provision for the Llanilid housing development, by extending the 
provision of Dolau primary school, from September 2021. 
 
Introduction 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales. 
 

Page 24



                                                                                                                                            

 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 
However Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act 
places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. 
Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall 
merits of school organisation proposals. 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following 
response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such 
as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional Consortia which deliver 
school improvement services to the schools within the proposal.  
 
Summary/ Conclusion 
The proposal appropriately sets out the need for additional educational provision to 
accommodate both the planned and potential for further housing development at 
Llanilid, Llanharan. It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to at least maintain the 
current standards of educational provision in the area. 
 
Description and benefits 
The proposal sets out clearly the need for additional nursery and pupil places arising from 
the planned housing developments and the potential for further developments in the area. 
The proposal appropriately considers the advantages and disadvantages associated with the 
extension of the current school, through the creative use of a new school build, alongside the 
construction of a major new housing development. 
 
The proposal usefully explains how the current primary school at Dolau will respond to the 
increasing population expected within the new housing development, by using the new build 
as an extension to the existing school. The benefits of this approach are well set out within 
the proposal, which include the management of an ‘ad hoc’ demand for new places 
throughout the school year, associated with the arrivals of new residents. The proposer also 
explains well the disadvantages associated with the alternative of opening a brand new 
school immediately without full capacity. 
 
The current primary school at Dolau is a dual stream school, and the expansion will 
accommodate both language preferences, therefore maintaining parental choice and should 
provide sufficient places as demand increases in the short term. However, the intended 
change from an extension to the existing school to the creation of a separate new school, 
and its language preference remains deferred until an unspecified time in the future. 
 
The proposer sets out well the current local authority practice for the provision of school 
transport, which is more generous than the statutory minimum. The proposal sets out clearly 
that the policy will be applied for pupils attending this school, and also takes into account 
the risk assessments for the walking routes to school, which are considered to be unsuitable 
for pupil foot traffic. Additionally the proposals sets out clearly the implications for 
secondary aged pupils who will live on this new housing development, and their options for 
either the closest school which is in neighbouring local authority, or the nearest English 
medium and Welsh medium schools in the proposer’s local authority. The proposer also 

Page 25



                                                                                                                                            

 

clarifies how the local authority’s current policy for home to school transport will apply for 
these pupils. 
 
The proposer provides detailed past and projected nursery places and pupil numbers for 
Dolau primary school, which take account of the expected numbers based on the current 
catchment, and the planned new development. 
 
Educational aspects of the proposal 
The construction of the new school, and its initial use as an extension to the current school 
should not represent a risk to the school and its education provision. The opportunities 
arising from additional space, state of the art classroom design and new outdoors facilities 
are likely to enhance the learning opportunities for pupils. 
 
The proposal appropriately considers the likely impact of the new school on standards, 
provision and leadership by referring to the outcomes of the most recent Estyn inspections, 
as well as the Regional Consortium’s categorisation of the school. In July 2015, Estyn judged 
the school’s performance to be good, and its prospects for improvement also good. The local 
consortium categorises the school as green. 
 
This information supports the proposer’s reasonable claim that Dolau Primary school should 
be able to maintain its current standards during the expansion. 
 
 
6. Assessment of Consultation 

 

In view of the responses and comments received during the consultation period, a further 

assessment of the proposals, which are included within the consultation document, has 

been undertaken. The proposals have been revisited and the impact of the proposals on the 

quality and standards of education, the community, and transport arrangements, have been 

reassessed.  

 

After further consideration, the proposals are deemed to be the most appropriate and as 

such no amendments have been made. 

 

 

7. Conclusion 

 

No information that has been presented during the consultation period has been deemed to 

necessitate a change to the consultation document and so the information remains 

unchanged. As such it is considered that these proposals should be wholly implemented. 

 

The recommendation is that this report is published, and at the appropriate time a statutory 

notice be published as consulted upon with no modifications, in order to progress this 

proposal. 

Page 26



Appendix 1 

 

 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 

CONSULTATION ON A PROPOSAL TO ESTABLISH 
NEW PRIMARY SCHOOL PROVISION FOR THE 

LLANILID HOUSING DEVELOPMENT, BY EXTENDING 
THE PROVISION OF DOLAU PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 27



Table of Contents  
 

Introduction to the Proposal ……………………………………………………………………3 
 
Who will we consult with? ........................................................................4 
 
What will the consultation process entail? ................................................4 
 
What do you need to consider? .................................................................5 
 
How do you make your views known? ….………………………………..……………….5 
 
Background to the Proposal ………………………………………………………………..…..7 
 
The new proposed school provision for the Llanilid development….………..7 
 
Information on Dolau Primary School …………………………………………………….10 
 
Governance, Staffing and Admission Arrangements ……………………………….12 
 
Financial details ……………………………………………………………………………………..13 
 
The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)………………………………………..13 
 
The statutory process …………………………………………………………………………….14 
 
Site Plan for the Llanilid development……………………………………………………15 
 
Consultation Response proforma …………………………………………………………..16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 28



Introduction to the Proposal 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council wishes to seek the views of a wide range of 
stakeholders on a proposal to establish new Primary Education provision to serve the 
new housing development at Llanilid, Llanharan.  
 
Outline planning consent for the construction of up to 1,850 homes at the former Llanilid 
Opencast Site, Llanharan, was granted by the Council’s Development Control Committee 
in January 2016, following over six years of discussion and consideration of the proposals 
between Council officers and agents representing the landowners. The delay in applying 
for and granting planning consent was mainly due to the complex nature and large scale 
of the proposals, and the fact that the original agents responsible for the planning 
application went in to administration. 
 
As part of the planning process, the Council will collect a Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) on each dwelling constructed, which will be utilised to provide the essential 
infrastructure that is required to support a housing development of this size. It has 
already been agreed that a new Primary school building, of 540 places in total (including 
Nursery provision) will form part of the essential infrastructure. The housing developers 
have requested that they be allowed to construct the school building and hand it over to 
the Council at an agreed point in time, as ‘part payment’ of their CIL obligation; the 
Council has accepted and agreed to this request. A further planning application for full 
permission to commence the first phase of house construction has been received and is 
due to be considered by our Planning and Development Committee in September 2018; 
if permission is granted, house construction will commence before the end of the year. 
 
The Council has undertaken a full assessment of the potential impact of this large 
development on existing school provision in this area and has also calculated the 
numbers of children that are likely to reside on this development. This calculation is 
outlined and explained in a document entitled ‘Supplementary Planning Guidance’, 
which is available to view and download from the Council website at www.rctcbc.gov.uk. 
The relevant section of this document is ‘Planning Obligations’. 
 
To ensure that the demand for school places can be met in future years, through the 
preferred language medium of the parents’ choice, it is proposed that the new school 
building be established, in the first instance, as an extension to the dual language school 
provision of Dolau Primary School. As part of the Welsh Government initiative to 
increase the number of people in Wales who can speak the Welsh Language to at least 1 
million by 2050, the Council is aiming to increase capacity in the Welsh Language school 
sector, to encourage more parents to choose this medium of education for their children. 
Dolau offers provision in both languages, with parents given the freedom to choose 
which language they wish for their child to be educated in. 
 
The developers are proposing to construct the new school building in a single phase, so 
when it opens in 2021 it will initially have considerable surplus capacity. This capacity will 
be filled as and when the new homes are constructed and become occupied, but in order 

Page 29

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/


to avoid the unacceptable scenario of a new school opening with very few pupils on day 
1, we have instead decided to treat the new building as an extension to an already well 
established school in the first instance. Dolau Primary is a very successful school, as is 
evidenced by the data and information provided in this document and is located a very 
short distance (approx. 400m) from the site of the new building. Having the new school 
provision as an extension to this successful school, rather than as a separate entity will 
allow the senior leadership and governors of Dolau to work with the Council to establish 
new school provision under their expert guidance. This will also remove the need to 
appoint a new Headteacher and produce a staffing structure for a new school, which 
could open with very few pupils in attendance. The Headteacher of Dolau will be able to 
utilise the new building to accommodate classes between the two buildings as he sees 
fit, to make the best use of all available resources. The school will then ‘grow’ as more 
houses are constructed. 
 
The construction of 1,850 dwellings is considered to be the first phase of what is likely to 
be a much larger development in forthcoming years. There is sufficient land available in 
this area to be able to construct a further 3000+ homes and should this be realised, there 
will be a need to consider the establishment of further education provision, both in the 
Primary and Secondary school sectors, to serve this expanding community. The new 
school building will form part of the education provision that will serve this wider area 
and by this time, its provision will be firmly established under the management and 
guidance of Dolau Primary School. At this point in time, the Council will make an 
assessment of the requirements and demand for school places, including the likely 
language medium choices being expressed by parents, and will consider establishing the 
Llanilid primary school building as a new school in its own right. 
 
Who will we consult with? 

 
We are seeking the views of the following stakeholders: 
 

 The governing body of Dolau 
Primary School 

 Pupils of Dolau Primary School 

 Parents, carers, and staff 
members of Dolau Primary School 

 The governors, pupils, parents, 
carers and staff members of Ysgol 
Llanhari and Y Pant 
Comprehensive School 

 Other governing bodies of 
neighbouring primary schools, 
including those in adjacent local 
authority areas 

 The governing body of Pencoed 
Comprehensive School 

 The Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Diocesan Authorities 

 Members of Parliament for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
constituencies 

 Estyn 

 Teaching and staff trade unions 

 Central South Education 
Consortium 

 South East Wales Transport 
Association 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 Cwm Taf Local Health Board 

 The Early Years and Childcare 
Partnership  

 Llanharan Community Council 

 Llanharry Community Council 

 The Welsh Language 

Page 30



 Welsh Minister for Education & 
Skills 

 Assembly Members for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
constituencies and regional 
Assembly Members for the area 

Commissioner 

 Menter Iaith 

 Mudiad Meithrin 

 Neighbouring local authorities 

 
 
What will the consultation process entail? 

 
The consultation will start on the 1st October 2018 and will be completed at 5pm on 31st 
December 2018. The feedback from the consultation will be collated and summarised, 
and a report presented to the Council’s Cabinet in January 2019. This consultation report 
will be available for all persons to view on the Council’s internet site and copies can be 
obtained on request from the addresses detailed on Page 6 of this document. 
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the report and will decide, based on the feedback, 
whether to proceed with the proposal, make changes to the proposal or not proceed 
with the proposal. If the Cabinet decides not to proceed, that will be the end of this 
proposal.  
 
If the Cabinet decides to proceed with the proposal a statutory notice is published 
providing a 28 day notice period for objections. The School Standards and Organisation 
(Wales) Act 2013 requires that anyone wishing to make objections to a school 
organisation proposal has the opportunity to do so. To be considered as statutory 
objections, objections must be made in writing or by email, and sent to the Council 
within 28 days of the date on which the proposal was published.  
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the outcome of the statutory notice at the next 
available Cabinet meeting and determine whether to implement the proposal. 
 
If there are objections, the Council’s Director of Education will publish an objection 
report providing a summary of the objections and her response to them within 7 days of 
the day of the determination of the proposal. This report will also be available for all 
persons to view on the Council’s internet site and copies can be obtained on request 
from the addresses detailed on Page 6 of this document. 
 
If the Council’s Cabinet approve the proposal, the proposal will be implemented in 
accordance with the date given in the statutory notice or any subsequently modified 
date. In the case of this proposal the implementation date is 1st September 2021 for the 
extended school provision at Dolau Primary School. This date is dependent on progress 
made by the housing developer and may be subject to change therefore. 
 
What do you have to consider? 

 
The remainder of the consultation document sets out the rationale for the extension of 
dual language Primary school provision at Dolau Primary. We would like you to consider 

Page 31



the information contained within this document and to hear your views as to whether or 
not you support the proposals as described. 
 
How do you make your views known? 

 
Consultation events will be held and you are welcome to attend the appropriate 
meeting. 
 

School Affected Group Time/Date Venue 

Dolau Primary School Governing Body 
and Staff Meeting 

Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 3.30 – 4.15pm 

Dolau Primary School 

Dolau Primary School School Council Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 2pm 

Dolau Primary School 
 

Members of the local 
community 

Parents and 
public drop in 
session and 
exhibition  

Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 4.30 – 6pm 

Dolau Primary School 

 
A consultation questionnaire is attached, it will also be available at the drop-in session 
detailed above and on the Council’s internet site at  
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations 
 
The questionnaire also enables consultees to register their wish to be notified of the 
publication of the consultation report to the Council’s Cabinet.  
 
You are also welcome to put your views, comments and any questions you may have in 
writing to: 
 
Director of Education  
21st Century Schools Team 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon   CF45 4UQ        Telephone (01443) 744227   Fax (01443) 744224 
  
E-mail   schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 
 
All correspondence should be received no later than 5pm Monday, 31st December 2018. 
 
Please note that responses to the consultation will not be counted as objections to the 
proposal. Objections can only be forwarded following the publication of the statutory 
notice. 
  

Page 32

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations
mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


Background to the proposal 

 
 

The new proposed school provision for the Llanilid housing development 

 
As outlined previously, the new school provision is required to cater for known and 
planned housing development at the former Llanilid Opencast Site, Llanharan. The site is 
identified as a strategic housing site in the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
(LDP) 2006 – 2021; a new Primary school building to serve the development is detailed in 
the LDP as a policy requirement for essential infrastructure necessary to support the 
development. 
 
It is proposed that the new school building will accommodate up to 480 pupils, plus 60 
part time Nursery places, for children aged between 3 and 11 years. It will be created and 
established as an extension to Dolau Primary School in the first instance, and will thus 
increase the total available capacity of this dual language school to 921, plus 124 part 
time Nursery places. The admission number will be 131 per year group and the 
admissions authority will be Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. The admissions 
policy of the LA is outlined in a document entitled ‘Starting School’, this document is 
updated annually and contains information on how to apply for a school place, and the 
criteria used to determine admission applications in the case of oversubscription. The 
current version of the document (for the academic year 2018 - 2019) can be viewed and 
downloaded from the Council website at: 
   
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SchoolsandLearning/Applyingforaschoolplace/R
elatedDocuments/1819/StartingSchool201819.pdf. 
 
The site of the new provision that will form the extension will be located at the top right 
hand sector of the development site, immediately adjacent to the site of the existing 
Dolau Primary School. An indicative site plan for the housing development, denoting the 
location of the proposed school building is included in this document for information (see 
page 15). The school building will comprise 16 general teaching classrooms, a large 
Nursery unit capable of accommodating 60 children (on a part time basis) and the 
general ancillary accommodation associated with a primary school, such as a multi-
functional assembly hall, kitchen, staff room, offices, toilets, storage and changing rooms. 
The external areas will include a tarmac playground, car park, MUGA and a sports pitch 
that will be operated as a joint use facility with the local community. The sports facilities 
will also be available for use by the existing Dolau Primary School. As the two buildings 
are located just a short distance from each other, arrangements will be made to create 
an access between the two sites to ensure a safe and secure walking route between the 
two buildings that will comprise the extended Dolau Primary School. 
 
The new building will be fully accessible to all and will meet all the requirements and 
provisions of the Equality Act 2010. 
 
The building will be constructed by Persimmon Homes under the direction and 
supervision of the local authority and will be handed over to the Council on completion 

Page 33

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SchoolsandLearning/Applyingforaschoolplace/RelatedDocuments/1819/StartingSchool201819.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Resident/SchoolsandLearning/Applyingforaschoolplace/RelatedDocuments/1819/StartingSchool201819.pdf


of construction, which is scheduled to coincide with the construction of the 299th 
dwelling on the development. 
 
The catchment schools serving the Llanilid housing development will therefore be: 
 
English and Welsh Medium Primary – Dolau Primary School. 
 
The catchment area of Dolau Primary School will therefore be expanded to encompass 
the new Llanilid housing development for both English and Welsh Medium Primary 
provision. 
 
The associated Secondary schools to which pupils attending the schools overleaf would 
ordinarily transfer to (at Year 7), subject to parental preference and a successful 
application are: 
 
Welsh Medium Secondary – Ysgol Llanhari 
English Medium Secondary – Y Pant Comprehensive 
 
Although Y Pant is designated as the catchment school for this development, there is a 
nearer school that offers Secondary education, namely Pencoed Comprehensive School, 
which is located in Bridgend County Borough. Any children resident on the Llanilid 
development who apply for and are successful in obtaining a place at Pencoed will 
receive free transportation to this school, as it is the nearest school to their home 
address and is in the main, outside of the two mile ‘qualifying distance’ operated by 
RCTCBC for school transport provision. The walking route to Pencoed from Llanilid is also 
classed as ‘unavailable’, so any pupils not receiving transport on distance criteria will still 
qualify for free transport on these grounds. 
 
It must be noted at this point that catchment areas of all schools are subject to regular 
review and may be changed as part of this review process. It is a fact that there is likely 
to be further, extensive housing development in this part of the County Borough in 
future years, with further school provision being constructed as a necessary element to 
support this expansion. As a result of this the catchment areas will need to be reviewed 
regularly as development proceeds, in particular those of the Secondary schools detailed 
above, and changes to the associations between the Primary and Secondary schools will 
be inevitable should new Secondary school provision be opened in the future. 
 
As indicated in the introduction to this document, once the housing development is well 
established and the pupil numbers at Dolau increase to fill the spare capacity that will be 
created by the new building, consideration will be given to making the new building a 
separate school in its own right. The language medium of the new school will also be 
determined at this point in time. 
 
There is a statutory duty placed upon the local authority (LA) to provide learners with 
free transport to their nearest suitable school if they reside beyond safe “walking 
distance” to that school. The term suitable school applies to the catchment area English, 
Welsh or dual language mainstream school or special school/class as appropriate. The 
law relating to safe “walking distance” is defined as two miles for learners of compulsory 

Page 34



school age receiving primary education and three miles for learners of compulsory school 
age receiving secondary education.  
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council has exercised the discretionary powers 
afforded to it under the provisions of the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 to make a 
more generous provision to learners as set out below:  
 
• The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory primary 
education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 1½ miles, instead of 2 miles as 
required by the Measure;  
 
• Free transport to their nearest suitable school, where places are available, is provided 
to children who meet the 1½ mile eligibility criterion from the start of the Foundation 
Phase (the start of the school term after their third birthday), rather than from the start 
of compulsory education (the start of the school term after their fifth birthday) as 
required by the Measure.  
 
• The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory 
secondary education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 2 miles instead of 3 
miles as required by the Measure.  
 
• Free transport is provided to post 16 learners who meet the 2 mile eligibility criterion 
for two years after the end of compulsory education, rather than until the end of 
compulsory education as required by the Measure. This provision applies to full time 
attendance at the nearest school or college to the learner’s home at which the approved 
course of study that they wish to pursue is offered.  
  

• Free transport to their nearest suitable school is provided to learners (as set out above) 
in accordance with their preferred religious denomination.  
 
• The term suitable school applies to the catchment area English, Welsh, dual language 
or voluntary aided (faith) mainstream school or special school/class as appropriate.  
 
The Welsh Government and the Council has adopted the UN Convention on the Rights of 
the Child which is expressed in seven core aims that all children and young people:  
1. have a flying start in life;  
2. have a comprehensive range of education and learning opportunities;  
3. enjoy the best possible health and are free from abuse, victimisation and exploitation;  
4. have access to play, leisure, sporting and cultural activities;  
5. are listened to, treated with respect, and have their race and cultural identity 
recognised;  
6. have a safe home and a community which supports physical and emotional wellbeing;  
7. are not disadvantaged by poverty.  
 
We consider that this proposal will benefit the children who will attend the new school, 
and those who will continue to attend Dolau Primary School in accordance with the 
seven core aims set out above.  
  

Page 35



Information on Dolau Primary School  
 

Dolau Primary School is a dual language Community Primary School situated at Bridgend 
Road, Llanharan. The school site comprises a traditional style building, constructed in 
1928 (which has Grade II listed building status) and a modern classroom block and hall 
extension added in 2009. Based on the results of the Welsh Government commissioned 
building survey of all schools Dolau Primary is graded a B for condition and a B for 
suitability, where A is the highest and D is the lowest performing building respectively. 
The current figure for the maintenance work that would be desirable to undertake at this 
school is £414,000.  
 
The pupil numbers at Dolau Primary over the past four years are shown below and are 
obtained from the statutory pupil level annual school census (PLASC) which must be 
undertaken in January each year. All data is split between the respective English (E) and 
Welsh (W) departments of the school: 
 
School Age 

Range 
School 

Capacity 
(whole 
school) 

Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan  
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Dolau 
Primary 
(W) 

3 - 11 441 188 182 177 176 182 

Dolau 
Primary 
(E) 

3 - 11 441 198 224 235 231 243 

 
Nursery numbers (total numbers of pupils attending) 

School Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Dolau 
Primary 
(W) 

23 20 24 26 19 

Dolau 
Primary 
 (E) 

43 42 38 38 43 

 
Five year forecasts for the school: 
 

School School 
capacity 

(excluding 
nursery) 

Jan 
2019 

Jan 
2020 

Jan 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Jan 
2023 

Dolau 
Primary 
(W) 

441 163 157 148 146 141 

Dolau 
Primary (E) 

441 250 265 262 256 248 

 

Page 36



 
 
Primary School Standards 
 
The tables below set out the performance of the two departments of Dolau Primary 
School for the key measures of educational performance over the past three years and 
compare the school to similar schools across Wales based on the numbers of pupils in 
receipt of free school meals: 
 

 Foundation Phase Outcomes 

 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 
Foundation 
Phase Indicator 

97 (1) 93.1 (2) 96.4 (1) 94.3 (2) 95.2 (2) 92.3 (3) 

Personal and 
social 
development 
wellbeing and 
cultural 
diversity 

100 (1) 96.6 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

Language 
literacy and 
communication 
skills 
English/welsh 

97 (2) 93.1 (2) 96.4 (2) 97.1 (1) 95.2 (2) 92.3 (3) 

Mathematical 
development 

97.2 (2) 93.1 (2) 96.4 (2) 94.3 (3) 95.2 (2) 92.3 (3) 

 
The figures in brackets in the table above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest. 
 

 Key Stage Two Outcomes 

 2015 2016 2017 

Subjects Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(W) 

Dolau 
Primary 

(E) 
English 95.8 (2) 92.0 (3) 92.3 (3) 97.2 (2) 100 (1) 100 (1) 
Welsh 1st lang 95.8 (2) N/A 92.3 (2) N/A 100 (1) N/A 
Maths 100 (1) 92.0 (3) 100 (1) 94.4 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 
Science 100 (1) 92.0 (4) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 
Core Subject 
Indicator (CSI) 

95.8 (2) 92.0 (3) 92.3 (3) 94.4 (2) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

 
The figures in brackets in the table above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest. 

  

Page 37



The attendance of the pupils of the school over the past three years is set out overleaf, 
please note that this data is for the whole school: 
 

Percentage of half-day sessions attended by pupils of statutory school age 
during the academic year 

School 2015 2015 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2016 2016 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2017 2017 
Benchmark 

Quartile 
Dolau 
Primary 

95.5 2 95.1 3 95.6 2 

 
Dolau Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in July 2015. The school’s current 
performance was deemed to be good, and its prospects for improvement also good. 
 
Estyn also set out that, in order to build upon the progress made to date, the school 
should: 
  

 Provide more opportunities for pupils to develop their numeracy skills across the 
 curriculum, especially in key stage 2 

 Ensure consistency in marking so that pupils have a better understanding of what 
 they need to do to improve their work 
 
The Council’s School Improvement Services are provided by the Central South 
Consortium, a regional school improvement services for the five local authorities of 
Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan. Schools 
are rated as either Green, Yellow, Amber or Red in respect of their standards. The 
Consortium categorises the performance of each school in the region and considers that:  
 
Dolau Primary School has been categorised as a ‘Green’ school, the highest level it can 
achieve. This rating means that the school has a track record of sustaining a high level of 
learner outcomes, it demonstrates resilience at all levels and is challenged to move 
forward towards, or sustaining excellence. 
 
Future Forecasts for the extended Dolau Primary School 
 

It is intended that this proposal be implemented in September 2021. The housing 
developer has advised us of the number of housing units that are likely to be completed 
each year from 2019 onwards. We have therefore recalculated our future forecasts from 
2021 to 2023 (the end of our current forecasting period), for Dolau Primary with the new 
building as an extension to its provision, to include the impact of housing development as 
follows: 
 

School 2021 2022 2023 

Dolau 
Primary 

534 566 596 

 
The housing construction works will be on going until the full planned complement of 
1,850 houses are completed, pupil numbers at the school will therefore continue to rise 

Page 38



steadily in subsequent years. This is likely to take at least 10 years, based on the 
estimated rate of completion of houses provided by the developers.   

Page 39



Governance, Staffing and Admission Arrangements 
 

As this new provision is being created as an extension to Dolau Primary School, rather 
than a new school in its own right, the current governing body and leadership of Dolau 
Primary will remain in place. As the pupil numbers rise on completion of the new houses, 
there will be a need for the governing body to continually review their staffing structure 
and to appoint more staff as and when they are required. Parents will apply for places as 
they do at present. The new building, which will be classed as an extension is located just 
5 minutes walk from the existing Dolau Primary buildings, so there will be no changes to 
school journeys, travelling times or transport eligibility. 
 
It will be a matter for the Headteacher and governing body to manage the use of the 
accommodation that will be provided at the new building, but we would expect them to 
make full use of the new accommodation and facilities by transferring some of the 
existing classes at the school to the new building when it opens. 
 
Financial Details 
 

As this is the creation of new school provision, by means of an extension to existing 
provision, with no other schools closing as a consequence, there will be no financial 
savings achieved by these proposals. The capital costs of the new building will be met by 
the housing developers as part of their required contributions to provide the necessary 
infrastructure to service their development. This will be paid as part of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) that they have an obligation to meet. 
 
The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 

 
All local authorities in Wales now have to produce a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP). This document indicates how the local authority intends to promote the 
teaching of the Welsh Language, how it intends working towards increasing the number 
of children taught through the medium of Welsh and how it can assist achieving the 
Welsh Government’s target of having one million people in Wales speaking Welsh by 
2050. The WESP for RCT can be viewed and downloaded from the Council website via 
this link 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStr
ategicPlan201720.pdf. 
 
Included among the list of actions and outcomes the Council will undertake to help 
achieve the targets set out in the WESP, by increasing the number of seven year-old 
children being taught through the medium of Welsh are the following: 
 

 New and improved school buildings with appropriate capacity levels to fully meet 
forecasted demand for Welsh Medium provision in their catchment areas  

 
The extension to the dual language provision of Dolau Primary School will make more 
Welsh Medium school places available, and will give parents the total freedom of choice 
and flexibility to have their children taught in the language medium of their choice. 
 

Page 40

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf


 
What is the statutory process to extend provision at an existing school? 

 
The Code on School Organisation (“The Code”) is made under Sections 38 and 39 of the 
School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. The Code came into force on 1 
October 2013 and applies in respect of all school proposals published by way of a 
statutory notice after that date. The current Code is due to be revised on 1st November 
2018 and the process we will undertake will follow the guidance contained within this 
updated document. Proposals to make regulated alterations to schools, by increasing 
their capacity by more than 25% of their existing levels have to follow the following 
process: 
 

1. The Council’s Cabinet considers the Code and authorises a consultation process 
to commence; 

2. At the start of the consultation period the Council must provide consultees with 
access to a consultation document and give them at least 42 days in which to 
respond, with at least 20 of these days being school days. If the Council considers 
it appropriate meetings are held with stakeholders during the consultation 
period; 

3. Consultation comments are collated and summarised by the Council. This 
summary together with the Council’s officers own responses is published in a 
consultation report within 13 weeks of the end of the consultation period, and 
two weeks prior to the publication of any statutory notice, and presented to the 
Council’s Cabinet for consideration; 

4. The Council’s Cabinet decide whether to proceed with the changes within 26 
weeks of the end of the consultation period. If the decision is to proceed, Step 5 
is taken. If a new option emerges during the consultation which the Council’s 
Cabinet wish to consider, then Steps 1-3 are repeated; 

5. Statutory notice is published providing a 28 day notice period for objections. The 
notice must be published on a school day and with 15 school days (not including 
the day of publication) in the notice period; 

6. If objections are received, the Council must publish an objection report providing 
a summary of the objections and their responses to them before the end of 7 
days beginning with the day of the local authority’s determination as to whether 
to proceed with the proposals; 

7. The Council’s Cabinet must decide to issue its decision on the proposals within 16 
weeks of the end of the objection period; 

8. If the proposals receive approval they should be implemented in accordance with 
the date given in the statutory notice, or any subsequent modified date. 

  

Page 41



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Consultation Response Pro-forma 
 

In order to comply with its legal duty under the School Standards and Organisation 
(Wales) Act 2013 and help the Council reach a decision on the proposal below, it would 
be very helpful if you could answer the following questions. Please note, any personal 
information given by you will not be shared and only used to provide you with feedback, 
should you request it.  Any comments that could identify you will be anonymised in the 
consultation report produced. Completed questionnaires should be returned to:  
 
Director of Education  
21st Century Schools Team 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon 
CF45 4UQ 
or by fax to 01443 744224, or e-mail schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 
 
The proposal 
 
The proposal is to create new, dual language Primary education provision to serve the 
Llanilid housing development, by constructing a new school building on the development 
site and then establishing its provision, in the first instance, as an extension to Dolau 
Primary School. 
 
1. Do you agree with the proposal?    Yes  No    Not sure 
 
Please let us know the reasons for your choice 
                                                                          

 
 

 
 

 
2. Please state any additional views or points which you would like to be taken into 
account (attach additional sheets if necessary) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
3. Please indicate who you are (eg parent of a pupil at named school, governor at 
named school, member of the community etc.) 
 

 
4. Name (optional)   
 

Page 43

mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


5. Please provide contact details if you wish to be notified of publication of the 
consultation report 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire 

 
Please forward completed questionnaires to the above address no later than 31st 
December 2018. 
 
The Council is committed to keeping your personal information safe and secure and 
keeping you informed about how we use your information. To learn about how your 
privacy is protected and how and why we use your personal information to provide you 
with services, please visit our Consultation privacy notice here 
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice and the Councils data protection pages here 
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection


Proposal to extend Dolau Primary School (to provide for the 
Llanilid housing development) 

 
Community Impact Assessment 

 
This assessment is prepared in accordance with guidance contained within Annex 
D of statutory guidance circular 006/2013, the School Organisation Code. 
 
This proposal is to be consulted on between 1st October and 31st December 2018. 
A detailed consultation document has been circulated to all prescribed consultees.  
Copies have already been forwarded to the WG in compliance with consultation 
and publication guidelines. This document clearly focuses on the reasons for the 
need for additional Primary education provision in this area, this Impact 
Assessment is not included in the consultation document as we are mindful that 
the document needs to be as concise and informative as possible, whilst at the 
same time being readable and ‘user-friendly’. The free availability of this 
document is however stressed; in addition, it is available for any person to view or 
download from the Council website. 
 
It has to be emphasised at this point that the community impact of this proposal 
will be negligible, indeed if any impact is realised at all. Dolau Primary School will 
remain and no provision whatsoever is being removed. A new school building is to 
be constructed by housing developers on a site that is immediately adjacent to 
Dolau, and in the first instance, this provision will be established as an extension 
to Dolau Primary School. It is therefore considered that the overall impact of these 
proposals will be neutral on the local community, there will be no change to the 
level of services and provision that are offered at present at Dolau, but there will 
instead be opportunities for it to be extended and enhanced. 
 
At the current time, the percentage of pupils attending Dolau Primary that reside 
within the catchment area is 76% for the English stream and 64% for the Welsh 
stream. This is of the total number of pupils on roll in January 2018 (date of the 
PLASC return), including non-statutory Nursery and pre-Nursery pupils. 
 
Dolau Primary offers a breakfast club to all pupils; this provision will continue 
should this proposal be agreed. The school also offers after school clubs and 
sessional care for pupils (run by Menter Iaith) and these too will continue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



The school has several organisations that use their facilities on a regular basis 
outside of school hours, as detailed below. The provision of a new building will 
enhance and expand the opportunities for community groups to access the 
facilities available: 
 
Drop in Centre Activity Club – 1 evening per week 
Starfish Swimming Club – 1 evening per week 
Welsh for Beginners class – 1 evening per week 
RCT Community Dance Group – 1 evening per week 
 
This proposal seeks to enhance the accommodation and facilities of Dolau 
Primary, to benefit all children who may attend the school in the future from its 
catchment area (which will be extended to encompass the Llanilid housing 
development site). This is not a rural area, and the existence of so many other 
schools and other community facilities within a short distance means that it is not 
deemed necessary to consider the enhancement of other community facilities that 
may exist in the local area. However, as part of the facilities the housing 
developer is obligated to provide, the new school site will benefit from sports 
pitches and a Multi use Games Area (MUGA), which will be available to the whole 
school to use, and the community outside of school hours (under the agreement 
of the school). 
 
It must also be noted that the site of the new building is located just a short 
distance away from the current school. A dedicated and safe footpath will be 
created to physically link the both sites. No additional transportation will be 
required and walking distances and travel times to the new site will be negligible.  
 
As children are going to attend the same school, albeit with two separate buildings 
that are located within a short distance of each other, is not considered that there 
will be any changes to their mode or method or transportation to school and there 
will be no extra distance involved in respect of this journey. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
 
 
 
 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 

P
age 47



  

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 
 
 
Directorate:    Education  
  
Service Area:  21st Century Schools 
 
Responsible officer:  Julie Hadley 
 
Date:   1st October 2018                                     
 
1.  Name of policy/procedure/practice/project: The establishment of Primary education provision to serve the Llanilid housing 
development 
 
The Project is to: 
Create new Primary school provision for the Llanilid housing development 
 
2.  Policy Aims, you need to consider why is the policy needed?  What does the Council hope to achieve by it? 
     How will the Council ensure it works as intended? 
 
New school provision is required to cater for known and planned housing development at the former Llanilid Opencast Site, Llanharan. The site is 
identified as a strategic housing site in the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 – 2021; a new Primary school building to serve the 
development is detailed in the LDP as a policy requirement for essential infrastructure necessary to support the development. 
 
It is proposed that the new school building will accommodate up to 480 pupils, plus 60 part time Nursery places, for children aged between 3 and 11 
years. It will be created and established as an extension to Dolau Primary School in the first instance, and will thus increase the total available capacity of 

P
age 48



  

this dual language school to 921, plus 124 part time Nursery places. The admission number will be 131 per year group and the admissions authority will be 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. 
 
The site of the new provision that will form the extension will be located immediately adjacent to the site of the existing Dolau Primary School. The school 
building will comprise 16 general teaching classrooms, a large Nursery unit capable of accommodating 60 children (on a part time basis) and the general 
ancillary accommodation associated with a primary school, such as a multi-functional assembly hall, kitchen, staff room, offices, toilets, storage and 
changing rooms. The external areas will include a tarmac playground, car park, MUGA and a sports pitch that will be operated as a joint use facility with 
the local community. The sports facilities will also be available for use by the existing Dolau Primary School. As the two buildings are located just a short 
distance from each other, arrangements will be made to create an access between the two sites to ensure a safe and secure walking route between the 
two buildings that will comprise the extended Dolau Primary School. 
 
The new building will be fully accessible to all and will meet all the requirements and provisions of the Equality Act 2010. 
 
The building will be constructed by Persimmon Homes under the direction and supervision of the local authority and will be handed over to the Council on 
completion of construction, which is scheduled to coincide with the construction of the 299th dwelling on the development. 
 
Once the housing development is well established and the pupil numbers at Dolau increase to fill the spare capacity that will be created by the new 
building, consideration will be given to making the new building a separate school in its own right. The language medium of the new school will also be 
determined at this point in time. 

 

3.  Who does it apply to?     Please indicate by highlighting or deleting as appropriate                         
 
Members of the public       Staff       Both       Other       Please state: children aged 3-11 years resident in the existing catchment area of Dolau 
Primary School, and the new housing development at Llanilid 
 
4.  Indicate whether this is a new proposal, a review or a proposed cessation: 
New           
5.  Identifying Impacts – Please choose whether the policy/practice will have a positive, negative or neutral effect on each issue below: Think 
about the key questions included in the manager’s guidelines.  
            

P
age 49



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Age (young and old) 
 
 

Young – 
Yes 

 

 Old – no 
impact 

Better learning facilities for all and sufficient school capacity to 
cater for all children who will reside within the catchment area. 

 make the learning environments comfortable and 
attractive for all children who access them, to 21st Century 
Schools standards.  

 access services to improve the lives of children and their 
families.  

 Improved facilities will enable the pupils to access learning 
and cultural activities which can help develop relationships 
within communities.  

 The changing curriculum, life long learning opportunities 
and use of ICT will provide the opportunity to enable all 
learners to reach their potential.  

 Facilities at Primary schools, in particular the Infant 
teaching areas are geared towards the needs of young 
children and are, as such not suitable for use by older 
persons. 

Disability (remember to 
consider the different types of 
disability) 

Yes   As this will be a brand new building, it will comply with all of the 
requirements of planning and building control legislation and will 
also fully comply with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, 
being fully accessible to all. 

P
age 50



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Gender 
 
 

  Yes  

Gender Reassignment 
 
 

  Yes  

Race 
 
 

  Yes  

Religion or Belief 
 
 

  Yes  

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

  Yes  

Welsh Language 
 
 

Yes   The school will offer education provision in both English and Welsh 
Mediums, subject to parental preference and choice. 

Carers 
 

  Yes  

  
EVIDENCE  
 
6.  What evidence is there to support your conclusions? Please indicate below 

 

P
age 51



  

Reports of the Director of Education to Cabinet  - September 2018. 
Public Consultation Document on the Proposal   
 
7.  In areas where a negative impact has been identified are there any ways that the negative effect could be reduced or removed? Please indicate below and 
include the evidence on which you have based your conclusion. 

None 
 
INVOLVEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
9.  What involvement and consultation has been done in relation to this (or similar) policy and what are the results? 
The following consultation meetings/ open events are to be held 
 

School Affected Group Time/Date Venue 

Dolau Primary School Governing Body 
and Staff Meeting 

Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 3.30 – 4.15pm 

Dolau Primary School 

Dolau Primary School School Council Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 2pm 

Dolau Primary School 
 

Members of the local 
community 

Parents and 
public drop in 
session and 
exhibition  

Thursday, 18th October 
2018, 4.30 – 6pm 

Dolau Primary School 

 
 
A consultation questionnaire was also available in the consultation document and on the Council’s internet site at www.rctcbc.gov.uk 
 
Interested parties were also welcome to put their views in writing to: 
 

Director of Education  
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

P
age 52

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/


  

Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon CF45 4UQ 
 
e-mail schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 

 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
10. What arrangements have you put in place to review the actual impact of the policy once it has been implemented? 
 
The Council’s school improvement, governor support and HR teams will be fully engaged in supporting the governing body to establish the new 
provision, and to enable the school to ‘grow’ in size as new houses are constructed. This support will continue for as long as it is required. 
 
ADDRESSING THE IMPACT 
 
11. What option have you chosen as a result of your impact assessment? 
 

 Continue the Policy 

Please indicate and provide reasons for your decision. 

The evidence outlined in our consultation document clearly recommends that this is the right approach. 

12. ACTION PLAN 

You now need to complete the EIA action plan to outline how you will act on any impacts identified.  You may need to prioritise in terms of what actions 
you choose to take and the timescales to complete them in.  In general terms, you should try to act on all negative impacts unless there is a clear reason 
as to why this is not possible.  You could also identify actions for positive or neutral impacts where appropriate i.e. to outline and further promote a 
positive impact or to outline how to make something have a positive impact instead of a neutral one. 
 
 

P
age 53

mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


  

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT ACTION PLAN 

 

Action 
 

Responsible Officer Timescale for Actions Timescale and actions for 
Review 

Measures to be taken to 
evaluate effects of actions 

To monitor and supervise the 
construction of the new school 
building, which will be 
constructed by Persimmon 
Homes and delivered to the 
Council upon completion of the 
299th house on the 
development 
 

Colin Atyeo 
Director of Corporate 
Estates 
 

By September 2020 (or 
whichever date the 
construction of the 299th 
dwelling falls on) 
 

 
 

 

 
13. Please outline below any negative impacts that have been identified in the EIA questionnaire but not addressed in the action plan.  You will need to 
explain your reasons for not addressing them. 

 

None. 

 
Please keep a copy of the questionnaire and action plan and send copies to: 
Equality, Diversity & Social Justice Team 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach 
CF40 2XX 
Email: equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk  
Tel: 01443 424075 
Signed:  Gaynor Davies                  Date:  1/10/18 
Job Title: Director of Education & Inclusion Services 

P
age 54

mailto:equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk


  

Proposals to Establish Primary Education Provision for the Llanilid Housing 

Development, Llanharan 

Welsh Language Impact Assessment 

This assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the guidelines outlined in 

Annex C of the School Organisation Code. 

Outline planning consent for the construction of up to 1,850 homes at the former Llanilid 

Opencast Site, Llanharan, was granted by the Council’s Development Control Committee 

in January 2016, following over six years of discussion and consideration of the proposals 

between Council officers and agents representing the landowners. As part of the 

planning process, the Council will collect a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on each 

dwelling constructed, which will be utilised to provide the essential infrastructure that is 

required to support a housing development of this size. It has already been agreed that a 

new Primary school building, of 540 places in total (including Nursery provision) will form 

part of the essential infrastructure. 

To ensure that the demand for school places can be met in future years, through the 

preferred language medium of the parents’ choice, it is proposed that the new school 

building be established, in the first instance, as an extension to the dual language school 

provision of Dolau Primary School. As part of the Welsh Government initiative to 

increase the number of people in Wales who can speak the Welsh Language to at least 1 

million by 2050, the Council is aiming to increase capacity in the Welsh Language school 

sector, to encourage more parents to choose this medium of education for their children. 

Dolau offers provision in both languages, with parents given the freedom to choose 

which language they wish for their child to be educated in. 

It is proposed that the new school building will accommodate up to 480 pupils, plus 60 

part time Nursery places, for children aged between 3 and 11 years. It will be created and 

established as an extension to Dolau Primary School in the first instance, and will thus 

increase the total available capacity of this dual language school to 921, plus 124 part 

time Nursery places. We consider that this capacity will be sufficient to cater for current 

and forecasted pupil demand and it will also allow for growth in the Welsh Medium 

sector. 

All services provided by Dolau Primary School outside of school hours, such as breakfast 

clubs, after school clubs and other community facilities will continue in the new, 

extended school campus. Any links with outside organisations such as the Urdd, Menter 

Iaith etc will be maintained and hopefully strengthened and expanded. The new and 

existing school buildings will have spare capacity initially that can be utilised by 

community groups and organisations and the headteacher will be encouraged to 

consider using these facilities to increase participation in the Welsh Language. This may 

Page 55



  

include offering opportunities to parents and other community members to learn Welsh, 

and possibly providing the potential to invite outside organisations to provide childcare 

and ‘wrap around’ care provision on the school site if requested and if there is 

recognised demand for such facilities . 

Information on the standards of provision at Dolau Primary School is again contained 

within the consultation document. It must be stressed that this proposal is to treat the 

new school building as an extension to Dolau Primary School; it is not creating a brand 

new school and as such we have not outlined how an alternative school provision will 

improve on current standards, which are recognised as being of a high quality. 

One of the main targets outlined in the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 

(WESP) is to increase the number of children receiving education through the medium of 

Welsh, which will assist the local authority in working towards the Welsh Government 

target of having 1 million people in Wales able to speak Welsh by 2050. We consider that 

this proposal will provide extra pupil capacity through the medium of Welsh in a new, 

state of the art building and will hopefully encourage more parents to choose a Welsh 

Medium education for their children. 

 
 
 

Page 56



Appendix 2 
 

Notes of a meeting held with school council and year 6 pupils of Dolau Primary 
School 

Thursday 18th October 2018 at 2:00pm 
Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to establish Primary education 

provision for the Llanilud housing development  
 
Present 
 
Julie Hadley, School Organisation Manager 
Nicola Goodman, Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
Sophie Nicholls, 21st Century Schools Graduate Officer 
72 pupils present (14 from school council and year 6 classes from English and 
Welsh medium streams).  
 
Julie Hadley (JH) set out the proposals and asked pupils if they knew what the 
proposal was about. The meeting was open for pupils to pose questions.  
 
Question  
We know there will be a new building and they are discussing it tonight.  
 
JH explained the consultation process. If the decision is passed by Cabinet then the 
building will be designed and built.  
 
Question  
Will any buildings be removed from the site? 
JH 
 No 
 
Question  
What will happen to this building? 
JH  
There are no plans to alter this building. We are trying to build the school big enough 
to cope with all of the new houses, and it will be a separate building on site.  
 
Question  
Will the old building be forgotten? 
JH  
No, the Council and Governors will look after and protect it. It will still be part of the 
school.  
 
Question  
How long will it take to build? 
JH 
It will probably take a year.  
 
Question  
Will they have dinners here or there? 
JH  

Page 57



They will be able to have dinners in the new building.  
 
Question  
When will you start building? 
JH  
Hopefully, next summer.  
 
Question  
What will happen to the animals in the woods? 
JH  
We will make sure the animals have a home and we will protect and enhance their 
habitats with the school council. 
 
Question  
Will we have new wifi boxes for our new mega school? 
JH  
We will improve the IT to deliver the new curriculum. 
 
Question  
How will we pay for the new teachers? 
JH  
The budget for the staff depends on the number of pupils in the school and the 
Council provide the funding to the governors to pay for your teachers. 
 
Question  
How much will it cost to build? 
JH  
It will probably cost more than £5m.  
 
 
Question  
Will there be a path connecting the school building? 
JH  
Yes there will be a path connecting the buildings.  
 
Question  
Will we get a new PE hall? 
JH  
There will be a hall included in the new building. 
 
Question  
Will the fire alarms be linked between the buildings? 
JH  
The fire systems will be in place for all the buildings.  
 
Question  
How many classes will be taught in the new building? 
JH  
I’m  not sure. That would be up to Mr Evans to decide.  
 

Page 58



Question  
What are the pink buildings on the map? 
JH  
Those are groups of houses. These are not the official plans for the school yet. 
These are just to show you what might be able to happen if this is passed by 
Cabinet. 
 
Question  
Where will we all go break time? 
JH  
There will be a larger play area between both buildings. There may be a new grass 
pitch and maybe a MUGA. 
 
Question  
Will the new building be for foundation phase or juniors? 
JH  
The building will be suitable for both.  
 
Question  
There will be more traffic.  
JH  
Yes, we will ask for a large drop off facility for the school and make sure it is safe for 
you to walk and cycle to school. 
 
Question  
 What will happen to the nature area? 
JH  
Some of it may have to be moved elsewhere to make way for a path that connects 
both buildings. We wouldn’t get rid of it all as we know how important the green 
space is to the school.  
 
Question  
Would this turn into a comp? 
JH  
No. Over a few years there will be more pupils filling this school, and the spare 
places will be filled. Eventually both buildings will be full of primary aged pupils.  
 
Question  
Will there be a new head for that school? 
JH 
No. It will be Mr Evans as head for both buildings under the one school of Dolau 
Primary.  
 
Question  
Will year 6 be able to visit? 
JH  
Of course, it will be your new school building. 
 
Question  
Will there be storage for outside play equipment.  

Page 59



JH  
Yes we will make sure there is storage.  
 
Question  
Will they teach different subjects there? 
JH  
No, it will still be part of Dolau like your classes are now.  
 
Question  
How will the buses get there? 
JH  
That will depend on how the housing estate is designed. There will be a bus drop off 
area on the school site though.  
 
Question  
Will the English and Welsh be separate in the buildings? 
JH  
That is up to Mr Evans and the Governors to decide.  
Question  
How will the local comprehensive schools cope with the increased capacity of 
Dolau? 
JH  
The Welsh stream will be fine as there is plenty of room in Ysgol Llanhari. We will 
need to look at the English stream and see what the best solution is to ensure there 
is enough space for everyone.  
 
Question  
Will you change the school logo or mascot? 
JH  
No, that will not be affected by this. That is for the school to decide at any point.  
 
Question  
 Will there be a new pool? 
JH  
No. We don’t put pools in our schools anymore because they are expensive for the 
schools to run.  
 
Question  
What about disabled children that move in? 
JH  
The new building will be suitable for anyone with additional learning needs.  
 
Question  
How many children will there be in the school? 
JH  
There will be 540 new school places.  
 
Question 3 
Where will we have the summer and Halloween fates? 
JH  

Page 60



That is up to the school to decide.  
 
Question 3 
Will the school be a more modern design? 
JH  
The new block we are currently sat in is very modern and we build new 21st Century 
modern school buildings. 
 
Question  
Will pupils have to pay more for school trips? 
JH  
No 
Question  
How many builders will there be? 
JH  
Hopefully lots of them.  
 
Question  
Llanharan will turn big. Will there be extra police and fire stations? 
JH  
That will be up to those services to decide.  
 
Question  
How big will the new housing area be? 
JH  
You can look at the map on the board to see some ideas about designs and how 
many houses.  
 
Question  
Why won’t it be a comp? 
JH  
There is room elsewhere for children to go to secondary school. We need to make 
sure there is enough space for primary age pupils.  
 
Question  
How many new houses will there be? 
JH  
1800 
 
Question  
Will we share yards? 
JH  
Yes. There will be a much bigger external space for you to share.  
 
Question  
Will it be locked so people can’t come into school? 
JH  
Yes the whole site will be secure and your safeguarding is essential to the council.  
 
Question  

Page 61



What if there are too many pupils there? 
JH  
The site will be bigger and there will be enough space in the buildings and on the 
yard for all pupils to learn and play.  
 
 
Question  
How will the cars get there? 
JH  
There will be new roads built as part of the wider housing development.  
 
Question  
How long will design take? 
JH  
Hopefully they will start building next summer, but it takes about 6-8 months to 
design a school. 
 
Question  
Will there be enough buses and car parks? 
JH  
There will be a pick up/drop off area and safety is our main concern. You will be able 
to get on and off your buses safely.  
 
Question  
Will there be a bike park? 
JH  
There will likely be a bike shelter as we put them in most schools, and maybe a path 
to cycle on.  
 
Question  
Will there be a new field? 
JH  
Yes there will be a MUGA and a grass pitch for all pupils to use.  
 
Question  
Will there be two nurseries? There are already two for each class. 
JH  
Possibly, that is for Mr Evans to decide.  
 
Question  
How many trees will there be? 
JH  
I’m not sure how many but we won’t get rid of them all and hopefully plant some new 
ones.  
Question  
Will there be a running track? 
JH  
Probably not.  
 
 

Page 62



Question  
Is Persimmon building it? 
JH  
Yes, and the houses around it.  
 
Question  
What happens if there is an emergency in one building? 
JH  
The building will be evacuated and the emergency services will be called.  
 
Question  
Did you build this school? 
JH  
Yes the Council arranged for the building of this extension we are sat in.  
 
JH  
Thank you all for your questions and comments.  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



Notes of a meeting held with staff and governors of Dolau Primary School 
 

Thursday 18th October 2018 at 3:45pm 
 

Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to establish Primary education 
provision for the Llanilud housing development  

 
Present 
 
Andrea Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools 
Julie Hadley, School Organisation Manager 
Nicola Goodman, Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
Sophie Nicholls, 21st Century Schools Graduate Officer 
28 members of school staff and the governing body 
 
 
Introductions from Council officers. 
 
Andrea Richards (AR) welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the proposal, 
the reasons for the proposal, the purpose of the meeting, the consultation process 
and timescales relating to the consultation process and the proposals themselves 
should they be implemented. 
 
AR referred to the detailed consultation documents which outline the precise reasons 
for this consultation process, and provide further information regarding the school, 
such as pupil numbers, building condition information etc. The consultation 
document also provides information regarding where written comments should be 
sent and includes a questionnaire should people wish to complete this. 
 
AR explained that the questions / comments / responses would be recorded for 
inclusion in the consultation report which would be fed back to Cabinet in January 
2019, as would the feedback from pupils.   AR stressed that this was a period of 
consultation and should the proposals proceed to the next stage (statutory notice), 
objections would be received and recorded at that stage. 
 
AR outlined the full consultation process as:- 
 

 This initial consultation; 

 A further report to elected members and production of a 
consultation report, which is also published; 

 If elected members agree to proceed, a statutory notice is issued.  
This allows for a statutory 28 days period of consultation, during 
which any interested person may comment, or raise objections; 

 Following the 28 day period, a further report will be presented to 
elected members, together with an objections report which again 
has to be published. 

 The Council’s Cabinet will then make the final determination of the 
proposal. 
 

Page 64



It is anticipated that, subject to the outcome of this consultation process and 
progress with the construction of the new homes, the new school building would be 
provided by September, 2021; the exact date is not known at this stage as it is 
subject to house construction schedules that are outside of the Council’s control. 
 
In the case of staff, it is expected that there will be no impact whatsoever on the 
existing staff employed at Dolau; as the school grows in size in subsequent years 
additional staff will be required, so the staffing structure of the school will require 
continuous review by the Headteacher and governing body. 
 
AR explained that the purpose of the meeting was to seek views on the proposal 
being put forward.  
 
The meeting was then opened for questions. 
 
 
 
Comment 
The consultation document states that consideration is being given regarding two 
separate schools.  What if the Council decides to make it a ‘super school’? 
Response 
The intention is to use Dolau Primary School as an exemplar primary school, as it is 
a very good school.  Staff and governors can shape the school in the future.  There 
are a large number of houses proposed to be built and there will be a need for even 
more school places should further projected homes materialise.  A through school 
(3-16 years or 3-19 years) would need another consultation. 
 
Comment 
Concern expressed regarding the school having 1,000 pupils.  Primary schools are 
about community / smaller schools where teachers know the pupils’ names.   
Response  
The intention is, once the schools are established, to split them.  This is subject to 
further consultation at the relevant time.  At the moment, it is not known how many 
pupils will be generated by the new housing development and what language 
medium education they will require, therefore, the proposal is to open the new 
building under the umbrella of Dolau Primary School in the first instance. 
 
Comment 
If the school is running okay, the Council may not want to split the school and spend 
money on a new / extra Headteacher. 
Response 
The school will be funded appropriately as numbers grow.  The governing body will 
determine the staffing structure going forward.  Dolau Primary School is currently a 
big school.  There are other primary schools within Rhondda Cynon Taf which also 
have over 500 pupils.  There is better financial management in larger schools, but 
the concerns expressed regarding larger schools are noted.   
 
 
 
 

Page 65



Comment 
The current proposal (to open as an extension to Dolau Primary School) is 
understood as the numbers of pupils are clearly not known at present and separation 
in the future could be foreseen – it is good to have the choice.   
 
Comment 
One point of clarification was made in relation to the opening statements - the 
houses and investment in the area are coming because of the Council, not the M4. 
 
Question 
There is a 3G pitch at the new school in Pencoed.  Could this be negotiated with the 
developers? 
Response 
This cannot be promised, but it could be discussed with the developers.  Two pitches 
are being provided as part of the new build – the surfaces of these has not been 
determined at present.   
 
Question 
The reference made to the demographic of the school (i.e. Welsh or English 
medium) into the future being made by governors – will the Council or Welsh 
Government provide guidance on this? 
Response 
Ultimately it is the governors’ decision, however, the governing body would be 
suitably supported by the Council.  The current building will also continue to receive 
investment going forward. 
 
Question 
Will school staff be consulted regarding the new building? 
Response 
Persimmon (the housing developer) have already been provided with an 
accommodation schedule of required spaces in a school of this size.  Once their 
proposals are received, the Council will review them and consult with the school. 
Planning permission is being requested imminently for the house construction.  If the 
application is successful, the house construction is due to start in the new year.   
This is the first time that the Council has had a school provided by a developer.  The 
Council will consult with school staff in due course, as they are the practitioners. 
 
Comment 
The new building provides an opportunity for new initiatives, for example, a radio 
station, specialist rooms to put the school on the map in terms of the new curriculum. 
Response 
The building needs to be future-proofed and innovative.  There is a need to ensure 
that the building can deliver the new curriculum. 
 
Question 
Are there any plans for development of any of the Comprehensive schools in the 
area? 
Response 
The Council continually monitors the position and are also collaborating with 
Pencoed  in Bridgend.  There is space for secondary school age pupils requiring 

Page 66



Welsh medium education at Ysgol Llanhari; however, English medium capacity at 
secondary school age is an issue. 
 
Comment 
The majority of people moving into the new development may want English medium 
education. 
Response 
The Council continually monitors the situation and applies the management of school 
places.  There is also the Welsh Government target of over one million Welsh 
speakers by 2050 which may impact.  However, ultimately, parental choice 
determines the language choice for a child’s education. 
 
Comment 
The buildings at Ysgol Llanhari need to be looked at to attract further Welsh medium 
pupils. 
Response 
The Council are passionate about investment and have invested over £200 million in 
school buildings over the last five years.  We are aware of Ysgol Llanhari (secondary 
department) and we will continue to work with the school.  The primary department 
has received substantial investment and is now of a 21st Century Schools standard. 
 
Comment  
Some parents may prefer bilingual / dual language and other parents may prefer all 
Welsh, but this cannot be predicted. 
 
Comment 
Nursery applications – may these be considered across the border? 
Response 
There is no cross-border provision for nursery education as nursery education is paid 
for by Rhondda Cynon Taf Council, not by the Welsh Government, hence, is only 
available to Rhondda Cynon Taf residents.  This was part of the budget cuts 
implemented and it is not fair for residents from across the border to benefit from 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Council’s budgets.   
Bridgend Council are currently reviewing their nursery provision and there are similar 
border issues elsewhere in RCT. 
Secondary school pupils attending schools across the border are funded by Welsh 
Government. 
 
Question 
299 houses will be built before the school building opens – where will these children 
go? 
Response 
There may be a need to provide temporary / mobile classroom accommodation for a 
short period and increase the school’s admission number accordingly. 
 
Question 
One problem to take into account is parking issues.  Aware that it is an issue in all 
schools, but could drop off points be included? 
Response 

Page 67



The Council has authorised traffic impact assessments.  These can then input into 
the discussions / negotiations with Persimmon.   
Traffic will be reviewed on the proposed new and existing school sites and any 
recommendations following the Traffic Impact Assessment will be undertaken. 
 
Question 
Would the new building have a separate kitchen and ancillary spaces etc? 
Response 
This will be included. 
 
Question 
Would there be more provision for Special Educational Needs? 
Response 
All new school buildings are fully accessible and available to pupils with Additional 
Learning Needs. 
 
Comment  
With two school buildings, there needs to be a space for all staff to come together. 
Response 
There will be large enough spaces to accommodate staff meetings. 
 
Comment  
The Headteacher commented that the staff and governors of Dolau Primary School 
would ensure that this is the best school in the UK (not just RCT) and are really 
excited by the next phase. 
 
  
AR thanked all for their attendance and inputs and encouraged all present to contact 
the Council with any further comments or concerns and emphasised that the Council 
aims to provide a fantastic new facility. 
 
 
Two short video clips were played showing new schools recently constructed as part 
of the 21st Century Schools Programme at Cwmaman and Tonyrefail.   
 
 
The meeting closed at 4:35pm 

 

Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
24 JANUARY 2019 

 
21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS PROGRAMME - PROPOSALS TO 
IMPROVE EDUCATION PROVISION IN CYNON VALLEY  

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN DISCUSSION WITH THE 
CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR MRS J ROSSER) 

Authors: Andrea Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools and Lisa Howell, 
Business and School Organisation Manager. 
  
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to advise Members of the outcome of the 

recent consultation in respect of proposals to: 
• Improve and increase education provision in Hirwaun by 

investing in a new school for Hirwaun Primary School; 
• Improve Welsh medium education provision by increasing 

the supply of places in the Upper Cynon Valley by making 
Penderyn Community Primary School, currently a dual 
language school, a Welsh medium Primary School; 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Note the information contained within the attached Consultation Report, 

which includes details of items of correspondence received during the 
consultation exercise and notes of the various meetings held. 

 
2.2 Note that the consultation report recommends that an amendment to 

the consultation proposals be made, which will allow new English 
medium admissions to Penderyn Community Primary School until such 
time that the change in category of Penderyn Community Primary 
School, from a dual language school to a Welsh medium school, 
comes into effect. 

 
2.3 Agree to progress the proposals plus amendment to the next stage of 

the review process by firstly agreeing to publish the Consultation 
Report, and secondly issuing an appropriate Statutory Notice two 
weeks after the Consultation Report is published. 

 
2.4 The modified proposals are to: 

Page 77

Agenda Item 4



  

• create a new school for Hirwaun Primary School by 
September 2021; 

• change the category of Penderyn Community Primary 
School from a dual language school to a Welsh medium 
school from September 2021;  

• continue to allow new English medium admissions to 
Penderyn Community Primary School until such time that 
the change in category of Penderyn Community Primary 
School, from a dual language school to a Welsh medium 
school, comes into effect. 
 

 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To progress the proposal in accordance with the process outlined in 

Welsh Government legislative guidance (the School Organisation 
Code). 

 
4. BACKGROUND  
 
4.1 Members will recall that, at the meeting of the Cabinet held on 20th   

September 2018, approval was given to begin a process to formally 
consult on a proposal to improve and increase education provision in 
Hirwaun by investing in a new school for Hirwaun Primary School; and 
improve Welsh medium education provision by increasing the supply of 
places in the Upper Cynon Valley by making Penderyn Community 
Primary School, currently a dual language school, a Welsh medium 
Primary School.  

 
5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Equality, Community and Welsh Language Impact Assessments were 

prepared in respect of this proposal and were published on the 
Council’s website together with the Consultation Document that 
outlines the proposal in detail. Copies of all impact assessments are 
attached as an appendix to this report. 

 
6 CONSULTATION  
 
6.1 The consultation process in respect of this proposal has been 

undertaken under the arrangements outlined in the Welsh 
Government’s School Organisation Code, which was introduced on 1st 
October 2013 and recently updated in November 2018. These 
arrangements stipulate that a Consultation Report must be prepared 
prior to the publication of any Statutory Notices which will progress the 
proposal. It further states that this Report must be published within 26 
weeks of the end of the consultation period, which is 1st July 2019 in 
this instance. 

Page 78



  

 
6.2 The Consultation Report prepared in respect of this particular proposal 

is attached at Appendix B for your attention. It contains information in 
respect of meetings held to discuss the proposal, with copies of the 
notes taken at these meetings. It also contains a summary of the 
correspondence received during the consultation period and where 
appropriate, the responses given to the comments and queries raised. 
The report also references the Draft minutes of the Children & young 
People Scrutiny Committee meeting on the 19th December, 2018. 

 
 
6.3 It must be noted that there has been a fair response to this particular 

consultation process with 58 written responses received; in addition to 
this approximately 60 people, plus pupils, from both Hirwaun Primary 
and Penderyn Community Primary School attended the open evening 
held to provide further information on 27th November 2018. 

 
 
7. THE STATUTORY PROCESS 

7.1 The Statutory Notice for this proposal will refer to: 

• Increasing education provision in Hirwaun by constructing 
a new school for Hirwaun Primary School; and 

• Improving Welsh medium education provision by 
increasing the supply of places in the Upper Cynon Valley 
by making Penderyn Community Primary School, 
currently a dual language school, a Welsh medium 
Primary School 
 

7.2 If agreed, and subject to the matter not being called in for consideration 
by Scrutiny, the Consultation Report will be published on January 30th 
2019. Following a two week period the Statutory Notice will be 
published on 13th February 2019 and will allow for a 28 day period for 
objections, ending on 12th March 2019.  

 
7.3 If any objections are received during this period, in accordance with the 

aforementioned Code, an Objections Report will be prepared. This 
matter will then be reported to a future meeting of Cabinet, probably in 
April 2019, for Members to receive and consider the Objections Report 
and to make a final decision on this proposal. 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
  
8.1 If the proposal proceeds, it is proposed that a new school building be 

constructed to accommodate the new Hirwaun Primary School and it is 

Page 79



  

estimated that the cost of this work will be approximately £10.4m. This 
will be funded by the 21st Century Schools and Education Programme, 
which includes a 65% contribution from Welsh Government. The 
Council’s 35% share of the capital costs will be met through prudential 
borrowing. 

 
8.2 Any revenue and capital costs that accrue in completing the 

consultation and preparing financial business cases for Welsh 
Government approval will be met from within existing budgets. 

 
8.3 The Welsh Government has approved in principle the Strategic Outline 

financial business case to construct a new Hirwaun Primary School. A 
more detailed Outline Business Case will be submitted to the Welsh 
Government in February 2019, and if approved a Full Business Case 
will follow. 

 
 
9 LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES/ SIP. 
 
9.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan commits to “Continue to invest in 

improving school buildings, to ensure the County Borough’s pupils have 
the learning environment fit for the 21st Century.” The proposals 
considered in the report contribute to all 7 well-being goals within the 
Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015. 

 
 
10 CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Members are asked to consider the contents of the attached 

Consultation Report, to agree to its immediate publication, and to give 
officers approval to publish an appropriate Statutory Notice on 
February 13th 2019 to progress this proposal. 

 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Children and Young People 
 
 
Appendices to the report are: 
 

• Equality Impact Assessment 
• Community Impact Assessment 
• Consultation Report 

 
Contact Officer 
 
Lisa Howell, Business and School Organisation Manager - 01443 744062 

Page 80



                                                                                                                                            

 
PLEASE NOTE THAT A WELSH VERSION OF THIS DOCUMENT WILL BE AVAILABLE PRIOR 

TO PUBLICATION 

 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

Proposal : To construct a new school building for Hirwaun Primary School and 

change the language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School from 

1st September 2021.   

 

1. Purpose of the Consultation Report 

 

This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School 

Organisation Code, statutory document 011/2018. Its purpose is to inform the 

outcome of the consultation held during the period 1st October 2018 and 31st 

December 2018 between all stakeholders and interested parties listed below. 

 

2. Who did we consult with? 

 

A copy of a consultation document which fully outlined and explained our proposal 

was sent to the following stakeholders. The document was also published on the 

Council website at www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations 

 The governing bodies of Hirwaun 
Primary School, Penderyn 
Community Primary School and 
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar 

 Pupils of Hirwaun Primary School, 
Penderyn Community Primary 
School and Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg 
Aberdar 

 Parents, carers and staff members 
of Hirwaun Primary School, 
Penderyn Community Primary 
School and Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg 
Aberdar 

 Other governing bodies of 
neighbouring schools 

 The Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Diocesan Authorities 

 Welsh Minister for Education & 

 Members of Parliament for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf constituencies 

 Estyn 

 Teaching and staff trade unions 

 Central South Consortium – Joint 
Education Service 

 South East Wales Transport 
Association 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 Communities for Work Plus 
Employment Support Programme 

 Cwm Taf Local Health Board 

 The Early Years and Childcare 
Partnership  

 Hirwaun and Penderyn Community 
Council 

 The Welsh Language Commissioner 

Page 81

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations


                                                                                                                                            

 
Skills 

 Assembly Members for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf constituencies 
and regional Assembly Members for 
the area 

 Menter Iaith 

 Mudiad Meithrin 

 Neighbouring local authorities 

 

Copies were also sent to all local authorities that share a boundary with Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

 

3. The Proposal 

The proposal is to replace the current Hirwaun Primary School buildings with a newly 

constructed 21st Century Schools standard building, on the existing site of the current school 

with a capacity of 390 pupils (plus nursery) all of which will be English medium; and to 

amend the language category of Penderyn Community Primary School from its current dual 

language status to a 3-11 Welsh medium community primary school with a capacity of 231 

pupils (plus nursery) all of which will be Welsh medium.   

Details of the proposal and the rationale behind it are fully outlined in the consultation 

document that was circulated to all the stakeholders listed overleaf which is attached as 

Appendix 1; this also includes the Community Impact Assessment, Equality Impact 

Assessment and the Welsh Language Impact Assessment. 

4. The Consultation Process 

All stakeholders identified in Section 2 overleaf were sent paper or electronic copies of our 

consultation documentation. The following meetings were also convened: 

School Affected Group Time/Date Venue 

Penderyn Community 

Primary School 

Governing Body 

and Staff Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 

2018 / 4pm 

Penderyn Community 

Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary 

School 

Governing Body 

and Staff Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 

2018 / 4pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Penderyn Community 

Primary School 

School Council Thursday 11th October 

2018 / 2:30pm 

Penderyn Community 

Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary 

School 

School Council Thursday 11th October 

2018 / 2:30pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Both Schools and 

members of the local 

community 

Parents and public 

drop in session and 

exhibition  

Tuesday 27th November 

2018 / 3pm-6pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

 

Page 82



                                                                                                                                            

 

Notes of all of the above meetings were taken and are attached as Appendix 2. These notes 

record questions raised, comments and statements made, with responses provided where 

appropriate.  

An open evening/exhibition was held at Hirwaun Primary School on 27th November 2018, 

the purpose of which was to provide further information on the proposal, answer any 

questions, and give parents in particular the opportunity to ask questions. Officers from the 

Education and Inclusion Services Directorate, Corporate Estates, and Highways Directorate 

were in attendance. This event was attended by approximately 60 people, which included 

school governors, pupils, parents and local residents. 

A meeting with the Children’s and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee was held on 19th 

December 2018, where the consultation proposals were presented and comments and 

questions on the proposals received and where appropriate were answered by the Officers 

in attendance. Notes of this meeting were recorded and are included at Appendix 3. 

5. Summary of Responses to Consultation 

Responses to the matters raised at the meetings outlined above are, as indicated, 

summarised in the notes of the meetings attached as Appendix 2 and 3. Also enclosed at 

Appendix 4 are summaries of the questionnaires and written responses received plus 

comments posted on a ‘Have your say’ board provided for this purpose at the open evening.   

There were 58 written responses received during the consultation period and the number of 

those which are in favour of the proposals and those which are not are; 15 in favour, 22 

against, and 21 unsure or their preference not specified. 

Comments submitted during the consultation period, as well as feedback provided verbally 

at the public drop-in session, are recorded below. Where a number of letters received were 

duplicated, or a common theme raised by numerous respondents during the consultation 

process, we have captured this in a singular comment in this part of the report. Where 

required and/or appropriate our responses are included: 

 The consultation report does not quantify the number of children being taught 

through the medium of Welsh that live outside the Penderyn catchment area. 

The number of pupils that are educated through the medium of Welsh at Penderyn 

Community School that are within the Welsh medium catchment area is 89%, 

therefore 11% are out of catchment. 

 

The language split of pupils that attend Penderyn Community Primary who reside in 

the Penderyn ‘English’ School catchment are 22 English and 17 Welsh. 

 

 

Page 83



                                                                                                                                            

 

 Penderyn is a community school and all children should be able to attend. 

If these proposals are to go ahead then Penderyn will remain open as a community 

school, this will not change. The proposal is to remove the English language stream 

from the school not close it. The School Admissions Code will be implemented which 

ensures that all pupils who wish to attend Penderyn Community School, that live in 

catchment, will be able to do so. 

 

 

 Concerns were raised over Hirwaun Primary School’s poor Estyn Report 

Since receiving their inspection report in February 2018, Hirwaun Primary School, 

Central South Consortium and the Local Education Authority, have been working 

closely to significantly improve upon the findings of the Estyn Report. A Post 

Inspection Action Plan has been written which focuses on those areas in need of 

improvement and provides targets to ensure that progress is made against each of 

the recommendations in the Estyn inspection report.  

 

Progress continues to be closely monitored by the Director of Education and 

Challenge Advisors. The half term review suggests that progress is being made on 

the targets outlined in the PIAP. Ongoing support and monitoring will be provided to 

ensure that the school continues on its school improvement journey. 

 

 Concerns were raised that pupils will be unsettled if they move to a new school 

mid way through the primary phase 

Meaningful and successful transition is an integral part of ensuring that pupils settle 

into their new school environments with little disruption. Advice and support will be 

provided by the local authority to both Hirwaun Primary School and Penderyn 

Community Primary School to ensure that the transition process is as smooth and 

worry free as possible for the pupils. 

 

 Hirwaun needs a new school building 

 

 Children are being discriminated against as they cannot be taught English in their 

local school 

School Organisation and School Admissions are administered through Statutory 

Codes and are requirements of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 

2013. We ensure that all of our procedures are in line with this code which ensures 

we undertake due diligence so that no pupil is unfairly disadvantaged or 

discriminated against. This consultation has been carried out in accordance with this 

code. 

 

Page 84



                                                                                                                                            

 

 It is likely to result in job losses for the English medium staff currently employed at 

Penderyn. This is not acceptable. 

The impact upon staff is still unknown at this early stage in the consultation process. 
However RCT’s Human Resources Department have confirmed that they will discuss 
any concerns with staff members on an individual basis.   
 

 

 Having children attend two different schools from September 2019 is not practical 

Having considered this and all comments that have been submitted during this 
consultation period, the recommendation is that this element of the consultation 
proposal is amended so that new English medium admissions will be accepted after 
September 2019. The recommendation will be to change the category of Penderyn 
Community Primary School from a dual language school to a Welsh medium school 
from September 2021, which will align with the proposed opening of the new 
Hirwaun Primary School. 
  

 The Penderyn catchment area was reduced so why not extend it again 
It can be confirmed that the former Mid Glamorgan Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf 

County Borough Council have not changed any catchments to Penderyn. 

 Penderyn School is subject to a restrictive covenant that is specific around the 

education of children through English and Welsh languages. Please could you 

confirm if there are covenants in place for Penderyn School                                       

The Conveyances for Penderyn Community Primary School have been checked and 

there are no covenants or restrictions on the title relating to the education of 

children through English and Welsh languages. 

 Making Penderyn Community Primary School will help to achieve the Welsh 

Government’s target of creating 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

  

 Free transport is not a suitable option for such young children.  

Rhondda Cynon Taf is experienced in providing safe transport for pupils upwards 

from the age of 3, and this service is provided in line with the School Transport 

Policy. The Council currently transports 2,292 primary age pupils to school, of which 

252 are in their first year of school (aged 3-4). All primary school contracts are 

operated by drivers and passenger assistants that have been cleared by the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS). The safety and well-being of our pupils is 

paramount to us at all times. 

 

Page 85



                                                                                                                                            

 

 Object to the idea of all pupils accessing the school site via Glanant Street and 

Longfield Court throughout the construction of the new school 

This consultation process is in respect of proposals to provide Hirwaun with a new 

larger primary school and amend the language category of Penderyn Community 

Primary School and follows statutory guidance contained within the School 

Organisation Code. If the proposal progresses and a planning application for a new 

school is submitted in the future, then further consultation will be undertaken in the 

community under the relevant legislation (the Town and Country Planning Act). This 

is entirely separate from the current consultation process.  

These objections are however noted for the purpose of this report.  

 

 

The View of Estyn (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Education and Training in Wales) of the 

Overall Merits of the Proposal. 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in 
Wales.  
 
Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. However 
Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places 
no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore as a 
body being consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 
organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following 
response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such 
as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional Consortia which deliver 
school improvement services to the schools within the proposal. 
 

Summary/ Conclusion  
The proposer is Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, and the proposal relates to the 
construction of a new school building for Hirwaun Primary School (Hirwaun PS) and a change 
of language medium status - to Welsh medium only - at Penderyn Community Primary 
School (Penderyn CPS) from September 2021.  
Overall, the proposal is likely to have a beneficial impact on the standard of education 
provision in the area.  
 
Description and benefits  
The proposer has given a clear description of the proposal and arrangements for responding 
to the consultation.  
 
The proposer has made suitable reference to: the schools’ performance data and trends; 
information about the condition of the estate; current and projected pupil numbers and 

Page 86



                                                                                                                                            

 

attendance; recent Estyn reports. Both of the schools affected by the proposal have been 
inspected within the past year, and the proposal acknowledges the judgements of Adequate 
and needs improvement, and Unsatisfactory and needs urgent improvement that were 
awarded at Hirwaun PS. It notes the relatively poor condition of the school buildings at 
Hirwaun PS.  
 
The proposer has set out its rationale for changing Penderyn CPS to a Welsh medium-only 
school, both in terms of a trend of increasing numbers of pupils attending its Welsh medium 
stream, and in respect of the local authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP).  
In relation to the change of catchment, the proposal sets out the priorities for allocating 

pupils a place according to the authority’s school admissions policy. Pupils studying in the 

English medium stream at Penderyn CPS would transfer automatically to provision at 

Hirwaun PS without any additional application process. 

The proposal addresses transport for pupils within the proposed changed school catchments 
appropriately. Pupils living in Trenant and Penywaun (within the expanded catchment area 
for Penderyn CPS) who wish to receive Welsh medium education would be eligible for free 
transport to school at Penderyn CPS. Pupils living in Penderyn (within the expanded 
catchment area for Hirwaun PS) who wish to receive English medium education would 
receive free transport to Hirwaun PS.  
 
The proposal addresses potential staff changes as a consequence of closing the English 
medium stream at Penderyn CPS. Staff below SLT level would have the opportunity to apply 
for new posts at Hirwaun PS before they are externally advertised, and these posts would 
initially be ‘ring fenced’ to former Penderyn CPS teachers.   
  
The proposer identifies a few disadvantages to the proposed changes. These include the 
perceptions by parents that a smaller school may be more appropriate to their child’s needs 
and increased travelling distance for some pupils in some communities. The proposer has 
mitigated the increased travel for these pupils by providing free transport for those pupils 
affected. The proposal includes consideration of demographic changes in the area in the 
near future, including housing developments and future development at the site of the 
former Tower Colliery at Hirwaun. These are likely to lead to an increase in demand in both 
English- and Welsh-medium provision. 
 
The proposer has considered alternative options, including maintaining the current language 
status of the two schools, and replacing the old buildings at Hirwaun PS ‘like for like’. 
However, it has concluded that these would not address the increasing demand for Welsh 
medium provision, the local demographic changes or the potential benefits to quality that 
having larger single-language provision at the two schools could bring.  
The proposal includes consideration of the risk of disruption to pupils at Hirwaun PS during 
building works. The proposer notes that these risks will ‘be mitigated by the detailed and 
thorough project management arrangements that will be put in place’, although does not 
give any detail of these arrangements.  
 
 

Page 87



                                                                                                                                            

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  
The proposal sets out the perceived benefits. They include, for the construction of an English-
medium school at Hirwaun: an extended, enhanced environment in a modern, purpose built 
school, all pupils being taught in same-age-group classes, improvements brought about by 
increases in scale to pupils’ and teachers’ opportunities. For Penderyn CPS, the benefits 
identified include: total immersion in the Welsh language for all pupils at the school, the 
creation of a ‘critical mass’ of Welsh medium learners, more opportunities for pupils to take 
part in extra-curricular activities through the medium of Welsh and improved recruitment 
and retention of staff.  
 
The potential benefits identified by the proposer appear to be a reasonable assessment of 

the consequences of the proposed changes. 

 
 
6. Assessment of Consultation 

 

In view of the responses and comments received during the consultation period, a further 

assessment of the proposals, which are included within the consultation document, has 

been undertaken. The proposals have been revisited and the impact of the proposals on the 

quality and standards of education, the community, and transport arrangements, have been 

reassessed.  

 

Following this reassessment the proposals are not wholly considered to be the most suitable 

and as such it is considered appropriate that an amendment to the proposals be tendered.  

The recommendation is that an element of the consultation proposal is amended so that 

new English medium admissions will be accepted to Penderyn Community Primary School 

after September 2019.  

 

The recommendation of this report is to construct a new school building for Hirwaun 

Primary School, change the category of Penderyn Community Primary School from a dual 

language school to a Welsh medium school from September 2021, and continue to allow 

new English medium admissions to Penderyn Community Primary School until such time 

that the change in category of Penderyn Community Primary School, from a dual language 

school to a Welsh medium school, comes into effect. 

 

 

7. Conclusion 

 

The recommendation is that this report is published, and at the appropriate time a statutory 

notice be published with the recommended modification as stated above, in order to 

progress this proposal.  

 

Page 88



 
 
 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 

CONSULTATION ON A PROPOSAL TO CONSTRUCT A 
NEW SCHOOL BUILDING FOR HIRWAUN PRIMARY 

SCHOOL AND THE PROPOSED CHANGE OF LANGUAGE 
MEDIUM STATUS OF PENDERYN COMMUNITY 
PRIMARY SCHOOL, FROM 1ST SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 89



Table of Contents  
 
Introduction to the Proposal  
        

Who will we consult with?        3 
 

What will the consultation process entail?      4 
 

What do you have to consider?       4 
 

How do you make your views known?           5 
 
Background to the Proposal 
                    

Information on the schools – Penderyn Community Primary School   6 
 

Information on the schools – Hirwaun Primary School     9 
 

What is the basis for this proposal?       12 
 

The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP)     12 
 

What is the educational case for changing the language medium of  
Penderyn Community Primary School and increasing pupil capacity  
at Hirwaun Primary School?   13 
 
What will this proposal mean for the schools’ pupils?    13 
 
Catchment changes        14 
 
Transport policy        15 
 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on the staff of the schools?  17 
 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on the communities of  
Penderyn and Hirwaun?       17 
 
What are the financial implications of the proposal?    17 
 
What are the disadvantages of this proposal?     18 
 
What alternative options have been considered?    18 
 
Governance         19 
 
The new proposed school building      19 
 
What is the statutory process?       20 
 
Catchment maps        21 
 
Consultation Response pro-forma       23 

Page 90



Introduction to the Proposal 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council wishes to seek the views of a wide range of 
stakeholders on the proposal to change the language medium of Penderyn Community 
Primary School and extend the capacity of Hirwaun Primary School.  The change will be 
achieved by the construction of a new school building on the site of the current Hirwaun 
Primary School, to replace the current building, with Penderyn Community Primary School 
becoming a completely Welsh medium community primary school.  As part of the proposal 
to change the language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School to completely 
Welsh medium, it is also proposed to extend the catchment area of Penderyn Community 
Primary School to include the communities of Trenant and Penywaun (currently in the 
Welsh medium catchment for Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar).  It is proposed that this 
catchment change will take effect from 1st September 2020.  It is proposed that pupils 
attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School would 
(subject to parental preference), transfer to the new Hirwaun Primary School building on 1 
September 2021.  From 1st September 2019, no new pupils wishing to be educated through 
the medium of English will be admitted to Penderyn Community Primary School. 
 
Who will we consult with? 

 
We are seeking the views of the following stakeholders: 
 

 The governing bodies of Hirwaun 
Primary School, Penderyn 
Community Primary School and 
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar 

 Pupils of Hirwaun Primary 
School, Penderyn Community 
Primary School and Ysgol 
Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar 

 Parents, carers and staff 
members of Hirwaun Primary 
School, Penderyn Community 
Primary School and Ysgol 
Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar 

 Other governing bodies of 
neighbouring schools 

 The Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Diocesan Authorities 

 Welsh Minister for Education & 
Skills 

 Assembly Members for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
constituencies and regional 
Assembly Members for the area 

 Members of Parliament for the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
constituencies 

 Estyn 

 Teaching and staff trade unions 

 Central South Consortium – Joint 
Education Service 

 South East Wales Transport 
Association 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 Communities for Work Plus 
Employment Support 
Programme 

 Cwm Taf Local Health Board 

 The Early Years and Childcare 
Partnership  

 Hirwaun and Penderyn 
Community Council 

 The Welsh Language 
Commissioner 

 Menter Iaith 

 Mudiad Meithrin 

Page 91



 Neighbouring local authorities 
 
What will the consultation process entail? 

 
The consultation will start on the 1st October 2018 and will be completed at 5pm on 31st 
December 2018. The feedback from the consultation will be collated and summarised, and 
a report presented to the Council’s Cabinet in January 2019. This consultation report will 
be available for all persons to view on the Council’s internet site and copies can be 
obtained on request from the addresses detailed on page 5 of this document. 
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the report and will decide, based on the feedback, 
whether to proceed with the proposal, make changes to the proposal or not proceed with 
the proposal. If the Cabinet decides not to proceed, that will be the end of this proposal.  
 
If the Cabinet decides to proceed with the proposal a statutory notice is published 
providing a 28 day notice period for objections. The School Standards and Organisation 
(Wales) Act 2013 requires that anyone wishing to make objections to a school organisation 
proposal has the opportunity to do so. To be considered as statutory objections, objections 
must be made in writing or by email, and sent to the Council within 28 days of the date on 
which the proposal was published.  
 
The Council’s Cabinet will consider the outcome of the statutory notice at the next 
available Cabinet meeting and determine whether to implement the proposal. 
 
If there are objections, the Council’s Director of Education and Inclusion Services will 
publish an objection report providing a summary of the objections and their response to 
them within 7 days of the day of the determination of the proposal. This report will also be 
available for all persons to view on the Council’s internet site and copies can be obtained 
on request from the addresses detailed on page 6 of this document. 
 
If the Council’s Cabinet approve the proposal, the proposal will be implemented in 
accordance with the date given in the statutory notice or any subsequently modified date. 
In the case of this proposal the implementation date is 1st September 2020 for the Welsh 
medium catchment change and 1st September 2021 for the provision of the new school 
building at Hirwaun. 
 
What do you have to consider? 

 
The remainder of the consultation document sets out the rationale for the proposed 
change to primary education provision in Hirwaun and Penderyn. We would like you to 
consider the information contained within this document and to hear your views as to 
whether or not you support the proposal to change the language medium of Penderyn 
Community Primary School and its extended catchment area proposal, and extend the 
capacity of Hirwaun Primary School.  The change will be achieved by the construction of a 
new school building on the site of the current Hirwaun Primary School, to replace the 
building, with Penderyn Community Primary School becoming a completely Welsh medium 
community primary school with a larger catchment area encompassing the communities of 
Trenant and Penywaun.  It is proposed that pupils attending the English medium stream of 

Page 92



Penderyn Community Primary School would (subject to parental preference), transfer to 
the new Hirwaun Primary School building on 1 September 2021. 
 
The proposal is to replace the current Hirwaun Primary School buildings with a newly 
constructed 21st Century Schools standard building, on the existing site of the current 
school with a capacity of 390 pupils (plus nursery) all of which will be English medium, and 
to amend the language category of Penderyn Community Primary School from its current 
dual language status to a 3-11 Welsh medium community primary school with a capacity of 
231 pupils (plus nursery) all of which will be Welsh medium.   
 
How do you make your views known? 

 
Consultation events will be held and you are welcome to attend the appropriate meeting. 
 

School Affected Group Date / Time Venue 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Governing Body 
and Staff Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 
2018 / 4pm 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary 
School 

Governing Body 
and Staff Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 
2018 / 4pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

School Council Thursday 11th October 
2018 / 2:30pm 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary 
School 

School Council Thursday 11th October 
2018 / 2:30pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Both Schools and 
members of the local 
community 

Parents and 
public drop in 
session and 
exhibition  

Tuesday 27th 
November 2018 / 
3pm-6pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

 
 
A consultation questionnaire is attached, it will also be available at the drop-in session 
detailed above and on the Council’s internet site at www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations 
 
The questionnaire also enables consultees to register their wish to be notified of the 
publication of the consultation report to the Council’s Cabinet.  
 
You are also welcome to put your views, comments and any questions you may have in 
writing to: 
 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
21st Century Schools Team 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon   CF45 4UQ        Telephone (01443) 744227   Fax (01443) 744224 
  
E-mail   schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 
 
All correspondence should be received no later than 5pm Monday, 31st December 2018. 
 

Page 93

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations
mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


Please note that responses to the consultation will not be counted as objections to the 
proposal. Objections can only be forwarded following the publication of the statutory 
notice. 
 

Background to the proposal 

 
Information on the schools – Penderyn Community Primary School  

Penderyn Community Primary School is a dual language community primary school 
situated at Pontprenllwyd, Penderyn, which is a few miles from the town of Aberdare.  The 
school site consists of a new building which was opened in 2006 and the school benefits 
from a Multi-Use Games Area and woodland area.  Based on the results of the Welsh 
Government commissioned building survey of all schools Penderyn Community Primary 
School is graded a B for condition and  A for suitability, where A is the highest and D is the 
lowest performing building respectively. The current figure for the maintenance work that 
would be desirable to undertake at this school is £165,995. 

The school is organised into two language streams. Parents choose for their children to 
study most of their lessons either through the medium of Welsh or through the medium of 
English. In recent years the number of pupils (including nursery) in the Welsh language 
stream has increased to 179, whilst numbers have fallen to just 54 in the English stream.  
Of the 54 pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary 
School, only 22 pupils actually live within the Penderyn catchment area.  The majority of 
pupils (27 pupils) live within the Hirwaun catchment area.  There are 9 classes in the 
school, 6 of which are taught in Welsh and 3 which are taught in English.   
 
The pupil numbers in Penderyn Community Primary School over the past four years are 
shown below and are obtained from the statutory pupil level annual school census (PLASC) 
which is undertaken in January each year. The numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, 
as we are required to exclude these from the table by the Welsh Government’s statutory 
School Organisation Code, however we have shown the nursery numbers separately.  All 
data is split between the respective Welsh (W) and English (E) streams of the school: 
 

School Age 
Range of 

whole 
school 

 

Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Penderyn Primary (W) 3 - 11 138 146 150 159 162 
Penderyn Primary (E) 3 - 11 58 59 57 56 51 

 
Note: The pupil capacity of the school is 231 (excluding nursery) – this capacity covers the 
Welsh and English streams. 
 
 

 

Page 94



 

Nursery numbers (total numbers of pupils attending): 

School Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Penderyn Primary (W) 28 23 24 23 17 
Penderyn Primary (E) 12 2 4 4 3 

 
Over the next five years the pupil forecasts for Penderyn Community Primary School, 
which are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government, are as 
follows: 
 

School Jan 
2019 

Jan 
2020 

Jan 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Jan 
2023 

Penderyn Primary (W) 167 160 162 152 150 
Penderyn Primary (E) 46 47 41 36 38 

 
Primary School Standards 
 
The following tables set out the performance of the Welsh (W) and English (E) streams of 
Penderyn Community Primary School for the key measures of educational performance 
over the past three years and compare the school to similar schools across Wales based on 
the numbers of pupils in receipt of free school meals.   
 

Foundation Phase Outcomes 
 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 
Foundation Phase 
Indicator 

92 (2) 100 (1) 95.2 (1) 90 (3) 96.4 (1) 100 (1) 

Personal and social 
development 
wellbeing and 
cultural diversity 

100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 90 (4) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

Language literacy 
and 
communication 
skills 
English/Welsh 

96 (2) 100 (1) 95.2 (2) 90 (3) 96.4 (2) 100 (1) 

Mathematical 
development 

96 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 90 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

 
The figures in brackets in the table above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales based 
on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 being the 
highest and 4 the lowest.  
 
 
 

Page 95



 
 
 

Key Stage Two Outcomes 
 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 
English 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 94.4 (2) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 
Welsh 1st 88.2 (3) N/A 94.2 (2) N/A 95.5 (2) N/A 
Maths 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 
Science 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 96.8 (3) 88.9 (4) 
Core Subject 
Indicator (CSI) 

88.2 (3) 100 (1) 94.2 (2) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 

 
The figures in brackets in the table overleaf, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest.  
 
 

The attendance of the pupils of the school over the past three years is set out below: 
 

Percentage of half-day sessions attended by pupils of statutory school age during the 
academic year 

School 2015 2015 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2016 2016 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2017 2017 
Benchmark 

Quartile 
Penderyn Primary 
(whole school) 

94.2 4 94.6 3 94.6 4 

Penderyn Primary 
(W) 

94.7 3 94.8 3 94.8 4 

Penderyn Primary 
(E) 

93 4 94 4 94.5 4 

 

 
Penderyn Community Primary School was inspected by Estyn in April 2018 and the 
outcomes were as follows:- 
 

 
Inspection area  

 
Judgement  

Standards  Good  

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good  

Teaching and learning experiences  Adequate and needs improvement  

Care, support and guidance  Good  

Leadership and management  Good  

 
Estyn also set out that, in order to build upon the current work, the school should:  
 
R1  Refine monitoring and self-evaluation procedures and ensure that reports identify 

the school’s qualities and areas for development clearly 

Page 96



R2  Make sure that planning procedures ensure appropriate achievement of the 
curriculum over time, and that they are useful to teachers in sessions on the 
classroom floor 

R3 Ensure that the school implements all of the principles of the foundation phase 
consistently 

 

The Council’s School Improvement Services are provided by the Central South Consortium, 
a regional school improvement services for the five local authorities of Bridgend, Cardiff, 
Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan. Schools are categorised as 
either Green, Yellow, Amber or Red in respect of their standards. The categorisation colour 
shows the level of support a school needs (with the schools in the green category needing 
the least support and those in the red category needing the most intensive support). Each 
school will receive a tailored programme of support, challenge and intervention based on 
this category.  The Consortium categorises the performance of each school in the region 
and Penderyn Community Primary School has recently been categorised as a ‘Yellow’ 
school.   
 

Information on the schools – Hirwaun Primary School 

 
Hirwaun Primary School is an English medium Community School located at Glannant 
Street, Hirwaun, Aberdare and the school site consists of two separate single storey 
prefabricated buildings, consisting of concrete sections built around a steel frame with flat 
felt roof, constructed in 1969.  Based on the results of the Welsh Government 
commissioned building survey of all schools Hirwaun Primary School is graded a C minus 
for condition and a B for suitability, where A is the highest and D is the lowest performing 
building respectively. The current figure for the maintenance work that would be desirable 
to undertake at this school is £1,931,226.00.  
 
The pupil numbers in Hirwaun Primary School over the past four years are shown below 
and are obtained from the statutory pupil level annual school census (PLASC) which must 
be undertaken in January each year. The numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as we 
are required to exclude these from the table by the Welsh Government’s statutory School 
Organisation Code, however we have shown the nursery numbers separately: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note: The pupil capacity of the school is 265 (excluding nursery). 
 

Nursery numbers (total numbers of pupils attending): 

School Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Hirwaun Primary 38 33 32 36 41 

School Age 
Range of 

whole 
school 

 

Jan 
2014 

Jan 
2015 

Jan 
2016 

Jan 
2017 

Jan 
2018 

Hirwaun Primary 3 - 11 195 201 201 211 208 

Page 97



 
Over the next five years the pupil forecasts for Hirwaun Primary School, which are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government, are as follows: 
 

School Jan 
2019 

Jan 
2020 

Jan 
2021 

Jan 
2022 

Jan 
2023 

Hirwaun Primary 214 218 220 222 228 

 
It should also be noted that there are currently 102 ‘in catchment’ children resident in 
Hirwaun attending schools outside of the Hirwaun Primary catchment area (excluding 
those attending faith schools).  If demand from in catchment children should rise due to 
the provision of a new school building, the growth in pupil numbers would be able to be 
accommodated within the new building.  
 
Primary School Standards 
 
The following tables set out the performance of Hirwaun Primary School for the key 
measures of educational performance over the past three years and compare the school to 
similar schools across Wales based on the numbers of pupils in receipt of free school 
meals.   
 

Foundation Phase Outcomes 
 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Hirwaun Primary  Hirwaun Primary  Hirwaun Primary  
Foundation Phase 
Indicator 

86.2 (2) 86.2 (2) 89.3 (1) 

Personal and social 
development wellbeing 
and cultural diversity 

93.1 (3) 100 (1) 96.4 (2) 

Language literacy and 
communication skills 
English/welsh 

86.2 (2) 86.2 (2) 92.9 (1) 

Mathematical 
development 

89.7 (2) 93.1 (1) 92.9 (1) 

 
The figures in brackets in the table above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest.  

 
 

Key Stage Two Outcomes 
Subjects 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

English 83.3 (3) 90.9 (1) 94.6 (1) 
Maths 91.7 (1) 95.5 (1) 97.3 (1) 
Science 91.7 (2) 95.5 (1) 94.6 (1) 
Core Subject Indicator 
(CSI) 

83.31 (2) 90.9 (1) 91.9 (1) 

 

Page 98



The figures in brackets in the table above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest. 

  
The attendance of the pupils of the school over the past three years is set out below: 
 

Percentage of half-day sessions attended by pupils of statutory school age 
during the academic year 

School 2015 2015 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2016 2016 
Benchmark 

Quartile 

2017 2017 
Benchmark 

Quartile 
Hirwaun 
Primary 

94.2 2 93 4 93.6 3 

 
Hirwaun Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in February 2018 and the outcomes 
were as follows:-  
 

 
Inspection area  

 
Judgement  

Standards  Adequate and needs improvement  

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Adequate and needs improvement  

Teaching and learning experiences  Unsatisfactory and needs urgent improvement  

Care, support and guidance  Good  

Leadership and management  Adequate and needs improvement  

 
Estyn also set out several recommendations for the school to implement, namely, that the 
school should:  

R1  Improve the quality of teaching and feedback to pupils  

R2  Improve standards of pupils’ reading, writing and presentation of work  

R3  Improve pupils’ standards in information and communication technology (ICT) 
 
R4  Ensure that the curriculum meets requirements and develops pupils’ skills 

progressively 

R5        Improve pupils’ independent learning skills  

R6   Correctly identify and address important areas of teaching and learning that need 
to improve and hold all members of staff to account robustly  

Following this inspection, a detailed action plan was drawn up to address the 
recommendations.   The school will be fully supported to implement the improvements 
needed by officers from the local authority’s School Improvement Service and the Central 
South Consortium.  Estyn will visit to re-inspect the school in the next academic year, to 
determine whether the necessary measures to effect the required improvements have 
been put in place. 

Page 99



As indicated previously, the Council’s School Improvement Services are provided by the 
Central South Consortium. Schools are rated as either Green, Yellow, Amber or Red in 
respect of their standards. Hirwaun Primary School has recently been categorised as a 
‘Red’ school, as a consequence of the outcome of its Estyn inspection, as outlined above.   
 
The Council has commissioned its school improvement service (the Central South 
Consortium Joint Education Service) to ensure that strong progress is made against each 
recommendation in the Estyn inspection report and regular feedback is provided to the 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services, the Senior Challenge Adviser, the 
Headteacher and the chair of the governing body. 
 
 

What is the basis for this proposal? 

 
The change in language medium status to totally Welsh medium and the growth of Welsh 
medium places at Penderyn Community Primary School supports the Welsh Government 
Cymraeg 2050: Welsh Language Strategy of one million Welsh speakers by 2050 and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s (RCT’s) Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) 2017-2020. 
 
 

The Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 
 

All local authorities in Wales now have to produce a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP). This document indicates how the local authority intends to promote the teaching 
of the Welsh Language, how it intends working towards increasing the number of children 
taught through the medium of Welsh and how it can assist achieving the Welsh 
Government’s target of having one million people in Wales speaking Welsh by 2050. The 
WESP for RCT can be viewed and downloaded from the Council website via 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStra
tegicPlan201720.pdf. 
 
Included among the list of actions and outcomes that the Council will undertake to help 
achieve the targets set out in the WESP by increasing the number of seven year-old 
children being taught through the medium of Welsh are the following: 
 

 New and improved school buildings with appropriate capacity levels to fully meet 
forecasted demand for Welsh medium provision in their catchment areas; 

 Consideration of making dual language Primary schools into full Welsh medium 
schools  

 
This proposal, to change Penderyn Community Primary School from a dual language school 
to a totally Welsh medium school and in doing so to also increase the number of Welsh 
medium primary school places will work towards the achievement of these targets in this 
area of the County Borough. 
 
 
 

Page 100

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf


 
 
What is the educational case for changing the language medium of Penderyn 
Community Primary School and increasing pupil capacity at Hirwaun Primary 
School? 
 

School organisational change should point to the educational benefits that any change will 
offer, particularly in relation to overall improvements in standards, but also in terms of the 
social and emotional development of children, which would usually impact beneficially on 
their overall achievement and outcomes. 
 

It is the Council’s view that changing the language medium of Penderyn Community 
Primary School from dual language to Welsh medium and constructing a new school 
building with a larger pupil capacity for the communities of Hirwaun and Penderyn to 
replace the current Hirwaun Primary School will improve educational outcomes and 
provision. 
 
A larger, new, purpose built English medium primary school at Hirwaun could offer: 
 

 Greater flexibility and opportunity for pupils due to an extended, more enhanced 
educational environment in which to learn and grow; 

 Potential for financial savings in terms of services, which accrue to a larger school 
which can be reinvested for the benefit of all pupils;  

 The future capital investment benefits that would arise from the construction of a 
modern, state of the art purpose built school that meets all the required standards 
of a 21st Century learning environment; 

 More opportunities for the teaching and support staff which are provided by a 
larger school; 

 Pupils being taught, in the main, with their year group. All classes in the Penderyn 
English medium stream are currently mixed year groups. 

 
A completely Welsh medium primary school at Penderyn could: 
 

 Provide total immersion in the Welsh language for all pupils at the school; 

 Enable total immersion in the Welsh language to be offered to a larger number of 
pupils from the youngest possible age; medium  

 Offer more opportunities for the teaching and support staff which could be 
provided by a larger wholly Welsh medium school; 

 Create a critical mass of Welsh-medium learners;  

 Enable the development of increased Welsh-medium provision at secondary level;  

 Provide more opportunity for pupils to take part in extra-curricular activities 
through the medium of Welsh; 

 Improve recruitment and retention of staff 
 
What will this proposal mean for the schools’ pupils? 

 
In making the proposed changes, in addition to the points above, there are several further 
perceived benefits that can be realised: 

Page 101



 

 There will be more competition for pupils in and outside the classroom in a larger 
school at Hirwaun which is what children require if they are to achieve good 
educational outcomes; 

 Being part of a larger school creates opportunity to engage in a wider range of 
curricular and extra-curricular activities; 

 A larger team of staff at Hirwaun Primary School to share expertise and 
experience;  

 More pupils being taught in a new, state of the art, purpose built school buildings, 
which will be fit for the purpose of providing education in the 21st Century. 

 
The Welsh Government and the Council has adopted the UN Convention on the Rights of 
the Child which is expressed in seven core aims that all children and young people: 
 

1. have a flying start in life; 
2. have a comprehensive range of education and learning opportunities; 
3. enjoy the best possible health and are free from abuse, victimisation and 

exploitation; 
4. have access to play, leisure, sporting and cultural activities; 
5. are listened to, treated with respect, and have their race and cultural identity 

recognised; 
6. have a safe home and a community which supports physical and emotional 

wellbeing; 
7. are not disadvantaged by poverty. 

 
We consider that this proposal benefits the children in these communities in accordance 
with the seven core aims set out above. 
 
Catchment changes  

 
Penderyn Community Primary School  
Pupils living in Hirwaun who require Welsh medium education will still attend Penderyn 
Community Primary School (subject to parental preference).   
 
The Welsh medium catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School will also be 
extended to encompass the communities of Trenant and Penywaun (which are currently in 
the catchment area of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar). 
 
These adjustments are being made to the catchment area to match the demand for Welsh 
medium places with the available supply across the Welsh medium primary school sector 
in this part of the County Borough.  Additional demand for places is also being driven by 
housing development in this part of the County Borough.  
 
In the case of oversubscription at any school, published admissions criteria are applied to 
all applications received for places, to determine which pupils are successful in obtaining 
the places available. These criteria, which are outlined in our school admission policy 
booklet entitled ‘Starting School’ and listed in priority order are: 
 

Page 102



 Category 1 – ‘Looked after’ children (children in public care) and previously ‘looked 
after’ children. 

 Category 2 – Children whose home is inside the school’s catchment area and have 
an older sibling attending the school from the same address, who will continue to 
attend that school on the expected date of admission of the younger child. 

 Category 3 – Children whose home is inside the school’s catchment area who do 
not have an older sibling attending the school. 

 Category 4 – Children whose home is outside the school’s catchment area and have 
an older sibling attending the school from the same address, who will continue to 
attend that school on the expected date of admission of the younger child. 

 Category 5 – Children whose home is outside the school’s catchment area who do 
not have an older sibling attending the school. 

 
The term ‘home’ in the categories above refers to the actual location of the residential 
dwelling in which the child lives. 
 
Children will be admitted up to the published Admission Number in the order of priority as 
outlined above. If within any one of the priority categories listed all of the applicants 
cannot be offered a place, preference will be given to children living nearest to the school. 
Distance will be measured using the shortest, safe walking route between the home 
address and the nearest open school gate. In areas where no safe walking route has been 
identified, the shortest driving route between the home address and the nearest open 
school gate will be used. This distance will be measured using the Mapinfo System only, 
measurements calculated by any other system will not be considered. The home address in 
instances where parents have shared responsibility for children, will be the address to 
which Child Benefit is paid. 
 
For the purpose of applying admissions criteria, any child living in the areas to be 
transferred from the Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar (YGG Aberdar) catchment area, as 
detailed on the map enclosed in this document and who has an older sibling still attending 
YGG Aberdar in September 2020 will have their application considered as if they still 
resided in the YGG Aberdar catchment area, i.e. their application will fall in to Category 2 
of the aforementioned criteria and not Category 4. This protection will continue until all 
older siblings have left the school. This will only cover siblings attending Reception to Year 
6 in September 2020, any attending the Nursery class will not be eligible (as this is non-
statutory education).  
 
Hirwaun Primary School 
The catchment area of the new Hirwaun Primary School will extend to incorporate the 
current catchment area of the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary 
School.   Any pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary 
School will simply transfer to the new school building in Hirwaun when it opens in 
September 2021 (subject to parental preference). They will not need to complete 
admission applications unless they are applying for Nursery or Reception places.  
 
Transport policy 
 

Page 103



There is a statutory duty placed upon the local authority (LA) to provide learners with free 
transport to their nearest suitable school if they reside beyond safe “walking distance” to 
that school. The term suitable school applies to the catchment area English, Welsh or dual 
language mainstream school or special school/class as appropriate. The law relating to safe 
“walking distance” is defined as two miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving 
primary education and three miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving 
secondary education.  
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council has exercised the discretionary powers 
afforded to it under the provisions of the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 to make a 
more generous provision to learners as set out below:  
 
• The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory primary 
education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 1½ miles, instead of 2 miles as 
required by the Measure;  
 
• Free transport to their nearest suitable school, where places are available, is provided to 
children who meet the 1½ mile eligibility criterion from the start of the Foundation Phase 
(the start of the school term after their third birthday), rather than from the start of 
compulsory education (the start of the school term after their fifth birthday) as required by 
the Measure.  
 
• The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory secondary 
education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 2 miles instead of 3 miles as 
required by the Measure.  
 
• Free transport is provided to post 16 learners who meet the 2 mile eligibility criterion for 
two years after the end of compulsory education, rather than until the end of compulsory 
education as required by the Measure. This provision applies to full time attendance at the 
nearest school or college to the learner’s home at which the approved course of study that 
they wish to pursue is offered.  
  

• Free transport to their nearest suitable school is provided to learners (as set out above) 
in accordance with their preferred religious denomination.  
 
• The term suitable school applies to the catchment area English, Welsh, dual language or 
voluntary aided (faith) mainstream school or special school/class as appropriate.  
 
Pupils living in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun whose home addresses will be 
within the extended Penderyn Community Primary School catchment area will receive free 
transport to Penderyn Primary School for Welsh medium education as they reside more 
than 1½ miles safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school. 
 
In catchment pupils (resident in the village of Penderyn and Rhondda Cynon Taf) attending 
the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School will receive free 
transport to the new Hirwaun Primary School building as the walking route is deemed to 
be ‘unavailable’. This provision will not be available to any English Medium pupils who 

Page 104



currently attend Penderyn but do not reside in the designated catchment area, as they are 
attending this school as a result of parental preference. 
 
 
 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on the staff of the schools? 

 
It is our intention to recommend to the governing body of Hirwaun Primary School that 
they ringfence any additional positions they need to appoint as a result of increased pupil 
numbers, below senior leadership level, to the existing staff currently employed in the 
English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School in the first instance. This 
process means that the Penderyn Community Primary School staff will be given the first 
opportunity to apply for additional posts in the extended Hirwaun Primary School prior to 
any being advertised externally. If they are successful, they will then simply transfer to the 
new school when it opens.   The Council has well established Human Resource policies and 
procedures that give reassurance to staff and employers about the management of 
organisational change. 

 
The creation of a larger primary school at Hirwaun and the provision of additional Welsh 
medium pupil places at Penderyn Community Primary School would provide staff with the 
opportunity to specialise in specific areas of the curriculum. Larger schools with more staff 
allows for such specialism with the ability to share workload more effectively and 
therefore gives staff more opportunities to progress their careers. 
 
What will be the likely impact of the proposal on the communities of 
Penderyn and Hirwaun? 

 
Part of the Hirwaun electoral ward is within a Communities for Work area and is also a 
Flying Start Area.  
 
A community impact assessment, equality impact assessment and Welsh-medium impact 
assessment have been completed for this proposal. These will be updated after the 
consultation has been completed to ensure that they include pertinent issues that have 
arisen and need to be taken into account. The community impact assessment and equality 
impact assessment will be presented to the Council’s Cabinet in the report that sets out 
the consultation feedback received in respect of this proposal. A copy of the community 
impact assessment, equality impact assessment and Welsh-medium impact assessment 
are available from the contact details at the start of this document and are also available 
on the Council website, using the web link provided on page 5. It is considered that the 
overall impact on the local communities of these proposals, with improved and extended 
school facilities will be a positive, beneficial one. 
 

What are the financial implications of the proposal? 

 
As this proposal involves the change of language medium status of Penderyn Community 
Primary School to Welsh medium and the construction of a new, larger English medium 
building at Hirwaun, there will only be minor financial savings – these are associated with 
the change of Penderyn Community Primary School from dual language to solely Welsh 

Page 105



medium school; plus there is potential for future financial savings largely relating to 
economies of scale achievable by the provision of services in a larger school.   
 
The capital costs of the new Hirwaun Primary School building will be funded as part of 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Council and Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Programme.  
The estimated cost of the new building is £10.4m which will be funded from the 21st 
Century Schools and Education Programme, 50% of which will be funded by the Welsh 
Government and 50% from the Council. 
 
What are the disadvantages of this proposal? 

  
Some parents and pupils may feel that a smaller English medium stream is better for pupils 
rather than one larger school – in other words there could be a view that smaller schools 
may be more personal and less daunting, particularly for new entrants. Hirwaun Primary 
School will be larger, but will be able to offer many advantages over the smaller English 
medium stream in the dual language school, for example, fewer mixed year groups; and 
more opportunities to engage in a wider range of curricular and extra-curricular activities 
as afforded by a larger school. 
 
Some pupils may have further to travel to school, however, as set out at pages 15 and 16, 
the Council’s policy regarding home to school transport provision will to apply to both 
schools whereby pupils of compulsory school age attending primary school who live 1½ 

miles or further safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school will be provided 
with free home to school transport.   
 
Pupils living in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun whose home addresses will be 
within the amended Penderyn Community Primary School catchment area will receive free 
transport to Penderyn Primary School for Welsh medium education as they reside more 
than 1½ miles safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school. 
 
In catchment pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary 
School will receive free transport to the new Hirwaun Primary School building as the 
walking route is deemed to be ‘unavailable’. 
 
The Council considers that the educational advantages of the proposal outweigh the short-
term impact of the changes for pupils and parents.  
 
What alternative options have been considered? 

 
The current position is that we have a relatively new dual language school at Penderyn 
with a continually decreasing English medium stream which is becoming unviable, with 
difficulties in recruiting and retaining high quality staff, and an English medium primary 
school at Hirwaun which is in a very poor condition.  There is demand for Welsh medium 
education in the wider Aberdare area, further driven by additional housing developments - 
planning consent has recently been granted for 93 properties immediately adjacent to 
Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun (Pentwyn Cynon Farm). The opportunity exists to create a purely 
Welsh medium primary school which, along with associated catchment changes would 
cater for this demand.  There would also be other associated benefits for some pupils, 

Page 106



including total immersion in the Welsh language.   The construction of a new, larger 
replacement school building for Hirwaun could comfortably accommodate demand for 
English medium places and would provide pupils with 21st century schools education 
facilities.  This is therefore the preferred option. 
 
Further, Hirwaun village has been identified as one of the key settlements in the Council’s 
Local Development Plan 2011-2021 and land to the south of Hirwaun (former Tower 
Colliery site) has been identified as a strategic site for development, thus, the demand for 
school places (English and Welsh medium) in this immediate area is likely to grow further 
in the future.   
 
The only other feasible option considered by the Council was for Penderyn Community 
Primary School to remain as a dual language school and poor condition accommodation at 
Hirwaun Primary School to be demolished and simply replaced ‘like for like’, i.e. maintain 
the status quo in respect of education provision. This option would not address the Welsh 
medium demand in the area, or provide the benefits associated with a purely Welsh 
medium school and the issues associated with a continually decreasing English medium 
stream.  In addition, this option would not change the current position of the two schools 
at all and projections are that the pupil numbers in the English medium stream at 
Penderyn Community Primary School will continue to fall. It would also not deliver one of 
the key aims outlined in our WESP to increase the number of places available to learners 
wishing to be educated in Welsh by making our dual language schools in to full Welsh 
Medium provision. 
 
Governance 
 

As this proposal does not involve the creation of any new school provisions, the current 
governing bodies of the schools will remain in place and their membership will not change. 
There will be opportunities in the future for other parents and community members to 
apply for positions on the governing bodies as and when posts become vacant. 
 
The new proposed school building 
 

It is being proposed that a new school building for Hirwaun Primary School will be 
constructed on the site of the current Hirwaun Primary School.  The school will be a 
replacement for the existing school building and will cater for children aged between 3 and 
11 years of age requiring English-medium education. It will have a proposed admissions 
number of 55 pupils per year group, and an overall pupil capacity of 390 (plus nursery). In 
addition it will have 60 nursery places available; there will however be flexibility to 
increase the number of nursery places, if there is evidenced demand, by utilising spare 
capacity that will exist within the building. The accommodation will consist of a nursery, 13 
general teaching areas and ancillary accommodation that will be appropriate for the 
numbers of pupils, including a multi-purpose hall, kitchen, offices, resource areas, rooms 
for use by the local community and of course toilet provision.  The new building will be 
accessible and fully compliant with the Equality Act 2010.  Admissions to the school will be 
administered by the local authority and all pupils currently attending the English medium 
stream at Penderyn Community Primary School will automatically transfer to the new 

Page 107



Hirwaun Primary School building school when it is completed (subject to parental 
preference). 
 
Any risks that may be associated with these proposals, such as construction delays will be 
mitigated by the detailed and thorough project management arrangements that will be put 
in place. 
 
Penderyn Community Primary School will be able to offer Welsh medium provision to 231 
pupils (plus nursery), with an admission number of 33 pupils per year group.  Admissions to 
the school will be administered by the local authority. 
 
What is the statutory process? 

 
The Code on School Organisation (“The Code”) is made under Sections 38 and 39 of the 
School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. The Code came into force on 1 
October 2013 and applies in respect of all school proposals published by way of a statutory 
notice after that date. The current Code is due to be revised on 1st November 2018 and the 
process we will undertake will follow the guidance contained within this updated 
document. Proposals to make any regulated alterations to schools have to follow the 
following process: 
 

1. The Council’s Cabinet considers the Code and authorises a consultation on the 
changes to the schools; 

2. At the start of the consultation period the Council must provide consultees with a 
consultation document and give them at least 42 days in which to respond, with at 
least 20 of these days being school days. If the Council considers it appropriate 
meetings are held with stakeholders during the consultation period; 

3. Consultation comments are collated and summarised by the Council. This summary 
together with the Council’s officers own responses is published in a consultation 
report within 13 weeks of the end of the consultation period and presented to the 
Council’s Cabinet for consideration; 

4. The Council’s Cabinet decide whether to proceed with the changes within 26 
weeks of the end of the consultation period. If the decision is to proceed, Step 5 is 
taken. If a new option emerges during the consultation which the Council’s Cabinet 
wish to consider, then Steps 1-3 are repeated; 

5. Statutory notice is published providing a 28 day notice period for objections. The 
notice must be published on a school day and with 15 school days (not including 
the day of publication) in the notice period; 

6. If objections are received, the Council must publish an objection report providing a 
summary of the objections and their responses to them before the end of 7 days 
beginning with the day of the local authority’s determination as to whether to 
proceed with the proposals; 

7. The Council’s Cabinet must decide to issue its decision on the proposals within 16 
weeks of the end of the objection period; 

8. If the proposals receive approval they should be implemented in accordance with 
the date given in the statutory notice, or any subsequent modified date. 

 
 

Page 108



 
 
 
  

Page 109



The existing Penderyn Primary Welsh Medium catchment area 

Page 110



The proposed Penderyn Welsh Medium catchment area 
 
  

Page 111



Consultation Response Pro-forma 

 
In order to comply with its legal duty under the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) 
Act 2013 and help the Council reach a decision on the proposal below, it would be very 
helpful if you could answer the following questions. Please note, any personal information 
given by you will not be shared and only used to provide you with feedback, should you 
request it.  Any comments that could identify you will be anonymised in the consultation 
report produced. Completed questionnaires should be returned to:  
 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
21st Century Schools Team 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon 
CF45 4UQ 
or by fax to 01443 744224, or e-mail schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 
 
The proposal 
 
The proposal is to change the language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary 
School from dual language to Welsh medium and extend its catchment area; and to 
increase the pupil capacity of Hirwaun Primary School, in a new, purpose built school 
building.   
All changes will be implemented by 1st September 2021. 
 
1. Do you agree with the proposal?    Yes  No       Not sure   
 
Please let us know the reasons for your choice 
                                                                          

 
 

 
 

 
2. Please state any additional views or points which you would like to be taken into 
account (attach additional sheets if necessary) 
 

 
 

 
 

 
3. Please indicate who you are (eg parent of a pupil at named school, governor at 
named school, member of the community etc.) 
 

 
4. Name (optional)   
 

Page 112

mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


5. Please provide contact details if you wish to be notified of publication of the 
consultation report 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire 

 
Please forward completed questionnaires to the above address no later than 31st December 
2018. 
 
The Council is committed to keeping your personal information safe and secure and 
keeping you informed about how we use your information. To learn about how your 
privacy is protected and how and why we use your personal information to provide you 
with services, please visit our Consultation privacy notice here: 
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice  
and the Council’s data protection pages here: 
 www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection


 
 

Community Impact Assessment 
 

Proposal to change the language medium status of Penderyn 
Community Primary School, amend the catchment area of 

Penderyn Community Primary School and increase the pupil 
capacity of Hirwaun Primary School  

 
This assessment is prepared in accordance with guidance contained within the Welsh 
Government’s School Organisation Code. 
 
This proposal is to be consulted on between 1st October and 31st December 2018. A 
detailed consultation document has been circulated to all prescribed consultees.  This 
Impact Assessment is not included in the consultation document as we are mindful that 
the document needs to be as concise and informative as possible, whilst at the same time 
being readable and ‘user-friendly’. The free availability of this document is however 
stressed; in addition, it is available for any person to view or download from the Council 
website. 
 
The proposal 
The proposal is to change the language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School 
from dual language to wholly Welsh medium, with an amended catchment area 
encompassing the communities of Trenant and Penywaun; and extend the capacity of 
Hirwaun Primary School by the construction of a new, larger building on the current 
Hirwaun Primary School site.  Both schools will offer provision for pupils between the ages 
of 3 and 11 years, with Penderyn Community Primary School offering places through the 
medium of Welsh and Hirwaun Primary School offering places through the medium of 
English.  Penderyn Community Primary School will have Welsh medium capacity for 231 
pupils (plus nursery) and Hirwaun Primary School will have English medium capacity for 
390 pupils (plus nursery).  The Council, in partnership with Welsh Government, will invest 
£10.4m in constructing a new primary building at Hirwaun to ensure pupils have a high 
quality, viable and sustainable 21st Century learning environment. 
 
Community impact 
It has to be stressed at this point that the community impact of these proposals is 
negligible.  The proposal does not involve the physical closure of any school buildings or 
facilities.  If anything, community access will actually be improved.  Hirwaun Primary 
School is proposed to be replaced by a new, state of the art purpose built English medium 
primary school for the villages of Hirwaun and Penderyn.  The new building will be built on 
the site of the existing Hirwaun Primary School and will have brand new community rooms 
that can be used by existing community groups and will be able to accommodate further 
community usage.  The facilities can be used by groups such as Flying Start parenting 
groups, parent and toddler groups, health visitors and adult learning.  The whole school 
will be accessible and fully compliant with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010.  Also 
included in the new facilities at Hirwaun will be external grass playing field provision and 

Page 114



Multi-Use-Games-Area (MUGA) facilities that will be for the exclusive use of the pupils 
during the school day, but will be available to the community outside of school hours.  
Penderyn Community Primary School is a new building which was opened in 2006 and 
already benefits from MUGA facilities, as well as a woodland area.   
The existence of other schools and other community facilities within a short distance 
means that it is not deemed necessary to consider the enhancement of other community 
facilities that may exist in the local area, especially as no existing facilities will be lost under 
these proposals. 
 
Pupils within and outside current catchments 
The percentage of pupils attending Penderyn Community Primary School and Hirwaun 
Primary School that reside within and outside of their current respective catchment areas 
are as follows:- 
 

School Pupil numbers – 
January 2018  
(including nursery) 
 

% pupils in current 
catchment 

% pupils from 
outside current 
catchment 

Penderyn 
Community 
Primary School 
(whole school)  
 

233 72.1% 27.9% 

Penderyn 
Community 
Primary School 
(Welsh) 
 

179 81.5% 18.5% 

Penderyn 
Community 
Primary School 
(English) 
 

54 40.1% 59.9% 

Hirwaun Primary 
School 
 

249 93.9% 6.1% 

 
It can be noted that of the 54 pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn 
Community Primary School, only 22 pupils live within the Penderyn catchment area.  The 
majority of pupils (27 pupils) live within the Hirwaun catchment area. 
 
Catchment changes 
This proposal seeks to enhance the accommodation and facilities available to pupils from 
within the catchment areas requiring Welsh-medium and English-medium education.  It is 
proposed to extend the catchment area of Hirwaun Primary School to incorporate the 
current catchment area of the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary 
School.   

Page 115



 
Pupils living in Hirwaun who require Welsh medium education will still attend Penderyn 
Community Primary School (subject to parental preference).  It is also proposed to extend 
the Welsh medium catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School to encompass 
the communities of Trenant and Penywaun (which are currently in the catchment area of 
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar).  This adjustment is being made to the Welsh medium 
catchment areas to match the demand for Welsh medium places with the available supply 
across the Welsh medium primary school sector in this part of the County Borough.  
Additional demand for places is also being driven by housing development in this part of 
the County Borough.   Proposals to increase the capacity of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg 
Aberdar by 60 pupil places and proposals to increase the capacity of Ysgol Gyfun 
Rhydywaun by 162 pupil places also seek to address the Welsh medium demand in this 
part of the County Borough.   
 
Travel implications 
Some pupils may have further to travel to school, however, the Council’s policy regarding 
home to school transport provision will to apply to both schools whereby pupils of 
compulsory school age attending primary school who live one and a half miles or further 
safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school will be provided with free home 
to school transport.  
 
Pupils living in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun whose home addresses will be 
within the extended Penderyn Community Primary School catchment area will receive free 
transport to Penderyn Primary School for Welsh medium education as they reside more 
than 1½ miles safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school. 
 
In catchment pupils (resident in the village of Penderyn and Rhondda Cynon Taf) attending 
the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School will receive free 
transport to the new Hirwaun Primary School building as the walking route is deemed to 
be ‘unavailable’. This provision will not be available to any English Medium pupils who 
currently attend Penderyn but do not reside in the designated catchment area, as they are 
attending this school as a result of parental preference.   
 
Hirwaun Primary School and Penderyn Community Primary School are 2.6 miles apart and 
the journey time between both schools by bus is not expected to exceed 15 minutes. 
 
There will be no changes whatsoever to distances travelled by pupils currently attending 
Penderyn Community Primary School for Welsh-medium education - they will remain in 
the same school, consequently there will be no changes or any other implications for home 
to school transport provision for these pupils. 
 
Current ‘out of school hours’ usage 
Should these proposals proceed, all current before and after school activities in both 
schools will continue.  The breakfast clubs currently offered by both schools would 
continue.  Also, all after school clubs would continue to be offered. Current after school 
activities comprise:- 
 
Penderyn Community Primary School 

Page 116



Urdd After School Club 
Sports Club 
 
Hirwaun Primary School 
Athletics 
Netball 
Tennis  
Girls’ football 
Cricket 
 
The construction of the new, larger building at Hirwaun will allow for expansion of such 
activities.  Also, the change in language medium at Penderyn Community School from dual 
language to Welsh medium could also offer further opportunities for the development of 
further after school activities through the medium of Welsh. 
 
Community and third party use of the schools’ facilities will be encouraged.  Also, any 
usage by groups affiliated to the schools, such as the PTA for functions, would continue to 
be offered by both schools should these proposals proceed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNCIL 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 

P
age 118



  

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE 
 
 

Directorate:    Education & Lifelong Learning      
  
Service Area:  21st Century Schools 
 
Responsible officer:  Julie Hadley 
 
Date:   30th September 2018 

 
1.  Name of policy/procedure/practice/project:  
 
Change of language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School; amendment to catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary 
School; and extension of capacity of Hirwaun Primary School 
 
The Project is to: 
 
Change the language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School from dual language to wholly Welsh medium, with an amended 
catchment area encompassing the communities of Trenant and Penywaun; and extend the capacity of Hirwaun Primary School by the 
construction of a new, larger building on the current Hirwaun Primary School site.  Both schools will offer provision for pupils between the 
ages of 3 and 11 years, with Penderyn Community Primary School offering places through the medium of Welsh and Hirwaun Primary 
School offering places through the medium of English.  The Council, in partnership with Welsh Government, will invest £10.4m in 
constructing a new primary building at Hirwaun to ensure pupils have a high quality, viable and sustainable 21st Century learning 
environment. 
 
2.  Policy Aims, you need to consider why is the policy needed?  What does the Council hope to achieve by it? 

P
age 119



  

     How will the Council ensure it works as intended?   
 
This proposal is fully outlined in a detailed consultation document that has been distributed to all interested parties and stakeholders, it is also 
available on the Council’s website for any person to view or download. 
 
This proposal does not involve the physical closure or relocation of any school buildings or facilities; the larger English medium primary school at 
Hirwaun will utilise the site of the existing school, and the proposed changes will enhance the facility by replacing very poor condition buildings with 
a brand new school and associated external play facilities fit for 21st century learning needs and fully compliant with the Equality Act 2010.   

 
The change in language medium status to totally Welsh medium and the growth of Welsh medium places at Penderyn Community Primary 
School supports the Welsh Government Cymraeg 2050: Welsh Language Strategy of one million Welsh speakers by 2050 and Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s (RCT’s) Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2017-2020. 
 
The proposal also addresses the following actions and outcomes identified in the WESP to increase the number of seven year-old children being 
taught through the medium of Welsh by: 
 

 Providing new and improved school buildings with appropriate capacity levels to fully meet forecasted demand for Welsh medium 
provision in their catchment areas; 

 Consideration of making dual language Primary schools into full Welsh medium schools. 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Council’s WESP can be viewed and downloaded from the Council’s website via this link - 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf. 
 
Amending the Welsh medium catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School to encompass the communities of Trenant and Penywaun 
(which are currently in the catchment area of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar) will match the demand for Welsh medium places with the available 
supply across the Welsh medium primary school sector in this part of the County Borough.  Additional demand for places is also being driven by 
housing development in this part of the County Borough.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 120

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf


  

Educational considerations -   
 
School organisational change should point to the educational benefits that any change will offer, particularly in relation to overall improvements in 
standards, but also in terms of the social and emotional development of children, which would usually impact beneficially on their overall 
achievement and outcomes. 
 
It is the Council’s view that changing the language medium of Penderyn Community Primary School from dual language to Welsh medium and 
constructing a new school building with a larger pupil capacity for the communities of Hirwaun and Penderyn to replace the current Hirwaun Primary 
School will improve educational outcomes and provision. 
 

A larger, new, purpose built English medium primary school at Hirwaun could offer: 
 

 Greater flexibility and opportunity for pupils due to an extended, more enhanced educational environment in which to learn and grow; 

 Potential for financial savings in terms of services, which accrue to a larger school which can be reinvested for the benefit of all pupils;  

 The future capital investment benefits that would arise from the construction of a modern, state of the art purpose built school that 
meets all the required standards of a 21st Century learning environment; 

 More opportunities for the teaching and support staff which are provided by a larger school; 

 Pupils being taught, in the main, with their year group.  All classes in the Penderyn English medium stream are currently mixed year 
groups. 

 
A completely Welsh medium primary school at Penderyn could: 

 

 Provide total immersion in the Welsh language for all pupils at the school; 

 Enable total immersion in the Welsh language to be offered to a larger number of pupils from the youngest possible age; medium  

 Offer more opportunities for the teaching and support staff which could be provided by a larger wholly Welsh medium school; 

 Create a critical mass of Welsh-medium learners;  

 Enable the development of increased Welsh-medium provision at secondary level;  

 Provide more opportunity for pupils to take part in extra-curricular activities through the medium of Welsh. 
 
 

Implications for staff - 

P
age 121



  

 

 The creation of a larger primary school at Hirwaun and the provision of additional Welsh medium pupil places at Penderyn Community Primary 
School would provide staff with the opportunity to specialise in specific areas of the curriculum. Larger schools with more staff allows for such 
specialism with the ability to share workload more effectively and therefore gives staff more opportunities to progress their careers. 

 

 It is our intention to recommend to the governing body of Hirwaun Primary School that they ring-fence any additional positions they need to 
appoint as a result of increased pupil numbers, below senior leadership level, to the existing staff currently employed in the English medium 
stream of Penderyn Community Primary School in the first instance. This process means that the Penderyn Community Primary School staff will be 
given the first opportunity to apply for additional posts in the extended Hirwaun Primary School prior to any being advertised externally. If they 
are successful, they will then simply transfer to the new school when it opens.   The Council has well established Human Resource policies and 
procedures that give reassurance to staff and employers about the management of organisational change. 

 
 
Implications for pupils –  

 
In making the proposed changes, in addition to the points above, there are several further perceived benefits that can be realised: 

 

 There will be more competition for pupils in and outside the classroom in a larger school at Hirwaun which is what children require if 
they are to achieve good educational outcomes; 

 Being part of a larger school creates opportunity to engage in a wider range of curricular and extra-curricular activities; 

 A larger team of staff at Hirwaun Primary School to share expertise and experience;  

 More pupils being taught in a new, state of the art, purpose built school buildings, which will be fit for the purpose of providing 
education in the 21st Century; 

 
The principal change will be an improvement in the quality of the educational provision, and this should have a significant impact on educational 
performance of the pupils. This will bring about improvements for all pupils, irrespective of gender, ethnicity or disability. It should be noted that of 
the 897 pupils (including nursery) attending Penderyn Community Primary School, Hirwaun Primary School and Ysgol Gynradd Gymrage Aberdar, none 
are indicated as being Gypsy or Traveller children (per January 2018 PLASC).  To reiterate, these proposals are not seen as being detrimental to any 
particular group of pupils, they are intended to improve educational provision for all. 
 

P
age 122



  

Although some pupils may have further to travel to school, the Council’s policy regarding home to school transport provision will to apply whereby 
pupils of compulsory school age attending primary school who live 1½ miles or further safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school will 
be provided with free home to school transport.   
 

Pupils living in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun whose home addresses will be within the amended Penderyn Community Primary 
School catchment area will receive free transport to Penderyn Primary School for Welsh medium education as they reside more than 1½ 
miles safe “walking distance” from their nearest suitable school. 
 
In catchment pupils (resident in the village of Penderyn and Rhondda Cynon Taf) attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community 
Primary School will receive free transport to the new Hirwaun Primary School building as the walking route is deemed to be ‘unavailable’.  This 
provision will not be available to English medium pupils who currently attend Penderyn but do not reside in the designated catchment area, as they 
are attending this school as a result of parental preference.   
 
Penderyn Community Primary School and Hirwaun Primary School are 2.6 miles apart and the journey time between both schools by bus is not 
expected to exceed 15 minutes. 
 
The Council considers that the educational advantages of the proposal outweigh the short-term impact of the changes for pupils and parents.  
 
 
 
 
Catchment changes –  
 
Pupils living in Hirwaun who require Welsh medium education will still attend Penderyn Community Primary School (subject to parental preference).   
 
The Welsh medium catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School will also be extended to encompass the communities of Trenant and 
Penywaun (which are currently in the catchment area of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar).  These adjustments are being made to the catchment area 
to match the demand for Welsh medium places with the available supply across the Welsh medium primary school sector in this part of the County 
Borough.  Additional demand for places is also being driven by housing development in this part of the County Borough.   Transport will be provided to 
pupils living in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun whose home addresses will be within the amended Penderyn Community Primary School 
catchment area, as outlined above.   
 

P
age 123



  

The catchment area of the new Hirwaun Primary School will extend to incorporate the current catchment area of the English medium stream of 
Penderyn Community Primary School.   Any pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School will simply transfer to 
the new school building in Hirwaun when it opens (subject to parental preference). They will not need to complete admission applications unless they 
are applying for Nursery or Reception places.  
 

As outlined earlier, in catchment pupils (resident in the village of Penderyn and Rhondda Cynon Taf) attending the English medium stream of 
Penderyn Community Primary School will receive free transport to the new Hirwaun Primary School building as the walking route is deemed 
to be ‘unavailable’. This provision will not be available to any English Medium pupils who currently attend Penderyn but do not reside in the 
designated catchment area, as they are attending this school as a result of parental preference. 
 
 
Financial implications – 
 
As this proposal involves the change of language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary School to Welsh medium and the construction of a 
new, larger English medium building at Hirwaun, there will only be minor financial savings – these are associated with the change of Penderyn 
Community Primary School from dual language to solely Welsh medium school; plus there is potential for future financial savings largely relating to 
economies of scale achievable by the provision of services in a larger school.   

3.  Who does it apply to?     Please indicate by highlighting or deleting as appropriate                         
 
Members of the public       School Staff       Both       Other       Please state: children aged 3-11 years resident in the catchment areas of 
Penderyn Community Primary School and Hirwaun Primary School; and children in the communities of Trenant and Penywaun;  the parents 
and carers of these children. 
 
4.  Indicate whether this is a new proposal, a review or a proposed cessation: 
 
Review and Proposed cessation 
 
 
5.  Identifying Impacts – Please choose whether the policy/practice will have a positive, negative or neutral effect on each issue below: Think 
about the key questions included in the manager’s guidelines.  

            

P
age 124



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

P
age 125



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Age (young and old) 
 
 

Yes 

 

Yes  Creating a larger English medium primary school in a brand new 
building offering state of the art accommodation and facilities for 
21st century teaching and learning on the current Hirwaun Primary 
School site and chancing the language medium of Penderyn 
Community Primary School to totally Welsh-medium with an 
amended catchment area will:- 

 Provide comfortable and attractive learning environments 
for all children who access the schools; 

 Offer 21st century facilities to enable all pupils in the local 
communities to access learning and cultural activities which 
can help develop relationships within communities; 

 Facilitate delivery of the changing curriculum and enable 
the further use of ICT to provide the opportunity for all 
learners to reach their potential; 

 Enable the demand for additional places in the Welsh 
Medium Primary sector to be met by the utilisation of 
existing resources which is both educationally beneficial 
and financially efficient; 

 Mean that some pupils may have further to travel to 
school; however, the Council’s policy regarding home to 
school transport provision will to apply whereby pupils of 
compulsory school age attending primary school who live 
1½ miles or further safe “walking distance” from their 
nearest suitable school will be provided with free home to 

P
age 126



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 
school transport.   

Disability (remember to 
consider the different types 
of disability) 

Yes   The new building at Hirwaun will be fully accessible to all persons 
and will comply with all current legislation in this regard. 

 

Gender 
 
 

  Yes  

Gender Reassignment 
 
 

  Yes  

Race 
 
 

  Yes  

Religion or Belief 
 
 

  Yes  

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

  Yes  

Welsh Language 
 
 

Yes   
The change in language medium status to totally Welsh medium 
and the growth of Welsh medium places at Penderyn Community 
Primary School supports the Welsh Government Cymraeg 2050: 
Welsh Language Strategy of one million Welsh speakers by 2050 

P
age 127



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s (RCT’s) Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2017-2020. 
 
The proposal also addresses the following actions and outcomes 
identified in the WESP to increase the number of seven year-old 
children being taught through the medium of Welsh by: 
 

 Providing new and improved school buildings 
with appropriate capacity levels to fully meet 
forecasted demand for Welsh medium 
provision in their catchment areas; 

 Consideration of making dual language Primary 
schools into full Welsh medium schools  

 
This proposal, to change Penderyn Community Primary School 
from a dual language school to a totally Welsh medium school and 
in doing so to also increase the number of Welsh medium primary 
school places will work towards the achievement of these targets 
in this area of the County Borough. 
 
The amendment to Penderyn’s catchment area to encompass the 
communities of Trenant and Penywaun will also cater for Welsh 
medium primary school demand associated with additional 
housing developments in the area.    
 

P
age 128



  

 

People / issues to consider 

 
Impact policy / practice will have 

 
If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 
 Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Carers 
 

  Yes  

  
 

EVIDENCE  
 
6.  What evidence is there to support your conclusions? Please indicate below 

 
Report of the Chief Executive to Cabinet  - 20th September 2018 
Public Consultation Document on the Proposal 
  
   
7.  In areas where a negative impact has been identified are there any ways that the negative effect could be reduced or removed? Please indicate below 
and include the evidence on which you have based your conclusion. 

 
The only negative impact identified is that some pupils will have longer travel times / distances to school; however, the Council’s policy regarding 
home to school transport provision will to apply whereby pupils of compulsory school age attending primary school who live 1½ miles or further safe 
“walking distance” from their nearest suitable school will be provided with free home to school transport.  Further detail regarding transport provision 
is contained at pages 5 and 6. 

 
 

P
age 129



  

INVOLVEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
9.  What involvement and consultation has been done in relation to this (or similar) policy and what are the results? 
 
The following consultation meetings/ open events are to be held: 
 

School Affected Group Date / Time Venue 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Governing Body and Staff 
Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 2018 / 
4pm 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary School Governing Body and Staff 
Meeting 

Thursday 11th October 2018 / 
4pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

School Council Thursday 11th October 2018 / 
2:30pm 

Penderyn Community 
Primary School 

Hirwaun Primary School School Council Thursday 11th October 2018 / 
2:30pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

Both Schools and 
members of the local 
community 

Parents and public drop in 
session and exhibition  

Tuesday 27th November 2018 
/ 3pm-6pm 

Hirwaun Primary School 

 

Schools are also being offered opportunities for consultation with pupils, via meetings of their School Councils as detailed in the table above. 
 
Interested parties are also welcome to put their views in writing to: 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services  
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon 
CF45 4UQ 
or by fax to 01443 744224, or e-mail schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk 
MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 

P
age 130

mailto:schoolplanning@rctcbc.gov.uk


  

10. What arrangements have you put in place to review the actual impact of the policy once it has been implemented? 
 
The Council’s HR teams will be fully engaged in supporting the governing body of Hirwaun Primary School in the appointment of staff to any 
additional positions they need to appoint as a result of increased pupil numbers.  It is the intention of the Council to recommend to the 
governing body of Hirwaun Primary School that such posts, below senior leadership level, be ring-fenced to the existing staff currently 
employed in the English medium stream of Penderyn Community Primary School in the first instance.  This process means that these 
Penderyn Community Primary School staff will be given the first opportunity to apply for additional posts in the extended Hirwaun Primary 
School prior to any being advertised externally. If they are successful, they will then simply transfer to the new school when it opens.   The 
Council has well established Human Resource policies and procedures that give reassurance to staff and employers about the management of 
organisational change. 
 
 
ADDRESSING THE IMPACT 
 
11. What option have you chosen as a result of your impact assessment? 
 

 Continue the Policy 

Please indicate and provide reasons for your decision. 

The evidence outlined in our consultation document clearly recommends that this is the right approach. 

12. ACTION PLAN 

You now need to complete the EIA action plan to outline how you will act on any impacts identified.  You may need to prioritise in terms of what 
actions you choose to take and the timescales to complete them in.  In general terms, you should try to act on all negative impacts unless there is a 
clear reason as to why this is not possible.  You could also identify actions for positive or neutral impacts where appropriate i.e. to outline and further 
promote a positive impact or to outline how to make something have a positive impact instead of a neutral one. 
 

 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT ACTION PLAN 

P
age 131



  

 

Action 
 

Responsible Officers Timescale for Actions Timescale and actions for 
Review 

Measures to be taken to 
evaluate effects of actions 

If the proposals proceed, 
undertake the statutory 
consultation process to 
implement the proposals 
 

21st Century Schools 
Team 
 

By March 2019 
 

 
 

 

If the proposals proceed, 
finalise the plans for the 
construction of the new 
school 
 

David Powell, Service 
Director, Corporate 
Design and Maintenance 

By September 2019   

If the proposals proceed, 
provide assistance and 
support to the governing 
body of Hirwaun Primary 
School, as required, 
regarding the appointment 
of staff to any additional 
positions 
 

HR Officers By  September 2019   

 
13. Please outline below any negative impacts that have been identified in the EIA questionnaire but not addressed in the action plan.  You will need to 
explain your reasons for not addressing them. 

 

None. 

 
Please keep a copy of the questionnaire and action plan and send copies to: 

P
age 132



  

Equality, Diversity & Social Justice Team 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach 
CF40 2XX 
Email: equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk  
Tel: 01443 424075 
 
Signed:  Gaynor Davies                  Date:  30/09/18 
Job Title: Director of Education and Inclusion Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 133

mailto:equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk


  

Welsh Language Impact Assessment 

 
Proposal to change the language medium status of Penderyn 

Community Primary School, amend the catchment area of 
Penderyn Community Primary School and increase the pupil 

capacity of Hirwaun Primary School  
 
This assessment is prepared in accordance with guidance contained within the Welsh 
Government’s School Organisation Code. 
 
As part of our proposals in respect of the above, we are planning to undertake some 
reorganisation of Welsh Medium Primary education provision in this area of Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, which will increase Welsh Medium pupil capacity. 
 
Language category of school 
We are proposing that Penderyn Community Primary School, which is currently a dual 
language school, becomes a wholly Welsh medium school which will be able to offer all of 
its available capacity of 231 pupils (plus nursery) to pupils requiring a Welsh medium 
education.  It is proposed that pupils attending the English medium stream of Penderyn 
Community Primary School would (subject to parental preference), transfer to Hirwaun 
Primary School which is to be rebuilt with an extended capacity, should these proposals 
proceed.  The catchment area of the new Hirwaun Primary School will extend to 
incorporate the current catchment area of the English medium stream of Penderyn 
Community Primary School. 
 
Penderyn Community Primary School is currently organised into two language streams and 
parents choose for their children to study most of their lessons either through the medium 
of Welsh or through the medium of English. In recent years the number of pupils (including 
nursery) in the Welsh language stream has increased to 179, whilst numbers have fallen to 
just 54 in the English stream.  There are 9 classes in the school, 6 of which are taught in 
Welsh and 3 which are taught in English.  (Figures from January 2018 PLASC).  
 
We are also proposing to amend the catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary 
School to encompass the communities of Trenant and Penywaun (which are currently in 
the catchment area of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar).  These adjustments are being 
made to the catchment area to match the demand for Welsh medium places with the 
available supply across the Welsh medium primary school sector in this part of the County 
Borough and will increase the number of Welsh medium school places available in this part 
of the County Borough.  Additional demand for places is also being driven by housing 
development in this part of the County Borough.  Admissions to the schools will be 
administered by the local authority.   
 
Performance standards 
The following tables set out the performance of the Welsh (W) and English (E) streams of 
Penderyn Community Primary School for the key measures of educational performance 
over the past three years and compare the school to similar schools across Wales based on 
the numbers of pupils in receipt of free school meals:   

Page 134



  

 
Foundation Phase Outcomes 

 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 
Foundation 
Phase Indicator 

92 (2) 100 (1) 95.2 (1) 90 (3) 96.4 (1) 100 (1) 

Personal and 
social 
development 
wellbeing and 
cultural 
diversity 

100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 90 (4) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

Language 
literacy and 
communication 
skills 
English/Welsh 

96 (2) 100 (1) 95.2 (2) 90 (3) 96.4 (2) 100 (1) 

Mathematical 
development 

96 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 90 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 

 
 

Key Stage Two Outcomes 
 2015 % 2016 % 2017 % 

Subjects Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(W) 

Penderyn 
Primary 

(E) 
English 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 94.4 (2) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 
Welsh 1st 88.2 (3) N/A 94.2 (2) N/A 95.5 (2) N/A 
Maths 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 
Science 88.2 (3) 100 (1) 100 (1) 100 (1) 96.8 (3) 88.9 (4) 
Core Subject 
Indicator 
(CSI) 

88.2 (3) 100 (1) 94.2 (2) 100 (1) 96.8 (2) 88.9 (4) 

 
The figures in brackets in the tables above, compare the schools to similar schools across Wales 
based on free school meals. The performance is compared using benchmarked quartiles, with 1 
being the highest and 4 the lowest. 

 
Welsh medium growth 
If these proposals are agreed Penderyn Community Primary School will become a wholly 
Welsh medium school and will be able to offer all of its available capacity to pupils 
requiring a Welsh medium education.  The school will be able to offer Welsh medium 
provision to 231 pupils (plus nursery), with an admission number of 33 pupils per year 
group.  This will increase the number of Welsh medium school places available in this part 
of the County Borough.  Admissions to the school will be administered by the local 
authority.   
 

Page 135



  

Pupils living in Hirwaun who require Welsh medium education will still attend Penderyn 
Community Primary School (subject to parental preference).  The Welsh medium 
catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School will also be extended to 
encompass the communities of Trenant and Penywaun (which are currently in the 
catchment area of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar).  These adjustments are being made 
to the catchment area to match the demand for Welsh medium places with the available 
supply across the Welsh medium primary school sector in this part of the County Borough.  
Additional demand for places is also being driven by housing development in this part of 
the County Borough.  
 
Other proposals within this area of the County Borough seek to further ensure the demand 
for Welsh medium places is matched with the available supply and will increase the 
number of Welsh medium school places available in this part of the County Borough, 
namely:- 

- The proposed increase in capacity of Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Aberdar by 60 pupil 
places by the construction of a new classroom extension block and improvements 
to parking and external play facilities; 

- The proposed increase in capacity of Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun by 162 pupil places by 
the construction of a new classroom extension block and a separate sports hall 
containing classrooms for the PE curriculum. 

 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2017-2020 
The change in language medium status to totally Welsh medium and the growth of Welsh 
medium places at Penderyn Community Primary School supports the Welsh Government 
Cymraeg 2050: Welsh Language Strategy of one million Welsh speakers by 2050 and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s (RCT’s) Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP) 2017-2020. 
 
The Council’s WESP document indicates how the local authority intends to promote the 
teaching of the Welsh Language, how it intends working towards increasing the number of 
children taught through the medium of Welsh and how it can assist achieving the Welsh 
Government’s target of having one million people in Wales speaking Welsh by 2050. The 
WESP for RCT can be viewed and downloaded from the Council website via 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStra
tegicPlan201720.pdf. 
 
Included among the list of actions and outcomes that the Council will undertake to help 
achieve the targets set out in the WESP by increasing the number of seven year-old 
children being taught through the medium of Welsh are the following: 
 

 New and improved school buildings with appropriate capacity levels to fully meet 
forecasted demand for Welsh medium provision in their catchment areas; 

 Consideration of making dual language Primary schools into full Welsh medium 
schools  

 
This proposal, to change Penderyn Community Primary School from a dual language school 
to a totally Welsh medium school and in doing so to also increase the number of Welsh 

Page 136

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/WelshServices/Relateddocs/WelshinEducationStrategicPlan201720.pdf


  

medium primary school places will work towards the achievement of these targets in this 
part of the County Borough. 
 
 
Further advantages 
A completely Welsh medium primary school at Penderyn could also: 
 

 Provide total immersion in the Welsh language for all pupils at the school; 

 Enable total immersion in the Welsh language to be offered to a larger number of 
pupils from the youngest possible age; medium  

 Offer more opportunities for the teaching and support staff which could be 
provided by a larger wholly Welsh medium school; 

 Create a critical mass of Welsh-medium learners;  

 Enable the development of increased Welsh-medium provision at secondary level;  

 Provide more opportunity for pupils to take part in extra-curricular activities 
through the medium of Welsh; 

 Improve recruitment and retention of staff. 
 
Before and after school activities  
At present Penderyn Community Primary School offers a breakfast club each morning 
before school.  After school activities comprise -  an Urdd after school club two evenings 
per week, plus a sports club.  These activities will be unaffected by these proposals. 
 
These proposals could provide Penderyn Community Primary School with the possibility of 
enhancing and extending their extra-curricular provision, particularly through the medium 
of Welsh.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



 - 1 - 

Appendix 2 
 

Notes of a meeting held with the School Council of Hirwaun Primary 
School 

 
Thursday 11th October 2018 at 2:30pm 

 
Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to construct a new school 

building for Hirwaun Primary School and the proposed change of 
language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary School  

 
Present 
 
Esther Thomas (ET), Temporary Service Director for Access & Inclusion 
Services 
Nicola Goodman (NG), Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
Lisa Howell (LH), Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
10 members of the School Council of Hirwaun Primary School 
1 member of school staff 
 
 
Introductions from Council officers. 
 
ET explained that the Council was proposing to build a new, bigger school at 
Hirwaun which would replace the current school. The children taught in 
English at Penderyn would be taught in the new school so that Penderyn 
primary School would become Welsh only.    
 
The new school would be brand new and would be bigger than the existing 
school.  It would be able to hold 390 pupils, plus nursery age children.   
 
ET explained that the Council believed that there were many good things that 
a new school could bring, such as:- 
 

 A brand new, modern building; 

 New outdoor play and games areas; 

 New ICT; 

 A bigger school for more pupils to enjoy and more opportunities to 
make more friends; 

 The opportunity for all children to come to the school and access all 
parts of the school, including those with extra needs (for example if 
they use a wheelchair); 

 More opportunities and nicer facilities for after-school clubs. 
 
 
ET also explained that there may be some things which concern some 
children, for example, the children living in Penderyn may have further to 
travel to school if they come to Hirwaun Primary School, however, there will 
be school buses provided for them. 

Page 139



 - 2 - 

 
Also, some children may prefer being in a smaller school with less pupils.  
 
Two short video clips were played showing new schools recently constructed 
as part of the 21st Century Schools Programme at Cwmaman and Tonyrefail.   
 
ET explained that the purpose of the meeting with the pupils today was for the 
Council to hear and record what the pupils think about the proposals, as their 
views are very important to the Council. 
 
To facilitate the discussion ET asked the pupils some questions:- 
 
Question 1 
Do you think the proposal is a good idea? 
 
Responses 

- Overall consensus - yes. 
 
Why do you think that it is a good idea? 
 
Responses 
 

- If new people start at the school, they will prefer to be in a new school. 
- People can learn more and won’t want to move from a new school. 
- Better resources for better learning. 
- Better outdoor space. 
- Less stones and concrete in the yard. 
- There would be more security, so little children are safe. 
- Higher gates and fences to keep safe and to keep balls in. 
- Electric doors would be liked in a new school. 
- Less glare from the windows on screens. 
- Better ICT in a new school. 
- Bigger TVs would be good. 
- Would like an outdoor classroom. 

 
 
Question 2 
Do you like the idea of a new school building? 
 
Responses 

- Overall consensus - yes. 
- Like the new Aberdare Community School. 

 
 
Question 3 
What do you like about your existing school? 
 
Responses 

- Small so not very loud. 
- How nice the teachers are. 

Page 140



 - 3 - 

- Still a good school, even though it is small. 
- Not as many people because it is small. 
- Classrooms are a nice size, bit would prefer there to be more desks so 

that you can sit in different places to do different things / have more 
choice. 

- The displays. 
 
 
Question 4 
Is there anything that you don’t like about your existing school? 
 
Responses 

- Stones on yard. 
- Toilets are not nice. 
- The school is cold / there are not many radiators. 
- The dinner hall being used for PE and assemblies. 
- Too grassy / boggy. 
- Old tables and chairs. 
- Ground outside is too hard / stony. 
 

 
Question 5 
Is there anything that concerns or worries you about the proposals? 
 
Responses 

- Worried that there will be less equipment. 
- Worried that some pupils might not like a bigger school. 
- What the teachers will be like. 
- Sad that they will be missing being a new school (Years 4 / 5 / 6), but 

happy that their brothers / sisters will get to have a new school. 
-  

 
Question 6 
Would you look forward to welcoming new friends and how would you make 
them feel welcome? 
 
Responses 

- Show them around the school. 
- Ask them to join in games on the yard. 
- Introduce them to teachers. 
- Show respect to them. 
- Be kind to them. 
- Make them feel comfortable. 

 
 
Group discussions were undertaken and the pupils and they were given post-
it notes and asked to write their views.  The written responses received are 
listed below: 
 

 Vinyl floor 

Page 141



 - 4 - 

 Stained windows 

 Better glass 

 Sturdy walls  

 Better security x6 

 More resources x7 

 New equipment – pens, pencils, laptops, ipads 

 Better toys x2 

 Your own folder 

 Drawing equipment 

 Better music player 

 Library and computers x4 

 More parking x3 

 Upgraded bigger dining hall x5 

 Room for performances 

 Sports hall 

 Netball court x4 

 Football yard x2 

 Sporting courts 

 Outdoor sports area 

 More sports and outdoor activities 

 Football x2 

 More obstacles 

 Baseball 

 Different events and competitions 

 Dinner money on finger 

 Friday special for dinner 

 More food choice x6 

 Snacks and drinks for school classes if they are snackish or thirsty 
instead of going out of class for a drink 

 Electric doors x2 

 Climbing frame x6 

 Sand pit x2 

 Swings 

 Garden area and green house 

 More grass 

 Bigger yard x5 

 More outside storage x3 

 Better white board 

 More/better shelters x4 

 Rainbow carpet for nursery 

 Colourful classrooms x6 

 Colourful toilet cubicles x3 – green for boys and pink for girls 

 Bigger classes x3 

 Outdoor classroom x3 

 Automatic lights and stage lights x2 

 Vote for new school uniform for year 6 

 Screens on rails so it can go up and down 

Page 142



 - 5 - 

 Better TV 

 Loud speaker and bell for announcements x2 

 First aid/doctors room x2 

 Rooms for people who need more support x2 

 Assembly room 

 Elsa Room – for worries you can go chat to someone 

 Art room x3 

 Fruit room 

 Staff room 

 Relaxing room 

 School Council room 

 Attendance room 

 2 floors to the building x4 

 More events – pet day 

 Signs for rooms 

 Welcome sigs x2 

 Shed for bikes and scooters x4 

 Better pegs/cloakrooms x5 

 ICT Room x5 

 More water fountains 

 Softer seats 

 Separate desks 

 Better tables x4 

 Better furniture x3 

 Draws on tables 

 More trays for extra work 

 Better chairs x2 

 Benches 

 Leaving wall – you sign it when you leave 

 Softer play area for the younger ones x2 

 3 play times 

 More displays 

 More decoration 

 Sleep time for nursery 

 Heating 

 A fort in the reading corner for nursery and reception 

 Support staff and children buddies 

 Star of the year 
 
 
 
 
 
The pupils were thanked for their time and input.   
 
The meeting closed at 3:10pm 
 
 

Page 143



 - 6 - 

 
 
 

Notes of a meeting held with staff and governors of Hirwaun Primary 
School 

 
Thursday 11th October 2018 at 4pm 

 
Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to construct a new school 

building for Hirwaun Primary School and the proposed change of 
language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary School  

 
Present 
 
Esther Thomas (ET), Temporary Service Director for Access & Inclusion 
Services 
Nicola Goodman (NG), Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
Lisa Howell (LH), Senior 21st Century Schools Officer 
Paul Hughes (PH), Human Resources Officer 
24 members of school staff and the governing body 
 
 
Introductions from Council officers. 
 
Esther Thomas (ET) welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the 
proposal, the reasons for the proposal, the purpose of the meeting and the 
consultation process and timescales relating to the consultation process and 
the proposals themselves should they be implemented. 
 
Should the proposals be implemented, it is proposed that:- 

 From 1st September 2019, no new pupils wishing to be educated 
through the medium of English will be admitted to Penderyn 
Community Primary School; 

 From 1st September 2020, the catchment change to extend the 
catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School to include 
the communities of Trenant and Penywaun will take effect; and  

 On 1st September 2021, pupils attending the English medium 
stream of Penderyn Community Primary School would (subject to 
parental preference), transfer to the new Hirwaun Primary School 
building.  

 
ET explained how this proposal was part of the 21st Century Schools and 
Education Programme and addressed many of the Council’s objectives in 
relation to this, including -   

 Addressing growth in demand for Welsh medium education; 

 Expansion of schools in areas of increased demand for educational 
services; 

 Addressing the condition of educational assets; 

Page 144



 - 7 - 

 Making assets available for community use. 
 
 
ET referred to the detailed information contained within the consultation 
document which had been circulated and the consultation response pro-forma 
contained therein (further copies of both were available at the meeting) and 
referred to page 5 of the consultation document which outlines how people 
can make comments.   
 
ET explained that the questions / comments / responses would be recorded 
for inclusion in the consultation report which would be fed back to Cabinet in 
January 2019, as would the feedback from pupils.   ET stressed that this was 
a period of consultation and should the proposals proceed to the next stage 
(statutory notice), objections would be received and recorded at that stage. 
 
Two short video clips were played showing new schools recently constructed 
as part of the 21st Century Schools Programme at Cwmaman and Tonyrefail.   
 
The meeting was then opened for questions. 
 
 
Comment 
Delighted at the prospect that there is to be a new school.  The current school 
is draughty and full of asbestos.  Hirwaun has to have a new school.  The 
current school is in desperate need of replacement.  Pleased that it would go 
ahead even if Penderyn remained as dual language. 
 
Response 
ET commented that there was also strong evidence for making Penderyn 
School Welsh only, as there were diminishing numbers of pupils requesting 
English medium education at Penderyn School. 
 
 
Comment 
There are also a lot of new housing developments in the Hirwaun area which 
are applying for planning permission. 
 
Comment 
Delighted with the proposals.  The children at Hirwaun School deserve a 
much better building. 
 
Response  
ET complimented the staff on making the best of the current learning 
environment and commented that the size of the site meant that there was the 
space to do exciting things here. Works would be managed to ensure a safe 
build on the existing live site.  The technical team are looking at proposals at 
present.  ET emphasised that no decision has been pre-empted, but certain 
works are necessary to establish the feasibility and indicative cost of the 
proposals.  Management of space within the existing site will be undertaken in 
consultation with school staff should the proposals proceed. 

Page 145



 - 8 - 

 
 
 
Comment 
The school is lucky to have lots of space. 
 
Response 
LH explained the indoor and outdoor spaces that were provided at the 
recently constructed Cwmaman Primary School. 
 
 
Comment 
The school was keen to have breakout spaces in any new building. 
 
Response 
ET offered the opportunity for staff / governors to view the recently 
constructed new schools so that they could see what was possible. 
 
 
Comment 
Future proofing and providing flexible spaces was a requirement in light of the 
Donaldson report / recommendations. 
 
Response 
Concepts are shared with school staff at the earliest opportunity and views / 
inputs sought from all stakeholders. 
 
 
Question 
Would there be any impact on staff? 
 
Response 
PH explained that depending upon pupil numbers going forward, there was 
likely to be an increase in staff numbers at Hirwaun Primary School.  The 
school were just getting a new building.  The governing body at Hirwaun 
School would be encouraged the offer the opportunity for the English medium 
stream staff of Penderyn Community Primary School to join the team of staff 
at Hirwaun Primary School. 
 
  
ET thanked all for their attendance and inputs. 
 
The meeting closed at 4:30pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 - 9 - 

 
Notes of a meeting held with the School Council of Penderyn 

Community Primary School 
 

Thursday 11th October 2018 at 2:30pm 
 

Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to construct a new school 
building for Hirwaun Primary School and the proposed change of 
language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary School  

 
Present: 
Gaynor Davies (GD), Director of Education 
Andrea Richards (AR), Head of 21st Century Schools 
Non Morgan (NM), School Organisation and Governance Team Leader 
9 members of the School Council of Penderyn Community Primary School 
1 member of school staff 
 
 
GD made introductions and provided meeting outline to the 9 pupils present 
(plus teacher). 
 
GD explained that the Council was proposing to build a new, bigger school at 
Hirwaun which would replace the current school. The children taught in 
English at Penderyn would be taught in the new school so that Penderyn 
primary School would become Welsh only.    
 
The reasons for a Welsh Medium Primary in Penderyn were outlined: 
i. Pupils would be totally immersed in Welsh medium 
ii. More after-school activities delivered in Welsh 
iii. Whole year groups to be formed (no longer a need for mixed age 
groups) 
iv. School transport provided for pupils to attend Hirwaun English Medium 

school from the Penderyn area. 
 
 
Questions and answers 
 
Will there be English in the new school?   
GD confirmed there would be English lessons. 
 
Are we a good school?   
GD advised that Estyn have said it is. 
 
How do the community benefit from this change?   
GD advised that Penderyn will remain as a community school but pupil 
numbers are smaller in English than Welsh. 
 
Why do you want to move us?   
GD shared the Welsh Government plans for to increase Welsh speakers in 
the future therefore the Council have to make sure schools are big enough.  

Page 147



 - 10 - 

English pupils also need state of the art schools and the new school in 
Hirwaun will be like this. 
 
Is it more likely that pupils would learn Welsh better being around other Welsh 
learners? 
GD agreed but added language immersion does help. 
 
Would the Welsh Unit be going to English Comprehensive?   
That is down to parental choice. 
 
Why turn it into a Welsh School?   
GD explained pupil numbers and class structures – so pupils of same age 
would be in classrooms together. 
 
 
Two short video clips were played showing new schools recently constructed 
as part of the 21st Century Schools Programme at Cwmaman and Tonyrefail.   
 
 
GD suggested that any good ideas to be written on the large sheets of paper 
provided, or post it notes. 
 
GD added - if there are any worries or concerns these should also be written 
on the large sheets of paper provided, or post it notes. 
 
 
The School Council showed the officers ‘Save our School’ posters they had 
designed. 
 
 
The School Council gave a presentation – ‘Negative things about Penderyn 
Primary School turning Welsh’. 
 
 
The written responses received on the large sheets of paper and post-it notes 
are listed below:- 

 Improve new closes 

 New sports facilities  

 Making new friends 

 Lovely opportunities in Hirwaun 

 More Welsh speakers in this school 

 More Welsh speakers 

 I think this is a good idea because the new school is next generation 

 New children that have just started our school will not have a change to 

settle properly in Hirwaun Primary 

 Only half of the community can use the new school 

 Moving schools   

 Leaving our friends 

Page 148



 - 11 - 

 This is a bad idea because kids got siblings in the Welsh 

 Children that have settled in Penderyn Primary School would not be 

settled so quickly in Hirwaun Primary School 

 I think this is a bad idea because children like this school 

 Young siblings not being able to experience Penderyn school like it is 

now 

 People might not want to leave 

 I think this is a bad idea because half of the community will work here 

and we need to go to a new school and we like this school 

 Less people in the school 

 Save our school – let the English stay x5  

 
 
 
The pupils were thanked for their time and input.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



 - 12 - 

Notes of a meeting held with staff and governors of Penderyn 
Community Primary School 

 
Thursday 11th October 2018 at 4pm 

 
Meeting to discuss the Council’s proposals to construct a new school 

building for Hirwaun Primary School and the proposed change of 
language medium status of Penderyn Community Primary School  

 
 
Present: 
Gaynor Davies (GD), Director of Education 
Andrea Richards (AR), Head of 21st Century Schools 
Non Morgan (NM), School Organisation and Governance Team Leader 
Ellen Williams (EW), Human Resources Officer 
29 members of school staff and the governing body 
 
 
 
GD thanked the School Council for their contribution. 
 
Introductions from Council officers. 
Gaynor Davies (GD) welcomed everyone to the meeting and outlined the 
proposal, the reasons for the proposal, the purpose of the meeting and the 
consultation process and timescales relating to the consultation process and 
the proposals themselves should they be implemented. 
 
Should the proposals be implemented, it is proposed that:- 

 From 1st September 2019, no new pupils wishing to be educated 
through the medium of English will be admitted to Penderyn 
Community Primary School; 

 From 1st September 2020, the catchment change to extend the 
catchment area of Penderyn Community Primary School to include 
the communities of Trenant and Penywaun will take effect; and  

 On 1st September 2021, pupils attending the English medium 
stream of Penderyn Community Primary School would (subject to 
parental preference), transfer to the new Hirwaun Primary School 
building.  

 
GD explained how this proposal was part of the 21st Century Schools and 
Education Programme and addressed many of the Council’s objectives in 
relation to this, including -   

 Addressing growth in demand for Welsh medium education; 

 Expansion of schools in areas of increased demand for educational 
services; 

 Addressing the condition of educational assets; 

 Making assets available for community use. 
 
 

Page 150



 - 13 - 

GD referred to the detailed information contained within the consultation 
document which had been circulated and the consultation response pro-forma 
contained therein (further copies of both were available at the meeting) and 
referred to page 5 of the consultation document which outlines how people 
can make comments.   
 
GD explained that the questions / comments / responses would be recorded 
for inclusion in the consultation report which would be fed back to Cabinet in 
January 2019, as would the feedback from pupils.   GD stressed that this was 
a period of consultation and should the proposals proceed to the next stage 
(statutory notice), objections would be received and recorded at that stage. 
 
Two short video clips were played showing new schools recently constructed 
as part of the 21st Century Schools Programme at Cwmaman and Tonyrefail.   
 
AR explained the different type of buildings and future proofing new builds for 
the 21st Century. 
 
GD opened up the meeting for questions.   
 
GD explained that officers cannot talk to individuals but can arrange for 
Human Resources to attend separately.   
 
GD referred to page 18 of the consultation document and apologised that the 
first sentence was not worded correctly and was not meant to offend any staff.  
This was to explain a reduction in pupil numbers in English – Estyn 
recognised this. 
 
Question  
Query regarding the covenant – was it prescriptive Welsh and English?   
Response 
AR to check and the findings will be included in the Consultation Report. 
 
Comment 
A new build doesn’t ensure a high standard of learning.  Her son is in St. 
Johns – Welsh is stronger.   
Response 
GD noted the School Council also acknowledged this.  GD further explained 
that data tells us that the need for Welsh is increasing and English is 
decreasing.  Therefore, the Local Authority have to meet targets in the WESP 
(Welsh in Education Strategic Plan).  Data also tells us pupils would be 
entitled to free transport. 
 
Comment 
Parents are not happy with pupils moving to a Red school.   
Comment 
GD advised that a Post Inspection Action Plan (PIAP) was in place – which 
means that the school is being given support to help with improvements.  The 
Local Authority work closely with the Central South Consortium to improve 
standards. 

Page 151



 - 14 - 

 
Question 
Staff asked is this not a Community School?  Is the Local Authority isolating 
English parents?  Penderyn is a healthy school with pupils walking, this won’t 
continue if pupils moved to Hirwaun.   
Response 
GD explained that all factors needed to be looked at.  Penderyn will remain a 
Community School but a Welsh school. 
 
Comment 
The Local Authority changed the catchment area and that’s why numbers 
reduced.   
Response  
AR explained there is still parental choice. 
 
Comment 
Staff feel Welsh and English is being segregated – never been this way.   
Response 
GD explained that the English stream pupil numbers are very low – can have 
a negative social effect.  Need to prepare pupils for Secondary school and life 
skills. 
Pupil transition is easier in bigger groups.   
 
Comment 
Staff didn’t agree. 
Response 
GD explained that you can’t focus on a small number, but need to look at big 
picture.  AR added that there is still parental choice.   
 
Comment  
Staff feel that the Local Authority are removing that choice.   
Response 
GD outlined that pupil numbers and demand tells the Local Authority that 
English numbers are diminishing, therefore we have to look at what is viable.   
 
Comment 
Staff feel English pupils don’t come here due to catchment changes.   
Response 
AR emphasied that parental choice is always a factor. 
 
 
Question 
22 pupils in the village surely have the right to be educated in their village? 
Response 
GD pointed out that Hirwaun is located only 1.5 miles away.   
 
 
 
 
Question 

Page 152



 - 15 - 

Fundamental message – denial of choice from the community.  Pupils in 
Hirwaun chose to come to Penderyn for English education.  What other 
options have been considered?  Proposed that Penderyn catchment change 
to possibly increase in English Department.  Quoted September figures.   
Response 
GD and AR can only use published figures. 
 
 
Question 
Cut off point in document, September 2019 for nursery admissions – Doesn’t  
a 12 month notice period need to be implemented? 
Response 
This is a for a catchment change.   
 
Comment  
A two year period will exacerbate the pupil number issue.   
Response 
GD explained forecasting numbers may change but looking at long term plan. 
 
Question 
Projections – if the proposal goes ahead then numbers fall how difficult would 
it be to re-introduce English back/bilingual school.   
Response 
AR explained that a new statutory proposal would have to be undertaken.  
Also, WESP (Welsh in Education Strategic Plan) target – to review dual 
language schools was outlined. 
 
Question 
Why do so many pupils in Hirwaun chose education out of catchment? 
Response 
GD commented that building conditions and facilities in Hirwaun may be 
detrimental. 
 
Question 
If the 102 pupils in Hirwaun that chose education outside of catchment and 
the new 90 houses to be built all went to Hirwaun would there be capacity? 
Response 
AR replied that there would - this has all been taken into consideration. 
 
Question 
If you can put transport for pupils from Penderyn why can’t you do it the other 
way around? 
Response 
AR explained that English medium pupils currently pay for transport to 
Penderyn.  The Transport Policy is very fair in RCT.  Parents from Hirwaun 
may be putting children into the Welsh Unit in Penderyn due to free transport 
– reinforced parental choice. 
 
Question 
Will capacity be met for English demand?   

Page 153



 - 16 - 

Response 
GD explained that the Local Authority review surplus places on a regular 
basis.   
AR explained the matrix used to calculate trends for new housing estates. 
 
Question 
Difficult when you take something away - very hard to put it back – still wants 
the Local Authority to explore English medium education being available at 
both schools.  Response 
GD commented that a judgement has to be made on the information / data 
available which shows that the English stream is not viable. 
 
Question 
Rhigos being left alone with very small numbers – why is that school not 
included in these proposals?  Removing parental choice – detrimental to the 
community.   
Response 
GD explained that there will be a community school but a Welsh medium 
school – demand isn’t there for English medium education.   
 
Question 
Why not Rhigos?   
Response 
GD outlined the need for the Local Authority to look at 21st Century schools 
and the WESP and put forward informed proposals – staff need to make 
comments on the consultation. 
 
Comment 
Catchment area changes – getting pupils numbers for English medium of 
19/20 per year – feel that if the changes hadn’t been made the school 
wouldn’t be in this position now. 
 
Question 
Ring fencing – will staff be slotted into Hirwaun? 
Response 
EW advised that Human Resources (HR) are willing to visit and discuss on an 
individual basis.  There is a need to see how many additional staff Hirwaun 
would need.  HR would work with the staff at both schools.  HR will speak to 
staff individually to see how we can meet their needs.  Redeployment would 
also be an option.   
AR added that EW and the HR team have an excellent track record and RCT 
want to keep excellent staff.  Opportunities are available.  There are really 
good staff here – that is not disputed.   
 
Comment 
Staff should be guaranteed jobs in the new Hirwaun School.   
Response 
AR stated that no promises can be made as staffing is based on pupil 
numbers. 
 

Page 154



 - 17 - 

Question 
If offered another position and a member of staff didn’t accept, could they 
have redundancy? 
Response 
EW advised that this was dependant on circumstances. 
 
Question 
Why are Hirwaun having a parents meeting but not Penderyn – would the 
Local Authority re-think?   
Response 
AR advised that this consultation affects Hirwaun in the majority. 
 
Comment 
There is no bus service in Penderyn – location affects parents that don’t drive. 
 
Question 
YGG Aberdar – change of catchment do existing pupils transfer?   
Response 
No, they stay where they are – admissions criteria will apply when the 
changes are applied. 
 
Question 
There could be an issue if a parent has a pupil in Penderyn but can’t admit a 
sibling into Penderyn in September 2019 – what happens?   
Response 
Parents need to write in as part of the consultation. 
 
 
 
The staff and governors were thanked for their time and input.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3 
 

EXTRACT FROM THE DRAFT MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN & YOUNG 
PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  19th DECEMBER, 2018. 

 
DRAFT MINUTES. 

 
The Director of Communications and Interim Head of Democratic Services 
explained to Members the purpose of the report.  He informed Members that 
the report provides the opportunity for the Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee to engage in the formal consultation process, in respect of 21st 
Century School Programmes – Proposal to Improve Education in the Greater 
Pontypridd Area and Proposals to Improve Education in Cynon Valley.  
 
On a number of occasions, Members of the committee have sought the 
opportunity to contribute and comment upon future 21st Century Schools 
proposals being considered by the Council as part of Band B Programme.  
 
It was explained that on the 20th September and the 3rd October Cabinet agreed 
to initiate a formal consultation process in respect of proposals for improving 
education in the Cynon Valley and improving education in the Greater 
Pontypridd Area.   
 
The Director of Communications and Interim Head of Democratic Services 
explained to Members of the committee the format the meeting would be 
conducted in order to be consistent with the public meetings being held by the 
Council.  It was explained that consultation would be presented as two separate 
items starting with the Cynon Valley Consultation first then moving on to the 
Greater Pontypridd Consultation. It was explained that the Scrutiny’s views, 
alongside the schools and wider stakeholders engagement would be presented 
to Cabinet as part of the formal consultation process, before Cabinet determine 
whether to proceed or not with the next stage of the School Organisation Code.   
 
The Director of Communication and Interim Head of Democratic Services 
invited the Director of Education and Inclusion Services and officers to conduct 
the consultation. 
 
The Director of Education and Inclusion Services thanked the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee for participating in the consultation and 
explained that the views of the Committee are sought in relation to the School 
Organisation Proposals for Hirwaun/Penderyn. 
 
Members were informed that the reasons for the proposal is that Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council wishes to seek the views of a wide range 
of stakeholders on the proposal to: 
 

• Improve and increase education provision in Hirwaun by investing in a 
new school for Hirwaun Primary School. 

• Improve Welsh medium education provision by increasing the supply of 
places in the Upper Cynon Valley by making Penderyn Community 

Page 157



School, currently a dual language school, a Welsh medium primary 
school. 

  
The changes will be achieved by the construction of a new school building on 
the site of the current Hirwaun Primary School.  The new school would have a 
capacity of 390 pupils (plus nursery). The new school would replace the current 
school buildings on the existing site.  
 
Penderyn Community Primary School would become a Welsh medium 
community primary school with the capacity for 231 pupils (plus nursery).  It 
was explained that as part of the proposal to change the language medium of 
Penderyn Community Primary School to solely Welsh medium, it is also 
proposed to amend and extend catchments to encompass the communities of 
Trenant and Penywaun (currently in the Welsh catchment for Ysgol Gynradd 
Gymraeg Aberdar).  These adjustments are being made to the catchment area 
to match the demand for Welsh medium places in the locality. 
 
The Director of Education and Inclusion Services presented the consultation 
document in detail.  At the end of the presentation, it was explained that the 
meeting is now open to any person present to inform officers of their views, 
which as indicated, will be recorded, and because this is a consultation, it may 
or may not, be possible to respond to all questions raised at this time, but all 
questions would be logged and formally included in the consultation report to 
Cabinet.  
 
The Chair thanked the Director of Education and Inclusion Services for the 
overview of the proposal and explained to Members that the meeting does not 
have the jurisdiction to make any decisions but it provides an important 
opportunity to comment on the proposals and for the observations of Members 
to be reported back to Cabinet when they received the wider consultation 
feedback. 
 
In respect of the improving education provision in Hirwaun by investing £10.4m 
in a new, school for Hirwaun Primary School, Members put forward their 
questions and observations.  
 
A member explained that she had personally acted as a scribe in a recent 
meeting organised by Councillor Graham Thomas last Friday at Penderyn.  This 
was not a formal Council meeting. 
 
A Member asked in respect of the Hirwaun and Penderyn area and the concept 
of Welsh Education along with the Welsh Government plan for more Welsh 
speakers by 2050 had there been any pre-consultation with the community to 
take into account their views within the area. 
 
It was explained that in the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 
the Council has included in its plan to increase the number of children being 
taught through the medium of Welsh and specifically included in the plan is to: 

• Provide new and improved school buildings with appropriate capacity. 

Page 158



• Consideration of making dual language schools into full Welsh medium 
schools. 

 
The School Organisation Code is very prescriptive.  The Code clearly states 
that it is not a requirement to hold any meetings to discuss proposals but we 
convene this as we deem it good practice.  However, to adopt a consistent 
approach we do not hold pre-consultation meetings. 
 
A  Member questioned the maintenance figure of £1.9Million and asked how as 
a Local Authority we got to that situation.  Members were informed of that, the 
school is a CLASP type construction and was built in the late 1960’s.  The 
buildings are difficult to maintain due to the management of asbestos and they 
have come to the end of their useful life.   
 
A member enquired whether the Council has to pay for demolition costs?  It 
was explained that all costs, including the demolition and asbestos removal 
costs, are included in the overall project costs. 
 
Another Member complemented the proposal and thought it was a well thought 
out proposal.  
 
In respect of the Transport issue, a Member asked with regards the provision 
of transport how much extra pressure would be put on school transport. It was 
explained that this is unclear at present, in respect of the English medium 
provisional numbers will fluctuate.  In catchment pupils resident in Penderyn 
attending English medium stream will receive free transport to the new Hirwaun 
Primary School as the walking route is deemed unavailable. 
 
In respect of Transport provision a Member expressed concerns as to whether 
there was sufficient public transportation to and from Penderyn.  A Member 
commented that the bus service from Penderyn is an hourly service, which 
could be a serious issue for parents especially if they do not drive. If parents 
need to get to the school in an emergency this could be of concern.  
 
Majority of Members felt strongly that the transport situation needed to be 
looked in greater detail. Officers explained that the Education Department  
collaborates with the Highways transport team and will raise the issue with the 
private sector transport company.  
 
The Chair asked how can we make the Penderyn Welsh Medium School 
Proposal a positive one to the Communities of Hirwaun and Penderyn? The 
Director of Education and Inclusion Services explained that  some parents feel 
strongly about removing the English steam however parents are already 
making a choice of choosing Welsh medium with only three pupils registered 
for English medium provision this year.  However, there is positive feedback 
and the large capital investment in the community is seen as a real opportunity 
for the wider Cynon Valley schools in the area.  We need to focus on equality 
and ensure all pupils have fair access to good education facilities and 
opportunities. 
 

Page 159



The Chair asked if the school would be able to accommodate any future 
housing development with the area and if this had been taken into consideration 
when devising the proposal.  It was explained that the Council strategically 
manages its school places and inputs into the Local Development Plan and 
regularly monitors new and proposed housing development in the area.  A 
Member also explained that there is a proposal for Heads of the Valleys road 
duelling.  There is possible development there and we hope that along that 
corridor it will bring employment to the area.  To have a 21st Century school 
would be very positive for the area. 
  
The Chair thanked the Officers and as there were, no further questions put 
forward on the Cynon Valley proposal asked Officers to proceed with the next 
consultation document to consider the Greater Pontypridd Proposal.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177

howellj1
Highlight



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200

howellj1_1
Highlight

howellj1_2
Highlight

howellj1_3
Highlight



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET  

 
24th  JANUARY 2019 

 
PROPOSAL TO RE-ALIGN LEARNING SUPPORT CLASS PROVISION WITHIN 

RCT 

 
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES IN 
DISCUSSIONS WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER, COUNCILLOR J 
ROSSER.  
 
AUTHOR: Ceri Jones (01443 744004)   
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to advise Members of the outcome of the recent 

consultation in respect of the proposal to realign the mainstream Learning 
Support Class (LSC) provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) and to re-
invest the funding to meet the identified needs of pupils. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Note the information contained within the attached consultation report, which 

includes details of items of correspondence received during the consultation 
exercise and notes of the various meetings held. 

 
2.2 Note that Rhondda Cynon Taf will maintain its current level of significant 

financial investment in its Learning Support Class (LSC) provision whilst 
realigning its current provision to address identified gaps in existing provision. 

 
2.3 Agree to progress the following proposals to realign the mainstream Learning 

Support Class (LSC) provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) by issuing the 
appropriate statutory notices.  

 
2.2.1 To create a new Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with SEBD at 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn; 
 

2.2.2 To create a new Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties at Treorchy Comprehensive School. 

 
2.2.3 To re-designate the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex 

Learning Difficulties at Darran Park Primary and Foundation Phase 
Observation and Assessment Class at Llantrisant Primary to become 

Page 205

Agenda Item 5



Early Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs for pupils under 
statutory school age with significant presenting needs;  

 
2.2.4 To relocate the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties from Penrhys Primary School to Maerdy Primary School, 
creating a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 
2. In discussion with the parents of the one child affected by this 
proposal, alternative provision will be made available.   

 
2.2.5 To relocate the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Communication 

Disorders based at Hafod Primary School to Porth Community School 
(3-16 provision) creating a cross phase provision from Foundation 
Phase to Key Stage 4 

 
2.2.6 To relocate the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties from Caradog Primary School to Cwmbach Primary School, 
creating a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 
2.   

 
2.2.7 To close the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties in Caradog Primary School – 8 pupils would access specialist 
placement at Cwmbach Primary School  

 
2.2.8 To close the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties in Heol y Celyn Primary School – no pupils would be affected 
by the closure 

 
2.2.9 To close the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties in Penrhys Primary School – no pupils would be affected by 
the closure; 

 
2.2.10 To close the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional, 

Behavioural Difficulties in Penywaun Primary School – no pupils would 
be affected by the closure; 

 
2.2.11 To close the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties in Pontygwaith Primary School – no pupils would be affected 
by the closure; 

 
2.2.12 To close the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 

Difficulties in Heol y Celyn Primary School – the class would have only 
2 pupils in 2019 and in discussion with the pupil’s parents, alternative 
provision would be provided for the two pupils; 

 
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To progress the proposal in accordance with the process outlined in Welsh 

Government legislative guidance (the School Organisation Code) so that an 
improved continuum of SEN provision can be achieved in RCT.  

Page 206



 
 
4. BACKGROUND 

 
4.1     Members will recall that, at the meeting of Cabinet held on 3rd October 2018, 

approval was given to begin a process of formal consultation on a proposal to 
realign the of mainstream Learning Support Class (LSC) provision within 
Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT). 

  
5. CONSULTATION  
 
5.1 The consultation process in respect of this proposal has been undertaken under 

the arrangements outlined in the Welsh Government’s School Organisation 
Code, and was introduced on 19th October 2018. These arrangements stipulate 
that a Consultation Report must be prepared prior to the publication of any 
statutory notices which will progress the proposal. It further states that this 
Report must be published within 13 weeks of the end of the consultation period, 
which is 22nd March 2019 in this instance. 

 
5.2 The Consultation Report prepared in respect of this particular proposal is 

attached at Appendix 1 for your attention. A number of key issues that were 
raised in the consultation feedback have been identified as key issues or 
recurring themes to which the LA has provided a collective response which is 
detailed in the ‘Summary of Key Issues’ section 6 of the Consultation Report. 
For details of correspondence received together with the responses given to 
the points raised in this correspondence please refer to Appendices 1a & 1b. 
Information in respect of meetings held to discuss the proposals, with copies of 
the notes taken at these meetings that outline the main areas of discussion are 
included Appendix 1c and Id.  

 
5.3 It must be noted that there has been a good response to this particular 

consultation process; 200 completed questionnaires, 87 letters, 2 petitions: 186 
signatories from concerned residents of Penrhys Primary School and 2271 
signatories from Hafod Primary School (of which 1173 were formal signatures 
and 1098 were submitted via an online petition) and a limited number of e mails 
were received.  Approximately 100 School Council representatives attended 
meetings with Access & Inclusion Service staff and approximately 160 parents 
attended open evenings held to provide further information. 

 
5.4 The table below reports the number and type of responses received for each 

individual proposal within the consultation document: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



Proposal Number of Responses 
 

Disagree 

Questionnaire Letter Email Petition 
Heol Y Celyn  

Primary School 
0 0 1 0 1 

Penrhys  
Primary School 

66 76 0 186 signatures 328 

Penywaun  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Pontygwaith  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Heol y Celyn  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Caradog  
Primary School 

2 0 0 0 2 

Hafod  
Primary School  

132 10 7 2271 
(1173 formal signatures 
1098 online petition) 

2420 

Darran Park  
Primary School 

0 1 0 0 1 
 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn 0 0 0 0 0 
 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Generic responses  to 
the proposals 

0 0 3 0 0 
 

Page 208



 
 

6. THE STATUTORY PROCESS 

6.1  The statutory notices for this proposal will refer to the: 

o Closure of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties in Heol y Celyn Primary School; 

o Closure of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties in Penrhys Primary School; 

o Closure of the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional, 
Behavioural Difficulties in Penywaun Primary School; 

o Closure of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties in Pontygwaith Primary School; 

o Closure of the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties 
in Heol y Celyn Primary School; 

o Closure of the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties 
in Caradog Primary School (transferring to Cwmbach Primary School); 

o Relocation of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties from Caradog Primary School to Cwmbach Primary School, 
creating a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2.   

o Relocation of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties from Penrhys Primary School to Maerdy Primary School, creating 
a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2; 

o relocation of the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders 
based at Hafod Primary School to Porth Community School (3-16 provision) 
creating a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 4 

o Re-designation of the Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties at Darran Park Primary and Foundation Phase 
Observation and Assessment Class at Llantrisant Primary to become Early 
Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs for pupils under statutory school 
age with significant presenting needs;  

o Opening of a new Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with SEBD at 
Ysgol Nant Gwyn; 

o Opening of a new Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties at Treorchy Comprehensive School. 

 
The Statutory Notices will, if agreed, be published on 13th February 2019 and 
will allow for a 28 day period for objections, ending on 12th March 2019. If any 
objections are received, in accordance with the aforementioned Code an 
Objections Report will be prepared. This matter will then be reported to a future 
meeting of Cabinet, possibly in April 2019, for Members to receive and consider 
the Objections Report and to make a final decision on this proposal. 
 

 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Welsh Language and Community Impact Assessments are not required for these 

proposals. An Equality Impact Assessment was published on the Council’s 
website together with the consultation document that outlines the proposal in 
detail. Copies of both reports are attached as Appendix 2 & 3 to this report. 

Page 209



 
 

 
8.  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 If the proposal to realign LSC provision within RCT is authorised to proceed, 

resources will be re-directed to address the identified gaps in existing provision. 
In closing some provisions redundancy costs may arise.  However, the Council 
seeks to minimise these costs by redeploying displaced members of staff 
wherever possible. It is therefore not possible at this point in the process to 
identify any possible redundancy costs.   

 
 The enhanced provision in key settings will be central to supporting the needs of 

some learners on dual placements who may require more enhanced support to 
meet their needs when in mainstream and support to manage very challenging 
behaviour within LSC provision for learners with severe SEBD.    

 
  The funding will also be used to develop outreach opportunities from our special 

schools so as to enhance the capacity of mainstream and LSCs to effectively 
meet the additional learning needs of learners in the early years. 

 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  

 

9.1  Section 316A of the Education Act 1996 specifies that children with SEN should 
normally be educated in mainstream schools so long as this is compatible with 
them receiving the special educational provision that their learning difficulty calls 
for; the efficient education of other children, and the efficient use of resources. 

9.2 Section 315 of the Education Act 1996 also requires the LA to ensure that SEN 
provision is kept under review.  Sections 1:20 and 1:21 of the SEN Code of 
Practice for Wales (2002) also requires LAs to evaluate the effectiveness of 
school funding arrangements in supporting and raising the achievement of 
children with SEN. 

  

10.  LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-
BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 

 
10.1 The proposals will ensure that two of the Council’s three key priorities will be met.  

These include 

• Economy: Building a strong economy 
• People: Promoting independence and positive lives for everyone 

10.2 The proposals will ensure that some of the Council’s most vulnerable pupils will 
have the best chance of achieving positive outcomes.  The redirection of valuable 
resources from SEN settings which have surplus places will enhance 
opportunities for providing successful inclusion in local community schools. The 
proposals will ensure more efficient and effective use of Council resources which 
promotes the development of social inclusion and positive outcomes for learners.  

Page 210



 
 

This will also have a beneficial impact on transport costs and on carbon 
emissions.  

10.3  Organising services so that they are focussed on early intervention and 
prevention is a key statutory requirement of the Wellbeing and Future 
Generations Act and a key element of the Council’s Corporate Plan. These 
proposals will ensure there is renewed capacity for early intervention and 
prevention thus minimising the need for statutory processes and intervention.  

 
11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 Members are asked to consider the contents of the attached Consultation 

Report, to agree to its immediate publication and to give officers approval to 
publish the appropriate Statutory Notices to progress this proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 211



 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

PROPOSAL TO RE-ALIGN LEARNING SUPPORT CLASS 
PROVISION WITHIN RCT 

 

 

 

CONSULTATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 
January 2019 

Page 212



 
 

Consultation Report 

 

Proposal: to re-align Learning Support Class provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf 

 

1. Purpose of the Consultation Report 
 

This report is prepared in accordance with the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code.  Its 
purpose is to inform the outcome of the consultation held during the period 19TH October and 21st 
December 2018 between all stakeholders and interested parties listed below. 

2. Who did we consult?   
 

A copy of a consultation document which fully outlined and explained our proposal was sent to the 
following stakeholders. The document was also published on the Council website at 
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations 
 
 

• The Governing Bodies, parents, carers 
and staff of the following schools: 
Heol Y Celyn Primary; Penrhys 
Primary; Penywaun Primary; 
Pontygwaith Primary; Caradog 
Primary; Cwmbach Primary; Maerdy 
Community Primary; Hafod Primary; 
Darran Park Primary; Llantrisant 
Primary  

• The Governing Bodies, parents, carers 
and staff of Ysgol Nant Gwyn, 
Ferndale Comprehensive School, 
Aberdare Community School, Bryn 
Celynnog Comprehensive School, 
Porth Community School and 
Treorchy Comprehensive School  

• Other Governing Bodies of 
neighbouring primary and secondary 
schools  

• School Council  
• The Church in Wales and Roman 

Catholic Diocesan Authorities  
• The Governing Body of Coleg Y 

Cymoedd  
• The Governing Body of the University 

of South Wales  
• Welsh Minister for Education and 

Skills  

• Assembly Members for all 
constituencies and regional areas 
serving Rhondda Cynon Taf  

• Members of Parliament for the 
Rhondda, Pontypridd and Cynon 
Valley  

• Estyn  
• Cwm Taf Local Health Board  
• Teaching and Support staff trade 

unions  
• Central South Consortium Joint 

Education Service  
• South Wales Police and Crime 

Commissioner  
• The Early Years and Childcare 

Partnership  
• South East Wales Transport 

Association  
• The local Communities First 

Partnerships  
• The Welsh Language Commissioner  
• Neighbouring local authorities  

Page 213

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/schoolconsultations


 
 

3. What did we consult on?  
 

The proposals consulted on included: 

Closing key LSCs due to no confirmed placements, diminishing numbers or poor access for learners 
with physical or medical needs. It was proposed that the following closures take effect from 31st 
August 2019 at:  

• 3 Foundation Phase LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Pontygwaith Primary 
School, Penrhys Primary School and Heol y Celyn Primary School;  

• 2 Key Stage 2 LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Caradog Primary School and 
Heol y Celyn Primary School;  

• 1 Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional and Behaviour Difficulties (SEBD) in 
Penywaun Primary School. 
  

Relocating key LSC provisions to ensure cross phase provisions in single sited, accessible school 
buildings. It was proposed that the following relocations take effect from 1st September 2019:  

• 2 Foundation Phase LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at Penrhys Primary 
School and Caradog Primary to relocate to Maerdy Community School and Cwmbach Primary 
School respectively so as to create a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 
2;  

• 1 Key Stage 2, the LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders at Hafod Primary School to 
relocate to create a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 3/4 at Porth 
Community School.  
 

Re-designating LSC provisions to ensure a better match of provision to meet identified need. It was 
proposed that the following re-designations take effect from 1st September 2019:  

• 1 Foundation Phase LSC for Complex Learning Difficulties in Darran Park Primary School and 1 
Foundation Phase Observation and Assessment Class at Llantrisant Primary School to become 
2 Early Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs for pupils under statutory school age with 
significant presenting needs.  

 
Developing new secondary LSC provisions. It was proposed that two LSCs for Key Stages 3/4 are 
established in September 2019:  

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Treorchy 
Comprehensive School  

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties in 
Ysgol Nant Gwyn  

 

4. The consultation process  
 

All stakeholders identified in section 2 were sent paper or electronic copies of our consultation 
documentation. All written feedback received are detailed in Appendix 1a and summarised in 
Apppendix 1b. Consultation meetings were held for the staff, parents and pupils of the effected 
schools, the details and dates of these meetings are attached as Appendix 1c.  Summary notes taken 
during a range of consultation events are detailed in Appendix 1d. These provide a record of questions 
raised, comments and statements made, with responses provided where appropriate.  
 

 

 

Page 214



 
 

5. Summary of responses to consultation 
The table below reports the number and type of responses received for each individual proposal 
within the consultation document: 

 

There has been a good response to this particular consultation process in relation to two of the 
proposals. This included 200 completed questionnaires, 87 letters and 2 petitions. The latter consisted 
of 186 signatories from concerned residents of Penrhys Primary School and 2271 signatories from 
Hafod Primary School (of which 1131 were formal signatures and 1098 were submitted via an online 
petition). A limited number of e mails were also received.  Approximately 100 School Council 
representatives attended meetings with Access & Inclusion Service staff and approximately 160 
parents attended open evenings held to provide further information. 

 
 
6. Summary of Key Issues Raised and LA Responses 
 
A detailed analysis of the consultation responses received are provided in Appendix 1b. The key 
themes emerging from this analysis are detailed as follows: 
 
 

 
 

Proposal Number of Responses 
 

Disagree 

Questionnaire Letter Email Petition 
Heol Y Celyn  

Primary School 
0 0 1 0 1 

Penrhys  
Primary School 

66 76 0 186 signatures 328 

Penywaun  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Pontygwaith  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Heol y Celyn  
Primary School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Caradog  
Primary School 

2 0 0 0 2 

Hafod  
Primary School  

132 10 7 2271 
(1173 formal signatures 
1098 online petition) 

2420 

Darran Park  
Primary School 

0 1 0 0 1 
 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn 0 0 0 0 0 
 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School 

0 0 0 0 0 

Generic responses  to 
the proposals 

0 0 3 0 0 
 

Page 215



 
 

Issue raised LA Responses 
 

Distance / Travel time for 
pupils being relocated 
 
 

Distances and travel times fall within the parameters outlines in the 
Welsh Government Learner Travel Guidance. Transportation to school 
would be provided in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy and 
placement made in the nearest and most appropriate specialist 
setting.  

Impact upon pupils 
 
 

The change in provision has some implications for a relatively small 
number of pupils who currently attend LSCs. To minimise any potential 
negative impact upon individual pupils, parents will be provided with 
the opportunity to discuss whether they wish for their child to attend 
the nearest comparable specialist provision or to remain in their 
current mainstream schools with a bespoke package of support.  

LSCs currently hosted by 
smaller mainstream 
school settings are 
deemed to provide better 
provision 
 
 

The LA has a number of LSCs that have been successfully based in large 
school settings over many years where high quality provision is made 
for pupils in the LSC. This includes small group inclusion opportunities, 
both educational and social, and where all of the benefits of having a 
LSC are equally evident, valued and effective in both large and small 
school environments. The size of the school has not been a key factor 
in determining whether a LSC for pupils with ASD/CD is successful or 
effective.  There is no evidence to suggest that pupils in the LSCs find 
larger school settings overwhelming or that there is a detrimental 
impact upon the educational progress or wellbeing of the pupils.  
 

Transition of current LSC 
pupils to new LSC settings 
 
 

The proposals will minimise unnecessary transition for pupils with 
significant needs, provide continuity in their educational placements 
and ensure that a higher number of specialist LSC provisions provide 
equity for pupils in LSCs so that they remain in one setting until 
transition to secondary provision in line with their mainstream peers. 
Robust transition plans will be put in place for any pupils directly 
affected by the proposals, which will be planned collaboratively with 
parents and staff and involve additional support from specialist 
members of staff from Access and Inclusion.  

Re-deployment of staff 
and changes of terms and 
conditions of 
employment 
 

Guidance from HR and how the process would proceed with Trade 
Unions was outlined to staff.  Should the proposal be accepted further 
discussions will be held with all staff, HR and Trade Union 
representatives following the statutory notice period. Staff were 
satisfied with the proposed arrangements. 

Inclusion of SEN pupils 
within mainstream 
settings  
 
 

There is an expectation that pupils in all LSCs will have mainstream 
inclusion opportunities.  This forms part of the LA’s monitoring 
protocol for LSCs.  Pupils who currently attend LSC provision in the 
mainstream schools to which the relocations are proposed are fully 
included in school activities, both curricular and extra-curricular 
including school trips, concerts and presentations. The LSCs are 
integral to the ethos of the host schools and families and pupils are 
treated equitably alongside mainstream peers. The relocation of LSCs 
will ensure that a higher number of LSCs will be based in fully 
accessible and high quality educational environments that have 
benefited from significant investment from the 21st Century Schools 
Modernisation Programme. 

Page 216



 
 

 
Criteria for Specialist 
Placement  
 

The consultation does not include a proposal relating to specialist 
placement criteria. 

Closure of mainstream 
settings  

The consultation relates to LSC provision and does not include the 
proposed closure of any mainstream settings. 
 

Rationale for change  
 

This is based on: 
Data analysis of current and projected pupil need to ensure that the 
number of LSCs with surplus places is addressed and to realign 
provision in line with identified needs. 
 
The opportunity to enhance the number of specialist LSC provisions 
within mainstream settings to minimise unnecessary transition for 
pupils between specialist settings in different schools which would 
provide equity for pupils in need of specialist provision to remain in 
one school setting as is generally available to mainstream peers. 
 
To ensure that a larger number of LSCs and their pupils access 
specialist provision in school settings that have benefited from 
significant investment from the 21st  Century Schools Modernisation 
Programme  
 

General agreement with 
need for Key Stage 3/4 
provision 
 

Responses recognised the need for additional Key Stage 3/4 provision 
within RCT 

Loss of LSC provision 
from within current 
school setting and loss of 
teaching staff  

The LA recognises how much the LSCs and their pupils are valued by 
their host school settings proposed for change and how much they 
have added to the inclusive ethos of the schools.  However the 
proposals aims to enhance LSC provision within the LA as outlined in 
the rationale for change.  
 
It is pleasing to note the positive comments on the quality of provision.  
There will be opportunities for the LA to retain LSC specialist staff when 
implementing the realignment of LSC provision.  Redeployment 
opportunities can also be explored where required.  
 

Discussions about 
individual pupils’ 
provision 
 

These issues will be addressed with parents on an individual basis 
(where appropriate).  Clear options are outlined in the consultation 
document and will be discussed further should approval be given to 
progress to statutory notice. This could involve additional support in a 
mainstream setting of parental choice or alternative specialist 
provision appropriate to individual need should parents not wish for 
their child to access the designated LSC. 
 

Concerns regarding the 
quality of relocated LSC 
provision where LSC 
provision has currently 

The LA has no evidence to suggest that the mainstream schools to 
which the LSCs are proposed to relocate will not be able to provide 
high quality, inclusive educational and extracurricular opportunities to 
the pupils in the LSCs. The schools currently successfully host LSCs and 
the proposed relocations would merely enhance their LSC provision. 

Page 217



 
 

been considered to be 
effective 
 
 

The proposed mainstream host schools have strong leadership teams 
whose performance will be scrutinised and challenged in accordance 
with established quality assurance processes within RCT and the wider 
Central South Consortium. Access and Inclusion also has well 
established Quality Assurance processes for monitoring and 
challenging the performance of all of its individual LSCs and this 
process would continue following the proposed relocations of 
provisions. 
 

Reducing funding for 
specialist provision  

The proposals do not involve any reduction in funding for LSC provision 
across RCT. If the proposals proceed, funding will be redirected to 
establish provisions that address growing need and to improve the 
quality of specialist provision within RCT. 
 

Changes to capacity for 
LSCs proposed to relocate 
to Maerdy and Porth 
Community School 
 

The consultation does not include a proposal in relation to changes to 
the capacity of the LSCs. 

Meeting the SEN / ALN of 
LSC pupils in relocated 
provisions  

All pupils will continue to have IEP’s in line with the requirement of the 
SEN Code of Practice.  There will be no change in practice in relation to 
ensuring that the IEPs are implemented appropriately.  The LA has a 
robust quality assurance process to ensure that this is the case in all of 
its LSCs. 
 
The pupil’s statements of special educational needs will continue to be 
implemented before, during and after the relocations, if this proposal 
proceeds.  A robust transition plan will be put in place to support the 
pupils to transition to their new setting by staff experienced in 
supporting pupils with additional learning needs though it should be 
noted that many pupils will have had a much shorter transition process 
from their previous mainstream school into their current LSCs.  Any 
plans will be shared with parents. 
 
The proposed relocations will ensure that pupils will be able to have 
cross phase provisions within settings that have well established LSC 
provision.  The proposal will also create enhanced opportunities for 
collaborative working between the LSCS within different phases which 
will benefit both pupils and staff in sharing expertise. 
 
There will be no reduction/anticipated change to the support provided 
by external agencies /professionals.  However, a cross-phase provision 
provides the opportunity for the LA to provide more consistent input 
from services such as Educational Psychology Service, by potentially 
allocating all provisions within the setting to one educational 
psychologist for continuity.  
 

Additional benefits of 
relocation of Hafod CDU 
to Porth Community   
 

Relocating to Porth Community would enable pupils to access subject 
specialist staff and specialist subject facilities e.g. science rooms, 
design and technology, PE facilities. Also specialised facilities as noted 
above will be accessed during year 5/6 as part of the inclusive middle 

Page 218



 
 

school.  It is the intention that pupils within the LSC will have access to 
these facilities in line with mainstream peers.  These resources will also 
enhance opportunities to facilitate extra learning for pupils throughout 
FP and KS2 who are more able and talented. 
 

Concerns regarding 
access to the wider 
community in Porth 
compared to current 
location in Hafod Primary 
 

There are a number of local amenities that can be accessed by pupils 
in Porth Community.  Some will be accessed by foot and others will 
require transport as is the case for the majority of schools in RCT. 

 
 
 A response was received from ESTYN which in line with School Organisation Code is to be presented 

in full below 
 

7. Estyn’s response to the proposal from Rhondda Cynon Taf regarding learning support 
centres which will take affect during September 2019  

Introduction  
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and Training in Wales.  

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its associated 
Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn.  However Estyn is not 
a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory 
requirements on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters.  Therefore as a body being 
consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation 
proposals.  

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the following 
response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional information such 
as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional Consortia which deliver school 
improvement services to the schools within the proposal.  

This consultation proposal is from Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) County Borough Council.  The 
proposal contains four elements, which include the closure of some learning support centres 
(LSCs), the relocation of others, and the re-designation of others. In addition it is also proposed 
to put in place some new provision. These proposals are to take effect during September 2019.  

Summary/ Conclusion  

This is a complex proposal which attempts to realign current learning support provision with 
identified need within the local authority, and to expand services through the addition of 
some new provision.    

The proposal contains four elements. These are   

• the closure of identified LSCs due to no confirmed placements, 
diminishing numbers or poor access for learners with physical or 
medical needs;   

Page 219



 
 

• the relocation of some LSCs to ensure cross phase provisions in single 
sited, accessible sites; 

• the proposed development of new provision and 
• the re-designation of some LSCs to better match provision to identified 

need 

It is Estyn’s opinion that the proposal is likely to improve the current standards 
of educational provision for pupils with special educational needs (SEN) in the 
English medium sector.   

Description and benefits  

This is a broad strategy to improve provision for pupils with SEN educated in RCT, and which 
encompass provision in early years, Foundation Phase, and key stages 2, 3 and 4.  The 
strategy is concerned with addressing a range of needs, e.g. putting in place early 
intervention and preventative approaches, avoiding unnecessary transition across schools, 
the creation of capacity for outreach support from special schools for mainstream provision 
and the reduction of surplus places.   

The proposal sets out clearly the current legislative basis for the provision of SEN support for 
those pupils who need it, and describes the commitments made by the local authority to 
ensure all pupils eligible have appropriate access. The proposal makes a good case for not 
staying with the status quo, based on analysis of undertaken by the local authority.  The 
outcomes of this analysis indicate that:  

• there is significant surplus capacity in primary sector  
• there is insufficient provision in the early years sector  
• there is insufficient provision in the secondary sector   
• the current distribution of provision across the local authority  means 

some pupils must make unnecessary transition between schools at the 
end of key stages   

• some LSCs would benefit from relocation to fully accessible schools that 
have benefited from the 21st Century School Modernisation and 
investment.  

The proposal sets out clearly each of the four separate elements to the overall strategy and 
provides a clear commentary regarding the specific locations of the current provision to be 
changed, along with an analysis of the impact of each one.  

The proposal includes an assessment of the advantages and the disadvantages arising from 
the implementation of the strategy.  However, the analysis does not explore in enough detail 
the disadvantages identified, rather the weight of the text sits with the presumed advantages 
and mitigating factors.  Although the premise that there are few disadvantages is probably 
sound, it is difficult to say for certain that this is so, due to the lack of detail in this part of the 
proposal.  

Page 220



 
 

The proposal identifies clearly the transport implications arising from the strategy.  It is 
expected that the strategy will achieve a reduction in the demand for transport, due to more 
easily accessed provision linked to the areas where there is greatest need.  In addition the 
local authority has clearly committed itself to providing transport for those pupils who will 
need it.  

The proposal does not provide any detailed analysis or commentary on the implication of 
these changes for Welsh medium education provision or whether or not there is a need for 
Welsh language support for pupils with SEN.  All schools affected by the strategy are English 
medium, except for one, which is a bilingual school.    

The proposal sets out clearly the financial implications of the strategy and some of the 
benefits from closing provision where there is either no demand or minimal demand.  

The proposal identifies the staffing implications arising from the strategy. As staff are 
contracted to work across the local authority, there are no specific issues for redundancy 
identified from the closure or changed location of any specific piece of provision.  

Educational aspects of the proposal  

The proposal appropriately considers the likely impact of the strategy on 
education standards, provision and leadership.  It takes into account the impact 
of each of the four proposed changes within the strategy for each individual 
school where there is an expected impact.  This analysis makes clear reference 
to the outcomes of the most recent Estyn inspections on these schools, but does 
not reference intelligence from the Regional Consortium’s categorisation of 
these schools.   

8. Conclusion 
 

The feedback received from stakeholders has been used to inform the final proposals presented to 
Cabinet.  The recommendation is that this report is published and at the appropriate time a statutory 
notice be published.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 221



 

18 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       Appendix 1a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scanned consultation responses, letters and emails 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



Page 280



Page 281



Page 282



Page 283



Page 284



Page 285



Page 286



Page 287



Page 288



Page 289



Page 290



Page 291



Page 292



Page 293



Page 294



Page 295



Page 296



Page 297



Page 298



Page 299



Page 300



Page 301



Page 302



Page 303



Page 304



Page 305



Page 306



Page 307



Page 308



Page 309



Page 310



Page 311



Page 312



 

19 
 

                 Appendix 1b 

Consultation Feedback: Summary of Submissions 

Where appropriate comments have been written verbatim.  

1. Hafod Primary School Proposals 

The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to close the LSC at Hafod Primary  
All responses disagreed with the proposal 

Respondent Type of 
Consultation 

response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from respondent LA Response 

Staff and 
Governors 
Hafod Primary  

Letter  We have never had surplus numbers in our CDC unit this academic year 
when the Local Authority placed 8 children in the CDC one month before 
the announcement of this proposal. 
 
Children in our CDC class are known and supported by all staff 
throughout the school. This is invaluable particularly during more 
challenging social times such as dinner time, play time, assembly and 
transition times.’  
‘We are also able to share knowledge and information quickly and 
effectively, responding to children’s needs more readily. This has proved 
essential in more challenging situations.  
 
Training such as AUTISM Awareness, Literacy interventions and Relax 
Kids are just a few examples of numerous initiatives successfully shared 
and developed at Hafod Primary. 
 
Adapting to new environments and new people is a necessary part of life 
experiences and we support pupils and parents well throughout this 
process.  
 

The proposal is to relocate the provision at 
Hafod and not to reduce the number of KS2 
CDC specialist placements. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Staff who relocated to the Porth 
Community have come from schools that 
accessed a range of training opportunities 
for pupils with additional learning needs.   
 
The Local Authority acknowledges that this 
support will be essential in supporting the 
pupils transition to Porth Community 
School should the proposal proceed.  

P
age 313



 

20 
 

At Hafod we have mixed year classes, Nursery/Reception, years 1/2, 3/4 
and 5/6. Our cohorts are smaller compared to larger mainstream schools. 
This means we are able to achieve small group integration opportunities 
for children in our CDC more successfully than other larger mainstream 
schools with single year classes.  
Because we are a small school, we are able to trial and manage more 
flexible arrangements for supported academic and social integration. 
 
 
From 1997 to the present day staff in the CDC have been fully supported 
by management teams and the Governing Body. 
 
 
Throughout the years it has been an essential requirement that 
appointed Headteachers have expertise and good experience of pupils 
with ALN.  
The Headteacher at Hafod primary have been committed to equity of 
provision for our CDC class and continue to strive to ensure this is 
possible through various means. 
 
Our small school nurturing environment combined with close-knit 
community support means pupils in our CDC even have opportunities to 
excel in more formal presentations and celebrations without being 
overwhelmed and over stimulated by the environment.  
 
 
 A small nurturing environment, small staff team, smaller mainstream 
class sizes and close-knit community cannot be replicated in a large 3-16 
provision. All these features contribute to establishing a low arousal 
environment, successful integration and great opportunities for our CDC 
pupils. 
 

 
 
See Summary of Key Issues.  
 
 
 
 
The Headteacher at Porth Community 
School and Governing Body fully support 
the placement of the current KS3/4 and 
Foundation Phase LSC Provisions and are 
fully committed to having a KS2 provision.  
 
The Headteacher at Porth Community 
School has worked in schools where 
specialist provisions have been located.  
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues.  
 
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 314



 

21 
 

For the past 21 years our LA funded CDC has not merely been located in 
Hafod Primary, it has evolved to be integral to the school and central to 
its ethos and identity.  

LSC Hafod  Letter   There seems to be a lack of understanding as to what the success of this 
class means to the children, and their school. 
 
Our school is at the heart of our community, and our class- the heart of 
our school. 
We nurture our children and provide excellent teaching, ensuring that no 
child goes without regardless of age, class or ability. 
The mainstream pupils in Hafod embrace pupils in our CD unit, and no 
child is treated differently. 
During lesson time, children from the CD unit are integrated (with 
support) into mainstream classes when possible. 
This school is as much theirs as it is any other child’s, and when the time 
comes for them to move on in line with pupils they have grown and 
developed with, the transition to the secondary school of their choice 
has always been successful.  
 
Though I appreciate Porth Community School offers some fantastic new 
facilities for our pupils, our class at Hafod is already fully equipped to 
support the needs of our students. 
In addition to all of this, our inspection reports have always shown a 
positive feedback for our class.  

See Summary of Key Issues.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Parent of a 
pupil in Hafod   

Questionnaire  I don’t agree with this move because my son just started in September 
and has now settled in to move him again would upset him. 
 
My son does not like to be in big crowds as he gets anxious.  
The class he is in now is the perfect place for him as he is calm and his 
social skills and learning skills are increasing. 

See Summary of Key Issues.  
 

Parish of 
Pontypridd 
Schools Worker  

Questionnaire  I feel very strongly that the decision to move the Learning Support Class 
from Hafod school will grossly impact the nature of the school. 
They are involved fully in every aspect of school life.  

See Summary of Key Issues.  
 

P
age 315



 

22 
 

The move would not aid the learners and the school itself would lose 
part of its identity within the school and also within the wider community 
of Trehafod. 
Strong friendships that have already been formed will be eroded. The 
knock-on effect will add more strain to the learners and their families 
and will ultimately take a long time to adjust.  
Relocating these children does not benefit them, their families, or indeed 
Hafod school. 

Parent of a 
pupil in Hafod 
CDC  

Questionnaire  My son has moved schools four times trying to find a unit and school that 
is suitable for him. 
Finally he is happy and settled in Hafod Primary and I think the move 
would not benefit him it would just cause him to be unsettled and not 
fair on him to have to get used to new surroundings teachers and friends 
for the fifth time. 
I have seen a lot of progress in my son since being there in September 
and that is down to Hafod primary.  

See Summary of Key Issues.  
 

Parent Hafod 
Primary School   

Questionnaire  Excellent child staff relationships. 
Easy transitions for children throughout the school day. 
Children have made important friendships with other children within 
different classes.  
Children are integrated with all children within the school.  
Staff’s expertise in the unit. 
The children would really miss the children in Dosbarth Coch. 
Why try and fix what is already working extremely well within the school. 

See Summary of Key Issues.  
 

Parent Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire  The emotional struggles it will have on the child, change is not easy for 
anyone especially a child with a disability.  
Offers inclusion, expertise within the whole of the school, support from 
Trehafod community.  
Dosbarth Coch works in Hafod Primary because of the nature of the 
setting.  Yes it’s an old building but its familiar to them- new building 
which is cold and looks like a hospital is going to cause the children 
extreme anxiety and this will have a massive impact on their well-being.  

See Summary of Key Issues 

P
age 316



 

23 
 

Every single child in Dosbarth Coch has excelled what if the change 
causes them to have a setback in their development. 
Dosbarth Coch belongs to Hafod Primary school- if it’s not broke don’t fix 
it. 
We all appreciate this is all down to money but surely lets thinks about 
the person for once. 

Grandparent 
whose 
grandchildren 
attend Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire Hafod Primary has been a part of our village life for generations.  
I believe that not only has it benefitted the lives of countless pupils with 
communication disorders over the years, it has also enriched the lives of 
those in the general school population.  
I would notice when we were outside of the school environment when 
my children met any child with additional learning needs, they would 
never shy away from them, or feel that they were different. This is what 
having a CDC unit included in a small community school does – it teaches 
tolerance, understanding and compassion for others, it fosters 
friendships where in other places these children feel isolated, segregated 
and bullied.  
It would also be devastating for such a small school to be losing such 
dedicated staff members to Porth Community School- because in Hafod 
Primary they do not just care about their individual classes, they are a 
community- a family of teachers who know all of the students and each 
other. 
They work as a team, and our children benefit from this dynamic, and the 
considerable pool of knowledge they have.  

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 

Parent and ex-
pupil of Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire A big part of why this class has been so successful is due to the 
integration of the pupils with the rest of the school. 
I feel the pupils of Dosbarth Coch and the rest of the school will suffer 
immensely with the proposal. 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 

Parents of a 
pupil who once 
attended 
Hafod 

Email  This class is extremely important to the children who need it, one of 
which is my son who is on the autistic spectrum.  
Without the support of the excellent teacher and staff at Hafod, he 
would not have made the transition to mainstream before secondary 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
The proposal is not to remove provision 
but to relocate it to Porth Community. 
 

P
age 317



 

24 
 

school and doubt if he would have been able to achieve his degree in 
computer games design. 
The staff at the CDC are amazing and the class is a lifeline to children who 
need extra support to reach their full potential.  
 

Following the successful relocation of the 
Foundation Phase LSC to Porth Community 
School in September 2018, the Local 
Authority is confident that the relocation of 
the Key Stage 2 LSC from Hafod Primary 
will be equally as successful and provide 
enhanced provision for its pupils. 

Hafod Parents 
and Governing 
Body  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

List of 
Questions  

1. Why are you proposing this move? Is it essential? And are you 
prepared to listen to the voice of our community who are totally 
against it? 

 
2. Can you comment on the research now coming to light that the 

performance of smaller schools is of a higher standard than the more 
recently developed super-schools? 

3. Are you aware that Hafod’s smaller environment is better suited for 
the teaching of Autistic children when compared to larger, busier 
schools?’ ‘How many of your decision makers have actually 
experienced spectrum/sensory processing difficulties (in a false 
environment) to try and understand these changes from our 
children’s point of view? 

 
4. We have tried to arrange access to visit the SEN unit in Porth 

Community School and have been told that it would not be 
‘Appropriate’ at this time. Please can you explain why as the parents 
cannot make an informed choice for their child if the LEA is 
withholding vital information 

 
 
 
5. If the proposal goes ahead how integrated will our children be with 

the general school population?’ ‘Will they have a shared or isolated 
yard?’ ‘What facilities are actually available at Porth Community 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 
 
The proposals have been discussed and 
agreed upon by professionals within the LA 
who have extensive experience of working 
with pupils with ASD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A visit was arranged for parents to visit the 
proposed LSC at Porth Community on 
Wednesday 12th December 2018.  Three 
parents attended and were able to view the 
new facilities and discuss any 
concerns/matters of importance with the 
Headteacher.  A further visit is planned for 
January 2019. 
If the proposal proceeds the LSC will be 
integral to school life in Porth community 
and pupils and staff will be fully considered 
and included in all planning of any activity 

P
age 318



 

25 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

School, how are they an improvement and why we have not been 
invited to view them?  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. It is proposed that children from the Foundation Phase ASD class will 

transition to the Key Stage 2 CDC? How will this be structured as 
these children surely have very different needs? How many children 
will be in the class and how can you ensure the staff will not be 
spread to thinly?  

 
 
 
 

 
7. The children in our CDC class have different needs during 

unstructured time such as break, lunch and transfer between classes- 
in Hafod these needs are met individually due to the flexible, 
nurturing ethos, which is person centred here-can you guarantee the 
same level of care if they are moved to Porth?  

 
 

8. Will the unit staff in Porth have split breaks to ensure children have 
recognisable, trained and visible trusted support at all times, 
whether in class, dining hall or playground? Will they be supported 
by wider school staff and management? 

both educational and extra curricular.  
Pupils in the LSC will be fully integrated with 
their mainstream peers on the yard.  The 
LSC will have brand new up to date 
resources including the latest technology.  
There will be a fully equipped sensory room.  
The classroom has adjoining toilet/washing 
facilities.  The classroom is placed within the 
newly built primary building.  All facilities 
are fully accessible.  Pupils will have access 
to the 3G pitch on site. 
 
Criteria for placement in the FP ASD class 
and the KS2 CD LSC are the same and 
therefore pupils with the same type of 
needs will access both provisions.  
Therefore, pupils in the FP ASD class will be 
expected to transition seamlessly into the 
KS2 class.  The KS2 class has capacity for 8-
10 pupils and the staff to pupil ratios 
remains the same. 
 
The same arrangements will be put in place 
for pupils in Porth Community School as 
there is an expectation that individual needs 
of all pupils in the LSC provisions across RCT 
are catered for during both structured and 
unstructured times at school. 
 
Staffing will be organised to ensure that 
pupil’s needs are catered for at all times 
during the school day.  The Headteacher has 
expressed full commitment to supporting 

P
age 319



 

26 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
9. Does your proposal include supervised places to eat away from the 

noisy cafeteria environment? Do you plan to provide choices for 
separate dedicated areas where children can go if they need to take 
time out whether during structured or unstructured time?  

 
 
 
 
 

 
10. At Hafod, if a member of staff from the CDC is absent, the school will 

place a recognised member of staff from the school with the children 
and relief staff in with a different class to maintain continuity for the 
children who need it the most. Will the staff in the CDC unit in Porth 
Community School be consistent? What happens when one of their 
staff members are off sick? Would supply staff be properly trained to 
support children with additional learning needs?  

 
 
 
 
11. Can you outline how you have ensured that our children, as a 

minority group in the education system, have been prioritised in your 
decision making in accordance with the Additional learning Needs 
Act? 

 
 
 
 

the pupils and staff in the KS2 LSC as is 
currently the situation with the FP ASD class 
and the KS3/4 classes. 
 
Where possible, pupils would be fully 
included with mainstream peers during 
lunch/unstructured times.  However where 
this is considered not to be in the best 
interest of individual pupils, separate areas 
will be provided and /or different times 
arranged to allow pupils to engage in these 
activities at a different time.  All reasonable 
adjustments will be put in place. 
 
Staff in Porth Community will be consistent.  
Arrangements for cover will be the 
responsibility of the senior leadership team 
who are aware of the needs of pupils with 
ASD within LSCs due to hosting KS3/4 
classes and the FP ASD class.  Every effort 
would be made to obtain supply cover by a 
teacher experienced in ASD.  However, no 
school with a LSC for ASD can guarantee 
this. 
 
Improving specialist provision for pupils in 
RCT has been at the heart of the decision 
making process in relation to the proposals.  
All decisions have been made with a full 
understanding of the needs of the pupils 
and with the aim of providing high quality, 
fully accessible, 21st Century specialist 
provision for pupils who require specialist 

P
age 320



 

27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
12. Each child in our unit has an Individual Education Plan and targets, 

tailored to help them thrive in the school environment. How would 
Porth Community School plan to uphold these and encourage 
interactions whether in a one on one setting, or group situation 
during unstructured times?  

 
13. The council has a legal duty of care to support children with Special 

Educational Needs based on their statements, should this move 
proceed, the few remaining months before the transfer would not be 
sufficient for children in mainstream education, let alone those with 
Special Educational needs. What care plan is already in place? We 
should be entitled to see this plan as soon as possible to ensure the 
needs of our children are being met. 

 
14. Apart from a new building, we would like to understand why you 

consider Porth to be a better, more supportive, learning 
environment?  

 
15. Should the move go ahead, will children benefit from extra, longer or 

more regular external specialist visits such as educational 
psychologists and CAMHS at Porth, or will it be the same as Hafod? 

 
16. We understand fewer transition periods are cited as a reason for the 

relocation, but they will also be transitioning within Porth, to new 
classrooms and new buildings- how is this considered to be an 
improvement? And how will they be prepared for this internal 
transition in a better way than we do at Hafod? 

 
 

provision in a LSC within fully inclusive 
mainstream settings. 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
There is no evidence to suggest that any 
internal transition will not be undertaken 
appropriately at Porth Community.  No 
concerns have been raised by pupils, 
parents or staff in the FP ASD class.  The 
Headteacher has expressed her full 
commitment to ensuring that the pupils in 

P
age 321



 

28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
17. Please can you explain how daily integration into lessons would be 

managed in a much larger school environment?’ ‘Also how will you 
ensure that students in the Porth CDC unit have the opportunity to 
transition to mainstream classes so that they can achieve the best 
possible outcome? 
 

18. Can you explain how Porth plans to facilitate extra learning for 
students who are gifted in a specific topic area? 

 
19. Are there planned provisions for leisure activities and extracurricular 

events, including sports, for SEN children? Will our children be 
included in whole school activities as they are in Hafod? How will this 
be managed so that they are not overwhelmed?  

 
 
 
20. How will you meet the children’s needs during the proposed home to 

school transfer and the return journey? Effectively managing school 
start/end times? Strategies to meet heightened sensory processing 
issues during transfers? Possible lengthened journey time? Chaotic 
parking/transport issues associated with Porth Community School? 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

the LSC will be treated inclusively alongside 
mainstream peers.  Staff in the LSC will 
continue to use their expertise to support 
pupils appropriately. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
Porth Community provides a range of extra-
curricular activities for pupils.  The FP ASD 
class is included in whole school activities 
and extracurricular activities alongside 
mainstream peers.  The KS2 class will also be 
fully included in the above. No concerns 
have been raised by pupils, parents or staff 
from the FP LSC in relation to the pupils 
feeling overwhelmed in their new setting 
 
Specific arrangements are in place currently 
for pupils accessing FP ASD class to 
arrive/leave school in a discrete area of the 
school site.  School start and finish times are 
staggered and differ from start and finish 
times in the secondary site.  No concerns 
have been raised by parents, pupils or staff 
accessing the FP ASD unit which will be in 
the same site as the proposed KS2 LSC.  Staff 
are experienced in catering for pupil sensory 
needs.  The LA has not observed any chaotic 
parking/transport issues. 

P
age 322



 

29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21. Will all children be eligible for transport within this proposal? Or will 
it be determined by distance? Will children ages 3-16 be potentially 
sharing transport? 

 
 
 
22. Is there a breakfast club available for SEN children in Porth? Can you 

elaborate on how or if this would be integrated with other children? 
 
 
23. If this is not going to save money, then can we choose to stay in the 

place where the children are already thriving?  
 
 
24. Is this proposal not taking away a parental right of choice? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
25. If our students have a sibling or family member at Hafod, will they be 

expected to relocate too? 
 

26. Should the decision be made to relocate the unit, and we then 
appeal-which we will- will the petition be relevant for re-submission, 
or would we require a new petition and further evidence? Is it true 
that the Petition only counts as one objection, no matter how many 
signatures are on it? 

All transport arrangements will continue to 
operate effectively in line with the RCT 
Learner Travel Policy.  It would not be 
appropriate to transport pupils of significant 
differing ages together. 
 
Breakfast club is available to all children at 
Porth Community and is a fully inclusive 
provision. 
 
The LA has a duty to continuously monitor 
and review its specialist LSC provision across 
RCT to ensure that it is utilising its resources 
efficiently and effectively to meet the needs 
of pupils who require specialist LSC 
provision.  This will result in the LA making 
decisions to close, relocate or re-designate 
LSC provisions based on identified need.  
However, as outlined in the consultation 
document parents will have the option to 
move their child to Porth Community with 
the class or discussions can take place with 
individual families to discuss a bespoke 
package within mainstream.  
 
This will be parental choice. 
 
A new petition would be required.  Further 
evidence could be provided.  The petition is 
recorded as a petition with the number of 
signatories noted within the consultation 
response document. 
 

P
age 323



 

30 
 

 
 
Statement 
from an ex 
pupil of Hafod 
Primary school: 
 

 
I can safely say that Dosbarth Coch needs to stay in Hafod Primary. The 
students in Dosbarth Coch are a part of Hafod primary just as much as 
any other pupil. They were not treated any differently and took part in 
our assembly’s and school plays and I spent many a playtime with pupils 
from Dosbarth Coch. However, during my time at Porth County, I can 
count on my hand the amount of times I saw those pupils. They were 
never included in Assembly’s/Eisteddfods etc. …. 

See Summary of Key Issues 

Friend of a 
concerned 
parent of a 
CDU Pupil  

Questionnaire This proposal risks causing great emotional upset to the children and 
their families who attend Dosbarth Coch. These children are emotionally 
vulnerable and should not be subjected to the stress this unnecessary 
change will cause them.  
These children are happy and thriving where they are, what will they gain 
from moving into a bigger, unfamiliar environment which is alien to 
them.  

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Family friend 
of a pupil in 
CDU  

Questionnaire  My Cousin is happy at his current school and feel that change will have a 
detrimental effect on his education.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. See 
Summary of Key Issues. 

Friend of a 
concerned 
parent of a 
CDU pupil  

Questionnaire Why move socially vulnerable children who are happy and thriving, to a 
new, bigger, less focused school. How can the new school provide the 
specialist care they’re used to?  
Emotional upset for children and their families, no guidance of specialist 
skills the children needs, already have all they promised @Hafod- why 
change and cause upheaval. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Friend  Questionnaire  Nice little class lovely school  The responder’s opinion is noted. 
Ex parent    Questionnaire  Nice to keep in Hafod for local community. 

Hopefully to keep a school in village.  
The responder’s opinion is noted.  Porth 
Community School is proximal to Trehafod. 

Family of pupil 
Anonymous  

Questionnaire  Children with SEN should be integrated within a local setting.  The responder’s opinion is noted.  As 
above 

Friend of Pupil  Questionnaire  Concerns re large provision and impact this will have on children, impact 
on how change of provision will affect the children. Benefits of current 
provision PTA and Breakfast club in current provision. Impact on 
community loosing provision in Hafod Primary School.  

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 

P
age 324



 

31 
 

Grandparent 
of a pupil at 
Hafod Primary 
School. 

Questionnaire At the moment the children of the LSC mix with the mainstream children 
which is important for their progress. 
 
If the LSC is located at Porth School the children will be segregated from 
the mainstream which do more harm than good.  

The pupils in both the Foundation Phase 
and the KS3/4 LSC in Porth Community 
School are included in school activities, 
including in formal presentations. Pupils in 
the FP LSC have been included in Christmas 
activities such as the Christmas concerts 
and recreational trips.  

Parent of a 
pupil at Hafod 
Primary 
School  

Questionnaire Children need to be included The responder’s opinion is noted.  As 
above 
 

Parent of a 
pupil at Hafod 
Primary 
School  

Questionnaire It will be beneficial to the students 
 
Smaller pupil numbers at Hafod will lead to its closure to all pupils. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Regular 
Supply 
Teacher 

Questionnaire On the surface it may seem perfectly reasonable to transplant any class 
from one setting to another with little or no negative impact. One could be 
forgiven for thinking that any one community is indistinguishable from the 
next. The school clearly fosters a close-knit family ethos based largely on 
its being part of a wider, unique community. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 

Anonymous Questionnaire School always offered this facility and should continue to. 
 

The responder’s views are noted. 

Parent of 
Hafod Primary 

Questionnaire Children of Dosbarth Coch would not get the care needs they have in 
Hafod Primary. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. See 
Summary of Key Issues. 

Friends of 
Parents of 
Hafod Primary 

Questionnaire Hafod Primary Dosbarth Coch kids are settled and its took a long time to 
do this so please don’t up root them. Don’t up route our kids, don’t move 
them from everything they know Hafod is a great school. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 

Parent of Ex 
pupil of Hafod 
Primary  

Questionnaire It is vital to have this facility in the community. The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 

Parent of 
Hafod Primary 

Questionnaire Dosbarth Coch will be singled out they will not get the teaching they have 
at Hafod. Our children don’t like change please don’t move them to 
another school. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

P
age 325



 

32 
 

Parent of 
Hafod Primary 

Questionnaire We love our class and it’s not fair for the children to be up routed to move 
to another school. Our children are mixed at playtime lunchtime and are 
involved in everything we do. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Former 
Student of 
Hafod Primary 
and Porth 
County  

Questionnaire The students in Dosbarth Coch are a part of Hafod Primary just as much 
as any other pupil. During my time at Porth County, I can count on my 
hand the amount of times I saw those pupils. They were never included in 
Assembly’s/Eisteddfods etc.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. See 
Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 

Hafod Primary 
School 

Questionnaire Hafod Primary School has had a successful CDC unit for over 21 years 
with good reason, therefore I strongly disagree with this proposal. This 
community driven, accessible school with a fantastic inspection report 
provides the opportunities for all children to integrate and be included and 
accepted no matter what. The children and their parents are extremely 
happy here at Hafod Primary thanks to the Ethos understanding and 
commitment of staff not only based within Dosbarth Coch but throughout 
the whole school. It has been proven that changing schools and 
environments for any child can cause negative effects academically and 
socially resulting in stress. Studies have identified student mobility as a 
contributing factor especially in the areas of school engagement and 
attendance. (Dobson Henthorne & Lynas 2000, Hill & Doyle 2012, 
Reynolds, Chen & Herbers 2009). 

There is no evidence that previous 
relocations of LSCs has had a detrimental 
impact upon pupils. 
The FP LSC successfully relocated to Porth 
Community from Ysgol yr Eos in 
September. 

Class Teacher  Questionnaire This unit sits in a small, caring environment that allows the pupils to gain 
confidence and develop their independence. There is excellent 
Parent/Staff/Headteacher relationships. Communication between all 
parties is excellent also, with parents with any worries able to speak to 
staff including the Headteacher at a drop of a hat. In a large setting this 
isn’t possible. All staff know the children well and understand the needs of 
all in the unit. Pupils of Dosbarth Coch integrate fully in the school life, 
make close friendships with pupils in the mainstream classes and play a 
full part in all activities in the school. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Friends of 
pupil and 
family 

Questionnaire Impact on how change will affect the children modern setting may be 
uncomfortable and change in activities.  Proposal will have a significant 
impact on Hafod Primary School. 

See Summary of Key Issues 

P
age 326



 

33 
 

Parent of LSC 
Hafod Primary 
School 

Questionnaire 
with additional 
supporting 
information 
please refer to 
appendix 4 

Is the relocation essential? 
What evidence do you have that Porth Community School KS2 CDU will 
be a ‘better’ provision than Hafod Primary CDU? 
 
Why was Porth Community School built and plans viewed, clearly 
displaying ‘SEN classrooms’ when there was no CDU provision before 
school merge, and is no KS2 provision currently? 
 
Why are the Hafod CDU staff jobs confirmed ‘not safe’ by LA? 
 
How many places will be available in the KS2 provision in Porth 
Community School? 
 
If other KS2 CDU’s in RCT exist and pupils transition into KS3 provision in 
Porth Community School, why can’t Hafod Primary CDC remain open and 
do the same? 
 
Will there be a risk of other closures of RCT CDC and therefore resulting 
in a large class at Porth Community School in the future? 
 
Will the CDU children have ALN met at Porth Community School 
provision? 
 
Can you tell us what the CDU children will have at Porth Community 
School provision that is ‘greater’ than what Hafod Primary is already 
providing. 
 
Will my son continue to be eligible for transport to and from the proposed 
provision 
 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The LA continuously reviews its LSC 
provision in line with Welsh Government 
requirements. 
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues 
 

P
age 327



 

34 
 

77 respondents On line petition 
had the option 
of submitting 
additional 
comments 

Comments raised mirror comments already received and commented on 
above 77 comments were provided via the online petition.  It is understood 
that signatories were provided with an opportunity to add additional 
comments.  A member of the Governing Body copied the comments onto 
individual proforma sheets 

All responder’s opinions are noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Uncle of a pupil 
from Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire Dosbarth Coch has been a fab class and the children have come on so 
well.  Why close something that is working so well? 
Concerns for full integrational involvement in all school activities. Welfare 
of child no considered. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent of a 
pupil from 
Hafod Primary 
School 

Questionnaire The children are very happy and settled well, it’s a fab unit and is great for 
the school to have a variety of individuals. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 

Auntie of a 
pupil from 
Hafod Primary 
School 

Questionnaire The class has been in place and successful go 21 years why close it? 
Transport concern for one pupil due to relocation. No evidence that Porth 
is a suitable provision.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 

Parent of CDU 
pupil Hafod 
Primary School 

Questionnaire I object to the proposal as I feel the relocation is not in the best interest for 
my child. Since attending Hafod Primary my son was instantly understood 
and his needs were met. He was let down un previous years by LEA, 
healthcare professionals and serious limits (funding, large classes, and 
fight for support).  
Concerned with delay to view provision 
The proposal will benefit the school not my child, concerned about 
comment made ‘we need excellence to be excellent’ 
No evidence that these changes will work, Porth needs to prove it is an 
excellent school- Hafod Primary is! 
I don’t want my son being an experiment.  
Not enough time for sept 19 start if proposal goes ahead- 11 weeks for 
transition is not acceptable.  
Concerned for my child’s wellbeing. As there is no evidence that this will 
work, I believe a contract should be offered. What if this LEA’s decision 
fails my son and damages his education? Offering a bespoke care 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

P
age 328



 

35 
 

package to stay in Hafod Mainstream is not an option as my son is 
statemented – the LEA was has a duty of care. Relocation is risking this.  
Why wasn’t the relocation considered for Sept18 with key stage 1 gained 
from closed provision? SEN 2 facilitates were clearly displayed on Porth 
Plans 2016. I feel Hafod CDU KS2 are ‘trapped’ to fill a gap created by 
LEA.  

Member of the 
Community 

Questionnaire No positive indication that a school of this type works for children 
concerned, too large for children with special needs- need to be nurtured. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of pupil 
in Hafod 
Primary School 

Questionnaire The new school does not take account of individual children’s needs. 
Hafod School is perfect for these children.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of a 
pupil in Hafod 

Questionnaire My grandson was sent to the super-school and was just left to cry on the 
floor cause he was unsettled and no one was interested in him. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Uncle of a pupil 
in CDU 

Questionnaire The unit provides excellent educational needs for my nephew who enjoys 
going there, he is very worried it might close please don’t close it. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of pupil 
at Hafod  

Questionnaire  Too many bad reviews of the new super school.  The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of pupil 
at Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire  I think the more is unnecessary and causes more problems for the 
children than benefits. Welfare of the children, happiness if children.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of a 
pupil at Hafod 
Primary School 

Questionnaire  The children are an important part of the school  The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Parent of a 
pupil at Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire Needed with in the school  The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Member of 
community- 
Hafod Primary 
School  

Questionnaire  Significant impact on school and wider community impact on pupil- 
detrimental to wellbeing of child.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Family member 
of pupil in CDU 
Hafod Primary  

Questionnaire My nephew is happy at his current school and I feel this change will have 
a detrimental effort on his education.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Family member 
of a pupil in 
CDU Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire It will negatively impact on a family member who attends the class. 
Choosing the class is not in the best interest of the individual and is all 
about cost effectiveness for RCT council.  

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

P
age 329



 

36 
 

PTA parent of 
pupil who’s just 
moved to year 
7- Hafod 
Primary School  

Questionnaire I believe children with any learning disability thrive better in a smaller 
provision. The provision at Hafod is successful, it works doe all the pupils 
who use the class and they learn to cope and grow within a small school 
environment.  
 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Grandparent of 
a pupil at Hafod 
Primary School 

Questionnaire The LSC pupils at Hafod Primary School are fully integrated with the other 
pupils with the other pupils.  The LSC pupils are able to mix, communicate 
and play with their peers. 
The history and success stories of the LSC at Hafod Primary School 
speak for themselves.  It is foolish beaurocracy to change.  Why try and fix 
it if it’s not broken 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 

Key themes for Hafod Primary School consultation responses: 
 

1. Impact upon pupils 
2. LSCs currently hosted by smaller mainstream settings 
3. Transition of current LSC pupils to new LSC settings 
4. Redeployment of staff and changes of terms and conditions of employment 
5. Inclusion of SEN pupils within mainstream settings 
6. Closure of mainstream settings 
7. Rationale for change 
8. Loss of LSC provision from within current school setting and loss of teaching staff 
9. Discussions about individual pupils provision 
10. Concerns regarding the quality of relocated LSC provision where LSC provision has currently been considered to be effective 
11. Reducing funding for specialist provision 
12. Meeting SEN/ALN of LSC pupils relocated provisions 
13. Additional benefits of relocation of Hafod CDU to Porth Community School 
14. Concerns regarding access to the wider community in Porth compared to current location in Hafod Primary School 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 330



 

37 
 

2. Penrhys Primary School Proposals 
 
 

The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to close/relocation of the LSCs at Penrhys Primary 
All responses disagreed with the proposal 

Respondent Type of 
Consultation 

response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from respondent LA Response 

Questions 
asked by 
Governors in 
Penrhys 
Primary School  

Presented 
during meeting  

Questions: 
1. Why is Maerdy considered to be more accessible then Penrhys? 

 
 
 
 
 

2. Why is the LA taking away a through provision at Penrhys primary 
and giving the reason for the move as to make a through provision. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
3. What is going to happen to the children in the early year’s 

observation class at Darran Park primary when they need placing? 
 
 
4. Are there any future plans for any other learning support classes? 

Major investment has been made in 
Maerdy Community School 
(approximately 4 million) to ensure that 
the schools environment is fully 
accessible and inclusive to a 21st Century 
standard. 
 
Where possible the LA strives to create 
through provision for pupils in LSCs to 
avoid unnecessary transition from one 
school setting to another to access 
specialist provision, thus providing equity 
with mainstream peers.  There is 
currently a KS2 provision in Maerdy.  
Relocating 1x FP LSC from Penrhys would 
create a through provision in a school 
where there is a proven track record for 
providing effective SEN provision for 
pupils with complex needs. 
 
Placement of pupils in the early years LSC 
at Darran Park will depend upon the 
outcome of assessment of individual 
needs. 
 

P
age 331



 

38 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Is it possible to see the transcript to the consultation meeting with 

parents to ensure it is true and accurate record? 
6. Will it be possible to see the transcript of this meeting? 
 
 
 
7. When will all paper work go to councillors it is an open meeting or 

can members of the public attend? 
 

 
 
 

 
8. Why did they stop children coming into L.S classes to make it look like 

they were not needed? 
 
 
9. They said at the proposal meeting it only affects 1 child as if 1 child 

doesn’t matter. We all know it affect the whole school and many 
other communities not just Penrhys because the LS classes have 
children from all over the Rhondda. 

 
 
 
 

The LA is consulting solely on the 
proposal included in the consultation 
document ‘Review of LSC Provision 
within RCT’.  The LA has a responsibility 
to continuously review specialist 
provision to ensure it is making effective 
and efficient use of resources to meet the 
needs of pupils with SEN across RCT. 
 
There is no requirement to take a 
transcript of consultation meetings.  A 
summary of the main topics/areas of 
discussion has been recorded please 
refer to Appendix 4 
 
Members of the public are welcome to 
attend and sit in the gallery, however 
should a representative wish to speak at 
the meeting then a formal written 
request needs to be submitted to the 
Cabinet Office 5 working days prior to the 
meeting. 
 
Placement of pupils in LSC is considered 
in line with Access & Inclusion Specialist 
Placement Criteria 
 
The LA understands that any proposal for 
change can be an anxious time for pupils 
and parents.  Individual discussion will 
take place with parents/pupils affected 
should the proposal process in relation to 
future educational placement.  LSC 

P
age 332



 

39 
 

10. How can you say it is in the best interest of the children when right 
now they are getting the support they need these children will have 
different needs as complex needs are varied how will bigger classes 
support this? 

 
11. What is the maximum capacity of the classes in Maerdy? Are there 

plans to expand? Is there room to expand? 
 
 
 
 

12. Where do the children go when it’s reached its maximum capacity? 
Decision affects the children still coming through the system where 
do they go when full capacity it reached? 

 
13. Where are the children of Rhondda Fawr going to be able to access 

these types of complex needs support classes? (Do not let them 
name behaviour support classes it’s a different type of class.) 

 
14. How will the children with complex needs be given support in larger 

mainstream classes?  

provision will still be available for pupils 
within the Rhondda 
The remit of the complex LSC will not 
change.  The classes will continue to have 
a high staff to pupil ratio in order to 
support pupils’ complex needs. 
 
The LA continuously reviews its specialist 
provision to ensure it makes efficient and 
effective use of resources to meet the 
needs of pupils with significant SEN 
across RCT. 
 
Please see above.   
 
 
 
Pupils who meet the criteria for 
placement in a LSC will access a specialist 
LSC provision. 

Anonymous 
and Teacher at 
Penrhys School 

Questionnaire  Proposal 1- 
The GCA entry requirement for Complex need classes has been greatly 
lowered in recent years from 74 to 61. This has made it far more difficult 
for pupils to access a place in these classes, even though they present 
significant difficulties and find it hard to access the curriculum in a 
mainstream class. It is feared that there will be a detrimental effect on 
mainstream classes if complex need classes are closed. As pupils who 
would have previously accessed places in complex needs classes will have 
to attend mainstream classes with no extra support, thus often causing 
disruption.  
Teachers in mainstream classes will be expected to raise standards of 
mainstream pupils whilst providing extra attention to those pupils who 

The consultation does not include a 
proposal relating to specialist placement 
criteria. 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 333



 

40 
 

have additional learning needs, resulting in mainstream teachers 
succumbing to more pressure.  
Additional training will/may be required by mainstream teachers to 
support pupils who have a variety of complex needs. 
In the current class arrangements, both academically and socially, good 
progress and performance has been made by almost all pupils with 
complex needs, both in school and at home with the majority of parents 
have reported improvements at home.  
Proposal 2- 
Moving the FP to Maerdy Primary school is less accessible to many pupils 
in the Rhondda Valley than that of Penrhys Primary School.  
 
Times stated below are taken from AA route planner: 
Blaenrhondda to Penrhys takes 17 minutes, to get to Maerdy it will take 
28 minutes 
Treorchy to Penrhys takes 8 minutes, to Maerdy it takes 19 minutes.  
All journeys are extended significantly from the current provision at 
Penrhys Primary, and these times do not take into account transport 
trying to pass through Ferndale at peak times, extending the journey 
further. 
 
The proposal to put through provision in Maerdy which is less accessible 
and take the provision from a more accessible school.  
 
Transition/ developing links with the KS3 class will be made extremely 
difficult due to the distance, as the KS3 provision is proposed to be placed 
at Treorchy comprehensive.  
 
Proposal 3 – 
There is a definite need for an observation unit at Foundation Phase to 
ensure pupils are correctly placed, however under the proposed 
arrangements, if pupils are diagnosed with a particular need will there be 
a suitable placement available to them to meet that need appropriately. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 
 
In relation to travel the distance/travel 
times fall within the parameters outlined 
in the Learner Travel Policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Maerdy Community School is fully 
accessible 21st Century school setting 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 334



 

41 
 

If there is no placement available under the proposed arrangements will 
pupils be kept in this observation unit inappropriately. 
 
Proposal 4-  
Extra provision at KS3 is overdue, however the distance from the 
proposed through provision is a concern, if located in Maerdy Primary 
school, the travelling distance for transition will be difficult. 

There is a KS3/4 class for complex needs 
in Ferndale and there is also a proposal to 
open a KS3/4 class in Treorchy.  The well-
established KS2 class will put robust 
transition plans in place for pupils 
transferring to both settings.  Distance 
will not impact upon the above. 
 
Placement will be identified and actioned 
as appropriate to the needs of the pupils. 
 
The responder’s opinion is noted.  
Distance will not be a barrier to 
implementing robust transition 
arrangements for pupils. 

Grandfather of 
pupil in 
Penrhys 
Primary School  

Questionnaire  It’s diminishing the school, it’s a traditional school for children with 
learning needs and disability. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 

Volunteer 
Penrhys Church 
and Friend of 
the Penrhys 
Community 

Questionnaire Affect children with all types of behaviour. 
Children don’t like change. 
Travelling from different area is not good for any child. 
Affect the children by going to another school and distance is not good. 
Heart of Penrhys. 

See Summary of key Issues. 

Voluntary 
Friend of the 
Penrhys 
Community  

Questionnaire  Needs of these pupils best met in a smaller unit. 
Vulnerable children and would be overwhelmed by busier setting. 
Penrhys central position in Rhondda, Maerdy would be a very long 
journey for most pupils. 
 
Could this lead to the closure of Penrhys Primary? 

The capacity of the class would remain 
the same if it were to relocate to Maerdy.  
 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 

Neighbourhood 
manager of 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Classes were instrumental in helping my niece to overcome her speech 
problems allowing her to now speak in 2 languages. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 

P
age 335



 

42 
 

At present classes are held at the centre of the valleys to move them will 
create great issues. 

 

Uncle of pupils 
who have 
benefited from 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Many children with learning difficulties which is becoming more apparent 
in the modern era. 
Penrhys is a central location…..more classes are needed. 
More cost effective keep classes….carting them all over the Valley with 
the raising fuel cost. 
More classes are needed. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
The LA continuously reviews its specialist 
provision to ensure it makes efficient and 
effective use of resources to meet the 
needs of pupils with significant SEN 
across RCT 

Anonymous Questionnaire  Not feasible for children or families. 
Travel and the relocation will be upsetting for all involved. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Member of 
Penrhys 
Community  

Questionnaire  Important to have special need alongside mainstream children for 
learning and mixing and becoming friends. 
Distance of travel, Penrhys is central to both Valleys. 
 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Anonymous Questionnaire  Children went there and learnt and made many friends. 
Way too far away. 
 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent  Questionnaire  Both sons taught in unit they were a great help. 
Travelling is too much with children with needs. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Member of 
Penrhys 
Community  

Questionnaire  All children are kept together. 
Penrhys central, less travel time. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent and Ex-
pupil  

Questionnaire  Know how important children with special educational needs are in the 
way they interact with others. 
Disrupt the education of the children….. fear it will lead to the closure of 
wonderful school. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Friend of the 
Community   

Questionnaire  Quite a lot of pupils with learning difficulties and Penrhys is most central 
for all. 
Cost of transport would out weight the cost of keeping classes open. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
Feedback from the LA’s Integrated 
transport Unit does not suggest that the 
proposals in relation to Penrhys will incur 
any significant additional cost to 
transport. 

P
age 336



 

43 
 

Volunteer and 
friend of 
Penrhys 
Community  

Questionnaire  Vulnerable children’s needs in larger classes are not always met, which 
can cause extreme stress for the children and families.  Smaller school 
settings can address their needs more effectively. 
Length of time that will be spent travelling to more distant schools which 
has it obvious disadvantages particularly with children with physical 
disabilities. 
If LSC classes are closed it could lead to school closure. 

The capacity of the class would remain 
the same in Maerdy Community School. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent of pupil 
in Penrhys 
 

Questionnaire Children use and need class. 
I don’t think child should be taken from their familiar surroundings as it 
can effect learning and mental health. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Aunt of child 
who attends 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Everyone should have the right to attend the same school. 
Maerdy has less spaces for LSC and it’s too far to travel for some people. 
I think all children should be treated equally even LSC children. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
The capacity of the class would remain 
the same in Maerdy Community.  

Parent of pupil 
at Penrhys  

Questionnaire  LSC provision has always been an important and integral part of Penrhys 
and to take it away could be detrimental to school. 
Penrhys can facilitate 18 pupils whereas Maerdy can only facilitate 10 
pupils. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
The capacity of the LSC that is proposed 
to relocate to Maerdy Community will 
remain the same should the proposal 
proceed. 

Parent of  pupil 
at Penrhys  

Questionnaire It will cause too much distress on the children having to travel so far. 
Penrhys has the ability to facilitate 18+ pupils than Maerdy only 10.  
Penrhys is central to the Valley. 

The capacity of the LSC that is proposed 
to relocate to Maerdy Community will 
remain the same should the proposal 
proceed. 
There is currently surplus capacity in the 
2 FP LSCs in Penrhys Primary.  The 
proposal aims to redirect resources to 
address other identified areas of need for 
LSC provision across RCT. 

Parent of  pupil 
at Penrhys 

Questionnaire Will take my child back in development stage due to her complex needs. 
My daughter would not travel from Penrhys to Maerdy with their needs. 

There is no evidence to suggest that 
transition to a new setting would impact 
upon the pupil’s development.   
See Summary of Key Issues. 

P
age 337



 

44 
 

Grandparent of 
one of the 
pupils in 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire Children need class as not all children are the same and some need extra 
help. 
Should not have to travel when we have a perfect LS in our own school. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent of  pupil 
at Penrhys  

Questionnaire Children with learning difficulties need this placement. 
This is too far for young children to travel when there is a perfectly good 
school on site. 
 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
The capacity of the LSC that is proposed 
to relocate to Maerdy Community will 
remain the same should the proposal 
proceed. 

Parent of pupil 
in Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Need to higher the GA score, so then the class could be filled. 
Already a cross phase I think the travelling would be unacceptable. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent of a 
pupil in 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Children need this class if they are finding mainstream hard. 
I do not think children at such a young age should have to travel this far 
to suit their needs. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 

Governor  Questionnaire Welfare of child should come first, the children are settled so would not 
need disruption. 
Traumatising for children to be relocated. 
Penrhys has excelled in looking after/ teaching LSC children.  

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Parent of a 
pupil in 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire  Penrhys is a small school and teachers and children have close 
relationships which is very valuable with learning difficulties children.  
Maerdy is also far from Penrhys. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 

Parent of pupil 
in Penrhys  

Questionnaire  I think it is pathetic to close the LSC class. Children will have to travel 
longer and further and this will cause more traffic which council is trying 
to avoid. This decision will put pressure on other schools and children will 
get lost in system. Children have to get used to different school, bigger 
classes. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

Grandparent of 
Penrhys  
 

Questionnaire  I don’t think it is in children’s best interest to lose another class. 
I don’t think children should be treated like sheep to have to go to 
another school. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 

 Questionnaire There is a long established class with experienced teachers. The responder’s views are noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 

P
age 338



 

45 
 

Penrhys ideally located between two valleys, whereas Maerdy is at the 
top of the Rhondda Fach a long a distance for vulnerable children to 
travel. 

Parent of a 
pupil in 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire Best school in the Rhondda, caring teachers, supportive headmistress, 
only school my children settled in and had support. 
The unit is needed in the community and should not be relocated. 
Things should not be changed. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
The proposal is to relocate the LSC to 
create a through provision in Maerdy 
Primary. This setting’s last Estyn 
Inspection was positive.  It must be noted 
that the Estyn Inspection in Penrhys in 
2017 deemed that 3 out of 5 inspections 
areas were ‘adequate’ and in need of 
improvement. 

Pupil at 
Penrhys  

Questionnaire Wrong to shut down for funding. 
It’s doing fine up the current location. 
Shutting down a good school. 

See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 

Parent of pupil 
in Penrhys   

Questionnaire  Everyone should have the option to attend a school that has facility. 
Maerdy can offer so many spaces with the facility but Penrhys can cover 
more spaces. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 

Grandparent of 
a pupil in 
Penrhys 

Questionnaire  LSC has provided great support, it is ideally situated to cover both sides of 
the valley, so children don’t have to travel so far. 
Maerdy is smaller unit not so many children attend as in Penrhys. 
Agree with Proposal 3: 
The sooner problems are identified in preschool age children the better 
support can be sat in place for when they reach compulsory school age. 
Penrhys has provided excellent support to the children who attend the 
LSC for years, the staff have a fabulous bond with the children meet the 
individual needs. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 

Community of 
Penrhys 

Questionnaire 
x30  

Disagree to the proposals Noted 

Penrhys 
Primary School 

Questionnaire  Proposal 1  
GCA requirements have been lowered -74 to 61- making it more difficult 
for pupils to obtain places in these classes. Finding it difficult to access 

The responder’s views are noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 

P
age 339



 

46 
 

the curriculum in mainstream class, be underperforming and would 
benefit greatly from accessing such a provision. 
Closing classes have to attend mainstream with no extra support- casing 
disruption- having detrimental effects on the other pupils in class. 
Teachers in mainstream class put under more pressure 
Mainstream teachers will require additional training. 
Pupils with significant learning difficulties will find it more difficult to 
function and progress. 
Currently pupils with complex needs perform well and make good 
progress in current class arrangements- both academically and socially. 
Proposal 2- 
Moving class Penrhys primary school to Maerdy Primary school make it 
less accessible to many pupils in the Rhondda Valley. 
Journey should be reasonable. 
Taking away a through provision form the accessible school. 
KS3 provision in Treorchy comprehensive- making transition links with 
KS3 class very difficult due to the distance. 
Proposal 3  
Definite need for an observation unit in Foundation Phase. Will there be a 
suitable placements. 
Proposal 4  
Definite need for extra provision in KS3……concern due to travel distance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
Placement will be identified and actioned 
as appropriate to the needs of the pupils. 
Distance will not be a barrier to 
implementing robust transition 
arrangements for pupils. 

Penrhys 
Primary school 
typed letter 
contain exactly 
the same 
content 
submitted by 
an number of 
individuals 
(x76) 
 

Letter  Parental satisfaction with quality of teaching, care and outcomes for 
pupils in learning support classes. 
The adverse effect of the policy of compartmentalising the consideration 
of LSC provision in isolation from the effect on the whole school and its 
future. 
Separating pupils who are often vulnerable from their friends, peers and 
in some cases their siblings, is giving rise to a very real concerns for 
families. 
Considerable concern about vulnerable pupils attending a larger school 
with potentially larger classes. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 340



 

47 
 

Distance and time involved in pupils travelling to and from school, effect 
on lengthening the school day is a worry. Penrhys is far more accessible 
to the Rhondda Fawr than Maerdy. 
Some parents or guardians will have primary age’s children in both 
mainstream and LS classes, therefore in different schools. 
Penrhys community is extremely concerned by the tone of the whole 
report and the effects of what appears to be the inevitable closure of 
Penrhys Primary School arising from targeting of the LS classes. 
Minimal impact of the proposals…only one pupil would be affected, the 
concern is that this number represents only the immediate situation and 
does not allow for the need for LSC provision for more children in the 
future. 
A Community Impact Assessment is not even deemed to be 
desirable….impact of the proposals….on the school within Penrhys Village 
environment. 

 
 
 
 
This is not unusual for parents of pupils in 
any of the LA’s LSCs across RCT. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Parent of a 
child in Penrhys 
Primary School  

Questionnaire  These classes help children with complex learning needs whilst my child 
has attended this class he has progressed really well and the teachers do 
a very good job with these children that have complex needs.  
 
Second time that this has happened to my son it’s not fair to him moving 
schools again as its upsetting as he doesn’t like change. 
 
Children with complex needs, need these classes to help them it’s not fair 
that you want to take these away from them. 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 

Teacher at 
Penrhys 
Primary School 

Questionnaire  Proposal 1  
GCA requirements have been lowered -74 to 61- making it more difficult 
for pupils to obtain places in these classes. Finding it difficult to access 
the curriculum in mainstream class, be underperforming and would 
benefit greatly from accessing such a provision. 
Closing classes have to attend mainstream with no extra support- casing 
disruption- having detrimental effects on the other pupils in class. 
Teachers in mainstream class put under more pressure 
Mainstream teachers will require additional training. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 341



 

48 
 

Pupils with significant learning difficulties will find it more difficult to 
function and progress. 
Currently pupils with complex needs perform well and make good 
progress in current class arrangements- both academically and socially. 
Proposal 2- 
Moving class Penrhys primary school to Maerdy Primary school make it 
less accessible to many pupils in the Rhondda Valley. 
Journey should be reasonable. 
Taking away a through provision form the accessible school. 
KS3 provision in Treorchy comprehensive- making transition links with 
KS3 class very difficult due to the distance. 
Proposal 3  
Definite need for an observation unit in Foundation Phase. Will there be a 
suitable placements. 
Proposal 4  
Definite need for extra provision in KS3……concern due to travel distance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
Placement will be identified and actioned 
as appropriate to the needs of the pupils. 
Distance will not be a barrier to 
implementing robust transition 
arrangements for pupils. 

Anonymous Questionnaire The school has always offered this facility and should continue to The responder’s views are noted. 
Key themes from Penrhys School consultation responses: 
 
1. Distance/travel time for pupils being relocated 
2. Impact upon pupils 
3. LSCs currently hosted by smaller mainstream settings 
4. Transition of current LSC pupils to new LSC settings 
5. Redeployment of staff and changes of terms and conditions of employment 
6. Inclusion of SEN pupils within mainstream settings 
7. Criteria for specialist placement 
8. Closure of mainstream settings 
9. Rationale for change 
10. Loss of LSC provision from within current school setting and loss of teaching staff 
11. Discussions about individual pupils provision 
12. Meeting SEN/ALN of LSC pupils relocated provisions 
13. Changes to capacity for LSCs proposed to relocate to Maerdy and Porth Community School 
14. Reducing funding for specialist provision 

P
age 342



 

49 
 

 
 

 

3. Caradog Primary School Proposals  
 

 
The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to close/relocation of the LSCs at Caradog Primary 

The responses disagreed with the proposal 
Respondent Type of 

Consultation 
response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from 
respondent 

LA Response 

Grandparents whose 
grandchild attends 
Caradog Primary 
School 
 

Questionnaire  Kids like xxx don’t like change. 
Keeps asking why he got to change school. 

See Summary of Key Issues 
The LSCs in Caradog are based in a Victorian building 
that is not easily accessible for pupils with additional 
learning needs/disabilities.   

Parent of a pupil at 
Caradog Primary 
School 

Questionnaire Caradog is a fantastic school with complete access and 
facilities throughout purposefully for my daughter X in 
the LSC.  The staff are well experience and very 
accommodating. 
Caradog has the facilities to accommodate infants and 
juniors.  They have everything at Caradog school for a 
smooth transition. 
Specific information regarding XX was submitted 
 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 

Key themes from Caradog Primary School consultation responses: 
 
1. Discussion about individual pupils’ provision 
2. Rationale for change 
 

 

P
age 343



 

50 
 

 
 
 
 

 
4. Darren Park Primary School Proposals 

 
The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to re-designation of the LSCs at Darran Park.   

The response disagreed with the proposal 
Respondent Type of 

Consultation 
response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from respondent LA Response 

Regarding 
Darran Park 
Primary School 

Email Firstly I would like to comment on the amount of jargon used in your 
letter. I feel the language used is mostly inaccessible to the layman. This 
is unfair and would appear that you are aiming to ‘put off; potential 
attendees to the aforementioned drop in session.  
 
 
 
 
 
Am I correct in my understanding that you are trying to get rid of the 
additional learning needs (ALN) class in favour of mainstreaming the 
pupils with additional learning/ learning support needs? 
 
 
 
 
Are these surplus capacity issues a direct result of the merging of, and 
subsequent closure of North Road school? 
 
 
 

The LA acknowledges your comment 
regarding the jargon in the letter and will 
review the content in light of your 
concerns.  There was no intention to put 
off people from attending the session as 
the LA welcomes and encourages all 
stakeholders to take part in the 
consultation. 
 
No the proposal is to re-designate or 
change the function of the LSC in Darran 
Park to be an Early Years Assessment and 
Intervention Class for pupils of nursery 
age who have significant complex 
learning difficulties. 
 
 
No the proposal aims to address the need 
to provide specialist early intervention for 
nursery aged pupils with significant 
complex learning difficulties. 

P
age 344



 

51 
 

If I am incorrect in my understanding, is it that you are proposing to cut 
the learning support assistance already provided to the pupils in need at 
Darran Park? 
 
 
Could you also outline the advantages of mainstream inclusion for pupils 
requiring learning support?  
How is it possible to take a preventative approach to pupils in the 
primary school when, many of the additional learning needs aren’t 
diagnosed until many children are of Junior School age? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is the current imbalance between primary and secondary 
provisions? 
 

 
The consultation does not include a 
proposal to reduce learning support 
assistance to pupils in need at Darran 
Park. 
This question is not relevant to the LSC 
consultation. 
For children assessed as having significant 
additional learning needs from birth 
onwards there are recognised 
assessment processes and 
intervention/strategies/specific 
educational approaches that are effective 
in providing early intervention and 
preventative approaches for pupils with 
ALN both in special and mainstream 
schools. 
 
The consultation also includes proposals 
to open a Key Stage 3/4 LSC for pupils 
with Complex Learning Difficulties in 
Treorchy Comprehensive School and a 
Key Stage 3/4  LSC for pupils with Social, 
Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties in 
Ysgol Nant Gwyn in order to enhance 
secondary LSC provision in line with the 
outcome of analysis of pupil need. 

Key themes from Darren Park Primary School consultation responses: 
 
1. Impact upon pupils 
2. Criteria for specialist placement 
3. Rationale for change 
4. Discussion about individual pupils provision 

P
age 345



 

52 
 

 

 

5. Heol y Celyn Primary School Proposals 
 
 
The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to close the LSCs at Heol y Celyn.  The responses disagreed with the 

proposal 
Respondent Type of 

Consultation 
response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from respondent LA Response 

Parent of a pupil 
in Heol Y Celyn 
Primary school  

Email  As you can appreciate I do not want him removed from Heolycelyn but in 
fact stay in Heolycelyn until he goes to comp with his friends. 
I have found out how detrimental transition to another school can be. 
He is statemented and I also do not want him dropped into mainstream 
and forgotten about resulting in being lost in the system.  
 
I have observed other classes being closed down and that you are in fact 
preparing the school for the transition to the super school in Hawthorn.  
I understand that finding money is difficult however if you snip the 
corners of all schools instead of totally chopping up the support learning 
classes for the disabled children you may also find the same if not more 
money.  
 
I ask you keep the Learning Support Class at Heol Y Celyn open simply 
because it is a fundamental need for all the disabled children in it.  
So dragging them out and placing them in another school would be 
detrimental to their health and mental state, without even taking into 
consideration the speed you want this done by.  

See Summary of Key Issues 
 

  

P
age 346



 

53 
 

 
Key themes from Heol Y Celyn consultation responses: 
 

1. Discussions about individual pupils provision 
2. Reducing funding for specialist provision 
3. Impact upon pupils 
4. Transition of current LSC pupils to new LSC settings 

 
 

 
 

 
 

6.Generic Responses to the Consultation 
 

 
The following are the comments raised during consultation regarding the proposal to re-align LSC provision within RCT.   

 
Respondent Type of 

Consultation 
response 

Comment/Points Raised/ Additional Information from respondent LA Response 

Union 
representative 
NASUWT 
Cymru 

Email Having spoken to stakeholders in the Primary School settings that may be 
affected by the proposals to close and relocate LSC provision there is 
concern about the mobility of pupils, the diminishing support for SEN 
pupils within local communities and the withdrawal of specialist support for 
pupils with CLD for example.  In the case of Penrhys and Heol y Celyn 
there are concerns about the choices that pupils and parents have in 
order to continue accessing vital, specialist support without the pupil 
having to travel some distance to access it. 
 
As part of the consultation we would like to see detailed data relating the 
numbers and local distribution of pupils eligible for LSC entry and if the 
proposals are allowed to go ahead in their present form, the locations of 
the LSC that can best meet their needs. 
 

See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted 
 
 

P
age 347



 

54 
 

In the 2014 report which saw significant changes to SEN provision as a 
first phase model – a number of statements were included in the email 
LSC staff feel that these ‘pupil centred’ arguments are as valid now as 
they were in 2014?  While we are aware of the financial benefits 
associated with the recent proposals (I note that RCT spends in the region 
of £3.1m annually on the provision of LSC’s and there are currently 
approximately 330 pupils accessing the 46 LSC provisions within RCT), 
‘individual’ pupil needs within their local communities still have to be met. 
 
There has been disclosure relating to the actual fall in numbers of pupils in 
the LSC settings in for example Penrhys and Heol y Celyn but issues 
have also been raised about whether changes to the GCA have 
contributed to this.  It is suggested that GCA adjustments relating to entry 
and exit scores and criteria may well have discourage parents and carers 
from accessing provision in the present settings. 
 
The consultation NASUWT Cymru expects the local authority to respond 
to this and publicise criteria and scoring data that reflects trends over time. 
 
It is likely that existing teaching and support staff will be affected by the 
proposed changes. 
 
Clarity is sought regarding the impact and performance of the learning 
support classes.  I note from the proposal documentation that whole 
school performance has been referenced (‘school’s current performance’ 
and ‘prospects for improvement’) but there are worries that positive 
comments and outcomes attributed to the LSC provision in some settings 
have not been disclosed. 
 

 
 
 
See Summary of Key Issues 
 
 

RCT NEU  Email  General Principles  
It was once said that pupils in RCT did not need to have statements as 
their needs were met by the wide number of provisions available across 
the county. 
The closure of classes and the tightening of criteria for entry to classes 
seems to do little to support this notion going forward. 
Closing classes reduces the opportunity for pupils to receive the tailored 
support in small settings that they need. 

The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 
See Summary of Key Issues. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 348



 

55 
 

Re-designation of classes at Darren Park/Llantrisant 
Seems entirely reasonable and sensible. 
there may be a greater need for more classes of this type as the earlier 
pupils receive appropriate support the more successful the outcome. 
Closure of classes at Heol Y Celyn 
Understand the lack of pupils in the classes at Heol Y Celyn. 
This would appear to be based on more stringent entry criteria and the 
need for schools to have completed the fullest graduated response. 
It leaves Pontypridd area with no provision for pupils with complex 
difficulties. 
 
Closure of Pontygwaith 
Significant low numbers at Pontygwaith over the last few years. 
Given the proximity to Penrhys, Darren Park and Maerdy the closure 
seems logical.  When completed with the lack of pupils. 
 
Closure of 1 FP at Penrhys and movement of 1 FP to Maerdy 
Given the arguments put forward in the documentation of the proposal 
this seems to be in opposition to those arguments. 
Two KS2 classes left at Penrhys- therefore no long term provision to 
progress through in the same establishment which seems to be the core 
argument for moving the one FP class to Maerdy. 
More sensible for classes left to be of flexible designation so that should 
pupil need arise then one can operate as an FP class whilst the other 
operates as a KS2. 
This could be built in over time so no further realignment necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
There is LSC provision for pupils with 
complex needs in Gwaunmeisgyn Primary 
which could be accessed by pupils in the 
Pontypridd area.   
 
 
 
The responder’s opinion is noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
The proposal to close one FP class and 
relocate the other FP class to Maerdy 
ensures that the impact upon pupils 
currently accessing the LSC provision at 
Penrhys is minimised, thus affecting only 
one pupil. 
 
In relation to flexibility the LA has to 
continuously review its LSC provision 
across the LA to ensure that is meets the 
needs of learners with significant SEN.  
The situation at Penrhys will continue to 
be subject to monitor and review in this 
context.  Having 2 LSC provision in the 
same school setting allows the LA to be 

P
age 349



 

56 
 

 
 
Closure of KS2 at Caradog and movement of FP class to Cwmbach 
Caradog has through provision.  It has access issues but much work has 
been done to overcome these issues and make the school a suitable 
environment. 
 
 
 
 
 
In closing the KS2 class pupils will have to transfer to Cwmbach…... 
significant impact on learners who are part of the Caradog School 
Community. 
 
Opening of new classes at Nant Gwyn and Treorchy 
No issue with the opening of new classes, however would wish to ensure 
that all posts are ring fenced to those whose posts will be made 
redundant through the closure of the classes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No sensible through provision for the SEBD pupils or Complex Needs 
pupils- the KS2 SEBD provision is in Bodringallt, which is now part of the 
Treorchy cluster whilst the KS2 complex provision is at Penrhys which is 
part of the Tonypandy Cluster- unfair for these pupils……. no social 
support from their peers as they move to secondary provision. 
 
Movement of KS2 communication disorder class from Hafod to Porth 

flexible with the designation of 
educational phase of the LSC. 
 
Minor reasonable adjustments were 
undertaken to ease access for pupil with 
mobility issues in Caradog Primary.  
However the site is severely constrained.  
There is no dedicated parking or drop off 
area on site for pupils to easily access 
school provision.  The geographical 
nature of the school means that future 
adaptations are unachievable.  
 
See Summary of Key Issues.  
 
Should the proposals proceed further 
discussions will be held with HR and 
Union representatives in order to agree 
the appointment process. The LA will 
need to be satisfied that staff can meet 
the essential criteria necessary to fulfil 
the requirements of the new posts in 
order to appoint the staff in question.  
 
The responder’s views are noted.  The LA 
continuously reviews its LSC provision 
across the LA to consider how it can 
improve LSC provision. 
 
 
See Summary of key Issues. 
 
 

P
age 350



 

57 
 

Understand the principle of creating a through provision…….benefit of 
the class being situated at Hafod.  
The facilities available to pupils…..within a very short walking distance 
are superb. The class in Hafod is a core part of the school community…….. 
and there is great concern that this benefit will be lost in a bigger 
establishment. 
 
Closure of Penywaun KS2 SEBD 
Understand the logic of closing class, however surprised by the lack of 
need for this provision in this location. 
Has sufficient investigation been carried out as to why no pupils have 
been place here? 
Growing number of pupils across the whole of RCT exhibiting behaviour 
that would normally indicate a need for placement such as this class- lack 
of pupils being placed is puzzling. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The LA has undertaken an analysis of 
current and projected pupil need prior to 
developing the proposal.  Data indicates 
that additional capacity for pupils with 
significant Social Emotional Behavioural 
Difficulties (SEBD) is needed in KS3/4, 
hence the proposal to open a KS3/4 SEBD 
provision. 

Transportation 
Manager RCT  

Email  I accept that the proposals aim to address surplus capacity issues in key 
provisions, allowing existing resources to be re-directed to enhance 
capacity for mainstream inclusion, early intervention and preventative 
approaches, as well as addressing the current imbalance between the 
number of primary and secondary provisions, transition and accessibility 
issues.  Having reviewed the proposals from a transport perspective 
(attached), I suggest that the estimated full year impact will be in the 
region of £120,000 in a full financial year. Provision for this needs to be 
taken into account and provision made as part of the 21st Century 
Schools Modernisation Programme. 

The responder’s views are noted. 
 
The increase in transport cost relates in 
the main to transport to the proposed 
new LSC provisions.  The establishment of 
these LSCs has been based on analysis of 
pupil need. 

Key themes from Generic Consultation Responses: 
 
1. Transport implications 
2. Impact upon pupils 
3. Redeployment of staff and changes of terms and conditions of employment 
4. Inclusion of SEN pupils within mainstream settings 
5. Criteria for specialist placement 
6. Rationale for change 

P
age 351



 

58 
 

7. General agreement with need for Key stage 3/4 provision 
 

          

Appendix 1c 

Timetable of Consultation Events      Timetable of School Council Meetings 

 

School Affected Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Date 
 

Maerdy Primary 
School 

School Council 9th November 2018 
 

Pontygwaith Primary 
School  

School Council 9th November 2018 
 

Porth Community 
School 

School Council 9th November 2018 
 
 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn School Council 9th November 2018 
 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School  

School Council 9th November 2018 

Cwmbach Primary 
School 

School Council 15th November 2018 
 

Penywaun Primary 
School 

School Council 15th November 2018 
 

 

 

 

School 
Affected 

Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Date 

Heol Y Celyn 
Primary School 

 

School Council 6th November 
2018 

 
Staff 

Parents 
Penrhys 

Primary School 
School Council 7th November 

2018 
 

Staff 
Parents 

Caradog 
Primary School 

School Council 8th November 
2018 Staff 

Parents 
Hafod Primary 

School 
School Council 13th November 

2018 
 

Staff 
Parents 

Darran Park 
Primary School 

School Council 14th November 
2018 

 
Staff 

Parents 
Llantrisant 

Primary School 
School Council 15th November 

2018 
 

P
age 352



 

59 
 

 

Appendix 1d 

P
age 353



 

60 
 

 
Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 

School Name: Caradog Primary School 

Venue: Caradog Primary School 

Date  8/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 7 LSC Staff 

Number of School Council 
representatives: 

7 Number of Parents: & 
Governors  

Approximately 12 LSC parents a 
Govern Body representative 

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents 
Headteacher, Chair of Governors 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill, Lisa Carter, Clare Jones (Union), Nicole Pearce and Louise Richards (HR).  

Staff 
LC introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rationale for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• Will the building be adapted to suit pupil’s needs- will money be available? 
o The proposed school for the relocation of the class has benefited from 21st Century investment and is fully accessible.  Individual pupil 

requirements will be reviewed should the proposal be progressed 
• What support will be put in place for pupils regarding transition? 

o Robust transition support will be put in place with the support of the LA 
• What’s the implication for staff? 

o NP provided information regarding consultation with unions and the managing change policy.  Staff were advised whilst we recognised 
this was a concerning time we are still only at the proposal stage.  Once this has been formally agreed to proceed LA staff will work with 
union representative to agree how the proposals will be implemented   

• General comments: 
o Can understand need to close classes, with no pupils but these classes are full.  
o Understand closures due to under capacity, understand through provision, but this school/ class doesn’t have these concerns. 

P
age 354



 

61 
 

Pupils 
 LC introduced proposals or ideas to change to the group 

• Pupils were asked ‘do you know why we are here?’ how do you feel about that idea? 
o You want to close our classes- SEN 
o Cwmbach Primary- modern 
o Less people in yard- miss the pupils, feel different 

• General comments: 
o Like the fact that SEN pupils have same opportunities as everyone else 
o What happens to resources of class? -  Equipment may move or if owned by school will stay, money will be used to open more secondary 

classes.  
o What would happen to teachers? - Could apply for post, retire, or apply new post.  
o Classes should stay 
o What happens to pupils if they don’t like new school 
o School raised lot of money for one pupil, would that pupil have a room for equipment- Yes would make sure.  

Parents 
KH introduced LA Officers and explained the consultation proposals, rationale for the proposal and the consultation process, parents and Governors were 
given opportunity to raise concerns/questions:  

• Why Cwmbach- can see fabulous school, but disappointed with class size. How many pupils will be in class? 
o Cwmbach has benefited from extensive 21st Century Schools investment and is fully accessible, class sizes will remain in line with current 

level, (8 FP and 10 KS2 depending on the needs of the pupils attending the provision) 
• Will children have links with other pupils in the school? 

o Yes all LSC classes are expected to integrate with mainstream pupils 
• What if pupils don’t want to go? What are the chances of mainstream with support, LSC or Special School? 

o Meetings will be held with appropriate staff and parents to discuss the most suitable placement for each individual pupil when the 
outcome of the proposals are known 

• General comments: 
o Fantastic staff very supportive, concerned KS2 teacher will not move with class. If class teacher was moving parents would not be 

concerned 
o Caradog is an inclusive school, pupils understand SEN pupils 
o Significant number of pupils require support- why not more classes, Cwmbach is not set up and will need significant money spend on 

getting it ready 
o Understands the importance of through provisions, but school has that here why move it 

P
age 355



 

62 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

o Class is a comfort to the pupils that is meeting the needs of the pupil.  
o One specific pupil – concerns regarding size of classroom no room to move around, the need for a dedicated room for equipment, and 

storage, disabled toilet around the other side of the building no hoist.  

P
age 356



 

63 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Event 2018 
School Name: Penrhys Primary School  

Venue: Penrhys Primary School  

Date  7/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 8 

Number of School Council 
Representatives: 

5 Number of Parents and 
Governors: 

40+ 

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents  

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Ceri Jones, Lisa Carter, Alice Holloway, Nicole Pearce HR 
Clare Jones (Union), Mark Cleverley (Union) 

Staff 
CJ introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rationale for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• Attendees sought clarification on reasoning of proposal to close the provision in Penrhys to make a through provision in Maerdy Primary School  
o CJ reiterated the rationale for change: reduction of surplus places, the ambition to increase the number of schools with through 

provision, reduction in transition unnecessary for SEN pupils  
• Concerns were raised that KS2 provision will reduce in Penrhys due to no feeder pupils from a FP class.  
• Officers were questioned as to the long term plan of the LA.  Was it the intention to close all classes in Penrhys as the pupils decrease through 

the years? 
o CJ advised that the LSC proposals were separate to 21st Century proposals and we were not aware of any intentions to close the school 

• Travelling within Rhondda to Maerdy will further the distance the pupils will need to travel – Penrhys is closer, has this not been taken into 
consideration?  It was raised that the distance from Rhondda (Penrhys area) to Maerdy isn’t fair on Foundation Phase Pupils 

o Pupils accessing provision have to do so within the timescales set within the Learner Traveller Policy  
• Penrhys covers more cluster areas - why not move classes from Maerdy to Penrhys. Why relocating?  The responses above were re-iterated 
• Reports that received a phone call from SEN (3 years ago) changing classes’ provision from Foundation Phase to KS2.  

o CJ explained that was prior to when she was in post and was not aware of the discussion.  There has been no formal re-designation of 
classes in Penrhys.  Headteachers of LSC are asked on occasions to be fluid with numbers/provision in order to meet the needs of the 
pupils at any particular time 

o What are the benefits for Penrhys Community over Maerdy? 

P
age 357



 

64 
 

o It was explained that Maerdy has a KS2 class at the moment and the proposals would enhance this provision, reduce unnecessary 
transition for pupils 

• CJ and MC explained the importance of responding to consultation   
• NP explained the HR process and procedures of discussing options with everyone in the affected schools.  The following matters were raised:  

o Where would staff go? 
o Would staff in schools affected be ring fenced? 
o Questions regarding jobs- other provisions/ new provisions ring fencing? 
o 2 LSA’s interested in leaving 
o Will you be looking at skill sets of staff 
o Staff asked about opportunities within proposals  

• HR advised guidelines and procedure will be followed 
• Staff were advised that whilst we recognised this was a concerning time we are still only at the proposal stage.  If there is agreement to proceed 

LA staff will work with union representatives to agree how the proposals will be implemented   
• Is the plan to close all 4 classes  

o CJ advised group that the LA is required to regularly review its LSC provision on a regular basis to ensure it meets the needs of SEN pupils 
Pupils 

CJ introduced LA officers and explained the reason where they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• CJ asked – do you know what school class will be moving too? 
o The pupils were aware of Maerdy Primary and where it was, one pupil explained they had worked with pupils from the school before 
o The majority of pupils nodded- but did not respond verbally  

• CJ was asked - What will happen to the pupils? Where will all the children go if class is closed? 
o CJ explained that currently the class only has 1 pupil and he/she would move with the class 

• Headteacher prompted pupils as they had gone quiet 
• LC asked pupils what did they think? 

o One pupil answered ‘fine in general but would prefer the class to stay’ 
• Headteacher reported a comment from a year 6 pupil who couldn’t attend the meeting that’ he was once in the LSC when he first started school, 

and feels it helped him a lot as from that extra support he was able to move into a mainstream class for the rest of his education- as there was a 
cross provision there.  

• What will happen with the class? 
o CJ explained decision would be for the Headteacher and school council in the new school 

• One pupil raised concerns that would they need new jumper 

P
age 358



 

65 
 

o CJ explained that yes they would need a new uniform  
Parents 

CJ introduced LA Officers and explained the consultation proposals, rationale for the proposal and the consultation process  Parents and Governors were 
given opportunity to raise concerns/questions:  

• What is the reason for drop in the numbers in the provision? What happens to the pupils who don’t meet criteria but will not cope in 
mainstream? The classes could be full- but due to the drop in criteria- these pupils are in mainstream classes. Criteria is so low so there is no 
support. Why not fill the LSC classes. A lot of children miss out because of criteria.  

o Criteria for LSC placement is a separate issue to the proposal being discussed today 
• What does minimising impact mean? This will have a massive impact need continuity for pupils in these classes. 

o It was explained that the proposal would impact on one pupil  
• How are pupils supported in comprehensive school who have additional needs but only have hours instead of being in a LSC?   What are the 

plans for mainstream teachers, of pupils who need additional support? How can teachers help those in a 30+ class? 
o RCT has an Inclusion Agenda that requires all schools to support all learners  

• Concerned that the decrease in number of pupils in LSCs will then decrease the whole schools numbers and school would close 
o CJ explained that the LSC proposals were not related to any other proposals relating to the school  

• Is it about money? Funding not available- pupils in mainstream are struggling but don’t meet criteria.  Mainstream can’t meet these pupils’ needs 
– but closing classes.  

o It was explained that these proposals are not a cost saving exercise and that the funding was being used to better support SEN pupils by 
opening new provisions in the area 

• What happens to potential nursery children coming into school with no Foundation Phase provision? 
o Pupils will have same opportunity to access LSC provision via placement panel 

• How can we close classes with experience?  Don’t think class should close- the class/ classes are needed? 
o Data reports that there are diminishing numbers of pupils requiring LSC FP provision  
o Response from audience that data does not reflect the need or reality 

• General points raised: 
o Why are we actually in the meeting? The decision has already been made.  
o Classes are working well why change them? 
o Best progress made in LSC classes 
o Parent of a pupil who was in a mainstream class in previous school and this had not worked well but when he went to Penrhys he 

became model student- the brother is now home schooled 
o Not just impacting on 1 pupil - low criteria has impacted on class entry 
o Concerns over school closure 

P
age 359



 

66 
 

 

o Can’t understand decision  
o Teachers in school put everything into pupils.  They don’t care about the results just what works best for pupils 
o They feel that this change affects the whole school not just one pupil 
o It is a nurturing school 
o Classes were full leading up to this proposal then class numbers fell which was convenient for proposal. 

P
age 360



 

67 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Cwmbach Primary School  

Venue: Cwmbach Primary School 

Date  15/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 2 

Number of School Council 
representatives: 

15 Number of Parents:  

Type of Meeting: School Council  Number of Governors  2 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• Pupils raised that there will be more children with Additional learning Needs coming into the school.  
• Pupils thought it was a good idea 
• They liked the idea of LSC teacher having more people to discuss ideas with 
• Current LSC pupils will have new friends 
• One pupil commented that as there would be 2 classes there would be more pupils to play with 
• Is the classroom space big enough for all the new children? 

o LC responded that the class was big enough but if a volunteer would like to take LC and AH to see the new class after the meeting that 
would be great  

• Pupils asked a number of prescriptive questions 
o Do any of the children have 1:1’s? 
o Will any of the teachers in any of the schools lose their jobs? 
o Will Mrs Kirby have more support as in adult support in class? 
o How many children will be in my class in September? 
o LC explained to the group that unfortunately she could not give specific answers to the questions at the moment due to the ‘idea’ only 

being at the proposal stage, once we know if the idea is going ahead we will know more detail 
• Why are you planning this change? 

P
age 361



 

68 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

o It was explained that a review of provision had been undertaken and it was evident that the Service was not meeting the needs of pupils 
and changes needed to be made such as increasing provision, closing provision that was underutilised, relocating classes.  As Cwmbach 
currently has a KS2 class we would like another class for FP pupils to create through provision.  Considered two perspectives as pupils 
didn’t want the move not be good for other schools/pupils 

• Will we have to move class again? 
o Headteacher explained that there had been a move of classrooms over the summer holiday. LC responded as far as she was aware the 

class would not be moving 
 

Staff 
• Why aren’t there pupils in the classes that are closing as they were aware of pupils in mainstream who need the support?  

o It was explained that any pupils requiring a placement are presented at panel following receipt of graduated response and any supporting 
information.  If pupil meets criteria then placement is offered as appropriate. 

 

P
age 362



 

69 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Maerdy Primary School  

Venue: Maerdy Primary school  

Date  9/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 2 

Number of School Council 
representatives: 

14 Number of Parents: 0 

Type of meeting: School Council  Number of Governors  4 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
KH introduced LA officers and proposals/ changes made in the consultations  

• Pupils explained how they had gone into the schools existing LSC class to see how it differed from their class- all pupils liked the class and how 
the pupils learnt.  

• Learning at the right level in the LSC 
• More attention = learn better in small classes.  
• Thinks it is good progression 

KH asked were the pupils included in schools activities. 
• The pupils are included in swimming, trips and playtime.  

KH asked how would you feel about having younger pupils? 
• All agreed it was ok.  
• Pupils asked where would the class be?  

o KH explained this would be up to school and Headteacher 
• How long is the process? 

o The process and the time frame to have things agreed was explained to the pupils 
• How did we come up with the idea?  

o KH explained that we look at all the LSC classes within RCT and looks at what is best for all pupils.  
• Will Miss Bradbury leave? 

o No not in connection with this proposal 
The pupils were asked how do you feel about the proposal? 

P
age 363



 

70 
 

 

 

 

• Pupils replied excited to get to know the other children 
• Happy as younger children need to learn.  
• Good idea  
• Teachers can help them and one another 
• Children get to learn better.  

Governors  
• Will the school/ Headteacher have a say in the staffing of the class? 

o If the proposal is progressed then the LA will be working closely with Unions and HR to undertake the appointment process 
 

P
age 364



 

71 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Ysgol Nant Gwyn  

Venue: Ysgol Nant Gwyn  

Date  9/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 2 

Number of School council 
representatives: 

5 Number of Parents:  

Type of Meeting: School Council  Number of Governors  2 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
KH introduced LA officers and proposals/ changes made in the consultations.  Questions were asked relating to the organisation of the class and how this 
would fit within the wider school organisation.  Discussion followed between KH and pupils in relation to how mainstream pupils would include pupils 
from the class into the school and any concerns they might have.  KH explained staffing structures, supervision and how current SEBD class functions in 
another secondary school.  Example of questions included: 

• How many in class? 
• Would they have an LSC for each special educational need? 
• How much will this cost us? 
• What would the negatives of the proposals be? Putting all the different needs together? 
• Would there be a mix of girls and boys? 
• Would they start in class or mainstream? 
• Stigma of being in the class? How would we help to stop bullying? 
• Would teachers from our schools go into the class? 
• Who are the teachers employed by school or council? 
• How may the younger pupils feel regarding the class? 
• Would the younger pupils know what it means?  
• How would breaks be managed? 
• Do pupils have a choice to go in the class? 
• What if parents agree to the class but the child may not want to go? 
• Stigma- then going into mainstream for some lessons 

P
age 365



 

72 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Would the pupils still do exams? 
• Would you put pupils from mainstream into the class who have bad behaviour? 
• Would you mix pupils who have autism with pupils with behavioural needs? 
• What is the process of opening it? 

KH replied to all questions raised as fully as possible, she then explained the process of the consultation report, statutory notice and next steps 
Governor  

Governors asked how mainstream pupils would be supported if they were exposed to inappropriate behaviour, KH explained how LA would 
work with whole school to prepare them for opening the class. 
 
Governors would like a meeting to be held with all parents to explain how the class would function within the school. 
 

P
age 366



 

73 
 

 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Penywaun Primary School 

Venue: Penywaun Primary School  

Date  15/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 1 

Number of School Council 
representatives: 

10 Number of Parents:  

Type of Meeting: School Council  Number of Governors   

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea.  Pupils stated: 

• Class could be used for something else 
• Concerned they were losing staff 
• Why cut budget of teachers-  

o Explained that budget is not being cut, but we are using resources to open other classes 
• What happens to pupils and teachers-  

o It was explained that no pupils or staff will be affected 
• Pupils were happy for the class to close 

P
age 367



 

74 
 

 

 

 

 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Pontygwaith Primary School  

Venue: Pontygwaith Primary school  

Date  9/11/2018 Number of School Staff: HT 

Number of Pupils: 9 Number of Parents: 1 

Type of meeting: School Council  Number of Governors   

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
KH introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea.  Pupils stated: 

• Pupils felt the school was quiet since the class had not had any pupils in there.  
• Liked having the class as part of the school 
• Sad the children in the LSC aren’t in the school anymore, nursery class is now the old LSC 
• KH explained what through provision meant  

o Pupils thought this was a good idea that children didn’t have to move.  
Governor  

• Where are the pupils who should be in Pontygwaith LSC? 
• What/ how would children get to Maerdy primary school? 

o Pupils attending LSC are entitled to transport in line with the Learner Travel Policy 
• Questions regarding Consultation.  RCT Governors Association? Should special schools have been told?  

o  Consultation has been undertaken in line with the  Welsh Governments School Organisation Code 

P
age 368



 

75 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Porth Community School  

Venue: Porth Community School 

Date  20/11/2018 Number of School Staff:  

Number of Pupils: 5 Number of Parents:  

Type of Meeting: School Council  Number of Governors   

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill  

Pupils 
LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea.  Pupils stated: 

• It’s a good idea- if people with problems to help and support  
• The unit – English, Science, Maths, PE- in mainstream with support  
• Sometimes we get slowed down by student with autism- extra help would be good.  
• Would need to think about how children in unit are treated by other pupils- school mocking/name calling.  
• For the younger children might need to think about a place that is safe to play- providing choice couldn’t force children to be separated- causes 

segregation  must integrate.  
• Generally a good idea  

P
age 369



 

76 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Treorchy Comprehensive School 

Venue: Treorchy Comprehensive School 

Date  16/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 1 

Number of Pupils: 13 Number of Parents:  

Type of Meeting: School Council  Number of Governors  2 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter and Alice Holloway 
 

Pupils 
KH introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea.  Pupils had numerous 
questions: 

• In the LSC’s in other schools how much do these pupils integrate into the mainstream classes? 
• There are lot of pressures on pupils would pupils in the LSC’s feel too much pressure? 
• Where would the class go? 
• Will the students in the class have different needs? 
• In the future would more classes be put in place once the proposed class is in place? 
• What would be done to ensure these pupils have the support- not treated difficulty? 
• With the integrated classes would the mainstream teachers have training to help support pupils from the LSC class? 
• Would there be a cost for the training of these teachers? 
• Would the pupils in the LSC have breaks in between lessons? 
• Would this class be taught by teachers in school or LA? 
• Some pupils have their own key to toilets due to the locked toilet policy.  
• Already have a pupil in their school who is in a wheelchair and she has access to everything.  
• Will the class be run the same as other classes? 
• Dinner lines can be long? Suggested possible different lunch times? 
• Will they have different classes or just 1? 
• If they are integrated into the mainstream class will they have a support worker with them? 
• Would pupils be involved in extra circular activities? 

P
age 370



 

77 
 

• If they are disruptive in class what actions will be taken if they do this repeatedly? 
• Would they stay in one class? 
• Would they have a resource bank? 
• Will mainstream teachers be supported by LSC teachers?  
• Will it impact the current pupils? 
• Would they use the same teachers? i.e. PE teachers? 
• Will there be just one teacher? 
• How would PE work? Certain activities? 
• If child does not adapt would they move? Or help? Or stay? 
• School trips - would they be involved? 
• Off timetable days would they be included? 
• Would they come to assembly? 
• Prep – system – finish work in these lessons - could the LSC pupils access these? 
• Would they need a timetable and panel? 
• Could pupils in mainstream classes in Treorchy go into the new LSC class if they needed to? 
• How about bullying?  Pupils suggested possible split dinners, breaks would / may eliminate the bullying side of it.  
• Detention - would the LSC pupils have an LSA present? Detention can have up to 60 minutes so how would that work? 
• Year 10 and 11- go out into community for lunch.  Would they be able to? 
• Extra-circular activities - would their taxis be able to pick them up later?  
• Parents’ views - what has been done to gain their views? 

o LC responded to the questions as fully as possible 
 

Governor  
Governors questions 

• Would the school be able to accommodate for more pupils as in 2020 the school would have reached its capacity? 
• 1:1 in class would there be same one in class? Assigned to that class? 
• Would all pupils in RCT come to the school or those just in the catchment area? 
• Has the school been inspected for suitability/accessibility? Lots of steps? 
• Do some pupils have one to one workers? Would they come along with them? 
• Accessibility for washroom, toilets? 
• Locked door policy? 

P
age 371



 

78 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Transport? Taxis leave earlier.  
• Where does the figure 14 come from for the capacity of the class? 
• Will pupils be here for term? Year? 
• Accessing the swimming pool? 
• Concerned regarding bullying? 
• Teacher aspect what is the ratio? 1 Teacher 2 LSA’s 
• Cabinet looks at proposals on a school by school basis.  

Staff 
• Already have a lot of pupils with specialist needs in the school and we cope well.  

 

P
age 372



 

79 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Heol Y Celyn Primary School 

Venue: Heol Y Celyn Primary School 

Date  6/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 1 Teacher, LSA absent due to 
sick, 1 Teacher relocated 

Number of Pupils: 4 Number of Parents: 1 

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents  Number of Governors  2 

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Kate Hill, Lisa Carter, Nicole Pearce (HR) session 

Staff 
KH introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rationale for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• Concerns were raised over class closing 
• A member of staff expressed interest in moving to KS 3/ 4 Provision 
• KH explained rationale behind class closing 
• Headteacher understood need to re-align resources due to low pupil numbers  
• Staff and Headteacher expressed concerns that a week previous during 21st Century meeting they had been led to believe class would move to 

new Hawthorn site.  
Pupils 

LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• Concerned that pupils will not have support, but happier when explained they could access different provision, to meet their needs.  
• Liked having SEN pupils within School 
• Thought pupils would be ok in mainstream, pupil quoted ‘they’ would be fine.  
• Pupils were concerned as they may lose their singing teacher.  

Parents 
KH introduced LA Officers and explained the consultation proposals, rationale for the proposal and the consultation process, parents and Governors were 
given opportunity to raise concerns/questions:  

P
age 373



 

80 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• The parent who attended was concerned regarding their son, impact of the decision as she would like him to remain in Heol Y Celyn with 
support.  

o Parent advised that annual review would be held and parents/ professionals could discuss what was suitable to meet pupils needs - 
mainstream with support or nearest LSC Gwaunmeisgyn. 

• Hadn’t had a copy of the document but had received letter, hard copy provided at meeting.  
o LC explained rationale for proposals and consultation process.  

P
age 374



 

81 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Llantrisant Primary School 

Venue: Llantrisant Primary School 

Date  15/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 2 (teacher and LSA) LSA absent 
due to sickness 

Number of Pupils: 4 Number of Parents: 1 

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents  Number of Governors   

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter, Ceri Jones, Headteacher Mrs L Davies, Clare Jones (Union) and Paul Hughes (HR) 

Staff 
CJ introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rationale for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• 0.2 teacher in Llantrisant LSC was unable to attend  
• Aim of the proposal is to create provision for early years pupils with significant needs.  It is anticipated that there will be close links with Special 

School to support management of classes.  
• Is ratio higher- looking at pre-school pupils or same as it is currently?  

o Capacity of 8  
o Staff were positive regarding the more restricted age range and agreed it is difficult to cover range of needs and ages currently  

• Flying Start are allocating 1:1, but then pupils start at school and parents have with high expectations for 1:1 support 
• Disabled toilet is currently being reviewed by LA officers 
• Would pupils be statemented? 

o Advised this would not necessarily be the case.  
• Concerns raised over funding - H/T would like additional funding for resources.  School employs lunchtime supervisor.  Need more for sensory 

equipment.  
Pupils 

LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• Explained class would stay but would possibly have younger pupils.  

P
age 375



 

82 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Pupils were concerned that the older pupils could be left out, younger pupils could be scared of older pupils.  
• Good idea, happy that pupils will have support 
• If they come into class  at a  younger age they have got more time to change things  
• A pupil stated his concern that we needed to make sure pupils are safe, don’t fall over, not too many of them in class  
• Is playground safe for them? Do you have resources to keep them safe? 

o Confirmed that yes there is sufficient funding  
• Pupil stated that age group needs to be around same 

Parents 
CJ introduced LA Officers and explained the consultation proposals, rationale for the proposal and the consultation process, parents were given 
opportunity to raise concerns/questions:  

• Ceri explained plans for class to make the provision early years setting for pupils to have a period of time for observation, intervention and 
assessment before placement in longer term.  

• The parent felt it was a good idea, understands that many pupils have difficulties  
• Parent asked a direct question concerning her daughter’s placement if diagnosed with ASD.   What provision is there in Porth and Ysgol Nant 

Gwyn?  Explained the nature of the provisions 
• No concerns raised regarding the consultation 

P
age 376



 

83 
 

 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Darran Park Primary School 

Venue: Darran Park Primary School 

Date  14/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 6 (2 LSC, Chair Governor, Teacher, 
Headteacher, Deputy Headteacher, SENCo) 

Number of Pupils: 9 Number of Parents:  

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents  Number of Governors   

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter, Kate Hill and Nicole Pearce (HR), Clare Jones (Union)  

Staff 
KH introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rational for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• What will class look like,  
o Explained rationale of having an assessment centre 

• Change of designation of class what is impact on staff of change in designation of class 
o HR confirmed staff will move forward with the class 

• Maternity leave end of January – concerned as to what she would be coming back to 
o HR advised that she will be kept informed of all stages, CJ (union) explained protection of Maternity leave 

•  Query over possible VER-  
o Common question - decisions will be made after consultation 

• Re-designation is a good idea and very much needed 
• LSA interested in VER 

Pupils 
LC introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• Happy for class to stay 
• Like having class in school 
• Would like more pupils in class 
• Expand to including KS2  

P
age 377



 

84 
 

Learning Support Class Review Consultation Events 2018 
School Name: Hafod Primary School 

Venue: Hafod Primary School  

Date  13/11/2018 Number of School Staff: 3 

Number of Pupils: 12 Number of Parents & 
Governors  

50+ 

Type of meeting: Staff, pupils, parents  

Local Authority Officers in 
attendance: 

Lisa Carter, Rachel Williams, Ceri Jones and Nicole Pearce (HR), Clare Jones (Union)  

Staff 
CJ introduced proposals, explaining the consultation process and rational for the proposals following which a number of questions and concerns were 
raised: 

• Rationale behind proposals, equity in line the peers across RCT, where there is one provision LA proposes to create through provisions. Porth is a 
fully accessible environment, sensory room facility, 21st century school, CJ appreciate change is difficult and a time of anxiety but positive change.  

• Could you comment on how 3-16 provision is better 
o The building has been built with inclusion in mind, brand new resources, the proposed move of the class is not about the quality of 

education in Hafod.  The key is to have through provision on same site.    
• Why wasn’t LSC part of changes to Porth at the start? Why was Hafod picked?  

o Discussed transition as pupils came in at various stages- only 1 provision.  
o Advantage for staff – more support for LSC staff in through provision to share expertise, referrals to specialist advice / support.  

• Evidence of through provision-  
o Easy for current class to be included in whole school activities, flexibility to call on other members of staff if concerned over issue.  KS 3/4 

LSCs have been successful/well established.  Foundation Phase LSC successfully relocated to Porth in September.  No evidence that we 
cannot expect the LS2 LSC to receive same support and be successful 

• Hafod provide the opportunity to walk to facilities, extra curricula, Porth is not accessible to train station, no playing fields   
o every school is expected to develop links with community 

• Staff have support of Headteacher, governors, feel supported in this school.  
o Provision working well, the proposed change is no reflection on leadership or school.  

• Can staff visit school? 
o Of course not a problem.  This can be arranged 

P
age 378



 

85 
 

• What if pupils do not want to move? 
o Individual discussions would take place with parents 

• Is it cost neutral? 
o This is not a cost saving exercise  

• Reference was made to the name of class name CDC/ASD 
o It was explained that the criteria remains unaltered.  

• Transition and inclusion- scope for integration this would be more limited in Porth 
o Inclusion has to be important part of provision  
o All LSCs and Headteachers are expected to ensure transition is positive and part of developing life skills.  Mainstream pupils have 

opportunity to stay in same school the proposal would provide more equity of opportunity  
• What would be new class size? 

o LA does not stipulate a maximum number of pupils within a class as it depends on the needs of the pupils attending, no proposal to 
change capacity 10/11.  There will be no changes to panel process 

• How will class be run? 
o Operation of class will remain the same  

• One LSA reported that the relocation would mean a reduction in income as she does additional jobs in Hafod 
• General comments: 

o Reported as successful in summer by RW  
o Concerns over wider community and school as a whole 
o On paper it is a good idea, but strength of feeling in school 
o Staff will make proposal work if it proceeds 
o Disappointed no personal contact was made with staff before consultation - followed code understands it is difficult  
o Inclusion – pupils are included at lunch time, play time, plays at Christmas, representation on school council. Hafod School has lots to 

offer 
o Evidence of successful through LSC provision within RCT.  CJ reported that Porth SLT is committed to hosting the class which is key to the 

success of a LSC 
o Splitting siblings  

Pupils 
CJ introduced LA officers and explained the reason why they had been asked to attend the meeting in order to discuss the proposals/ possible changes 
made in the consultations.  Explained what the ‘idea’ or proposal was and pupils were asked what they thought of the idea 

• Pupils explained that Dosbarth Coch are their friends 
• One pupil was concerned that Porth only has a small yard 

P
age 379



 

86 
 

 

 

 

• A pupil asked if school was closing 
o Explained the idea was to move the LSC not close the mainstream school 

• Does the school have stairs and elevator? 
o CJ responded yes it does it is fully accessible, everyone can move around safety 

• Would they be in a yard on their own?  
o Responded no everyone will be together  

• Concerns over School trips, Christmas concerts and tournaments would Dosbarth Coch still be included 
o CJ advised yes pupils will be included in all school activities 

• Concerned pupils will be unsettled 
o It was explained that there would be lots of pupils there, opportunity to make new friends 

• General comments 
o Pupil explained that they go into class during golden time - feels they will miss LSC pupils 
o School needs Dosbarth Coch like rainbows need red- wouldn’t feel complete.  
o LSC pupil concerned it will be too big  
o Concerned over bullying- referred to an incident that had occurred when Hafod pupils went on Llangranog Trip 
o Staff are kind to school pupils and would be missed  
o Not just Dosbarth Coch that will be upset -staff and pupils also upset  
o One pupil stated it was bigger place, locked gates, pupil not worried but confused because leaving before 11 years old 

• What happens if class pupils do not want to leave? 
o Meetings will be held with parents to discuss options 

Parents 
CJ introduced LA Officers and explained the consultation proposals, rationale for the proposal and the consultation process, parents were given 
opportunity to raise concerns/questions:  

• The group had prepared a number of questions which the LA representatives responded to and were submitted formally as a written 
consultation response.  The list of questions and responses are detailed in Appendix 2. 

•  
 

P
age 380



 

87 
 

 

Appendix 2 

 

 
 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf Council 
 

Equality Impact Assessment Questionnaire 
 

Learning Support Class Proposals 
 

 

 

P
age 381



 

88 
 

Equality Impact Assessment Questionnaire 

 

Directorate: Education & Inclusion Services 

Service Area: Access & Inclusion Service 

Responsible Officer: Ceri Jones 

Date: 20th September 2018  

  

1. Name of policy/procedure/practice/project: Re-alignment of Learning Support Class (LSC) provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT). 

The project is to:  

Re-align LSC provision within RCT in order to better support Special Educational Needs (SEN) pupils ensuring provision meets current and 
projected pupil needs. 

 

2. Policy Aims, you need to consider why is the policy needed?  What does the Council hope to achieve by it?  How will the Council ensure it 
works as intended? 

This proposal is fully outlined in a detailed consultation document that has been distributed to all interested parties and stakeholders, it is also 
available on the Council’s website for any person to view or download. 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf has an excellent range of SEN provisions attached to mainstream schools. However, it has become increasingly apparent 
that the range of LSC provisions currently available is disproportionate to the level of need in some areas (e.g. Complex Learning Difficulties). In 
view of this, an in-depth data analysis exercise was undertaken to inform proposals for change in relation to LSC provision within Rhondda Cynon 
Taf.   
 
 
 
The data we have used to realign provision includes: 

• Current capacity within each LSC 

P
age 382



 

89 
 

• Requested placements over the last 3 academic years 
• Transitional data 
• Primary needs of pupils  
• Outcome of requests for placements  

Educational Considerations 

Considerable changes are planned in Wales in relation to the statutory provision required to meet the needs of pupils with SEN/additional learning 
needs (ALN). The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales)  Act (ALNET) was introduced in January 2018. The Act requires 
local authorities to keep under review the arrangements for supporting pupils with ALN within their area and consider whether these are sufficient.  
The Act will be supported by new regulations, including secondary legislation and a new statutory Additional Learning Needs Code of Practice. 
The current draft Code is based on the following principles:  
 

• meeting the needs of pupils with ALN should be part of a whole school approach to school improvement 
• pupils must be supported to participate in mainstream education and in the National Curriculum as fully as possible wherever this is 

feasible. 
 

Until the anticipated implementation of the new ALN Code of Practice in September 2020, Local Authorities (LAs) are required to comply with the 
existing Special Educational Needs (SEN) Code of Practice for Wales (2002) and fulfil their statutory duties towards children with SEN. The Code 
states that children and young people have SEN if they have a learning difficulty which calls for a special educational provision to be made for 
them. Early years settings and schools are required to adopt a graduated response to meeting SEN at Early Years/School Action and Early 
Year/School Action Plus of the Code of Practice. For learners with the most significant SEN, a Statement of SEN is issued by the LA and statutory 
provision put in place.   
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf currently delegates £3.3 million Additional Needs Funding (ANF) to mainstream schools to ensure that both non-statutory 
and statutory mainstream provision for learners with severe and persistent needs is robust and supports mainstream inclusion. 

 
For pupils with more significant needs who experience difficulties in coping with mainstream education, more specialist placements are required. 
Rhondda Cynon Taf has a range of specialist provisions which includes, 46 LSCs, 2 Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) and 4 Special Schools. These 
placements are agreed by Access and Inclusion Service panels.   

 
RCT has an excellent range of LSC provisions attached to mainstream schools. However, it has become increasingly apparent that the range of 
LSC provisions currently available is disproportionate to the level of need in some areas. In view of this, an in-depth data analysis exercise was 
undertaken to inform proposals for change.  

 

P
age 383

http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=16496


 

90 
 

Data analysis confirms that:   
• some primary provisions have significant surplus capacity;  
• there is currently insufficient provision in the secondary sector; 
• the absence of cross phase specialist provision on some school sites means that some learners experience unnecessary transitions; 
• some LSCs would benefit from relocation to fully accessible schools that have benefited from the 21st Century School Modernisation 

and  investment; 
• there is insufficient provision to meet the needs of learners in the early years. 

 
Feedback from schools suggests that LSCs for social, emotional and behavioural needs do not currently have sufficient staffing to effectively 
meet need. 

 
In light of these findings, the proposals for change seek to achieve the following aims: 

• developing a robust continuum of provision that effectively addresses a wide range of need across all key phases/stages; 
• reduction in surplus LSC places through the effective rationalisation and re-alignment of existing LSC provision to address identified 

gaps in provision;  
• avoiding unnecessary transition across schools by establishing cross phase specialist provisions within individual schools where 

possible; 
• creating capacity for outreach support from special schools and providing effective early intervention and prevention in the early years; 
• establishing LSC provisions in fully accessible settings that provide a learning environment fit for the 21st Century. 

 

Proposed changes 

• 33 SEN mainstream LSCs remain unaltered 
• 6 SEN mainstream LSCs close  
• 3 SEN mainstream LSCs are relocated 
• 2 SEN mainstream LSCs are opened 
• 2 SEN mainstream LSCs are re-designated 

 
What are the financial implications of the proposal? 

The LA proposal if agreed will have a positive impact on pupils with SEN across RCT as it will mean that the funding will be re-directed to establish 
provisions that address areas of growing need. The proposal will ensure that the County Borough Council continues in its commitment to 
effectively meeting the needs of learners with SEN and resources will be reinvested to address gaps in existing provision and to improve the 
quality of provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

P
age 384



 

91 
 

The schools will be delegated sufficient funding to establish the proposed provisions. These costs will cover staffing and capitation. The proposals 
do not involve any transfer or disposal of land.  

 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on school pupils? 
 
Many of the proposals do not impact on learners as many of the proposed closures are for settings where there are no existing learners or 
considerable surplus capacity. However, suitable arrangements will be put in place in consultation with all involved to ensure that appropriate 
provision is made for any learners affected by the changes. This could involve additional support in a mainstream setting of parental choice, or 
alternative specialist provision appropriate to the pupils’ individual needs. Interim arrangements could be put in place to maintain continuity in the 
existing school if this was deemed appropriate. This could include access to a specialist teacher and learning support assistant input to support 
mainstream inclusion. This could be put in place until the need for specialist provision within the pupils’ current key stage ceases. Person centred 
planning will be undertaken in consultation with parents, carers and relevant professional and bespoke arrangements put in place if required so 
as to minimise the impact on pupils and their families.  
 
Transportation would be provided in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy and placement made in the nearest and most appropriate 
specialist setting. All pupils affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to their nearest appropriate specialist setting. 

The Welsh Government and the Council has adopted the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child which is expressed in seven core aims that 
all children and young people: 

1. Have a flying start in life;  
2. Have a comprehensive range of education and learning opportunities; 
3. Enjoy the best possible health and are free from abuse, victimisation and exploitation; 
4. Have access to play, leisure, sporting and cultural activities; 
5. Are listened to, treated with respect, and have their race cultural identity recognised; 
6. Have a safe home and a community which supports physical and emotional wellbeing; 
7. Are not disadvantaged by poverty.  

 
We consider that this proposal benefits children in their communities in accordance with the seven core aims set out above.  

Implications for staff of the LSC 

• All LSC staff are appointed by the LA and are contracted to work in any appropriate LSC provision. This is subject to the needs of the LA and 
the skills set of the staff in question. Any additional necessary resources will be provided to support the realigned provisions. Every effort will 
be made to redeploy any displaced staff and to minimise the risk of redundancy.  

P
age 385



 

92 
 

 

Implications on the local communities? 

This proposal will not have any significant impact on the local communities for the following reasons:  

  

• Proposed closures: there are currently very low numbers of pupils attending the majority of provisions; 4 of the LSCs proposed for closure will have no 
pupils in attendance  

• Proposed relocations: the proposed host schools have sufficient capacity to provide enhanced opportunities to access high quality cross phase educational 
provision in modern and accessible school buildings. 

• Proposed re-designations: there are currently very low numbers of pupils attending the provisions proposed for re-designation.  1 of the 2 provisions will 
have no pupils affected by the proposal.  The second provision has a surplus capacity of 90%. 

• Proposed new provisions: More local children will be able to access specialist provision within their local community and the new provisions will address 
a gap in existing provision. There will be less demand for transporting children out of area to receive their education and this should impact positively on 
the environment. The schools will make effective use of any surplus space within the school and develop a resource that will be of benefit to vulnerable 
children and young people, and their parents/carers. The proposed establishment of LSCs will enhance the overall capacity of the host schools to meet a 
diverse range of needs as there will be further specialist SEN expertise within the school.  

 

3.  Who does it apply to? Please indicate by highlighting or deleting as appropriate                         
 

Members of the public       Staff       Both       Other        

Please state: SEN children aged 3-16 living in RCT, parents and carers of the children 

 

4.  Indicate whether this is a new proposal, a review or a proposed cessation: 

New          Review         Cessation 

The proposal covers all 3 areas.  There are 13 schools affected. 

P
age 386



 

93 
 

 5.  Identifying Impacts  

Please choose whether the policy/practice will have a positive, negative or neutral effect on each issue below: Think about the key questions 
included in the manager’s guidelines.  

People / issues to 
consider 

Impact policy / practice will have If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 

Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Age  
(young and old) Young – Yes  

Old - Yes 

  • appropriate placements which are well matched to pupil’s primary 
needs 

• improved educational outcomes and pupil engagement due to the 
effective meeting of pupil needs 

• greater opportunities for mainstream inclusion in local community 
schools 

• improved learning provisions which provide better value for money 
and improved life chances for our most vulnerable learners 

Disability (remember 
to consider the 
different types of 
disability) 

Yes   The review of LSC provision will allow the LA to better meet the 
needs of its SEN pupils. 

Gender   Yes  

Gender 
Reassignment 

  Yes  

Race   Yes  

Religion or Belief   Yes  

Sexual Orientation   Yes  

P
age 387



 

94 
 

People / issues to 
consider 

Impact policy / practice will have If a positive or negative impact is identified, explain why: 

Positive Negative Neutral 

 (No impact) 

Welsh Language   Yes  

Carer   Yes  

 

Evidence  

 

6.  What evidence is there to support your conclusions? Please indicate below 

 

Reports of the Director of Education to Cabinet – October 2018. 
Public Consultation Document on the Proposal – October 2018. 
 

7.  In areas where a negative impact has been identified are there any ways that the negative effect could be reduced or removed? Please indicate below 
and include the evidence on which you have based your conclusion. 

 
LSC re-alignment will inevitably cause some limited disruption and uncertainty for a period of time, although previous experiences has 
demonstrated that any potential difficulties can be minimised when managed effectively. Provisions have been selected based on considerable 
surplus capacity issues. Preventative measures will be taken to ensure that any potential negative impact on children’s education and wellbeing 
are avoided or minimised.   

The change in provision has some implications for a relatively small number of pupils attending the provisions as a change in provision may be 
needed. Bespoke packages of support will be put in place to eradicate or minimise any potential negative impact. The re-location of some LSC 
provision aims to provide more continuity for our most vulnerable learners to access cross phase specialist provision, reduce unnecessary 
transition and travel with the opportunity to provide through provision for all primary ages.  

P
age 388



 

95 
 

The closure and re-designation of some LSCs will enable the LA to re-direct much needed resources to areas of greater need. Without closing 
and re-designating the named LSC provisions, the LA will not be able to implement the plan for the proposed re-alignment for the LSCs across 
the LA. Implementing this plan will be of benefit to all pupils with SEN across RCT and will ensure greater equality and access to specialist 
provision.  

The Council considers that the educational advantages of the proposals outweigh the short-term impact of the changes for the pupils and parents.  

Involvement & Consultation 

9.  What involvement and consultation has been done in relation to this (or similar) policy and what are the results? 

The following consultation meetings are to be held: 

School Affected Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Time Date Venue 

Heol Y Celyn Primary 
School 

 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 6th November 
2018 

 

Heol Y Celyn Primary 
School 

 Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 15:30-16:30 

Penrhys Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 7th November 
2018 

 

Penrhys Primary School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Caradog Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 8th November 
2018 

Caradog Primary School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Hafod Primary School School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 13th November 
2018 

 

Hafod Primary School 

Staff 14:30-15:30 

P
age 389



 

96 
 

 
Parents 

 
15:30-16:30 

Darran Park Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 14th November 
2018 

 

Darran Park Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Llantrisant Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 15th November 
2018 

 

Llantrisant Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-16:30 

Parents 15:30-16:30 
 

 

 

School Affected Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Time Date Venue 
 

Maerdy Primary 
School 

School Council 9:30 - 10:00 9th November 2018 Maerdy Primary School 
 

Pontygwaith Primary 
School  

School Council 10:30 -11:00 9th November 2018 Pontygwaith Primary School 

Porth Community 
School 

School Council 11:30 - 12:00 9th November 2018 Porth Community School 
 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn School Council 12:30 - 13:00 9th November 2018 Ysgol Nant Gwyn 
 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School  

School Council 14:00 - 14:30 9th November 2018 Treorchy Comprehensive 
School 

Cwmbach Primary 
School 

School Council 9:30 - 10:00 15th November 2018 Cwmbach Primary School 
 

P
age 390



 

97 
 

Penywaun Primary 
School 

School Council 10:30 - 11:00 15th November 2018 Penywaun Primary School 

 

Schools are also being offered opportunities for consultation with pupils, via meetings of their School Councils as detailed in the table above. 

Interested parties are also welcome to put their views in writing to: 

Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
Ty Trevithick 
Abercynon 
CF45 4UQ 
Or email A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Monitoring & Review 

10. What arrangements have you put in place to review the actual impact of the policy once it has been implemented? 

The Council’s Access & Inclusion Service will be fully engaged in supporting the head teachers and governing bodies during the first year or so. 

Addressing the Impact 
   

11. What option have you chosen as a result of your impact assessment? 

• Continue the Policy 

Please indicate and provide reasons for your decision. 

The evidence outlines in our consultation document clearly recommends that this is the right approach. 

P
age 391

mailto:A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk


 

98 
 

12. Action Plan 

You now need to complete the EIA action plan to outline how you will act on any impacts identified.  You may need to prioritise in terms of what actions you 
choose to take and the timescales to complete them in.  In general terms, you should try to act on all negative impacts unless there is a clear reason as to 
why this is not possible.  You could also identify actions for positive or neutral impacts where appropriate i.e. to outline and further promote a positive impact 
or to outline how to make something have a positive impact instead of a neutral one. 

 

Action Responsible 
Officer 

Timescale for 
Actions 

Timescale and 
actions for Review 

Measures to be taken to 
evaluate effects of actions 

If the proposal process undertake the statutory 
consultation process to implement the 
proposals 

Access & 
Inclusion 
Service 

February 2019   

13. Please outline below any negative impacts that have been identified in the EIA questionnaire but not addressed in the action plan.  You will need to 
explain your reasons for not addressing them. 

None. 

 

Please keep a copy of the questionnaire and action plan and send copies to: 

Equality, Diversity & Social Justice Team 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach 
CF40 2XX 
Email: equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk  
Tel: 01443 424075 
Signed:  Gaynor Davies                  Date:  20th September 2018 

Job Title: Director of Education & Inclusion Service

P
age 392

mailto:equality@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk


 

99 
 

Page 393



 

100 
 

 Appendix 3 

                                                                                         

 

 
 

Consultation on the 
 

REVIEW OF LEARNING 
SUPPORT CLASS  

PROVISION WITHIN RHONDDA 
CYNON TAF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                           October 2018 

 

 

 

Page 394



 

101 
 

 

Table of Contents 

Section 1  

• Introduction  
• Who will we consult?  
• What will the consultation process entail? 
• What do you now have to consider? 
• How do you make your views known? 

 
Section 2  

• Background  
• Overview of the Proposals  
• What is the basis for this proposal? 
• What is the educational case for the proposal to re-align Learning Support 

Classes? 
• What are the financial implications of the proposal? 
• What is the likely impact of the proposal on school pupils? 
• What is the likely impact of the proposal on the staff of the Learning Support 

Classes? 
• What is the likely impact of the proposals on the local communities? 
• What are the disadvantages of these proposals? 
• What alternative options have been considered? 
• Community, Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessments. 

 
Section 3  

• Learning Support Class Proposed Closures  
• Background to the proposed closure of Learning Support Classes 
• Information on schools affected by the proposals 

 
Section 4  

• Learning Support Class Proposed Relocations 
• Background to the proposed relocation of Learning Support Classes 
• Information on schools affected by the proposals 

 
Section 5  

• Learning Support Class Proposed Re-designations  
• Background to the proposed re-designation of Learning Support Classes 
• Information on schools affected by the proposals 

 
Section 6  

• Proposed New Provisions  
• Background to the proposed opening of new Learning Support Classes 
• Information on schools affected by the proposals 

Page 395



 

102 
 

 
Appendices:  Consultation Response Pro-forma 

Section 1  
Introduction  
Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT) County Borough Council wishes to seek the views of a 
wide range of stakeholders on proposals for the realignment of mainstream Learning 
Support Class (LSC) provision within RCT.  

The proposals will address surplus capacity issues in key provisions allowing existing 
resources to be re-directed to enhance capacity for mainstream inclusion, early 
intervention and preventative approaches. In addition, the proposals will address the 
current imbalance between the number of primary and secondary provisions, transition 
and accessibility issues.  

The proposals seek to achieve the following aims: 

• developing a robust continuum of provision that effectively addresses a wide 
range of need across all key phases/stages  

• reducing surplus LSC places through the effective rationalisation and re-
alignment of existing LSC provision to address identified gaps in provision 

• avoiding unnecessary transition across schools by establishing cross phase 
specialist provisions within individual schools where possible 

• creating capacity for outreach support from special schools and providing 
effective early intervention and prevention  

• establishing LSC provisions in fully accessible settings that provide a learning 
environment fit for the 21st Century. 

 

To achieve these aims, the proposals for change include: 

i) The closure of key LSCs due to no confirmed placements, diminishing 
numbers or poor access for learners with physical or medical needs 

   
It is proposed that the following closures take effect from 31st August 2019 at: 
 

• 3 Foundation Phase LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in 
Pontygwaith Primary School, Penrhys Primary School and Heol y Celyn 
Primary School;  

• 2 Key Stage 2 LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Caradog 
Primary School and Heol y Celyn Primary School; 

• 1 Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional and Behaviour Difficulties 
(SEBD) in Penywaun Primary School. 

 
It is not an efficient use of Council resources to allow the provisions to remain open 
due to considerable surplus capacity issues, including 4 provisions with no learners in 
2019 and one 80% surplus capacity. Resources would be better utilised if re-directed 
to establish new provisions in areas of identified needs, and located in settings where 
there is good access for learners with physical and/or medical needs.  

Page 396



 

103 
 

 
 
 
ii) LSC relocations to ensure cross phase provisions in single sited, accessible 
 school buildings 
  
It is proposed that the following relocations take effect from 1st September 2019: 
 

• 2 Foundation Phase LSCs for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at 
Penrhys Primary School and Caradog Primary to relocate to Maerdy 
Community School and Cwmbach Primary School respectively so as to create 
a cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2.  

• 1 Key Stage 2, the LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders at Hafod 
Primary School to relocate to create a cross phase provision from Foundation 
Phase to Key Stage 3/4 at Porth Community School.   
 

It is proposed that the above relocations of LSCs are undertaken to ensure cross 
phase provisions on single school sites in premises which are more accessible and 
better equipped to meet a range of needs.  The proposals will ensure compliance with 
the Equality Act 2010 and relocation to new and significantly improved premises which 
have benefited from the considerable 21st Century Schools Modernisation Programme 
investment. 

 
iii) Proposed LSC re-designations to ensure a better match of provision to 
     identified need 

 
It is proposed that the following re-designations take effect from 1st September 2019:  
 

• 1 Foundation Phase LSC for Complex Learning Difficulties in Darran Park 
Primary School and 1 Foundation Phase Observation and Assessment Class 
at Llantrisant Primary School to become 2 Early Years Assessment and 
Intervention LSCs for pupils under statutory school age with significant 
presenting needs. 

   
The Early Years LSCs will enhance current provision available for children of non-
statutory school age, providing early assessment and intervention within a 
mainstream context and timely access to specialist support and expertise. The above 
re-designations and strengthened partnership arrangements with special schools will 
enhance the continuum of specialist support and provision for pupils in the early years.  
 
iv) Proposed development of new provisions  
 
It is proposed that two LSCs for Key Stages 3/4 are established in September 2019: 
 

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in 
Treorchy Comprehensive School 

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Social, Emotional and Behavioural  
Difficulties in Ysgol Nant Gwyn 

 

Page 397



 

104 
 

 

 

Who will we consult? 
We are seeking the views of the following stakeholders: 

• The Governing Bodies, parents, carers and staff of the following schools: Heol 
Y Celyn Primary; Penrhys Primary; Penywaun Primary; Pontygwaith Primary; 
Caradog Primary; Cwmbach Primary; Maerdy Community Primary; Hafod 
Primary; Darran Park Primary; Llantrisant Primary 

• The Governing Bodies, parents, carers and staff of Ysgol Nant Gwyn, Ferndale 
Comprehensive School, Aberdare Community School, Bryn Celynnog 
Comprehensive School, Porth Community School and Treorchy 
Comprehensive School  

• Other Governing Bodies of neighbouring primary and secondary schools 
• The Church in Wales and Roman Catholic Diocesan Authorities  
• The Governing Body of Coleg Y Cymoedd  
• The Governing Body of the University of South Wales  
• Welsh Minister for  Education and Skills  
• Assembly Members for all constituencies and regional areas serving Rhondda 

Cynon Taf 
• Members of Parliament for the Rhondda, Pontypridd and Cynon Valley 
• Estyn  
• Cwm Taf Local Health Board  
• Teaching and Support staff trade unions  
• Central South Consortium Joint Education Service  
• South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 
• The Early Years and Childcare Partnership  
• South East Wales Transport Association  
• The local Communities First Partnerships 
• The Welsh Language Commissioner  
• Neighbouring local authorities  

 

What will the consultation process entail? 
The consultation will start on the 19th October 2018 and will be completed at 5pm on 
21st December 2018. The feedback from the consultation will be collated and 
summarised and a report presented to the Council’s Cabinet in January 2019. This 
consultation report will be available for all persons to view on the Council website and 
copies can be obtained on request from the address detailed on www.rctcbc.gov.uk. 

The Council’s Cabinet will consider the report, based on the feedback, and decide 
whether to proceed with the proposal, make changes to the proposal or not proceed 
with the proposal. If the Cabinet decides not to proceed, that will be the end of this 
proposal for the foreseeable future.  

If the Cabinet decides to proceed with the proposal Statutory Notices will be published 
in February 2019 providing a 28 day notice period for objections.  

Page 398



 

105 
 

The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act (2013) requires that anyone 
wishing to make objections to a school organisation proposal has the opportunity to 
do so. To be considered as statutory objections, objections must be made in writing 
or by email, and sent to the Council within 28 days of the date on which the proposal 
was published.  

If there are objections, the Council’s Director of Education & Inclusion Services’ will 
publish an objection report providing a summary of the objections and his/her 
response to them within 28 days of the end of the objection period. This report will also 
be available for all persons to view on the Council’s website and copies can be 
obtained on request from the address detailed in Appendix 1. 

The Council’s Cabinet will consider the objection report at the next available Cabinet 
meeting to determine the outcome of the statutory notice.  

If the Council’s Cabinet approve the proposal, the proposal will be implemented in 
accordance with the date given in the statutory notice or any subsequently modified 
date. In the case of this proposal, the implementation date is the 1st of September 
2019.  

What do you now have to consider? 
The remainder of the consultation document sets out the rationale for the proposed 
changes to LSC provision within RCT.   

We would like you to consider the information contained within this document and to 
hear your views as to whether or not you support the proposals.  

How do you make your views known? 
A consultation questionnaire is attached (Appendix 1), and is also available on the 
Council’s internet site at www.rctcbc.gov.uk. The questionnaire also enables 
consultees to register their wish to be notified of the publication of the consultation 
report to the Council’s Cabinet.  Schools will also be offered opportunities to consult 
with pupils and are advised to consult with School Council representatives to seek 
pupil views. You are also welcome to put your views in writing to: 

Director of Education and Inclusion Services, Education Directorate, Ty Trevithick, 
Abercynon   CF45 4UQ       

Telephone: (01443) 744333 E-mail:   A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk  

Fax: (01443) 744024 

All correspondence should be received no later than the 21st December 2018 

Please note that responses to the consultation will not be counted as objections to the 
proposal. Objections can only be forwarded following the publication of the Statutory 
Notice. 

The majority of the schools affected by this proposal are English medium schools and 
therefore the consultation documents have been distributed in English based on the 
chosen language medium for education. Welsh and English copies of the consultation 
document have been provided to the Welsh medium schools and to the Welsh 
Department of Heol-Y-Celyn Primary School. If a Welsh language copy of the 

Page 399

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/
mailto:A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk


 

106 
 

consultation document is required by the English medium sector, please contact the 
address overleaf. 

 

Consultation events will be held and you are welcome to attend the appropriate 
meetings. 

School Affected Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Time Date Venue 

Heol Y Celyn 
Primary School 

 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 6th November 
2018 

 

Heol Y Celyn 
Primary School 

 Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 15:30-16:30 
Penrhys Primary 

School 
School Council 

 
14:00 - 14:30 7th November 

2018 
 

Penrhys Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Caradog Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 8th November 
2018 

Caradog Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Hafod Primary 
School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 13th 
November 

2018 
 

Hafod Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Darran Park 
Primary School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 14th 
November 

2018 
 

Darran Park 
Primary School 

Staff 
 

14:30-15:30 

Parents 
 

15:30-16:30 

Llantrisant 
Primary School 

School Council 
 

14:00 - 14:30 15th 
November 

2018 
 

Llantrisant Primary 
School 

Staff 
 

14:30-16:30 

Parents 15:30-16:30 
 

 
 
 

Page 400



 

107 
 

 
 

School Affected Group-Pupils/ 
Staff/Parents 

Time Date Venue 

Maerdy Primary 
School 

School Council 9:30 - 10:00 9th November 
2018 

Maerdy Primary 
School 

 
Pontygwaith 

Primary School  
School Council 10:30 -11:00 9th November 

2018 
Pontygwaith 

Primary School 
Porth Community 

School 
School Council 11:30 - 12:00 9th November 

2018 
Porth Community 

School 
 

Ysgol Nant Gwyn School Council 12:30 - 13:00 9th November 
2018 

Ysgol Nantgwyn 
 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School  

School Council 14:00 - 14:30 9th November 
2018 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 

School 
Cwmbach 

Primary School 
School Council 9:30 - 10:00 15th November 

2018 
Cwmbach Primary 

School 
 

Penywaun 
Primary School 

School Council 10:30 - 11:00 15th November 
2018 

Penywaun Primary 
School 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 401



 

108 
 

Section 2 
Background 
RCT has an excellent range of SEN provisions which allows the majority of pupils to 
attend schools near to where they live. These include 46 LSCs attached to mainstream 
settings, 4 special schools and 2 Pupil Referral Units (PRUs).  In addition to this, £3.3M 
is made available via delegated Additional Needs Funding (ANF) annually to support 
pupils with severe and persistent needs in mainstream settings. This is in line with 
RCT’s vision for inclusive education and the right for children with SEN to be educated 
in their local mainstream school where appropriate. 

The Special Educational Needs (SEN) Code of Practice for Wales (2002) provides 
detailed guidance on the duties and responsibilities of local authorities (LAs) in 
meeting the SEN of children and young people. Children and young people have SEN 
if they have a learning difficulty which calls for a special educational provision to be 
made for them. A learning difficulty is evident when children and young people have:  
 

- significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of children and 
young people of the same age; or 

- a disability which prevents or hinders them from making use of educational 
facilities of a kind generally provided for children and young people of the 
same age in schools within the area of the locality. 
 

The SEN Code of Practice for Wales (2002) recommends that early years and school 
settings adopt a graduated response to meeting SEN. A graduated response means 
that progressively greater expertise and support can be brought in to address the 
difficulties a child or young person may be experiencing. Additional or different 
provision should be made at Early Years/School Action, Early Years/School Action 
Plus or a Statement of SEN depending on the severity of the child/young person's 
level of need.  
 
Section 316A of the Education Act 1996 specifies that children with SEN should 
normally be educated in mainstream schools so long as this is compatible with them 
receiving the special educational provision that their learning difficulty calls for, the 
efficient education of other children, and the efficient use of resources.  For those 
pupils who have very significant needs, more specialist placements are required and 
this might result in a placement in one of our specialist provisions. These placements 
are agreed by Access and Inclusion Service panels.   

It has become increasingly apparent that the range of LSC provisions currently 
available is disproportionate to the level of need in some areas (e.g. Complex Learning 
Difficulties). In view of this, an in-depth data analysis exercise was undertaken to 
inform proposals for change in relation to LSC provision within RCT.  

Data analysis confirmed that:   

• some primary provisions have significant surplus capacity  
• there is currently insufficient provision in the secondary sector 
• the absence of cross phase specialist provision on some school sites means 

that some learners experience unnecessary transitions 

Page 402



 

109 
 

• some LSCs would benefit from relocation to fully accessible schools that have 
benefited from the 21st Century School Modernisation and  investment 

• there is insufficient provision to meet the needs of learners in the early years. 
 

Feedback from schools also suggests that LSCs for social, emotional and 
behavioural needs do not currently have sufficient staffing to effectively meet need. 
 
In light of these findings, the proposals for change are aimed at: 
• developing a robust continuum of provision that effectively addresses a wide 

range of need across all key phases/stages  
• reduction in surplus LSC places through the effective rationalisation and re-

alignment of existing LSC provision to address identified gaps in provision 
• avoiding unnecessary transition across schools by establishing cross phase 

specialist provisions within individual schools where possible 
• creating capacity for outreach support from special schools and providing 

effective early intervention and prevention in the early years 
• establishing LSC provisions in fully accessible settings that provide a learning 

environment fit for the 21st Century. 
 

Overview of the Proposals  
RCT County Borough Council wishes to seek the view of a wide range of stakeholders 
on the proposals to proceed with: 

i) LSC closures due to diminishing numbers or no confirmed placements, or 
   significant access issues for learners with medical and physical needs 

 
It is proposed that the following closures take effect from 31st August 2019 at: 

 
• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Heol y 

Celyn Primary School –  no pupils in September 2019 
• Key Stage 2 LSC  for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Heol y Celyn 

Primary School – 2 pupils in September 2019 
• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties (x1 class) 

in Penrhys Primary School – no pupils in September 2019 
• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional, Behavioural Difficulties in 

Penywaun Primary School – no pupils in September 2019 
• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in 

Pontygwaith Primary School – no pupils in September 2019 
• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Caradog 

Primary School  
 

ii) LSC relocations to ensure accessible cross phase provisions and/or more 
    accessible school buildings 
 
It is proposed that the following relocations of key LSC provisions take effect from 
the 1st September 2019: 
 

Page 403



 

110 
 

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from 
Caradog Primary School to Cwmbach Primary School, creating a cross phase 
provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2.   

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from 
Penrhys Primary School to Maerdy Community Primary School, creating a 
cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders based at Hafod 
Primary School to Porth Community School (3-16 provision) thus creating a 
cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 3/4. 
 

iii) Re-designations of LSCs to ensure a better match of provision to identified 
need in the early years 
 
It is proposed that the following provisions are established from the 1st September 
2019:  
 

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at Darran 
Park Primary and Foundation Phase Observation and Assessment Class at 
Llantrisant Primary to become Early Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs 
for pupils under compulsory school age with significant presenting needs.   

 
iv) Proposed new provisions  
 
It is proposed that two new LSCs provisions to be established from the 1st       
September 2019: 
 

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with SEBD at Ysgol Nant Gwyn 
• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at  

Treorchy Comprehensive School  
 

 
What is the basis for this proposal? 
Section 315 of the Education Act 1996 requires LAs to regularly review arrangements 
for supporting pupils with SEN and to ensure that provision is sufficient and meets the 
needs of its communities.   

 
The priority for the Education Directorate is to continue to focus on driving up 
standards in schools and early years settings, and to improve the outcomes for all 
children and young people.  If the cycle of deprivation and underachievement is to be 
broken, a top quality education that meets the needs of all children and young people 
is essential. There are considerable benefits to be gained from the realignment of 
LSCs in ensuring the SEN of all children and young people are met and outcomes for 
pupils are improved. 
 
The proposed realignment of LSCs will ensure that the LA has an enhanced focus on 
providing more effective mainstream inclusion opportunities for pupils with a wide 
range of SEN.  The proposals ensure that the best possible use of resources and a 
more equitable continuum of provision is achieved for pupils with significant SEN.  

Page 404



 

111 
 

The importance of mainstream inclusion for pupils with SEN is reflected in the revised 
Estyn Common Inspection Framework which highlights that judgements of 
achievement for all learners including those with additional learning needs should take 
account of progress made in relation to agreed learning goals from individual starting 
points. The framework also recognises the positive impact that the expertise within a 
LSC can have on enhancing practice and improving outcomes for learners with SEN 
across the whole school.    

 
The proposals provide an effective local solution and provision for pupils with 
significant SEN thus reducing transport costs and the LA’s carbon footprint.  
 
What is the educational case for the proposal to re-align LSC? 
The advantages of implementing the proposed changes includes: 

• an enhanced focus on improved mainstream LSC provision which provides 
improved life chances for our most vulnerable learners 

• a reduction in surplus places in some specialist provisions and redirection of 
resources to areas of identified need  

• more efficient and effective use of LA resources and a reduction in the cost of 
per placement costs  

• appropriate continuum of provision which is well matched to pupils’ primary 
needs 

• compliance with one of the underpinning principles of the SEN Code of Practice 
for Wales that all pupils should access mainstream education where possible 

• improved educational outcomes and pupil engagement due to effectively 
meeting pupil needs 

• enabling greater continuity of support for vulnerable groups of pupils by reducing the 
number of transitions SEN pupils make between school phases and increasing the 
number of cross phase provision on single sites 

• greater opportunities for mainstream inclusion in local community schools 
• providing effective local solutions and provision for pupils with significant SEN 

thus reducing transport costs and the LA’s carbon footprint 
• ensuring that LSC provision is situated within education settings that are 

accessible and appropriate for the needs of pupils with wide ranging needs, 
including physical and medical needs 

• improving the range and quality of facilities and learning resources available to 
the benefit of all pupils.  
 

 
What are the financial implications of the proposal? 
The LA proposal if agreed will have a positive impact on pupils with SEN across RCT 
as it will mean that the funding will be re-directed to establish provisions that address 
areas of growing need. The proposal will ensure that the County Borough Council 
continues in its commitment to effectively meeting the needs of learners with SEN and 
resources will be reinvested to address gaps in existing provision and to improve the 
quality of provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf.  

Page 405



 

112 
 

The schools will be delegated sufficient funding to establish the proposed provisions. 
These costs will cover staffing and capitation.  

The proposals do not involve any transfer or disposal of land.  
 
 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on school pupils? 
 
Many of the proposals do not impact on learners as many of the proposed closures 
are for settings where there are no existing learners or considerable surplus capacity. 
However, suitable arrangements will be put in place in consultation with all involved to 
ensure that appropriate provision is made for any learners affected by the changes. 
This could involve additional support in a mainstream setting of parental choice, or 
alternative specialist provision appropriate to the pupils’ individual needs. Interim 
arrangements could be put in place to maintain continuity in the existing school if this 
was deemed appropriate. This could include access to a specialist teacher and 
learning support assistant input to support mainstream inclusion. This could be put in 
place until the need for specialist provision within the pupils’ current key stage ceases. 
Person centred planning will be undertaken in consultation with parents, carers and 
relevant professional and bespoke arrangements put in place if required so as to 
minimise the impact on pupils and their families.  
 
Transportation would be provided in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy and 
placement made in the nearest and most appropriate specialist setting. All pupils 
affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to their nearest 
appropriate specialist setting. 

The Welsh Government and the Council has adopted the UN Convention on the Rights 
of the Child which is expressed in seven core aims that all children and young people: 

8. Have a flying start in life;  
9. Have a comprehensive range of education and learning opportunities; 
10. Enjoy the best possible health and are free from abuse, victimisation and 

exploitation; 
11. Have access to play, leisure, sporting and cultural activities; 
12. Are listened to, treated with respect, and have their race cultural identity 

recognised; 
13. Have a safe home and a community which supports physical and emotional 

wellbeing; 
14. Are not disadvantaged by poverty.  

 
We consider that this proposal benefits children in their communities in accordance 
with the seven core aims set out above.  

 

What is the likely impact of the proposal on the staff of the LSC? 
All LSC staff are appointed by the LA and are contracted to work in any appropriate 
LSC provision. This is subject to the needs of the LA and the skills set of the staff in 
question. Any additional necessary resources will be provided to support the realigned 

Page 406



 

113 
 

provisions. Every effort will be made to redeploy any displaced staff and to minimise 
the risk of redundancy.  

 
What is the likely impact of the proposal on the local communities? 
This proposal will not have any significant impact on the local communities for the 
following reasons:   

• Proposed closures: there are currently very low numbers of pupils attending the 
majority of provisions; 4 of the LSCs proposed for closure will have no pupils in 
attendance  

• Proposed relocations: the proposed host schools have sufficient capacity to 
provide enhanced opportunities to access high quality cross phase educational 
provision in modern and accessible school buildings. 

• Proposed re-designations: there are currently very low numbers of pupils 
attending the provisions proposed for re-designation.  1 of the 2 provisions will 
have no pupils affected by the proposal.  The second provision has a surplus 
capacity of 90%. 

• Proposed new provisions: More local children will be able to access specialist 
provision within their local community and the new provisions will address a gap 
in existing provision. There will be less demand for transporting children out of 
area to receive their education and this should impact positively on the 
environment. The schools will make effective use of any surplus space within 
the school and develop a resource that will be of benefit to vulnerable children 
and young people, and their parents/carers. The proposed establishment of 
LSCs will enhance the overall capacity of the host schools to meet a diverse 
range of needs as there will be further specialist SEN expertise within the 
school.  

 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for this proposal. This will be 
updated after the consultation has been completed to ensure that they include 
pertinent issues that have arisen and need to be taken into account. The assessment 
will be presented to the Council’s Cabinet in the report that sets out the consultation 
feedback received in respect of this proposal. A copy of the Equality Impact 
Assessment is available on request. 

 

What are the disadvantages of these proposals? 
LSC re-alignment will inevitably cause some limited disruption and uncertainty for a 
period of time, although previous experiences has demonstrated that any potential 
difficulties can be minimised when managed effectively. Provisions have been 
selected based on considerable surplus capacity issues. Preventative measures will 
be taken to ensure that any potential negative impact on children’s education and 
wellbeing are avoided or minimised.   

Page 407



 

114 
 

The change in provision has some implications for a relatively small number of pupils 
attending the provisions as a change in provision may be needed. Bespoke packages 
of support will be put in place to eradicate or minimise any potential negative impact. 
The re-location of some LSC provision aims to provide more continuity for our most 
vulnerable learners to access cross phase specialist provision, reduce unnecessary 
transition and travel with the opportunity to provide through provision for all primary 
ages.  

The closure and re-designation of some LSCs will enable the LA to re-direct much 
needed resources to areas of greater need. Without closing and re-designating the 
named LSC provisions, the LA will not be able to implement the plan for the proposed 
re-alignment for the LSCs across the LA. Implementing this plan will be of benefit to 
all pupils with SEN across RCT and will ensure greater equality and access to 
specialist provision.  

The Council considers that the educational advantages of the proposals outweigh the 
short-term impact of the changes for the pupils and parents.  

 

What alternative options have been considered? 
 
To do nothing would be an inefficient use of resources and would result in inadequate 
provision in areas of identified need. To use the closure of provisions as an opportunity 
to make efficiencies would not be in keeping with the LAs commitment to developing 
high quality provision for some of our most vulnerable residents.  There is clearly 
identified need for this provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf and it would be in children 
and young people’s interest to address this.  
 
Some consideration was given to re-directing resources to further enhance the 
capacity of mainstream schools to meet need in local community schools. However, 
in so doing this could make the continuum of provision more fragmented which could 
in turn enhance pressures for special school and PRU placements.   
 
Whilst alternative options have been considered, these have not been pursued given 
the obvious benefits of implementing these changes. These are summarised as 
follows: 
 
Proposed closures: the majority of proposed LSC closures are to take place in settings 
that have either no learners in attendance or have significant surplus capacity. 
Resources still need to be redirected to address gaps in existing provision. This 
suggested course of action is the only logical solution, which will enable the LA to 
make more effective use of scarce resources.  
 
Proposed relocations: the proposed relocations have been specifically selected as 
they allow for greater opportunities for SEN pupils to access high quality cross phase 
educational provision within accessible school environments that have benefited from 
school modernisation and investment programmes. 

Proposed re-designation: the LSCs selected for re-designation fall within the 
catchment areas of Ysgol Hen Felin and Ysgol Ty Coch, re-designating the provision 

Page 408



 

115 
 

to Early Years settings will strengthen partnership arrangements with both special 
schools and will enhance the continuum of specialist support and provision for pupils 
in the early years thus enhancing the possibility of re-integration back into mainstream 
or assessment to inform more long-term specialist placement in an alternative setting.  

Proposed new provisions: alternative secondary schools could be approached to 
establish a specialist provision. However, Ysgol Nant Gwyn and Treorchy 
Comprehensive School were selected because of their inclusive practice and success 
in supporting pupils with SEN in the mainstream and significant investment from the 
21st Century Schools Modernisation Programme. Furthermore, the location of the 
settings will address local needs. Establishing these provisions will reduce the demand 
for special school/PRU placements which can then be safeguarded for pupils with 
more complex learning, medical and physical needs. 
 

Community, Equality and Welsh Language Impact Assessments 
Welsh Language and Community Impact Assessments are not required for these 
proposals. However, an Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared in respect of 
this proposal and will be published on the Council’s website together with the 
consultation document that outlines the proposal in detail.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 409



 

116 
 

Section 3  
Learning Support Class Proposed Closures  
RCT County Borough Council proposes LSC closures to take place from the 1st of 
September due to no pupils attending the designated provisions or diminishing 
numbers: To achieve this, the proposal is to close the following LSCs:  

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties Heol y 
Celyn Primary School –  no learners in September 2019 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties Heol y Celyn 
Primary School – only 2 learners in September 2019 

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties (x1 class) 
Penrhys Primary School –  no learners in September 2019 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional, Behavioural Difficulties 
Penywaun Primary School –  no learners in September 2019 

• Foundation Phase for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties in Pontygwaith 
Primary School – no learners in September 2019 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils Caradog Primary School with Complex Learning 
Difficulties 
 

Background to the proposed closure of LSC’s  
On the 3rd October 2018 Cabinet considered the Director of Education and Lifelong 
Learning’s report on the Review of Learning Support Class Provision within Rhondda 
Cynon Taf. Approval was given by Cabinet for the proposals to be consulted on in 
accordance with the School Organisation Code (2013).  

Improving the quality of education and raising standards is one of the Council’s key 
priorities. It is considered that improving standards and educational outcomes for 
some of our most vulnerable pupils will improve their life chances, access to the world 
of work and other education pathways. Ensuring that our provisions are well matched 
to the needs of pupils is central to pupils achieving positive outcomes.  

There are currently a number of LSC provisions that have no learners placed, have 
diminishing numbers or are situated in schools that have poor access.  Allowing poorly 
utilised provisions to remain open is not an efficient use of Council resources.  The 
resources would be better utilised if re-directed to enhance existing provision to meet 
need and to address identified gaps in provision. Ensuring that LSC provisions are 
based in full accessible schools fit for the 21st Century is also a priority.  

 

Information on schools affected by the proposals  
Heol Y Celyn Primary School 

Heol Y Celyn Primary School is located at Holly Street, Rhydfelin, Pontypridd, CF37 
5DB. This school is a bilingual provision and is situated in a CLASP modular building. 
It is in good repair. The school currently has 2 English medium Learning Support 

Page 410



 

117 
 

Classes (LSC) designated to support 8-10 Foundation Phase pupils and 10 Key Stage 
2 pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties.  

The pupil numbers and forecast information for Heol Y Celyn from 2018-2020 are 
shown below and are obtained from the statutory Pupil Level Annual School Census 
(PLASC) which is undertaken in January each year. The pupil forecasts for Heol y 
Celyn Primary school are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh 
Government. The numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh 
Government’s Statutory School Organisation Code.  

Pupil numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Heol Y Celyn 
Primary School 298 295 296 316 320 323 328 332 322 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Heol Y Celyn 
Primary School 56 57 67 46 54 50 51 51 51 

Capacity of the school: 391 

Heol Y Celyn Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in June 2014 (follow up  
visit were undertaken in November 2015 and January 2017).  The inspection 
comments are summarised as follows: 
 
The school’s current performance  Adequate 

 
The school’s prospects for improvement  
 

Adequate 

 

There are currently no pupils attending the Foundation Phase LSC provision for 
Complex Learning Difficulties. There will also be a surplus capacity of 80% in the Key 
Stage 2 provision for learners with Complex Learning Difficulties in 2019. It is proposed 
that both classes close in September 2019. 

For the 2 pupils potentially affected by the Key Stage 2 proposal, suitable 
arrangements will be put in place in consultation with parents and professionals to 
ensure appropriate provision is made thus minimising any potential impact on the pupil 
and their families.  This could involve additional support in a mainstream setting of 
parental choice or alternative specialist provision appropriate to individual need. The 
nearest LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties is at Gwaunmeisgyn Primary 
School (5.4 miles). All pupils affected by these proposals will be eligible for school 
transport to their nearest appropriate specialist setting in line with the Council’s 
Learner Travel Policy. 

Page 411



 

118 
 

Penrhys Primary School 

Penrhys Primary School is located at Penrhys, Tylorstown, Ferndale, CF43 3PL.  The 
school is an English medium provision and is situated in a CLASP modular building 
plus a small extension. It is in poor repair. The school currently has 2 LSCs designated 
to support 16-20 Foundation Phase pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties and 2 
LSCs designated to support 20 Key Stage 2 pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties.  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Penrhys Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Penrhys Primary School are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers 
shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory 
School Organisation Code. However, nursery capacity separately is shown 
separately. 

 

Pupil numbers (excluding Nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penrhys Primary 
School 124 120 107 106 94 85 82 73 65 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penrhys Primary 
School 22 14 16 5 10 10 9 10 9 

Capacity of the school: 130 

Penrhys Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in October 2017. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 

Inspection area  
 

Judgement  

Standards  Adequate and needs improvement  
Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good  
Teaching and learning experiences  Adequate and needs improvement  
Care, support and guidance  Good  
Leadership and management  Adequate and needs improvement  

 

By September 2019, there will be 1 pupil accessing the x 2 Foundation Phase LSC 
provisions for Complex Learning Difficulties. It is proposed that 1 LSC with no pupils 
in attendance in September 2019 is closed. No pupils will be affected by this proposal. 

 

 

 

Page 412



 

119 
 

Penywaun Primary School 

Penywaun Primary School is located at Coed Glas, Penywaun, Aberdare, CF44 9DR.  
The school is an English Medium provision and is situated in a modern brick and block 
style building. It is in good repair. The school currently has 1 LSC designated to 
support 8-10 Key Stage 2 pupils with Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties 
(SEBD) and 1 LSC designated to support 10 Key Stage 2  pupils with Communication 
Disorders.  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Penywaun Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Penywaun Primary School 
are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The 
numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s 
Statutory School Organisation Code. However, we have shown the nursery capacity 
separately. 

Pupil numbers (excluding Nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penywaun Primary 
School 200 198 204 176 169 155 141 131 125 

 

Nursery pupil number and forecast information:  

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penywaun Primary 
School 33 35 19 20 22 22 20 21 21 

Capacity of the school: 253 

Penywaun Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in March 2017. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 
 

The school’s current performance  
 

Adequate  

The school’s prospects for 
improvement  

Adequate  

 

The class for pupils with SEBD has not been operational since September 2017 and 
no learners are currently attending the provision, No learners will be affected by this 
proposal. There is also a vacant teaching post in this setting.  
 
Pontygwaith Primary School 

Pontygwaith Primary School is located at Graig Street, Pontygwaith, Ferndale, CF43 
3LY. The school is an English medium provision and is situated in a Victorian style 
building. It is in good repair. The school currently has 1 LSC designated to support 8-
10 Foundation Phase pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties.  

Page 413



 

120 
 

 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Pontygwaith Primary School from 
2018-2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Pontygwaith Primary School 
are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The 
numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s 
Statutory School Organisation Code.  However, the nursery capacity is shown 
separately.  

Pupil Numbers (excluding Nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Pontygwaith 
Primary School 143 175 164 166 167 154 149 145 137 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Pontygwaith 
Primary School 37 35 24 24 20 28 25 26 26 

Capacity of the school: 182 

Pontygwaith Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in March 2011. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 

The school’s current performance  Good  
 

The school’s prospects for improvement  
 

Good  

 

The class has not been operational since September 2017 due to diminishing 
numbers. No pupils will be affected by this proposal as there are no learners currently 
in the provision.  

Caradog Primary School 

Caradog Primary School is located at 30 Clifton St, Aberdare CF44 7PB.  The school 
is an English medium provision and is situated in a Victorian style building. It is in good 
repair, but accessibility for pupils with complex physical and medical needs is not ideal. 
The school currently has 2 LSCs designated to support 8-10 Foundation Phase pupils 
and 10 Key Stage 2 pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties (CLD).  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Caradog Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Caradog Primary School are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers 
shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory 
School Organisation Code.  However, nursery capacity is shown separately.  

Page 414



 

121 
 

Pupil Numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Caradog Primary 
School 171 182 186 199 193 193 188 186 187 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Caradog Primary 
School 24 31 35 24 26 26 24 25 25 

 

Capacity of the school: 194 

Caradog Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in April 2014. The inspection 
comments are summarised as follows: 
 

The school’s current performance  Good  
 

The school’s prospects for improvement  
 

Good  

 
There are currently 6 pupils attending the Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties with a predicted surplus capacity of 20% in September 2019. 
Access is an issue in this setting, particularly for learners with physical and medical 
needs. For those pupils affected by this proposal suitable arrangements will be put in 
place in consultation with parents and professionals to ensure that appropriate 
alternative provision is made thus minimising the impact on pupils and their families.  
This could involve additional support in a mainstream setting of parental choice or 
alternative specialist provision appropriate to individual need.  

The nearest LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties will be Cwmbach 
Primary School (2.8 miles).  This school is fully accessible due to the £6m investment 
as part of the 21st Century school programme.  It will also house the Foundation Phase 
LSC for Complex Learning Difficulties which will minimise future transitions and ensure 
that there is cross phase provision on the one, fully accessible and modernised school 
site.  All pupils affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to their 
nearest appropriate specialist setting in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 415



 

122 
 

Section 4  
Learning Support Class Proposed Relocations  
RCT County Borough Council proposes to relocate 3 LSCs from the 1st of September 
2019.  

 
To achieve this, the proposal is to relocate the following LSCs:   

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from 
Caradog Primary School to Cwmbach Primary School, creating a cross phase 
provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2.   

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from 
Penrhys Primary School to Maerdy Community Primary School, creating a 
cross phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders based at Hafod 
Primary School to Porth Community School (3-16 provision) creating a cross 
phase provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 4. 

 

Background to the proposed relocation of LSC’s 
On the 3rd October 2018 Cabinet considered the Director of Education and Lifelong 
Learning’s report on the Review of LSC Provision within Rhondda Cynon Taf. Approval 
was given by Cabinet for the proposals to be consulted on in accordance with the 
School Organisation Code (2013).  

Improving the quality of education and raising standards is one of the Council’s key 
priorities. It is considered that improving standards and educational outcomes for 
some of our most vulnerable pupils will improve their life chances, access to the world 
of work and other education pathways. Ensuring that our provisions are well matched 
to the needs of pupils is central to pupils achieving positive outcomes.  

It is proposed that relocations of LSCs are undertaken to premises which are more 
accessible and better equipped to meet a range of needs.  The proposals will ensure 
greater compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and relocation to two significantly 
improved premises which have benefited from the 21st Century Schools Modernisation 
Programme and investment.  The proposals will minimise unnecessary transition for 
pupils with significant needs, provide continuity in their educational placements and 
ensure that a higher number of specialist LSC provisions provide equity for pupils in 
LSCs so that they remain in one setting until transition to secondary provision 
 

Information on schools affected by the proposals  
Hafod Primary school  

Hafod Primary School is located at Wayne St, Pontypridd CF37 2NL.  The school is 
an English medium provision and is situated in a Victorian style building. It is in good 
repair. The school currently has 1 Learning Support Class (LSC) designated to support 
10 Key Stage 2 pupils with Communication Disorder (CD).  

Page 416



 

123 
 

 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Hafod Primary School from 2018-2020 
are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is undertaken in 
January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Hafod Primary School are calculated in 
accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers shown 
exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory School 
Organisation Code. However, nursery capacity is shown separately.   

Pupil Numbers (excluding Nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Hafod Primary 
School 91 96 102 107 105 114 121 115 114 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Hafod Primary 
School 15 17 17 20 18 19 17 18 18 

Capacity of the school: 113 

Hafod Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in March 2016. The inspection 
comments are summarised as follows: 
 

 

 

There are currently 8 pupils attending the Key Stage 2 Communication Disorder LSC. 
It is proposed that they transfer to a newly established provision in Porth Community 
School (3-16). Those pupils affected by this proposal will access suitable support and 
transition to ensure that appropriate provision is made. This would involve additional 
support in a mainstream setting of parental choice or alternative specialist provision 
appropriate to individual need. Pupils may transfer with the proposed relocation of the 
newly established LSC in Porth Community School which has recently received 
£11.6m investment as part of the 21st Century School Modernisation Programme and 
will provide a fully accessible cross phase provision for learners with ASD.  All pupils 
affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to their nearest 
appropriate specialist setting in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy. 

 
Caradog Primary School 

Caradog Primary School is located at 30 Clifton St, Aberdare CF44 7PB.  The school is an 
English medium provision and is situated in a Victorian style building. It is in good 
repair, but presents with significant access issues due to its location and structure. 
The school currently has 2 Learning Support Classes (LSC) designated to support 8-

The school’s current performance Good 
 

The school’s prospects for improvement  Good 

Page 417



 

124 
 

10 Foundation Phase pupils and 10 Key Stage 2 pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties (CLD).  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Caradog Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Caradog Primary School are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers 
shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory 
School Organisation Code.  However, the nursery capacity is shown separately.  

Pupil Numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Caradog Primary 
School 171 182 186 199 193 193 188 186 187 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Caradog Primary 
School 24 31 35 24 26 26 24 25 25 

Capacity of the school: 194 

Caradog Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in April 2014. The inspection 
comments are summarised as follows: 
 

The school’s current performance  Good  
 

The school’s prospects for improvement  Good  
 

 

There are currently 8 pupils attending the Foundation Phase Complex Learning 
Difficulties LSC. However, accessibility for learners with physical and medical needs 
is an issue. For those pupils affected by this proposal, suitable arrangements will be 
put in place in consultation with all involved to ensure appropriate provision is made.  
This could involve additional support in a mainstream setting of parental choice or 
alternative specialist provision appropriate to individual need. Pupils may transfer with 
the proposed relocation of the LSC to Cwmbach Primary School. In light of learners 
needs and numbers a review of support needs will also be undertaken to assist with 
transition into a new setting. Cwmbach Primary School is fully accessible and has 
recently received £6m investment as part of the 21st Century school modernisation 
programme. This will provide cross phase provision on an accessible single school 
site. All pupils affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to their 
nearest appropriate specialist setting in line with the Council’s Learner Travel Policy. 

Penrhys Primary School 

Penrhys Primary School is located at Penrhys, Tylorstown, Ferndale, CF43 3PL.  The 
school is an English medium provision and is situated in a CLASP style building. It is 

Page 418



 

125 
 

in poor repair. The school currently has 2 LSCs designated to support 16 - 20 
Foundation Phase pupils and 2 Key stage 2 LSCs to support 20 pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties (CLD).  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Penrhys Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Penrhys Primary School are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers 
shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory 
School Organisation Code. However, nursery capacity is shown separately  

Pupil Numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penrhys Primary 
School 124 120 107 106 94 85 82 73 65 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Penrhys Primary 
School 22 14 16 5 10 10 9 10 9 

Capacity of the school: 130 

Penrhys Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in October 2017. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 
 

Inspection area  
 

Judgement  

Standards  Adequate and needs improvement  
Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good  
Teaching and learning experiences  Adequate and needs improvement  
Care, support and guidance  Good  
Leadership and management  Adequate and needs improvement  

 

In September 2019, there will be 1 pupil attending a total of 2 Foundation Phase LSC 
provisions for Complex Learning Difficulties.  

For the one child affected by the proposal to transfer the LSC provision to Maerdy 
Primary School, suitable arrangements will be put in place in consultation with all 
involved to ensure that appropriate provision is made.  This could involve additional 
support in a mainstream setting of parental choice or alternative specialist provision 
appropriate to individual need. The pupil may transfer with the proposed relocation of 
the LSC to Maerdy Community Primary School which will have cross phased provision 
on site. The pupil affected by these proposals will be eligible for school transport to 
their nearest appropriate specialist setting in line with the Council’s Learner Travel 
Policy. 

Page 419



 

126 
 

Section 5  
Learning Support Classes Proposed Re-Designations 
RCT County Borough Council proposes the re-designations of LSCs to ensure a better 
match of provision to meet identified need. 

To achieve this, the proposal is to re–designate the following LSC provisions with 
effect from the 1st September 2019:  
 

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at Darran 
Park Primary and Foundation Phase Observation and Assessment Class at 
Llantrisant Primary to become Early Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs 
for pupils under compulsory school age with significant presenting needs.   

 
Background to the proposed re-designation of LSC’s 
On the 3rd October 2018 Cabinet considered the Director of Education and Lifelong 
Learning report on the Review of LSC Provision in Rhondda Cynon Taf. Approval was 
given by Cabinet for the proposals to be consulted on in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code (2013).  

Improving the quality of education and raising standards is one of the Council’s key 
priorities. It is considered that improving standards and educational outcomes for 
some of our most vulnerable pupils will improve their life chances, access to the world 
of work and other education pathways. Ensuring that our provisions are well matched 
to the needs of pupils is central to pupils achieving positive outcomes.  

The proposal to enhance current Early Years LSCs provision will enable children of 
non-statutory school age to receive early assessment and intervention within a 
mainstream LSC context and timely access to specialist support to inform re-
integration placements or more long-term specialist placements. These re-
designations and an enhanced outreach role for special schools will also strengthen 
partnership arrangements and enhance the continuum of specialist support and 
provision for pupils in the early years. 

 

Information on Schools affected by the proposals  

Darran Park Primary school  

Darran Park Primary School is located at Brook Street, Ferndale CF43 4LE.  The 
school is an English medium provision and is situated in a modern style building. It is 
in good repair. The school currently has a Foundation Phase LSC for 8-10 pupils with 
Complex Learning Difficulties.  
 

The pupil numbers and forecast information for Darran Park Primary School from 
2018-2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Darran Park Primary School 
are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The 

Page 420



 

127 
 

numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s 
Statutory School Organisation Code.  

Pupil Numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Darran Park 
Primary School 251 267 313 307 313 306 315 315 308 

 
Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Darran Park 
Primary School 50 44 57 49 52 56 51 53 53 

Capacity: 359 
 
Darran Park Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in September 2017. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 
Inspection area  Judgement  
Standards  Good  
Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  Good  
Teaching and learning experiences  Good  
Care, support and guidance  Good  
Leadership and management  Good  

 
By September 2019, there will be 1 pupil with attending the Foundation Phase LSC 
for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties. Suitable arrangements will be put in place 
in consultation with parents and professionals to ensure appropriate provision is made 
thus minimising the impact on the pupil and their families.  This could involve additional 
support in a mainstream setting of parental choice or alternative specialist provision 
appropriate to individual need. The nearest LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties will be Maerdy Community Primary School (1.9 miles). 
 
 
Llantrisant Primary School 
 
Llantrisant Primary School is located at Coed Yr Esgob, Llantrisant, CF72 8EL.  The 
school is an English medium provision and is situated in a modern style building. It is 
in good repair. The school currently has a Foundation Phase Observation and 
assessment Class for 8 – 10 pupils.  
 
The pupil numbers and forecast information for Llantrisant Primary School from 2018-
2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Llantrisant Primary School 
are calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The 
numbers shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s 
Statutory School Organisation Code. However, nursery capacity is shown separately. 

Page 421



 

128 
 

Pupil Numbers (excluding nursery) and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Llantristant Primary 
School 115 112 102 102 96 89 85 81 84 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014/
15 

2015/
16 

2016/
17 

2017/
18 

2018/
19 

2019/
20 

2020/
21 

2021/
22 

2022/
23 

Llantristant Primary 
School 24 24 25 18 21 20 20 20 20 

Capacity:155 

 
Llantrisant Primary School was last inspected by Estyn in November 2015. The 
inspection comments are summarised as follows: 
 
The school’s current performance  Good  

 
The school’s prospects for improvement  
 

Good  

 

There are currently 5 pupils attending the Assessment and Observation LSC. No 
pupil will be affected by this proposal in September 2019.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 422



 

129 
 

Section 6 
Proposed New Provisions  
 
RCT County Borough Council proposes to create the following new LSCs provision 
with effect from the 1st of September 2019: 
 

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with SEBD at Ysgol Nant Gwyn 
• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at  

Treorchy Comprehensive School  
 

Background to the opening of new LSC’s 
On the 3rd October 2018 Cabinet considered the Director of Education and Lifelong 
Learning’s report on the Review of LSC Provision in RCT. Approval was given by 
Cabinet for the proposals to be consulted on in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code (2013).  

Improving the quality of education and raising standards is one of the Council’s key 
priorities. It is considered that improving standards and educational outcomes for 
some of our most vulnerable pupils will improve their life chances, access to the world 
of work and other education pathways. Ensuring that our provisions are well matched 
to the needs of pupils is central to pupils achieving positive outcomes.  

The proposal to increase KS3/4 provision addresses the increasing demand for 
secondary LSC provision and the imbalance between the number of LSCs within 
mainstream primary and secondary settings  

 

Information on schools affected by the proposals  

Ysgol Nant Gwyn  

Ysgol  Nant Gwyn is located at Llewellyn Street, Penygraig, CF40 1HQ. The school is 
a newly created 3 – 16 English medium provision and is situated on a site that has 
benefited from extensive modernisation and extension through the 21st Century 
School Modernisation Programme. The school does not currently have LSC provision.  

The pupil numbers and forecast information for Ysgol Nant Gwyn from 2018-2020 are 
shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is undertaken in 
January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Ysgol Nant Gwyn are calculated in 
accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers shown 
exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory School 
Organisation Code.  

Projected pupil numbers (new school therefore no historical information is available) 

School Name  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
Ysgol Nant Gwyn 997 1002 987 962 

Page 423



 

130 
 

 

Nursery pupil numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
Ysgol Nant 
Gwyn 15 20 20 20 

 

Capacity: 1200 

As this is a new education setting there are no Estyn reports currently available. This 
proposal does not adversely impact any children as it is proposed that the provision 
is established to meet an identified need.  

 

Treorchy Comprehensive School 

Treorchy Comprehensive School is located at Pengelli, Treorchy, CF42 6UL. The 
school is an English medium provision and is situated on a site that has benefited from 
extensive modernisation through the 21st Century school modernisation programme. 
The school does not currently have LSC provision.  

The pupil numbers and forecast information for Treorchy Comprehensive School from 
2018-2020 are shown below and are obtained from the statutory PLASC which is 
undertaken in January each year.  The pupil forecasts for Ysgol Nant Gwyn are 
calculated in accordance with guidance issued by Welsh Government.  The numbers 
shown exclude nursery age pupils, as required by Welsh Government’s Statutory 
School Organisation Code. 

Pupil Numbers and forecast information: 

School Name  
2014
/15 

2015
/16 

2016
/17 

2017
/18 

2018
/19 

2019
/20 

2020
/21 

2021
/22 

2022
/23 

Treorchy 
Comprehensive 
School 1630 1609 1648 1650 1643 1667 1689 1698 1719 

Capacity: 1687 

Treorchy Comprehensive was last inspected by Estyn in March 2016. The inspection 
comments are summarised as follows: 
 
The school’s current performance  Good  

 
The school’s prospects for improvement  
 

Good  

 

The proposal will ensure that the current gap in secondary LSC provision for learners with 
Complex Learning Needs will be addressed.  

 

 

Page 424



 

131 
 

Appendix 1  

Consultation Response Pro-forma 

In order to help the Council reach a decision, it would be very helpful if you could answer the 
following questions. Completed questionnaires should be returned to:  

Director of Education and Inclusion Services’, Access and Inclusion Service, Ty Trevithick, 
Abercynon, CF45 4UQ or by fax to 01443 744024, or email to A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk 

The Proposals  

Proposal 1: The closure of the following LSC in August 2019:  

• Heol y Celyn Primary School – Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties  

• Heol y Celyn Primary School – Key Stage 2 LSC  for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties 

• Penrhys Primary School – Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties (x1 class) 

• Penywaun Primary School – Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Social, Emotional, 
Behavioural Difficulties  

• Pontygwaith Primary School – Foundation LSC Phase for pupils with Complex 
Learning Difficulties  

• Caradog Primary School – Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Complex Learning 
Difficulties 
 

1. Do you agree with the proposal?   Yes               No                Not sure  

Please let us know the reasons for your choice 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Proposal 2: The relocation of the following LSC from September 2019:  

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from Caradog 
Primary School to Cwmbach Primary School, creating a cross phase provision from 
Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2.   

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties from Penrhys 
Primary School to Maerdy Community Primary School, creating a cross phase 
provision from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 2 

• Key Stage 2 LSC for pupils with Communication Disorders based at Hafod Primary 
School to Porth Community School (3-16 provision) creating a cross phase provision 
from Foundation Phase to Key Stage 4 

 
2. Do you agree with the proposal?   Yes                No                Not sure  

Please let us know the reasons for your choice 
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Proposal 3:  The re-designations of the following LSC’s from 1st September 2019:  

• Foundation Phase LSC for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at Darran Park 
Primary and Foundation Phase Observation and Assessment Class at Llantrisant 

Page 425

mailto:A&IService@rctcbc.gov.uk


 

132 
 

Primary to become Early Years Assessment and Intervention LSCs for pupils under 
compulsory school age with significant presenting needs.   

 

3. Do you agree with the proposal?   Yes                   No                Not sure  

Please let us know the reasons for your choice 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________ 
Proposal 4: The creation of New LSC provision with effect from the 1st of September 
2019: 

• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with SEBD at Ysgol Nant Gwyn 
• Key Stage 3/4 LSC provision for pupils with Complex Learning Difficulties at a 

Comprehensive School to be confirmed following discussions with Headteachers 
 

4. Do you agree with the proposal?   Yes                 No               Not sure  

Please let us know the reasons for your choice 

_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________ 

5. Please state any additional views or points which you would like to be taken into account 
(attach additional sheets if necessary) 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

 
6. Please indicate who you are (e.g. parent of a pupil at named school, governor at named 
school etc.) 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Name (Optional).  Please provide contact details if you wish to be notified of publication 

of the consultation report 
 

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.  Please forward completed 
questionnaires to the above address no later than 5pm on the 21st December 2018. 

The Council is committed to keeping your personal information safe and secure and keeping 
you informed about how we use your information. To learn about how your privacy is protected 
and how and why we use your personal information to provide you with services, please visit 
our Consultation privacy notice here: 
www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice  and the Council’s data protection pages here: 
 www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection.   
 

Page 426

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/serviceprivacynotice
http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/dataprotection


RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

24th  JANUARY 2019

KEY STAGE 4 AND KEY STAGE 5 EXAMINATION RESULTS AND 
PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION FOR 2018

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION 
SERVICES IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER, COUNCILLOR J ROSSER.

Author: Gaynor Davies (01443 744009)

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Members with the final 
confirmation of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 examination results for 
2017-18 and the Welsh Government Primary and Secondary School 
Categorisation for 2018-19.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Cabinet:

2.1 Note the information contained within the report. 

2.2 Note the action taken to date and the future planned intervention of the  
Director of Education and Inclusion Services in partnership with Central 
Services and Central South Consortium to support schools currently 
categorised as amber and red. 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To ensure that Cabinet Members are fully aware of the educational 
performance of our pupils and schools in Rhondda  Cynon Taf.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 outcomes are externally verified through 
GCSE and GCE Advanced Level examinations which are undertaken 
at the end of the respective Key Stages. 

4.2    The local authority analyses examination outcomes for each school  

Page 427

Agenda Item 6



and compares school’s performance against other secondary schools 
in the County Borough. Comparisons are also made across the region, 
so that Rondda Cynon Taf’s performance can be measured against 
the other local authorities within Central South Consortium. National 
benchmarking datasets provide an indication of comparative 
performance at an all Wales level.  

4.3    When reviewing the comparative data it is important to contextualise 
the information and to take into account the socio-economic factors 
across the 22 Welsh local authorities. Whilst poverty and deprivation 
are not excuses for educational underperformance, they are factors 
that influence educational outcomes. In comparing Rhondda Cynon 
Taf with other local authorities, in terms of eligibility for free school 
meals, Rhondda Cynon Taf has the third highest level behind Blaenau 
Gwent and Neath Port Talbot. Therefore, if the indicators are 
compared based on free school meals measures, you would “expect” 
Rhondda Cynon Taf to be 20th in the comparative indicators. 
Therefore, our performance should be judged on the value added over 
and above what is expected. 

5. KEY STAGE 4 

5.1 Substantial changes were introduced to the Key Stage 4 curriculum 
in 2017 and how individual pupil and school performance is assessed 
in Wales, Northern Ireland and England. In the past, the three 
countries have been aligned and the education standards had been 
set and maintained by one qualification regulator. There are now 
three separate regulators for the GCSE qualification across the three 
countries. 

5.2 As a result, the GCSE qualifications are developed to meet the 
different requirements of each regulator, which are awarded 
independently of each other. This means that the grades awarded 
within a subject will no longer be benchmarked across each country. 
Clearly, this could create problems in the future in terms of 
comparisons between qualifications for employers and further and 
higher education institutions. The three regulators are committed to 
working together, as they keep their respective approaches to 
maintaining standards, under review.  

5.3 In 2017 the following changes were introduced: 

 The introduction of new GCSE’s for English language, Welsh 
(first) language, GCSE mathematics and a new examination 
GCSE mathematics – numeracy;

 The new GCSEs are now linear with the assessment being 
undertaken through examination at the end of the course. 

Page 428



Previous GCSEs were available in a modular option, which 
included a controlled assessment unit for the language 
qualifications and examinations which could be taken in stages 
over a two year period;  

 Significant changes to the key performance measures in 2017 are 
detailed as follows:
o A maximum of two vocational qualifications will count 

towards the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 2 inclusive measure. 
In 2016, five vocational qualifications could have counted for 
the Level 1 and Level 2 thresholds and three for the Level 2 
inclusive;

o Only the new GCSE’s for English language, Welsh (first) 
language, and one of GCSE mathematics or GCSE 
mathematics – numeracy counts towards the literacy and 
maths elements of the Level 2 inclusive performance 
measure. English literature no longer counts towards the 
literacy and maths elements;

o The capped points score performance measure is the “best” 
nine qualifications, rather than the previous eight, which must 
include English language or Welsh (first) language, GCSE 
mathematics, GCSE mathematics – numeracy, two science 
qualifications (two science GCSE’s from 2018), and no more 
than four vocational qualifications.

5.4 The new examinations were first undertaken by Welsh pupils in 2017, 
and Key Stage 4 outcomes last year were variable, with some 
schools displaying greater resilience in adapting to the changes 
imposed. In light of the new examinations and the fact that they 
assess different skill sets and knowledge bases than the previous 
examinations, the results achieved prior to 2017 cannot be 
meaningfully compared to 2017 and 2018 outcomes. Nevertheless, 
judgements can still be made about the progress made since 2017. 
However, it should be noted that further changes to performance 
measures are planned for 2018/19.

5.5 Schools will need to consider further analysis for summer 2019 
reporting, the details of which are still to be agreed by Welsh 
Government, as this will include analysis of:

 the cohort split into thirds;
 the performance of schools in a similar socio-economic setting;
 participation, entry and grades received for English, 

mathematics and science.

Welsh Government are due to issue further detail and guidance on 
these requirements. 

Page 429



5.6 The table below sets out the Key Stage 4 results for 2018. Central 
South Consortium’s data is also shown for comparative purposes. 
The 2016 dataset is also included for reference purposes only. 

KS4 2016
Legacy 
GCSE’s

%

2017
New 

GCSE’s
Actual 

%

2018
GCSE’s  

%

Level 1 threshold (5 A*-G at GCSE or 
equivalent)
RCT 96.7 94.7 94.7
CSC 95.4 94.3 94.5
Wales 95.3 94.4 93.7
Level 2 threshold (5 A*-C at GCSE or 
equivalent – minimum of three GCSEs)  
RCT 90.3 63.2 64.2
CSC 87.1 67.6 69.2
Wales 84.0 67.0 67.0
Level 2 threshold (5 A*-C at GCSE or 
equivalent)  including English/Welsh and 
mathematics  
RCT 56.6 49.8 53.1
CSC 60.9 54.5 57.6
Wales 60.3 54.6 55.1
A* - C in English
RCT 69.0 56.4 60.0
CSC 71.1 62.5 65.0
Wales 69.3 63.7 62.6
A* - C in Welsh
RCT 74.3 74.7 70.9
CSC 77.5 79.1 79.2
Wales 75.1 74.2 74.3
A* - C in Mathematics (best of the 2 
GCSEs)
RCT 61.6 59.3 61.5
CSC 66.5 62.4 65.3
Wales 66.9 62.5 63.6
A* - C or equivalent in science             
RCT 85.7 78.6 58.5
CSC 85.9 80.3 63.0
Wales 82.4 75.6 63.0

 The table illustrates that Level 1 outcomes remained relatively stable
  during 2017/18 in comparison to 2016/17. Improved outcomes were

Page 430



 evident on Level 2 and Level 2+ measures during 2017/18. The Level 
2+ 
outcomes improved by 3.3% which is greater than the progress made 
both regionally and nationally. The Level 1 outcomes were above the 
regional average for Central South Consortium (CSC) and the national 
average, although Level 2 and Level 2+ outcomes were below both the 
regional and national averages. The percentage of learners achieving 
A*-C in Welsh and science dipped this academic year, particularly in 
science. This can be explained by the recent changes in performance 
measures and the reduced reliance on BTEC science qualifications. 
A*-C outcomes in English and mathematics (best of the 2 GCSEs) 
improved by 3.6%age points and 2.2%age points this academic year. 

In comparison with the all Wales average for Level 2+, the gap with 
Rhondda Cynon Taf’s is at a historic low (2%age points). Rhondda 
Cynon Taf currently ranks 10th out of 22 local authorities for Level 2+ 
suggesting that we are performing above expected outcomes given our 
fsm ranking in Wales. 

 
 5.7 Variations across schools and key performance measures were 

evident this academic year but in the main the vast majority of schools  
made encouraging progress on Key Stage 4 outcomes. 

5.8 During the autumn term senior local authority officers have been 
proactively working with head teachers and school improvement 
officers in Central South Consortium to analyse the outcome data and 
to identify individual school strengths and areas for area for 
improvement. Analysis has also included performance on a school by 
school basis, and within each school on a subject by subject basis. An 
analysis of outcomes for vulnerable groups has also been undertaken 
to ensure that schools are targeting their resources and interventions 
appropriately. Data suggest that schools need to ensure that the right 
curriculum is made available to all Key Stage 4 pupils that best suits 
their needs and that the teaching provided is of the highest standard 
possible. Focus also needs to be placed on ensuring that learners are 
ready to learn, attend school regularly and access the right support to 
enable them to overcome any barriers to learning that are experienced. 

 
6.      PROGRESS AT KEY STAGE 5 

   6.1    Over the last four years, there have been substantial changes in the 
post 16 environment with the removal of some courses, the introduction 
of new syllabi, 6th form reorganisation in parts of the Borough and 
restriction in the choice of examination boards. This makes the 
comparison of outcome data over time difficult. Rhondda Cynon Taf’s 
performance on the National Level 3 threshold indicator suggests that 
the outcomes are just below the regional and national average by 1.7% 

Page 431



and 1.4% respectively for 2017/18. Nevertheless, 96.2% of learners 
achieved the Level 3 threshold. A gap of 2.0% exists between boys and 

girls on this measure, with girls outperforming boys. 

6.2       In line with national averages, girls continue to outperform boys on the
  wider points score measure. There has been a significant increase in the 

average points score this year with an increase of 46.2 achieved for 
pupils aged 17. 

All All Boys Girls
Number of 
pupils aged 
17 who 
entered a 
volume 
equivalent 
to 2 A 
levels

Entered a 
volume 
equivalent 
to 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 
the level 3 
threshold 
%

Entered a 
volume 
equivalent 
to 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 
the level 3 
threshold 
%

Entered a 
volume 
equivalent 
to 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 
the level 3 
threshold 
%

2017/18 RCT 869 96.2 95.0 97.0
Central 
South 

3327 97.9 97.2 98.5

Wales 9452 97.6 96.7 98.3

2016/17 RCT 1004 96.3 95.7 96.7
Central 
South 

3589 97.4 96.7 98.0

Wales 10152 97.1 96.2 97.9

2015/16 RCT 1079 97.0 95.3 98.3
Central 
South 

3751 97.7 96.9 98.3

Wales 10804 98.0 97.1 98.6

Page 432



6.3     In 2017, Welsh Government published data relating to the number of 
learners achieving 3 A*-A grades and 3 A*-C grades. Data suggests that 
the percentage of learners who achieved 3A*-A and 3A*-C increased by 
4.7%age points and 9.2%age points in 2017/18. Local trend data shows 
positive improvements on all 6 of the new suite of indicators which will 
replace the Level 3 threshold. In line with national averages, girls 
outperformed boys on both A*-A and A*-C measures. Rhondda Cynon 
Taf currently ranks 14th out of 20 local authorities for the percentage of 
pupils entering a volume equivalent of 2 A Levels and who achieved 3 A*-
C grades. It should be noted that Blaenau Gwent and Merthyr Tydfil do 
not have any school based 6th form provision. 

Year

Number 
of pupils 
aged 17 

Average 
wider 
points 
score for 
pupils 
aged 17

Average 
wider 
points 
score for 
pupils 
aged 17

Average 
wider 
points 
score for 
pupils 
aged 17

2017/18 RCT 996 723.8 691.4 746.1
Central 
South 

3757 754.9 720.5 783.5

Wales 10613 740.1 691.8 780.9
2016/17 RCT 1175 677.6 615.9 723.5

Central 
South 

4096 736.1 694.1 774.0

Wales 11434 730.6 681.2 773.2
2015/16 RCT 1278 765.7 705.8 812.7

Central 
South 

4286 830.2 780.6 874.0

Wales 12066 823.2 768.0 869.9

Page 433



7.         PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION 

         7.1    The current school categorisation model has changed significantly
 since 2016. 

7.2 Step One: consisting of data analysis in relation to standards and 
performance has been removed. 

7.3 Step Two: This judgment based on the school’s ability and capacity 
to self-improve is now central in coming to a view on a school support 
category. The process begins with the school’s own self-evaluation. 
The judgement on capacity to improve is to do with the school’s 
ability to drive its own improvement for the future and has a strong 
focus on leadership, learning and teaching. 

7.4 Following consideration of the self-evaluation report and relevant 
evidence relating to school leadership, the performance of all 
learners and groups of learners and the quality of teaching and 
learning within the school, the governing body, together with the 
challenge advisor, will agree the judgement for the school’s capacity 
to improve. 

7.5 Step Three: this judgement will lead to a colour categorisation of the 
school which will trigger a bespoke programme of support, challenge 
and intervention. 

All Boys Girls

Year

Percentag
e of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-C 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-C 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-A 
grades

Percentage 
of Pupils 
entering a 
volume 
equivalent 
of 2 A 
levels who 
achieved 3 
A*-C 
grades

2017/18 RCT 10.2 54.3 8.5 43.8 11.5 61.9
Central 
South 

15.0 61.9 15.3 55.4 14.8 67.1

Wales 13.4 58.1 13.0 50.1 13.8 64.2

2016/17 RCT 5.5 45.1 6.4 33.5 4.8 53.5
Central 
South 

11.8 56.6 12.6 49.7 11.0 62.5

Wales 10.5 54.7 10.3 47.6 10.6 60.5

Page 434



7.6 The categories of support are: 

• Green - these are our best schools who: 
o know themselves well and identify and implement their own 

priorities for improvement; 
o are rewarded by greater autonomy with limited, if any, 

interaction with challenge advisors; and 
o have the capacity to lead others effectively (school to school 

support). 

• Yellow – these are our good schools who: 
o will know and understand most of the areas in need of 

improvement;  have many aspects of the schools performance 
which are self-improving; and 

o will receive limited challenge and support meetings deployed 
according to need. 

• Amber – these are our schools in need of improvement who: 
o do not know and understand all the areas in need of 

improvement; 
o have many aspects of the schools performance which are not 

improving quickly enough; and 
o will receive time limited, focused challenge and intervention to 

support improvement; and 
o be subject to termly progress meetings with senior challenge 

advisor. 

• Red – these are our schools in need of greatest improvement who: 
o will receive critical intervention;
o receive an automatic warning letter from the local authority and 

subsequent use of statutory powers where necessary; 
o trigger intensive and effective collaboration between local 

authority and consortium; 
o will receive time limited, focused challenge and intervention to 

support improvement; and 
o be subject to half-termly progress meetings with the senior 

challenge advisor. 

7.7 A summary of Rhondda Cynon Taf’s provisional categorisation, 
subject to National Moderation, is shown below:

Page 435



Category Primary Schools Secondary Schools
No of Schools % No of Schools %

2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018 2016 2017 2018
Green 23 38 36 22.3 36.9 38.7 5 4 5 29.4 23.5 29.4
Yellow 66 59 48 64.1 57.3 51.6 7 10 7 41.2 59.0 41.2
Amber 13 5 6 12.6 4.9 6.5 5 1 3 29.4 5.9 17.6
Red 1 1 3 1.0 1.0 3.2 0 2 2 0 11.8 11.8

There has been an increase in the percentage of schools categorised 
as green at both primary and secondary level. A reduction in the 
percentage of good primary and secondary schools accessing yellow 
support has been evident during 2017/18 and a growth in the number 
of schools requiring improvement and amber/red support is evident at 
primary level. There has been a significant increase of 11.75% in the 
percentage of secondary schools requiring amber support but the 
proportion of secondary schools categorised as requiring the greatest 
improvement and red support has remained stable.

The Central South Consortium’s Framework for Challenge and 
Support sets out the response from the School Improvement Service 
to schools in each of the four categories, with the greatest support 
and challenge targeted at the amber and red schools. 

7.8 For the amber and red schools, the diagnosis of need for 
improvement undertaken by the challenge advisor with the school will 
drive the work within the school. The challenge advisor will provide 
the core allocation of contact according to the school’s category and 
will broker the required additional support through the commissioning 
function of the school improvement service working closely with the 
strategic advisors as necessary. 

7.9 The nature and amount of support will be determined by the 
identified need and may be derived from a number of sources, which 
could include one or a combination of: 
• Support from other schools in the region; 
• Support from other school improvement organisations and/or

                individuals from across the UK; 
• Specific leadership and/or teaching development. 

7.10 For schools requiring amber or red support the challenge advisor will 
need to keep the school’s progress and the appropriateness and 
impact of the support under review so as to make changes where 
required in good time. The focus will be on the impact of the work to 
secure improvement rather than the number of days delivered. 

7.11 To summarise, there has been a growth in the number of schools 
requiring the least amount of support (green) and a deterioration in 

Page 436



the number of school categorised as good schools requiring yellow 
support. An increase in the overall number of amber and red schools 
requiring support for improvement is evident. Over the next few 
years, the Council and the schools will work together to strive to 
ensure that increasing number of schools are good schools that do 
not require significant support to improve. 

7.12 Welsh Government are undertaking a fundamental review of the 
accountability system in Wales and a new assessment and 
evaluation framework in planned. In future, it is anticipated that 
robust and continuous self-evaluation, along with professional 
dialogue, will be a key tool to support improvement. Data driven 
judgements that places schools into a standards group as part of the 
categorisation has been removed and a new assessment, evaluation 
and improvement framework is under development. Welsh 
Government have commissioned the OECD and Estyn to work with 
the teaching profession to develop a national self-evaluation 
framework and toolkit, which will operate in conjunction with a peer 
review and endorsement framework.   

8. EQUALITY AND DIVER SITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 This is an information report. No Equality Impact Assessment 
screening form is required.

 9. CONSULTATION 

9.1 This is an information report, no consultation is required. 

10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 There are no financial implications. 

11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

11.1 None at present. 

12. LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

12.1 Educational performance has a clear link to the Council’s priority of 
Building a Strong Economy. Improved educational performance will 
have a positive impact on this priority. 

13. CONCLUSION

13.1 Level 1 outcomes were above the regional and national averages 
during 2017/18. There has been evidence of progress on Level 2 and 

Page 437



Level 2+ Key Stage 4 outcome measures which is very encouraging. 
A*-C outcomes in Key Stage 4 in English and maths show 
improvement this academic year. Moving forward, Science outcomes 
would benefit from further improvement.  

Given, that this is the second year of the new Key Stage 4 curriculum 
and performance measures, it is possible to make some judgements 
on the performance of each school. Data suggests that most schools 
have made progress on Key Stage 4 performance measures. Schools 
in the main have improved performance and all schools will continue to 
work with the local authority and the Consortium to understand their 
respective performance and take the necessary steps to improve on 
future Key Stage 4 results and build on the progress made. The gap 
between Rhondda Cynon Taf and the all Wales Level 2 + data is at a 
historic low (2%age points) and the national ranking is encouraging at 
10th place. 

13.2 Key Stage 4 has seen significant changes since 2017 in terms of the 
curriculum and the way in which school performance is assessed. 
Further changes are planned in future and interim aspirational 
performance measures for secondary schools are planned which shifts 
the focus away from ‘average’ outcomes. These new measures, based 
on points scores, will remove the emphasis on the Level 2 inclusive 
measures for Key Stage 4 and the narrow focus on borderline C/D 
grade pupils that the current threshold measures has cultivated. 

13.3 An updated version of the current ‘Capped 9’ points score will be 
established which will include three specified components at its core, 
namely literacy, numeracy and science outcomes. It is proposed that 
the remaining 6 components will comprise pupils’ best results for 
GCSE, or equivalent qualifications approved or designated for delivery 
in Wales, and as such will be open to local choice. The remaining 6 
components of the Capped 9 will in future reflect the school’s context 
and the breadth of curriculum offered and will hopefully provide the 
necessary assurances that all pupils are able to follow a curriculum 
that meets their needs. Moving forward schools will still be required to 
drill down and self-evaluate outcomes for learners eligible and not 
eligible for free school meals, and girls and boys. It is anticipated that 
this approach will allow a far more robust analysis of school and 
learner progress than is currently in operation.

13.4 Key Stage 5 outcomes have remained relatively stable during 2017/18 
with 96.2% achieving Level 3 threshold. In line with the national 
averages, girls continue to outperform boys on the wider point score 
measure but significant improvements in the wider point score was 
evident for all Rhonda Cynon Taf learners, including both boys and 
girls. Girls’ performance on this measure significantly exceeded that of 
the boys in Key Stage 5. The percentage of learners achieving 3 A*-A 

Page 438



and 3 A*-C improved significantly during this academic year. It is hoped 
that through the rationalising of 6th form provision in the Rhondda 
Valley and access to greater choice for learners within 21st Century 
learning environments outcomes will continue to improve during 
2018/19.   

Other Information:- 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee- 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Background Papers- 

None 

Page 439



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET 

24th JANUARY 2019 

KEY STAGE 4 AND KEY STAGE 5 EXAMINATION RESULTS AND 
PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION FOR 2018

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
IN DISCUSSION WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER, COUNCILLOR 
J ROSSER. 

Background papers – None. 

Officer to contact: Gaynor Davies – 01443 744009

Page 440



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
24TH JANUARY 2019 

 
NATIONAL ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018 AND  

THE VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF REGIONAL 
ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18  

 
REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S 
SERVICES IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER, COUNCILLOR LEYSHON 
 
Authors: Ann Batley, Service Director for Children’s Services  
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with (1) an update on the 

progress of the Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption 
Collaborative by considering the information provided in the Annual 
Report for the period 1st April 2017 to the 31st March 2018 (Appendix 1 
and Appendix A) and (2) the National Adoption Services Wales Annual 
Report 2017/2018 (Appendix 2).  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 
2.1 Consider the contents of both the Annual Reports. 
 
2.2 Receive a further report at future meetings. 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The reports attached at Appendix 1 (A) and Appendix 2 are the Annual 

Reports that as part of Regulation 22 of the Local Authority Adoption 
Service (Wales) Regulations 2007 and Section 15(c) of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Regulations/Wales) Directions 2015, 
are required to be presented to Cabinet.  

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 The National Adoption Services for Wales (NAS) was launched in 

November 2014 bringing all Local Authorities in Wales together into a 
unique collaboration for the delivery of adoption services. The National 
Service establishes governance arrangements providing national 

Page 441

Agenda Item 7



   

direction and coordination. Its broad aim is to improve and make 
consistent the arrangements for timely placements of children, training 
and assessment of adopters, adoption supports and collaborative 
working. The National Adoption Services Wales Annual Report 
2017/2018 gives the progress and improvements made in meeting the 
needs of children, young people and adopters through out Wales.  

 
4.2 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) is the largest of 

the five regional collaborative which form part of the National Adoption 
Service in Wales (NAS).  It provides a regional adoption service to the 
Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, 
Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council.  The 
service is hosted by the Vale of Glamorgan Council.  

 
4.3 This is VVC’s third annual report that covers the period 1st April 2017 to 

31st March 2018. The collaborative is required to review the service it 
provides by regulation and as part of the reporting requirements set out 
in the legal agreement underpinning the operation of the collaborative. 
The annual report seeks to combine the various reporting requirements 
in one report. This report was also presented to the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee on the 7th November 2018.  

  
5. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 These reports are for information and, therefore, no Equality and 

Diversity screening is required. 
 
6. CONSULTATION  
 
6.1   Consultation was undertaken by the National Adoption Service Wales 

and the Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) in the 
preparation of the Annual Reports with children, young people, families, 
a variety of partner agencies and staff. 

 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 There are no adverse financial implications associated with this report.  
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 
8.1 The Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014) requires very significant 

changes to the way social services are planned, designed, 
commissioned and delivered. The primary duties of this Act that impact 
on the future commissioning arrangements for children looked after 
include: 

 
• promoting the upbringing of children within their family whenever it 

is safe to do so; 

Page 442



   

 
• consideration of the most appropriate placement where it has not 

been possible to place a looked after child either with a parent or 
connected person which will include: foster care; adoption; 
residential provision; alternative arrangements (for example, 
supporting young people aged 16 or over to live independently in 
rented accommodation or in supported lodgings). 

 
9. LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 
 
9.1. The National Adoption Service and Regional VVC Service makes a 

positive contribution towards the Council’s Corporate Plan Vision of ‘a 
County Borough that has high aspirations, is confident and promotes 
opportunity for all”; as it will deliver against the specific priorities of 
‘People - Promoting independence and positive lives for everyone and 
‘Place - Creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live and 
work’. 
 

9.2   It will also help the Council to meet three of the seven wellbeing goals 
that The Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015’ puts in 
place as follows:  

 
1. A more equal Wales  
2. A healthier Wales  
3. A Wales of cohesive communities. 

 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Both these reports provide Cabinet Members with the National and 

Regional overview of adoption within Wales and the Region. 
 
10.2 Cabinet Members will note that the regional performance has improved, 

specifically the increase in the number of children placed for adoption 
and the reduced time taken to place a child for adoption. 

 
10.3 There are still a number of areas that require improvement and these are 

being addressed in the VVC Regional Improvement Plan.  
 
  
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee 
Community and Children's Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

 
 

Page 443



   

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
24TH JANUARY 2019 

 
NATIONAL ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018 AND  

THE VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF REGIONAL 
ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18  

 
REPORT OF THE GROUP DIRECTOR, COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S 
SERVICES IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE RELEVANT PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER, COUNCILLOR LEYSHON 
 
 
Background papers 
 
Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee - 7th November 2018.  
 
 
 
 
OFFICER TO CONTACT: Ann Batley, Service Director for Children’s 
Services. Tel No 01443 744044 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 444



1 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

         Appendix 1 

VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE (VVC) 

ANNUAL REPORT FOR 1 APRIL 2017 TO 31 MARCH 2018 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) is the largest of the five 

regional collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in Wales 

(NAS).  It provides a regional adoption service to the Vale of Glamorgan Council, 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff 

County Borough Council. The service is hosted by the Vale of Glamorgan Council. 

1.2 This is VVC’s third annual report and covers the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 

2018. The Collaborative is required to review the service it provides by regulation 

and as part of the reporting requirements set out in the legal agreement 

underpinning the operation of the Collaborative.  This report seeks to combine the 

various reporting requirements in one report.  

Appendix A to the report sets out key performance data by quarter and local 

authority. 

2. SERVICE DEVELOPMENT AND GOVERNANCE 

2.1 There has been no change to the managerial structure of the service during the 

period and the service continues to be managed by a Regional Adoption Manager 

and three service specific managers for Family Finding, Adoption Support, and 

Recruitment and Assessment. The Family Finding Manager went on maternity leave 

in January 2018 but the post has been covered by an interim acting up arrangement 

within the service. The Adoption Support Manager’s post has been made a 

permanent full time position as a result of the Best Value Review. 

2.2 There have been some changes to the staff team during the year due to a part 

time Business Support Officer leaving the service to obtain a full time position, two 

part time Social Workers retiring, one Social Worker who was employed for 30 hours 

moving out of the area and two Social Workers going on maternity leave.  The loss 

of these part time posts has enabled some reconfiguration of these posts to full time 

positions.  The service has continued to receive a high number of applicants for the 

vacancies which have arisen and also has had success in filling temporary positions. 

Some short term agency cover has also been put in place to cover gaps. 

2.3 As outlined in the last report and due to the increased demands being placed 
upon the Collaborative, the Directors of the partner authorities commissioned a Best 
Value Review of the service in December 2016. The review was undertaken by an 
Officer from the Vale of Glamorgan Business Improvement Team and Finance 

Page 445



2 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Officer from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. The analysis for the review was 
undertaken between January and September 2017.  A draft report was presented to 
members of the Management Board during the autumn of 2017, prior to the report 
being agreed by the Directors and Joint Committee in December 2017.  
 
2.4 The review was comprehensive and sought engagement from a range of staff 
both within VVC and also from our local authority partners. Consultation also took 
place with key stakeholders, members of the Management Board and 
representatives from the NAS central team.  The review considered a range of 
aspects from the current service delivery model, the level of demand being placed 
upon the service, staffing arrangements, the governance of the region and funding. 
 
2.5 The principal recommendations of the review were as follows: 
 
 a) Finalise completion of the digital Adoption Panel process to streamline processes 
and improve efficiency. 
 
 b) Establish an Operational Group of VVC and local authority managers to progress 
service improvement and development work within the region. 
 
c) Increase regional staff resources within Adoption Support by securing the full time 
permanent appointment of the Adoption Support Manager and also the additional 
post covering Letterbox and Access to Birth Records.  
 
d) In order to meet the emerging need to recruit more adopters, the review also 
recommended the appointment of a Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator on a 
two year fixed term basis and two Social Workers in Recruitment and Assessment, 
one to be appointed initially and a further one should adopter applications increase. 
 
e) Formal review of the Legal Agreement to be undertaken to include twice yearly 
meetings of the Directors and the Management Board, changes to the frequency of 
Management Board meetings to quarterly and establishment of an Operational 
Group as part of the overall governance of the region. 
 
d) Update and consider revision of the existing funding formula for the service and 
keep it under review. 
 
2.6 An Action Plan has been developed and agreed to take forward the actions 
arising from the review. 
 
2.7 VVC has continued to operate from Ty Pennant, Pontypridd during this time but 
due to the licence to occupy the premises expiring in September 2018, a trawl of 
alternative accommodation options was undertaken in the latter part of 2017 which 
included partner authorities and commercial options. The available commercial 
options were financially prohibitive and the partner authorities provided a nil return 
with the exception of the Vale of Glamorgan. It was therefore agreed that the service 
would relocate to the Dock Office in Barry during August 2018 prior to the cessation 
of the licence and following completion of some remedial work to the new premises. 
It was felt that this would also allow for consultation re any HR issues and for any 

Page 446



3 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

other matters affecting staff to be considered.  The service moved to their new base 
on 10 September 2018. 
 
2.8 The budget for the Collaborative is managed by the Vale of Glamorgan and is 
monitored closely by the Management Board and Joint Committee.  The end of year 
position reported a slight overspend in the budget for 2017-18 created by some 
additional and unexpected costs for cleaning services at Ty Pennant which were 
received at year end. The Collaborative receives an annual internal audit undertaken 
by Bridgend and Vale Audit Shared Service. The audit undertaken for 2017-18 found 
‘substantial assurance’ in respect of the management of risks within the service.  The 
Best Value recommendation to review the funding formula has been taken forward 
by the Finance Technical Group comprised of Finance Officers from the four 
authorities. It was agreed that funding arrangements would remain unchanged for 
2017-18 but further work would be undertaken in 2018-19 to consider options for 
future funding of the Collaborative. 
 
 2.9. The Management Board has continued to meet bi-monthly during this period. 

Board meetings have continued to be well represented and supported by Heads of 

Service from the partner authorities and wider membership. The representative from 

the Voluntary Adoption Agency, St David’s has changed to their Director of 

Operations and the Chair of the Management Board transferred to the Director of 

Social Services for RCT in July 2017. 

2.10 The Management Board has played a key role in monitoring the progress of the 

Best Value Review to address improvements in service delivery. It has also 

continued to regularly monitor the overall performance of the region highlighting 

areas for improvement and potential solutions.  To support the Management Board 

in monitoring the key elements of the performance framework, it has agreed the key 

performance data it wishes to receive on a regular basis which is attached at 

Appendix A. 

2.11 The performance of the regional service has continued to be monitored via the 

NAS Performance Framework.  The range of measures has increased each year 

which has required more comprehensive recording mechanisms to be put in place to 

capture this data. VVC has fully complied with all reporting requirements. 

2.12 The Director of Operations for NAS attended the VVC Management Board in 

May 2018 to present the NAS End of Year Report for 2017-18 in respect of VVC’s 

performance.  Some of the headlines from this report are covered later. 

2.13 The Joint Committee met in June and December 2017.  The Joint Committee is 

comprised of elected Members from each of the authorities although the individual 

Members changed in May 2017 following the local elections.  The Joint Committee 

approved the annual accounts for the Collaborative, the annual budget and plan and 

the Best Value Review.  

 

Page 447



4 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 

 

3. SERVICE FUNCTIONS 

3.1 VVC’s Annual Work Plan has focused actions around the ongoing priorities set 

by NAS to improve adoption support and to place children and recruit adopters more 

effectively.  Progress in meeting these priorities and developments to enhance 

service delivery are outlined under each of the service areas. 

4. FAMILY FINDING 

4.1 As previously indicated VVC is the largest of the regional collaboratives with the 

largest children looked after population.  This context was acknowledged in the NAS 

End of Year Report for 2017-18 which states ‘one of the implications of the size of 

VVC is that it represents a correspondingly large proportion of the overall demand 

across the spectrum of adoption services that local government and partners are 

required to provide’.  In terms of family finding activity this represents a large area of 

work for the region and one that has increased since VVC’s inception. The NAS 

report indicates that regionally VVC worked with about 15% of the children looked 

after within the region during this period. 

4.2 The number of children referred for adoption totalled 244 which has fallen slightly 

on the previous year, although this represents the highest in Wales.  86 children 

were placed for adoption during the year, a 6% increase on the previous year. A new 

measure introduced in 2017-18 requires regions to report on the location of 

placements.  During the reporting period, 51 children out of the 86 were placed 

within the region.  23% of the placements made were for children in sibling groups 

which represents an increasing trend. 

 4.3 At the end of the year there were 138 children who had a ‘should be placed’ for 

adoption decision but had not been placed for adoption which is significant increase 

on previous returns. 117 of these children were subject of a Placement Order.  This 

figure has been used to project the number of adoptive placements required by the 

region to meet its’ needs.  However out of this total, 16 children were on hold 

pending a change of Care Plan, 34 children had active links, 10 of which were 

proceeding to matching, and the region was at year end actively recruiting for 67 

children. 

4.4 The region has recorded 102 Placement Orders being made during the year 

which also represents a slight decrease although the number of Adoption Orders has 

increased to 71.  

4.5 The measure in relation to the timeliness of the process from becoming  looked 

after to being placed for adoption  indicates that on average children were placed 

within 13.6 months which the NAS report indicates is ‘close to the benchmark of 13 

Page 448



5 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

months or less and one of the better averages amongst the NAS regions’.  The NAS 

report also highlights that the VVC average of 7.7 months from Placement Order ‘is 

a significant improvement from last year; it is better than the national average 

although the benchmark is 6 months or less’.  Regrettably of all the placements 

made during the year, 60 children had waited longer than six months to be placed 

which is higher than the previous year but is indicative of the challenges faced in 

placing children with complex and additional needs. 

4.6 The level of placement breakdown remains relatively low with 3 placement 

disruptions during the year, one of these was a sibling group where one of the 

children had complex emotional needs and the other was a little boy with complex 

needs who had also experienced a previous breakdown.  

 4.7 The number of birth parents referred to the service for counselling fell during the 

year to 297 in line with the national picture and slight reduction in children being 

referred. Overall take up in this area continues to pose significant challenges for the 

service as only 112 parents took up the service, although this represents one of the 

higher proportions across Wales.   

 

4.8 The provision of Life Journey Material for children at their second adoption 

review remains an area of national and regional focus.  Further improvement has 

been noted during the period with 68% of children placed having life journey work 

materials in place by the second review.  NAS has provided a Welsh Government 

grant to regions to improve performance in this area. VVC has purchased various 

resources of direct work materials which have been distributed to childcare teams in 

the region to assist and improve practice. AFA Cymru has been commissioned by 

NAS to develop a toolkit and to work with regions to develop improvement plans. 

AFA Cymru facilitated a day for VVC staff and local authority practitioners in 

November 2017 and more development days are planned.  

 

4.9 The region utilises several different methods to assist Family Finding.  If there 

are no internal links within the Collaborative external funding agreement is sought. 

The Welsh Adoption Register generates suggested links based on children’s 

referrals and adopters approved by regional collaboratives and Welsh Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies.  Last year VVC purchased a licence for Link Maker, a national 

database of children waiting. This has proved to be the most successful avenue for 

external links although sometimes this has been supplemented by an external 

mailshot which is sent securely to adoption agencies within the UK. The use of Link 

Maker has also reduced the need to advertise nationally in family finding publications 

for children waiting. 

4.10 VVC accessed the Welsh Adoption Register Exchange Day in North Wales 

September 2017 where 29 children were profiled. Unfortunately there were fewer 

adopters in attendance and many children did not have any potential links from the 

event. A lot of interest was generated for one of the children but unfortunately none 

Page 449



6 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

of these links were suitable. One link is still being explored however it has taken 

some time as therapeutic involvement was required for the transition. 

4.11 The service has also used Activity Days organised through Coram BAAF to 

promote children that were harder to place. Three were accessed across the UK, 

one child attended in May 2017, another attended in June 2017 and a third child 

attended in September 2017. Unfortunately no appropriate links progressed from 

these days. The first Welsh Adoption Activity Day took place in March 2018. This 

was extremely successful and resulted in links progressing to a match for four 

children, a toddler with additional needs, an older child and a sibling group of two.  

4.12 As members of Adoption UK VVC is able to access ‘Children Who Wait’, a 

magazine which profiles children seeking adoptive families. A sibling group of two 

were profiled in September 2017 and two single children were profiled in March –

May 2018 for three sequential editions. The sibling group were not linked using this 

method however we are exploring links for the two single children. As part of the 

membership VVC is able to access 10 free advertising spaces from April 2018 which 

will hopefully be utilised productively. 

 4.13 An application to join ‘New Families Social’ Adoption Group from April 2018 

has been made which will hopefully offer another avenue of profiling children to 

approved same sex adopters across the UK.  

5. RECRUITMENT AND ASSESSMENT OF ADOPTERS 

5.1 The Performance Management Framework records key activity around enquiries, 
response times to enquiries, applications and timeliness in respect of approval of 
adopters. The returns in respect of adopter activity have been mixed, with 
improvements in some areas and not in other areas.  
 
5.2. The region received 242 enquiries from prospective adopters in total for the year 
2017/18 which represents an impressive 61% increase on the previous year and is 
the highest it has been for three years.  This is encouraging and provides a sound 
basis for planning recruitment activity going forward.  It remains however difficult to 
accurately identify the geographical location for all the enquiries received, although 
the local authority area is now a standard question on the enquiry form linked to the 
VVC website. Whilst this question has been added, VVC continues to receive a 
significant number of electronic enquiries where the local authority area is not 
completed and this information is not specified on the enquiries that come via the 
NAS website. Of the 242 enquiries received, VVC was only able to identify the local 
authority area for 152.  
 
5.3 VVC’s response rate to enquiries within five working days has returned to 100% 
following a slight drop in performance during the previous year.  It is anticipated that 
the employment of a Marketing Officer will address any further deficits in this area 
and enhance our initial response to ensure that enquiries are followed up promptly. 
 

Page 450



7 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

5.4 The region approved 46 adopter households in the year 2017/18 compared with 
47 in the previous year. The region was on target to approve over 50 households but 
there were 5 assessments that did not progress to Panel.  This is a high number but 
the reasons given assist in understanding the complexities which can occur in 
assessing adopters.  In two of the assessments, the couple’s birth children were not 
supporting adoption, in one of the assessments the couple had come to a realisation 
that adoption was not right for their family situation and in another a realisation that 
they had come too late to adoption.  In the fifth assessment that did not proceed a 
complex family issue had emerged which the couple found too intrusive to continue.  
There were two further assessments that were due to be completed in the final 
quarter of the year but were put on hold. The first couple suffered the loss of a family 
member and wished to take some time to grieve.  The second couple had a complex 
family issue which arose during the assessment which needed further investigation.  
 
5.5 In relation to VVC’s overall performance in relation to the timeliness of 
assessments the picture is mixed. The timescales from initially enquiry to approval 
has increased from 12.2 months to 13.5 months but the timescale from application 
to approval has improved with an average of 7.1 months overall. These figures 
clearly highlight that the greatest gap is between initial enquiry and application, 
arguably something that has been out of the control of the Collaborative as this is 
very much related to individual choice.  The region continues to be able to account 
for the delays in assessment and has continued to supply an explanatory narrative to 
NAS to accompany the return in respect of these measures.   
 
5.6 As mentioned in the previous report, VVC revamped the initial information 
provided to adopters, believing that those interested in adoption should be provided 
with more information on the needs of children at a far earlier stage in the process in 
order for them to make a more informed decision around whether adoption is the 
right choice for them. This continues to be the case, and those attending the 
information evenings have frequently provided very positive feedback to VVC on how 
much better informed they have felt. It is clear that the trend noted previously with 
enquirers taking a longer time to come forward for an initial visit has continued. The 
recruitment of families for siblings and children with additional needs continues to 
remain a challenge. 
 
5.7 The shortfall in adopter recruitment and the number of children waiting at year 
end has become an emerging and very pressing need.  VVC was required, along 
with other regions to submit a Recruitment Plan and target for approvals at year end. 
For the reasons indicated above VVC fell short of this target but the need to increase 
adopter resource was considered closely by the Best Value Review and the 
additional resources recommended in recruitment & Assessment was in response to 
as the emerging need. 
 
5.8 The decision to employ a Marketing and Recruitment Co-ordinator is seen as 
crucial in being able to track and harness the enquiries to increase the number of 
enquiries which can be converted into applications.  Due to the number of children 
waiting and the number of Placement Orders projected to be made in the coming 
year, NAS project that the number of adoptive placements required will be 145. This 
is likely to pose significant challenges upon the service. The Marketing and 
Recruitment Officer has recently been appointed. 

Page 451



8 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 
5.9 As of 31st March 2018 there were 26 assessments being completed by the region 
with a further 11 assessments generated from the adopter training in March 2018 
which were all allocated within the first quarter of 2018/19.  
 
5.10 Five of the adopter assessments undertaken during the year were from foster 
carers wishing to adopt the child in placement.  Of the five that were completed in 
2017/18, four of them had the child placed with them for more than one year at the 
point of their application.  
 
5.11 During the past year the majority of the assessments completed have been 
allocated within the Recruitment and Assessment function. Agreement to extend 
hours for a couple of part time staff in the Family Finding Team was sought to 
complete assessments that could not be allocated and by utilising staff slippage 
monies.  Assessment plans and mid-point reviews have continued to be used to 
improve practice and timeliness. 
 
5.12. VVC continues to receive high numbers of non-agency adoption referrals, the 
majority of which are from step parents wishing to adopt their step child.  It is 
planned that this area of work will be collated by NAS in the coming year. Again this 
is an area which poses significant challenges for the service.  The need to prioritise 
the recruitment of adopters for children waiting to be adopted has resulted in a 
waiting list for allocation. On occasion, applicants have submitted their application to 
adopt directly into Court which resulted in an urgent assessment being required.  
 
5.13. During the year, there has also been a slight increase in inter-country related 

enquiries, which have posed some issues for the team due to their complexity.  Quite 

a few of the enquiries received are from couples wishing to adopt a child who is 

known to them, who resides in a different country.  This area has also identified a 

knowledge gap in the service which we hope to address via training. 

5.14 Towards the end of the reporting period, NAS was able to secure some 

additional funding to assist with recruitment.  VVC utilised their grant to provide 

leaflets to assist with marketing the service and along with two other regions to 

employ a marketing company, COWSHED to develop a regional Marketing Plan.  

Further funding has been provided by NAS to provide mentoring by the company to 

the regions. This plan will therefore be further developed by the Marketing Co-

ordinator in conjunction with COWSHED. 

5.15 VVC has recognised that further training is beneficial for adopters to help 

prepare them for the matching process following approval as adopters.  A couple of 

staff within Recruitment and Assessment have therefore devised a fourth day course 

for adopters which now runs every two months. The course provides guidance to 

help prospective adopters prepare for a visit from a childcare Social Worker to 

discuss a proposed match providing  an overview of the process required to match a 

child and explain the legal process of adoption. Information about how introductions 

are planned is also provided.  The second part of the course encourages adopters to 

think about the grief and loss a child will experience following a placement move. 

Page 452



9 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Activities are undertaken to help adopters think about their support network and 

highlight the importance of seeking help if they experience difficulties post 

placement.  Techniques to promote positive parenting are discussed and materials 

shared to help adopters think about ways they can introduce themselves to children 

prior to placement.   

5.16 Three training sessions were held between November 2017 and March 2018 

and a total of 37 people attended the course during this period. A lot of positive 

feedback was received from participants including comments such as adopters felt 

‘better prepared’ and found the course ‘informative and enjoyable’.  A Welcome 

Booklet for new adopters has also been developed which provides information and 

guidance pre-matching on a range of issues. 

6. ADOPTION SUPPORT 

6.1 Demand for adoption support services has remained steady through 2017-18. 
With 81 requests for adoption support received VVC is showing a consistent referral 
rate with the previous year’s figure (83). This averages around 20 referrals per 
quarter requiring allocation for assessment. This trend has also continued in Quarter 
1 of 2018-19 when 25 referrals were received.     
 

 
 
Although referral rates overall remain similar, Cardiff’s proportion of referrals rose by 
54% from 2016-17 whilst RCT and the Vale of Glamorgan saw a drop of around 
35%. Merthyr’s referral rate dropped by over 50% however this represents a drop 
from 9 referrals in 2016-17 to just 4 in 2017-18. Q1 figures for 2018-2019 show 
referrals for Cardiff, RCT and the Vale of Glamorgan on a par with each other; in fact 
the Vale of Glamorgan has had 8 referrals in Q1 this year when there were only 11 in 
the whole of 2017-18.  
 
6.2 In relation to Access to Birth Records cases, VVC has observed a drop of around 
28% in referrals with 48 in 2017-18, however in contrast intermediary referrals have 
increased by 59% to 54 (from 34 last year). Comparing the referral rates when VVC 
became operational in 2015-16 to the year-end figures for 2017-18, intermediary 
referrals have increased by 184%. This is largely due to the increase in VVC’s 
capacity to allocate Access to Birth Records cases resulting in an increase in these 
adopted adults seeking a follow-on intermediary service.  VVC remains one of few 
regions in Wales that has been able to continue to provide this service albeit with a 
lengthy waiting list. 

43

4

23

11

0

50

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Post-Adoption Support 

Referrals by Authority 2017-18

Page 453



10 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

 

  
 
There has been no marked difference in the referral rates by local authority from the 
previous year in relation to Access to Birth Records. There is a notable increase in 
intermediary referrals for RCT from 7 to 20 in 2017-18 (185% increase).  
 
6.3 As at 31st March 2018 there were 812 open letterbox cases, an increase of 6% 
from 767 on 31 March 2017. This reflects the ongoing gradual increase observed in 
letterbox contact as new referrals exceed the number of existing arrangements 
closing when a child reaches 18. 
 
6.4 The permanent staffing to enhance the Adoption Support Team 2016 as a result 
of the pilot exercise in 2016 and the outcome of the Best Value Review has been of 
significant benefit in reducing pressures within the team and gaps in service delivery. 
The Letterbox Co-ordinator role in particular has improved the quality of support 
being provided to adoptive families and birth parents.  
 
6.5 Other monies secured as part of the 2016 pilot were used to access specialist 
training, the majority of this being used in 2016-17 although additional training has 
been  accessed for some staff in the Adoption Support Team to complete DDP Level 
1 training during the year. Staff within the Adoption Support Team are experienced 
and committed to service improvement.  The team has facilitated adoption support 
groups for adoptive parents with topics including Sensory Processing Difficulties, 
Social Media and Contact in the last year. In addition, a monthly toddler groups has 
been maintained which provides opportunities for early intervention as well as bi-
annual fun days which have high attendances.  
 
6.6.Family fun days were held in July and November 2017 which were both well 
attended and numbers of those attending remain consistently high at around 90-100 
children. VVC issued a newsletter in the spring of 2018 which was produced by the 
Adoption Support Manager. The region also contributed to the Adopter Voice project 
with Adoption UK which included attendance at one of VVC’s support groups to 
consult with adopters. A report of this consultation has been presented to VVC 
Management Board. 
 
6.7 The Regional Adoption Manager and Adoption Support Manager have continued 
to be involved in the IPC project commissioned by NAS to develop a National 
Framework for Adoption Support,  the National Adoption Support sub group 
meetings to take forward the Framework as well as the focused project on Life 
Journey Work through 2017-18.The Adoption Support Manager has been involved in 
securing resources to utilise the grant monies referred to earlier in the report to 

26

0

16

6

0

10

20

30

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Access to Birth Records 

referrals by Authority 2017-18

20

4

20

10

0

10

20

30

Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale

Intermediary referrals by 

Authority (2017-18)

Page 454



11 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

support improvements in Life Journey work. Further funding is anticipated for 2018-
19 and plans for how to make the best use of these resources are being considered. 
 
6.8 The Adoption Support Team has continued to develop an understanding of the 

demand for targeted and therapeutic services with families needing support across 

the region and the cost of these to the local authorities. At present the adoption 

support budget is not held centrally in the region and is retained by the individual 

local authorities.  This continues to pose some challenge in terms of equity of service 

and timeliness of decision making, but generally local authority partners concur with 

the assessment undertaken by VVC and packages of support are being put in place 

as needed. The Adoption Support Manager is currently developing an adoption 

support improvement plan which places a greater focus on social work input and 

intervention with families prior to progression to therapeutic support services with a 

view to avoiding the need for such interventions. 

6.9 The Regional Adoption Manager and Adoption Support Manager have in 

conjunction with colleagues from Western Bay met with the CAMHS Clinical Lead 

with a view to developing a consultancy service for Social Workers and a clear 

referral pathway for adopted children who may require a CAMHS service. A plan to 

progress these initial discussions is being developed. 

7. ADOPTION PANEL 

7.1 The Collaborative has continued to operate a joint regional Panel from two 

sittings, a north sitting covering cases from RCT and Merthyr Tydfil CBC and a south 

sitting covering cases from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.  Where adopter 

approvals involve no medical issues, there is provision to transfer the case for 

consideration to the Panel sitting with availability.  

7.2. Panel business has remained at a high level during the year with 42 Panel 

meetings being held, with three scheduled meetings being cancelled due to delays in 

cases being ready for presentation.  

7.3 As outlined in the previous report and highlighted as an improvement action in 

the Best Value Review, a significant area of development for the Panel has been to 

move to digitalising the Panel process and business.  This work was completed by 

the end of March 2018 with the result that Panel business is now conducted via the 

use of tablets and sending Panel information to Panel members via a secure portal. 

This has improved security and reduced administrative time and printing costs. 

7.4 Maintenance of the central list of Panel members continues to pose challenges in 

terms of maintaining a sufficient number of independent members and Social Work 

members. Some new members have been recruited during the year. An induction 

session for new members was held in June 2017 and a training day for all Panel 

members was also held in June 2017 facilitated by an independent trainer.  

 

Page 455



12 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

7.5 The other priority set in respect of completing the annual reviews of Panel 

members remains outstanding but a timetable is being developed to meet this 

requirement. 

8. COMPLAINTS AND COMPLIMENTS 

8.1 VVC has received the following complaints during the period: 

• Complaint from prospective adopters regarding the process of linking and 

matching a child and lack of transparency on the part of the local authority 

Social Worker and staff within the Collaborative in respect of a link they were 

being considered for. 

• Complaint from non-agency adopters regarding the initial advice provided by 

VVC regarding the process and requirements. 

• Complaint from a step parent regarding the step parent adoption process, the 

delay in the Social Worker concluding the report and not responding to 

queries raised by the applicant. 

• Complaint to the Managing Director from an adopted person regarding the 

service provided in respect of his access to birth records enquiry. 

• Complaint from adoptive parents regarding their attendance at Adoption Panel 

in 2015 following a review of their approval. Complaint received as part of a 

stage 2 complaint to Cardiff Council concerning the breakdown in 

introductions to a child. 

• Complaint from adoptive parent in respect of the post adoption support 

received from the allocated Social Worker. 

• Complaint from an adoptive parent regarding the delay in securing a post 

adoption therapeutic support package. 

• Complaint from adopters alleging that they had been discriminated against 

and treated less favourably by VVC staff in terms of their assessment and the 

subsequent linking process. 

8.2 All the complaints have been resolved at stage 1 of the Vale of Glamorgan 

Complaint Process.   

8.3 Two of the complaints have highlighted issues in respect of the linking process.  

VVC has, as outlined earlier in the report, introduced a fourth day of training to 

address some of the issues raised.  Two of the complaints have highlighted issues in 

respect of the non-agency adoption process. VVC’s website now contains 

information in respect of this process. Two have highlighted concerns in respect of 

adoption support which were addressed.  

8.4 Regional staff have also received a number of compliments during the year. A 

record of these is maintained.  The compliments include positive feedback from the 

fun-days, the toddler group, information evening and support provided for letterbox 

contact and access to birth records enquiries. 

Page 456



13 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

9. CONCLUSION AND 2018-19 PRIORITIES 

9.1 During the period for this report, a Best Value Review was undertaken, 

commissioned by the Directors of the four local authorities.  This provided a real 

opportunity to look at the strengths and weaknesses of the service and to look at 

potential remedies to address some of the presenting difficulties. The findings of the 

Review validated the earlier work undertaken by VVC detailing capacity and 

resourcing issues and options to address the shortfalls in the service. 

9.2 In respect of regional performance, the increased the number of children being 

placed for adoption during the period, the number being adopted and the reduced 

time taken to place a child for adoption from Placement Order are positive 

improvements.  Some improvement has also been noted in the provision of Life 

Journey materials for children placed and in respect of the take up of birth parent 

counselling. These improvements must however be considered against the increase 

in the number of children waiting for placements and the number waiting over six 

months to be placed. This set against the decrease in approvals of adopters and 

delays in timely recruitment of adopters makes recruitment an ongoing and clear 

priority for the service. 

9.3 The service has also been proactive in developing some new initiatives during 

the year to more effectively support adopters and prepare them for placement.  

There is also evidence that the increased permanent resource in Adoption Support is 

having a positive effect in improving performance and reducing pressures on the 

service.  The priorities set for the 2017-18 have been met in part but some are 

ongoing due to the need to continue to remain focused on our core business.  

9.4 The priorities we have set for 2018-19 focus upon completing the actions arising 

from the Best Value Review which have been endorsed by the Management Board. 

Particular emphasis for the remainder of the year will focus upon driving up the 

conversion rate of adopter enquiry to application with the intention of increasing the 

rate of adopter approvals.  Some systems have already been put in place to improve 

our initial response following the recent appointment of the Marketing and 

Recruitment Co-ordinator and so it is hoped that these can be developed further 

once the additional resources in Recruitment and Assessment are in place. 

9.10 The other focus of activity and priority for VVC during this current year has been 

managing the recent relocation of the service to Barry. In order to achieve as smooth 

a transition as possible and to minimise service disruption, this has required careful 

planning and preparation by VVC staff and the development of some new systems of 

working to meet the needs of the whole region. The permanent location will have 

benefits longer term but the service is still in a settling in period so it is important that 

our priorities remain delivering our core business and service improvements. 

 

Page 457



14 | V V C  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  1 7 - 1 8  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 8  

 

Angela Harris 

Regional Adoption Manager  

September 2018 

Page 458



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

1 |  

 

This report provides an overview of VVC performance against key indicators in respect children and 

adopters as agreed by Management Board. The information is provided by local authority.  Comparative 

data is presented for 2016-17. 

CHILDREN 

Number of Children Referrals made to VVC since April 2017 – of the 244 referrals received for 2017/18 – 

57 have been withdrawn (23%) 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 117 24 82 21 244 

The number of children referred for adoption has fallen slightly although this total represents the highest in 

Wales. 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 63 84 50 83 280 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Referred -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 6 15 17 10 11 11 5 10 9 8 9 6

Merthyr 0 6 1 5 2 4 1 0 2 1 0 2

RCT 13 7 7 8 6 0 11 2 10 8 2 8

VOG 0 1 2 0 5 2 2 2 1 3 3 0

Total 19 29 27 23 24 17 19 14 22 20 14 16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

VOG

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of children
referred

Page 459



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

2 |  

 

2017/18 75 64 55 50 244 

Total 138 148 105 133 524 

 

Number of Should Be Placed Decisions made since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT Vale Total 

Total 60 3 49 8 120 

 

The number of children with a Should be Placed for adoption decision has slightly increased during the 

period. 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 25 33 31 28 117 

2017/18 24 36 32 28 120 

Total 49 69 63 56 237 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 3 1 2 5 8 5 9 8 3 10 4 2

Merthyr 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 6 4 3 5 5 9 4 5 0 2 3 3

Vale 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 0 0

Total 11 6 5 12 13 15 13 14 4 15 7 5

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Should be Placed

Decisions

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Should be Placed -

Comparative Data

Page 460



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

3 |  

 

 

 

Number of Placement Orders made since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 46 6 45 5 102 

The region has seen a decrease in the number of children being made subject of a Placement Order during 

the year but at year end there were 117 children waiting with a Placement Order who were not placed. 16 

children were on hold, 24 children were proceeding to matching, 10 had active links being pursued and VVC 

was actively family finding for 67 children. 

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 18 33 26 36 113 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 2 3 3 4 8 3 6 3 7 3 3

Merthyr 0 2 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 4 3 5 6 3 8 5 4 2 1 3 1

Vale 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Total 9 7 9 10 8 17 8 10 6 9 6 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of Placement
Orders Granted

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Placement Orders -

Comparative Data

Page 461



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

4 |  

 

2017/18 25 35 24 18 102 

Total 43 68 50 55 216 

 

 

 

Number of children Placed for Adoption since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 40 2 42 2 86 

The number of children placed for adoption during the year has increased on the previous year.  This 

number is the highest in Wales.  Concern however remains in respect of the number of children waiting for 

placement and the length of time they wait. 

 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 1 4 5 4 5 3 5 6 0 1 1 5

Merthyr 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 0 3 4 5 5 0 1 7 1 3 5 8

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0

Total 2 7 9 9 10 3 7 14 1 5 6 13

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Placed -

Comparative Data

Page 462



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

5 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 21 24 13 23 81 

2017/18 18 22 22 24 86 

Total 39 46 35 47 167 

 

 

 

Number of Adoption Orders Granted since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 27 6 31 7 71 

 

Adoption Orders have increased from the previous year. 

Number of Adoption Orders Granted – Comparative Data 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 2 2 1 3 1 0 3 3 0 4 5

Merthyr 0 2 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0

RCT 1 3 3 1 2 7 1 1 5 1 3 3

Vale 0 0 3 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1

Total 3 7 9 4 6 8 3 4 10 1 7 9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Adoption Orders

granted

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Adoption Orders

Granted

Page 463



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

6 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 21 12 15 17 65 

2017/18 19 18 17 17 71 

Total 40 30 32 34 136 

 

 

 

 

Number of children Matched (approved by Agency Decision Maker) but not placed since April 2017 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 43 1 42 5 91 

This represents the number who were matched at the end of the year whose placement fell in the following quarter. 

Number of children Matched (approved by Agency Decision Maker) – Comparative Data 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 4 4 5 3 4 5 8 0 3 1 0 6

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

RCT 1 3 5 4 3 0 3 7 3 3 9 1

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total 5 7 10 7 7 6 13 7 7 4 9 9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Number of children 
matched

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Children Matched

Page 464



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

7 |  

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 30 20 23 12 85 

2017/18 22 20 27 22 91 

Total 51 40 49 34 176 

 

 

 

 

Number of children Matched in since April 2017 who have waited longer than 6 months (or 3 months for 

a relinquished child under 6 months of age) to progress from date of Should be Placed for Adoption 

Decision to date of Agency Decision to approve Match 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 30 0 26 4 60 

These graphs demonstrate an increase in the numbers waiting longer than six months for placement. 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 3 3 5 2 2 4 6 0 0 1 0 4

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 1 2 4 3 2 1 2 3 1 3 3 1

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Total 4 5 9 5 4 5 10 3 1 4 3 7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Waiting longer

than 6-months

Page 465



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

8 |  

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 19 10 5 10 44 

2017/18 16 16 14 14 60 

Total 35 26 19 24 104 

 

 

 

Number of children Placed for Adoption since April 2017 for whom Life Journey Material has been 

provided to adopters by the time of 2nd Adoption Review 

 

Totals 2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

2
nd

 Adoption 

Review  

44 2 23 3 72 

Life Journey 

provided   

26 2 16 3 47 (NAS have 49 as 

both the Vale and 

Merthyr submitted 1 

each which was not 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Waiting longer than

6-months - Comparative 

Data

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cardiff 7 8 8 3

Merthyr 1 1 0 0

RCT 2 6 7 1

Vale 1 2 0 0

Total 11 17 15 4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Life Journey Work

Page 466



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

9 |  

 

accurate and this was 

submitted to NAS) 

This chart is representative of VVC’s figures broken down by local authority. 

Not all the data was available for the NAS report but they calculate our overall performance is 68% which is an 

improvement on previous years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADOPTERS 

Number of Initial Enquiries regarding Adoption received since April 2017 - Total number of initial 

enquiries received = 242 of which 90 (37%) we are not able to allocate to a local authority as they were 

received by email.  This is something we are continuing to address.  

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 62 11 50 29 152 (actual 242) 

These graphs indicate the breakdown by authority. There are a large number where the geographical area 

is unknown. 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 9 3 2 6 3 5 8 5 5 10 1 5

Merthyr 0 2 0 1 0 1 1 1 2 1 1 1

RCT 1 1 4 4 3 6 6 5 2 8 7 3

Vale 1 4 2 1 2 1 2 3 2 3 4 4

Total 11 10 8 12 8 13 17 14 11 22 13 13

0

5

10

15

20

25

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Initial Enquiries

Page 467



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

10 |  

 

 

Number of Initial Enquiries regarding Adoption received – Comparative Data 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 36 43 27 44 150 

2017/18 52 62 63 65 242 

Total 88 105 90 109 392 

 

 

Number of Prospective Adopters receiving Agency Decision to approve as suitable to adopt since April 

2017 – Note; there were 10 approvals in Q4, 2 of which were from outside VVC 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG OTHER Total 

Total 20 2 12 10 2 46 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Initial Enquiries -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 2 4 3 3 0 1 0 4 0 0 1 2

Merthyr 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 0 1 2 1 0 2 2 0 1 2 0 1

Vale 0 1 0 1 1 1 2 2 0 0 0 2

Total 2 6 5 6 1 4 5 6 1 2 1 5

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Approved Adopters

Page 468



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

11 |  

 

These figures demonstrate a slight decrease on the previous year. Unfortunately five couples withdrew 

during assessment and one post approval  which has had an impact upon the region meeting its’ goal. 

 

 

Year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

2016/17 16 16 9 6 47 

2017/18 13 11 12 10 46 

Total 29 27 21 16 93 

 

CHILDREN PLACED WITHIN REGION AND OUTSIDE REGION 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 15 2 33 1 51 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

2016/17 2017/18

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Linear (Total)

Approved Adopters -

Comparative Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 0 1 2 2 2 1 3 0 0 1 1 2

Merthyr 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

RCT 0 2 2 3 5 0 1 7 1 3 4 5

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Total 1 3 4 5 7 1 4 8 1 5 5 7

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

within the Region

Page 469



 

APPENDIX A             VVC Annual Report  2017-18        

12 |  

 

 

 

2017/18 Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Total 

Total 25 0 9 1 35 

 

 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cardiff 1 3 3 2 3 2 2 6 0 0 0 3

Merthyr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RCT 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3

Vale 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Total 1 4 5 4 3 2 3 6 0 0 1 6

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

Cardiff

Merthyr

RCT

Vale

Total

Linear (Total)

Children placed

outside the Region

Page 470



1

Annual Report
2017-2018

Page 471



Page 472



3

Foreword

The local government elections of 2017 provided NAS with a new chairperson for the 

Governance Board as well as new councillors to represent each of the five national adoption 

service regions. This, alongside the consistency in the Independent Chairperson and membership 

of the Advisory Group, has created an excellent and renewed partnership in the professional and 

political stewardship of Wales’ National Adoption Service.

It is almost four years since the National Adoption Service was launched in November 2014 

and since that time we have seen progress and improvement in meeting the needs of children, 

young people and adopters. This report shows what has been done to extend that during 

2017/18 and reflects the hard work and contribution made by adopters, adopted children  

and young people, as well as professional staff across Wales. 

We can see performance improving in many areas as well as important initiatives such as the 

new Life Journey Work Framework, the NAS Adoption Champions and the Adopting Together 

scheme which show much promise for the future continuation of this. 

We were pleased during this year to be invited to write an article for ‘Adoption & Fostering’ the 

quarterly journal now published by the Coram Baaf Adoption and Fostering Academy. We extend 

our thanks to Dr Alyson Rees of Cardiff University for her support and challenge in co-writing 

that with Phil. This provided an important ‘pause and reflect’ opportunity to take stock of where 

we were. This was complemented in February of this year by an Advisory Group workshop where 

we began to think about where we want to be and in particular how we move to developing a 

contemporary and forward thinking adoption services for Wales. 

This is not without its challenges, some of which are also outlined in the report, but we realise 

that in part our role is to challenge ourselves and those that deliver and resource adoption 

services in Wales, as well as the policy makers of government. 

Adoption has lifelong implications for all those it touches; recognising this provides a new 

‘mindset’ for services and different challenges in terms of how we attract prospective adopters, 

place children and provide adoption support in the future. It also provides challenges to the 

legal and policy context, resourcing and practice. 

However, this is informing the work we have been doing and the plans for the future in terms 

of the need for dynamic and flexible recruitment and adoption support services. The need 

to change how we do this in Wales remains significant and will continue to be the focus of 

attention during the next twelve months.

We are pleased as the chairpersons of the National Adoption Service Advisory 

Group and Governance Board respectively to have the opportunity to provide 

this foreword. 

Phil Hodgson 

Chair of the Advisory Group

Cllr Geraint Hopkins 

Chair of Governance Board

Page 473



4

The National Adoption Service for Wales is a collaboration for the provision of adoption services across Wales. 

Since November 2014, it has brought together all local authority adoption services into five regional collaboratives, with co-ordination and 

leadership provided by a small central team and Director of Operations. Voluntary adoption agencies operating in Wales are important partners  

in the collaborative, as are other agencies such as health and education. 

North wales Adoption Service

3rd Floor, Lambpit Street,  

Wrexham, LL11 1AR

01978 295311

adoption@wrexham.gov.uk

www.northwalesadoption.gov.uk

National Adoption Service – Central Team

c/o City of Cardiff Council,  

Room 409 County Hall, Atlantic Wharf,  

Cardiff, CF10 4UW 

029 2087 3927

contact@adoptcymru.com

www.adoptcymru.com

Mid & west wales Adoption

Building 1, St David’s Park, Johnstown, 

Carmarthenshire, SA31 3HB 

01267 246970

adoptionenquires@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

www.adoptionmwwales.org.uk

Neuadd Brycheiniog, Cambrian Way,  

Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HR

01597 827666

adoptionenquiries@carmarthenshire.gov.uk

www.adoptionmwwales.org.uk

western Bay Adoption Service

Port Talbot Civic Centre,  

Port Talbot CF131PJ 

0300 365 2222 

enquires@westernbayadoption.org

www.westernbayadoption.org

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption

Level 7, Ty Pennant, Catherine Street, 

Pontypridd, CF37 2TB 

0800 0234 064

adoption@valeofglamorgan.gov.uk

www.adopt4vvc.org

South east wales Adoption Service

North Wing, 2nd Floor Block B,  

Mamhilad House, Mamhilad Parke Estate, 

Pontypool, Torfaen, NP40HZ

01495 355766

adoption@blaenau-gwent.gov.uk

www.blaenau-gwent.gov.uk/3122.asp

INTroduCTIoN

THe NorTH

Isle of Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, 

Denbighshire, Flintshire, Wrexham

CeNTrAL TeAM

SouTH eAST wALeS

Monmouthshire, Blaenau Gwent,  

Torfaen, Caerphilly, Newport

weSTerN BAY

Swansea, Neath Port Talbot,  

Bridgend

MId & weST wALeS

Ceredigion, Powys, Carmarthenshire, 

Pembrokeshire

VALe, VALLeYS & CArdIFF

Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf,  

Cardiff, Vale of Glamorgan

Page 474



5

ALL wALeS VoLuNTArY 

AdoPTIoN AGeNCIeS SerVICeS

Adoption uK

Penhaved Studios, Penhaved Street, 

Grangetown, Cardiff, CF117LU

029 2023 0319

www.adoptionuk.org

AFA Cymru

28 Park Place, Cardiff, CF10 3BA

029 2066 7007

Info-afa@stdavidscs.org

www.afacymru.org

After Adoption

Penhaved Studios, Penhaved Street, 

Grangetown, Cardiff, CF117LU

029 2066 6597

information@afteradoption.org.uk

www.afteradoption.org.uk

Barnardo’s Cymru

Trident Court, East Moors Road,  

Cardiff, CF245TD

0800 0546 788 

cymruadoptionandfosteringservice@

barnardos.org.uk 

www.barnardos.org.uk/adoption

St david’s Children Society

28 Park Place, Cardiff, CF10 3BA

029 2066 7007

info@stdavidscs.org

www.adoptionwales.org

Page 475



6

During the 2017/18 business year:

•	 more	than	300	children	were	placed	in	their	new	adoptive	home;

•	 approximately	300	children	had	their	adoption	orders	granted1; 

•	 a	further	350	children,	with	the	legal	authority	to	be	placed,	were	waiting	to	be	matched	 

or placed with their new family at the end of the year.

The service worked with about 16% of the children who were looked after in Wales last year, a 

similar figure to the year before. According to Welsh Government data, on average over the last 

eight years, 13% of all the children who ceased to be looked after were adopted.

The adoption agencies that make up the National Adoption Service for Wales provide a range  

of services to support these children and their families, as well as others affected by adoption.  

In addition to working with the children above, adoption services across Wales also: 

•	 supported	more	than	500	children	with	adoption	support	services;

•	 facilitated	more	than	3,370	active	letterbox	contact	arrangements;

•	 provided	a	service	to	more	than	320	birth	parents;

•	 received	more	than	200	requests	for	access	to	birth	records	and	more	than	150	for	help	 

in making contact with birth family;

•	 received	more	than	60	requests	for	support	from	birth	siblings	and	other	relatives.

For looked after children in Wales who cannot remain with their birth family, 

and for whom an adoptive home is the agreed plan, adoption services play  

an important role in securing a permanent family. 

1 This data is collected by the Welsh Government and will be published later in 2018

Page 476



7

AdoPTIoN SuPPorT

Since NAS was formed, we have made improvements to the adoption 

support services we provide, and we are currently implementing our 

Framework for Adoption Support. 

This framework recognises that all adopted children and their parents 

may want or need support at some stage, and that this needs to be 

easily accessible and available within ‘adoption informed’ services. 

It also recognises that we should better equip adoptive families in 

the early days, as well as ensuring families get effective information, 

advice or support whenever they need it. These changes are part of 

recognising that adoption has ‘lifelong implications’ for children, their 

adoptive parents, and others affected by adoption – particularly birth 

parents and adopted people.

Out of the many positive changes being made, we are particularly 

pleased with the impact of our life journey work for children and 

families. 62% of children now have this in place by their second 

adoption review.

All of the regions have shown further improvement this year, with  

Mid and West Wales consistently performing well.

Once again this year nearly all the children placed had their need for 

adoption support services assessed, and 36% had ongoing services at 

the point of placement, a higher proportion than last year (25%). 

There has been an increase in post adoption support being sought and 

provided. At 167, 32% more new requests for post adoption support 

were assessed during 2017/18, with a further 81 in progress at the end 

of the year. The vast majority of these assessments, more than 124 or 

74%, resulted in a non-financial support service being provided mainly 

for therapeutic or practical support. 

We have asked the Welsh Government to revise the legal framework 

for adoption support services. This would make adoption support plans 

become part of the child’s Looked After Children plan, remaining active 

and reviewed under the new Social Services and Well-being Legislation 

until support is no longer needed. Families would still be able to come 

back for further support should they need it later on. 

We believe this will help us improve the accessibility of services, 

alongside making changes that improve how adoptive families are 

supported from the start. Initiatives such as the new Life Journey 

Materials Framework, and the flexible post approval training package 

for adopters, should provide this. We also plan to consider how contact 

is supported in 2018/19. 

Percentage of children at second adoption review  

with Life Journey materials in place

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Mid & West Wales 92% 79% 92%

North Wales 44% 25% 46%

South East Wales 45% 43% 60%

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff 30% 61% 68%

Western Bay 55% 30% 58%

WALES 49% 45% 62%

90

50

70

30

20

100

60

80

40

10

0

Framework for Adoption Support

uNIVerSAL
TArGeTed

SPeCIALIST

Page 477



8

PLACING CHILdreN

Section 2 of the report outlines the work we are doing to improve 

recruitment, meaning we can place all children in a timely way. We 

have been improving marketing and recruitment because we now 

understand our business needs in much more detail.

In 2017/18, 212 adopters were approved, fewer than in previous years, 

but 12% more new assessments (277) were commenced. The level 

of adopters approved has returned to pre-NAS levels; this may be 

the ‘norm’ for Wales, but this needs to change because recruitment 

activity at this level will not meet our needs. 

Despite this, there are some positive things to report in terms of 

placing children:

•	 the	children	we	place	are,	on	average,	being	placed	more	quickly;

•	 56%	of	children	placed	joined	their	new	family	within	the	Welsh	

Government guideline of 13 months from the time they became 

‘looked after’ and 49% within the 6 months guideline from the 

time of the placement order;

•	 nearly	one	third	of	the	placements	we	made	were	for	children	in	

sibling groups – similar to last year;

•	 the	level	of	matches	that	do	not	proceed	or	breakdown	before	the	

adoption order remains very low at 1%;

•	 enquiries	from	adopters	have	increased	by	20%	this	year;	and

•	 the	average	time	for	an	adopter	to	be	approved	has	reduced	again	

– on average 6 months from formal application to approval, 9.5 

months from the adopters first enquiry.

We recognise that we need increase the level of assessments 

commenced and completed to reach a new level of adopter 

sufficiency, meaning we can reduce the number of children waiting 

and the time they wait. We believe in the short term that Wales  

needs to almost double the number of adopters it recruits.

uNderPINNING worK

There are many other activities that the National Adoption Service  

is engaged in. In section 3, we report on the work we are doing to 

engage with adopters, adopted children and young people, and our  

co-produced development work with them. It also outlines the 

significant amount of work we are doing in legal and policy 

arrangements, which ensure that the context for adoption services 

works well for the people receiving services.

The rest of the report outlines how we did in meeting our priorities  

for 2017/18.

Measure 34: Number of prospective adopters approved

250

350

150

100

300

200

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

197 245 236 294 266 236 212

50

0

Page 478



9

The National Adoption Service vision  

for 2017/18 was to:

•	 Increase	the	range	of	adoptive	homes	available	to	meet	the	

needs of children for whom adoption is the agreed plan

•	 Reduce	the	time	all	children	wait	for	an	adoptive	

placement, including children with additional needs,  

and ensure sibling groups are placed together

•	 Ensure	prospective	and	approved	adopters	receive	good	

quality, timely assessment and support

•	 Implement	our	Framework	for	Adoption	Support	to	provide	

everyone affected by adoption with improved access to 

advice, information and certain services, as well as more 

targeted and specialist support for those who need ongoing 

support following assessment

•	 Achieve	improvements	in	the	performance	of	adoption	

services across Wales

Key Improvement Priorities  

for 2017/18 were:

•	 Continuing	to	improve	adoption	support	

•	 Placing	children	effectively

•	 Underpinning	work	–	which	included	informing	the	

legal and policy context, consulting with and using 

co-production to engage our service users, improving 

professional understanding and skills in permanence and 

adoption related work, and ensuring our Governance 

arrangements work well

our FoCuS

Page 479



10

Continuing to improve  
adoption support

1
PrIorITY

Where are we at March 2018?

•	 The	Framework	has	been	developed	and	agreed	by	all	partners	 

and stakeholders.

•	 Most	regions	have	developed	their	local	arrangements	to	provide	

adoption support, including providing new or additional services 

and developing their staff to deliver specific therapeutic adoption 

support interventions.

•	 An	Adoption	Support	Development	Manager	post	has	been	created	

– funded by £50k Welsh Government (WG) investment which is 

secured to 31st March 2019. 

•	 Engagement	with	adopters	is	ongoing	via	an	embryonic	‘Adopter	

Voice’ scheme for Wales, and with children and young people via 

expansion of ‘Talk Adoption’.

•	 Welsh	Government/National	Assembly	agreed	implementation	

of Section 8 and 9 of the English Children and Social Work Act in 

Wales.

•	 Adoption	UK	(AUK)	launched	‘The First 1000 Days’ project in 

October 2017. Its aim is to provide a package of support to 

adoptive families during the first three years, starting when the 

child is placed. It offers free access to a helpline; local peer support, 

training workshops and courses; factsheets and resources on a 

wide range of adoption related issues. In the first 6 months, 53 

families have formally registered to the project and a further 25 

people	have	contacted	the	helpline	about	it.	AUK	have	provided	10	

workshops across Wales dealing with issues with Education, Sleep 

and Therapeutic services and more are planned to focus on health  

and development issues, and Life Journey Work.

•	 Local	government	is	implementing	a	national	policy	on	financial	

allowances in adoption; regions are working with their local 

authorities to implement this from 1st April 2018. 

•	 We	are	implementing	the	new	framework	for	Life Journey Work in 

adoption, which has been co-produced with children, young people 

and adopters. A new ‘Toolkit’ has been developed, which together 

with the Framework and Good Practice Guide, are on the  

www.adoptcymru.com website. This work has been supported 

by AFA Cymru; all staff have received support and training from 

AFA Cymru and this is to continue. Recurring investment of £75k 

has been made available from the Welsh Government to create 

capacity for improvement and is available to regions to embed the 

changes going forward.

•	 We	have	continued	to	work	with	Welsh	Government	and	Adoption	

UK	to	make	education	services	more	‘adoption	aware’.	Lots	of	

adopters express concerns about the way their child’s needs are 

understood	in	school	settings;	AUK	provides	awareness	raising	

work for education professionals across Wales. This year, with 

funding from Welsh Government, ‘Master Classes’ have been 

held across Wales. Adoptive parents, teachers and adoption social 

workers have come together to hear about the latest theories 

in brain development and the impact of early trauma, as well 

as sharing strategies on supporting adopted children in school. 

A comprehensive bank of resources has been gathered and is 

available for teachers on the Hwb Education Intranet and from 

Adoption	UK.	This	complements	the	two	guides	produced	in	

previous years.

 A guide for teachers https://www.adoptionuk.org/nations/

cymruwales#GettingItRight

Progressing the Adoption Support 

Framework and Business Case

The National Adoption Services Framework for Adoption Support 

outlines our ambitions for the support and services that adopted 

children, adoptive parents and others affected by adoption can 

expect over time. It is the adoption support improvement plan 

for Wales, based on our engagement with the people who use 

services. Over time, we want these services to be easily accessible 

and widely available everywhere, meeting needs in a timely way.

Page 480



11

 A guide for parents https://www.adoptionuk.org/nations/  

cymruwales#GettingItRightParents

•	 We	have	produced	and	made	a	Legal Guide for Adopters available. 

Developed by AFA Cymru for NAS it is available on  

www.adoptcymru.com/publications and on the AFA Cymru website.

•	 We	have	continued	to	work	on	improving	access	to	CAMHS	

and other health services that support emotional well-being. A 

productive meeting was held between clinical leads for CAMHS 

services in Wales and managers from the National Adoption Service 

for Wales in May 2017. The current CAMHS development plans 

include a commitment to improve the offer to vulnerable children, 

of which looked after children (such as adopted children) are a 

key group. Initial links have been made in four of the five regions, 

although there is still room to improve what is available to families. 

NAS has been invited to join the re-formed Early Intervention 

and Resilience workstream of the ‘Together for Children and 

Young People’ programme, and in early 2018 gave evidence at 

the National Assembly for Wales CAMHS inquiry building on the 

written evidence that NAS submitted. 

The business case estimates the cost of implementing the Adoption 

Support Framework to be in the region of £1.4m – not including 

individual targeted and specialist services, some of which would be 

provided by others e.g. health. On the next page are some other 

priorities in the business case that are being considered currently.

Page 481



12

what update Future needs

Improved access to consistent, ‘adoption 

informed’ specialist advice and 

information about adoptive parenting and 

being adopted – preferably provided by 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA) in a 

‘triage’ type service – preventing statutory 

involvement for many.

•	 NAS	website	developed	to	include	Adoption	

Support pages

•	 Adoption	UK	(AUK)	membership	for	all	new	

adopters – grant funded by Welsh Government 

(WG) to 31st March 2019

•	 AUK	and	Association	for	Fostering	&	Adoption	

(AFA) advice lines – grant funded by WG to 31st 

March 2019

•	 NAS	adopter	database	to	be	part	of	new	WAR

•	 Business	case	identifies	triage	service	development	

costs as £50k minimum

Develop the triage concept and service 

offer including links with regions and, 

where appropriate, Local Authority (LA) 

and Information & Advice (IAA) services 

Funding to be identified

Update pre-approval training for adopters 

and develop a post approval/placement 

program for all adopters.

•	 Post	approval	training	for	adopters	developed	

(grant – one off)

•	 Scoping	of	pre-approval	training	content	included	

in above

•	 Some	regions	have	invested	in	staff	and	adopter	

training in specific therapeutic and behaviour 

management techniques

Funding for ongoing delivery to be 

identified

Project to review and update pre-approval 

training to be scoped and funding 

identified

Other opportunities to add to the range  

of options available to be explored

Arrangements for adopters, children and 

young people to access new post adoption 

support assessments through the regional 

services as well as enhancing oversight 

of existing support plans for adopters/

children who live in each regional area,

•	 Four	of	five	regional	adoption	services	now	offer	

post adoption assessments

•	 The	South	East	Wales	regional	collaborative	has	

developed a service delivery model for this has 

been made available to all regions to consider 

implementing 

Fifth region to develop its plan

Scope what is needed for regional services 

to have improved oversight of adoption 

support plans and develop a plan

Integrating adoption support plans into 

children’s care and support plans (Part 

6 plans) and keeping these plans and 

services live and active for as long as they 

need to be.

•	 Requires	legislative	change	–	advice	including	

independent legal advice provided to Welsh 

Government. Formal requests for the changes to 

be made.

Continue to request and work with WG to 

achieve this

Help other agencies/services become 

‘adoption aware’. 

NAS education plan mirrors and works with WG plan 

for the education of looked after children

•	 Health	services

•	 Other	services

Priorities for 18/19 to be followed up 

including recent agreement by WG to 

track educational outcomes of adopted 

children

Consider similar approach for other 

partner services

Letterbox and Contact. •	 Children’s	commissioner	annual	report	on	siblings	

views on contact/separation 

•	 WG	response	includes	working	with	NAS	

•	 Recognition	of	growing	area	of	work

Share good practice and develop an 

improvement plan

Page 482



13

Placing Children 
effectively

We have done a lot of work this year on our recruitment strategy, as well as developing better 

information and data to help us try to predict demand for placements. This is making good 

progress but we know that services will need to increase recruitment by a good margin to be 

able to place the children currently waiting, as well as the children likely to have placement 

orders made in 2018/19 and beyond.

wHAT HAVe we doNe

•	 All	regions	and	VAAs	now	have	marketing	and	recruitment	plans	in	place,	and	in	the	second	

half of this year we started to develop recruitment goals based on the analysis of likely need

•	 Our	Welsh	Government	development	grant	was	used	to	support	the	regions	in	developing	

marketing plans, encouraging greater collaboration where there was opportunity for this.  

It also supported national and regional recruitment campaigns including by the VAA’s

•	 Nationally,	our	social	media	presence	continues	to	grow,	and	we	have	made	improvements	

to the national website and how we use it following a review

•	 We	ran	a	successful	radio	campaign	at	the	end	of	the	year	that	had	a	positive	impact	on	

enquiries

•	 We	have	worked	with	our	‘Adoption	Champions’	to	inform	the	content	of	our	marketing	 

and a number of champions have provided feature stories for this

•	 Our	VAAs	partners	have	worked	together	to	develop	a	specialist	recruitment	project	

‘Adopting Together’ for the children who wait longest 

•	 We	will	continue	to	use	web	analysis	and	digital	marketing	to	further	improve	our	 

marketing nationally and regionally 

The key to being able 

to place children in a 

timely way is having 

sufficient adopters 

to meet the needs 

of children with an 

adoption plan. 

We are placing children more quickly 

and having success in placing siblings 

groups and more complex children. 

Despite this however, the number of 

children waiting has begun to increase 

again and at 31st March 2018 there 

were 350 children in Wales subject to a 

placement order waiting to be matched. 

Although we know that at least 20% 

of these children had matches being 

considered, we also know that we need 

to recruit more adopters so that we 

reduce the number of children waiting 

overall and the time that any child 

waits. 

Average in months it has taken from the 

date of the most recently looked after to 

date of placement for adoption

1

11

6

16

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

16.5 15.0 15.8 14.6

Benchmark: 13 months or less

PrIorITY

2

Page 483



14

CHALLeNGeS

There many challenges facing us, not least ensuring marketing skills and resources are available 

across what is essentially a social work service, and using data to predict demand in an 

environment where many factors (e.g. numbers of placement orders made) are beyond the 

control of the service. Adopter sufficiency planning is new for NAS regions and agencies, and  

we are developing the data set alongside addressing the re-emerging gap. 

Marketing is not something that all services have invested in to date and the central team  

is losing its part time marketing support at end of June. 

The work we have done on marketing to date has however resulted in increased enquiries. 

These are responded to in a timely way, and there have also been improvements in the average 

timeframe for approval of adopters, as well as more assessments were commenced last year 

than in the previous.

We therefore have good foundations for the plans to address this nationally and regionally  

over the coming year, where we are aiming to maintain a good level of enquiries and begin  

to increase recruitment again. 

Our plan is to commission expert marketing support, and monitor the implementation of 

marketing plans including improved use of analytics, better co-ordinating our digital and social 

media marketing, as well as working with our Adoption Champions to further develop our 

#SeeTheWholeChild campaign. 

Alongside this we will see the roll out of Adopting Together, a collaborative project supported 

by the National Adoption Service, in partnership with the statutory sector and delivered by the 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies in Wales. The project has emerged from a common and clearly 

defined purpose of securing permanence for children who wait longest for a family; it has been 

developed during 2017/18. 

Led by St David’s Children Society, Adopting Together brings together theoretical knowledge and 

best	practice	models	that	have	been	developed	across	the	UK	into	one	distinct	model	with	four	

interlinking components for Wales:

•	 effective	transitions	using	structured	therapeutic	play;

•	 an	early	interventions	approach	that	supports	the	main	carer	–	child	relationship;

•	 Team	for	Child	meetings	pre-matching	which	brings	together	information	from	those	who	

know the child best;

•	 specific	recruitment,	assessment	and	training	of	adopters	by	St.	David’s	Children	Society	

and Barnardo’s, including child specific recruitment in partnership with Local Authority and 

Regional family finding teams. 

Number of Initial Enquiries

0

800

400

1200

200

1000

600

1400

1600

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

1161
1197

1280

1550

Average time (months) for Adopters to 

progress from initial enquiry to agency 

decision to approve

9.5

8.5

10.5

10.0

9.0

11.0

11.5

9.5

10.4

11.1

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Benchmark: 8 months or less

9.5

Page 484



15

exCHANGe ANd ACTIVITY dAYS

The Wales Adoption Register continues to work creatively in finding 

adoptive families for children who are waiting. In 2017/18, we have 

held an Adoption Activity Day (AAD) and Exchange Days in South and 

North Wales respectively. 

Adoption Activity Days are an opportunity for prospective adopters to 

meet a range of children waiting to be adopted. In that sense, AADs 

are child and adopter-led, and enable them to be active participants 

in family-finding. Unlike more traditional family-finding mechanisms, 

AADs give children and adopters the chance to emotionally connect 

and respond directly to each other through fun and enjoyable 

activities in a safe and supportive setting. Most importantly this  

is an opportunity for children to be seen as children first. 

•	 Our	first	AAD	in	March	2017	was	an	overwhelming	success	with	

very positive feedback from the adopters, social workers, children 

and foster carers who attended. 6 children were matched with 

families as a result – 1 in 4 children who attended. One little boy 

who has since been placed said he feels he chose his family on the 

day, and it is very much part of his life journey story! 

•	 Our	second	AAD	in	March	2018	was	an	even	greater	success	and	

matched 40% of children who attended –14 children out of the 

35 and we expect at least 4 further matches. The majority of these 

placements are for children who have been on the Wales Adoption 

Register for more than 6 months and include 5 sibling groups. 

•	 We	held	an	Exchange	Day	in	September	2017	in	North	Wales.	 

10 children were matched through this event including a sibling 

group of 3. 

In feedback to the Register, most adopters express the importance 

of adopter-led opportunities and how much they learn about the 

children waiting by attending such events. Many expressed an interest, 

and have subsequently been matched with children they would not 

otherwise have considered or been linked with, including older children 

and large sibling groups. 

These events, along with practitioner meetings and VAA meetings 

to the Register, make up the majority of the matches made by the 

Register in 2017/18 (28 out of 38). The matches from the AAD in 

March 2018 will be accounted for in 2018/19 once they have been 

progressed. 

MATCHING ANd PLACING CHILdreN

We are doing other work to improve the arrangements for placing 

children.

•	 We	know	that	adopters	really	value	the	input	of	Medical	Advisors	

before their child is placed with them. However, Medical Advisors 

were aware of poor notification pathways when children are placed 

for adoption with their adoptive families and when adoption 

orders are granted. They undertook a review to gain a better 

understanding of improvements that could be made. There were 

different issues across Wales that are being considered through  

the regional management boards.

•	 We	have	been	working	with	the	Welsh	Government	to	upgrade	

the database that supports the Wales Adoption Register and 

facilitate an adopter database. This had been delayed but in 

February a decision was made to proceed. Cardiff Council, as the 

host authority for the NAS central team, will be procuring the new 

database. It is anticipated the register will go live during 2018, a 

project plan is in place and a Steering Group established to inform 

and implement the changes in practice required. 

Page 485



16

deVeLoPING our PerForMANCe FrAMeworK 

The National Adoption Service Performance Management Framework (PMF) is detailed, but it 

now provides essential context and understanding to the delivery of adoption services across 

Wales. The work we have done on data to support the recruitment strategy this year exemplifies 

the value of this and we are beginning to develop additional data and intelligence to meet our 

needs.

NAS is continuously working to improve systems for data collection and verification on a 

regional and national basis. To this end we completed a review of the PMF this year, including 

an examination of any inconsistencies in the quality of data, with an eye to the future. We 

had hoped that Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS) would be sufficiently 

implemented as a potential replacement and have been working with WCCIS to develop the 

relevant modules, but realistically this is looking unlikely. Our review identified that reliance on 

local authorities for accurate and timely data was a factor, as was the quality of regional data 

systems and infrastructure; ownership of performance culture is still not universally embedded 

across NAS.

Practice Solutions were commissioned to provide an initial assessment of the National Adoption 

Services’ use, processing, storage and dissemination of information. We want to use the 

opportunity of renewing our system to improve and consolidate our knowledge management, 

increasing analytical capability in the short term and inform the longer-term position. We 

also want to integrate the data capabilities of the new Wales Adoption Register so we reduce 

duplication and unnecessary burden. 

uNderPINNING worK

Page 486



17Page 487



18

CoNTINuING To uSe Co-ProduCTIoN To eNGAGe 

uSerS ANd INTeGrATING SerVICe uSer VIewS INTo 

our GoVerNANCe

We have continued to use co-production to engage with adopters, 

adopted children and young people. Events have been held across 

Wales by regions and VAA’s through support groups and focus groups, 

as well as for National Adoption Week last October. 

During National Adoption Week 2017, a family event was held in 

Techniquest, which the former Cabinet Secretary the late Carl 

Sargeant attended. 

This was a fun event for the families that came from every part of 

Wales and also launched the National Adoption Service Adopter 

Champion initiative.

We appealed to current adopters across Wales to become champions 

of adoption and have received an excellent response. 

NAS believes that the story of adoption is best told by the people  

who have experienced it and whose reality it is. People who may not 

have thought about adoption, or may be considering it but feeling 

unsure, should hear these stories to feel that, with support, they  

could complete their family too.

The Adoption Champions have an important role in promoting a 

positive and realistic view of adoption by sharing how it positively 

changes their lives, the difference it made to the lives of children 

they adopted, and encouraging and empowering others to consider 

adoption with an open mind.

The initiative was launched during National Adoption Week 2017, and 

we look forward to developing it further by involving the Champions 

in future campaigns and linking them with regional services so that 

they can support local groups and activities. 

During 2017/18, we also began to embed more structured and 

systematic ongoing ways of engaging with adopters, children and 

young people, as well as continuing to co-produce projects such as  

the development of the Life Journey Work framework. 

‘Adopter Voice’	is	an	initiative	developed	by	Adoption	UK	in	Wales	and	

supported by NAS. It mirrors a similar English scheme and began in 

Wales in the second half of 2017/18, continuing this year. Information 

was	gathered	across	Wales	by	Adoption	UK	via	attendance	at	support	

group meetings and a short online survey. 8 support groups, at least 

1 in each region, were visited, where a set of standard questions 

were used to create a discussion about the strengths and challenges 

in the adoption system in Wales currently. Generally there was a 

feeling that the recruitment and assessment stages of the adoption 

journey are mainly effective, but the post adoption order experience 

is more variable. Adoption support, including specialist services, was 

highlighted as the main area of concern, alongside the need for 

improvements in communication about the support available locally. 

‘Talk Adoption’	is	a	national	(UK-wide)	support	service	for	adopted	

children and young people run by After Adoption. It encourages 

adopted children and young people to build relationships and learn 

new skills, boosting their confidence. 

Talk Adoption Wales provides monthly groups for children and young 

people aged 7-10 years old and 11-25 years old. The service currently 

runs 2 groups (1 for each age group) in Cardiff and Swansea, and 

bi-annual family days for all family members. The groups offer a safe 

and supportive space to meet, have fun and explore issues which are 

important to adopted children and young people. The groups are very 

much led by the children and young people, their ideas, their thoughts, 

their voice. 

Talk Adoption Wales promotes the voice of adopted children and 

young people by encouraging group members to attend/speak at 

adoption events, such as those run by National Adoption Service in 

Wales, Local Authority adoption teams and other adoption agencies. 

Page 488



19

Indeed, in Wales, young people from Talk Adoption spoke at the launch 

of the National Adoption Service at the Senedd in November 2014 

and at the same time produced a DVD to highlight some of the 

issues important to them. This provides an important opportunity for 

adopted people to have their voices heard by the wider community, by 

professionals involved in adoption, their peers, and others e.g. teachers, 

politicians and senior officers. It is open to all who wish to take part, 

but is not part of the monthly sessions.

Maintaining the link with Talk Adoption Wales has been a priority for 

NAS and a core element of the NAS plan for engaging with those who 

use adoption services. 

The support groups to children and young people in Cardiff and 

Swansea have continued, with both groups being oversubscribed. 

Exploratory discussions about the expansion of the service in Wales, 

including a group in North Wales, have been ongoing but hampered 

by lack of resources. After Adoption has been considering re-shaping 

its service in Wales to focus on support groups to children and young 

people. 

Talk Adoption have been engaged in the Life Journey Work project, 

sessions to develop a training DVD as well as a sample ‘Life Journey’ 

book outlining what they think it needs to contain and how this work 

should be undertaken. 

A draft newsletter has been also developed. The groups discussed 

further possible webpage/App content (for Talk Adoption and The 

National Adoption Service), which would have the same type of 

content as the newsletter, but with additional video interviews, audio 

interviews, links to other websites, and links to relevant social media 

platforms. 

INForMING THe LeGAL ANd PoLICY CoNTexT, 

AdVoCATING CHANGe wHere NeCeSSArY

NAS has continued to advocate for improved services on behalf of 

those using adoption services to the Welsh Government, National 

Assembly for Wales and others. 

NAS is a member of the Improving Outcomes for Children Ministerial 

Advisory Group, where the improvements in adoption support are 

being monitored as part of a wider work stream on Permanency 

Planning and Building Stable Placements. During this year, NAS has 

kept the group updated on the development and implementation of 

the Framework for Adoption Support, and delivered a presentation on 

the improvement programme ‘Life Journey Materials’ for children who 

are or will be adopted.

NAS provided written evidence to the National Assembly for Wales 

inquiry into the Emotional and Mental Health of Children and Young 

People, and subsequently the Director gave evidence in person with 

colleagues from the All Wales Heads of Children’s Services group and 

the Welsh Local Government Association. The subsequent report ‘Mind 

over Matter’ has recently been published and makes specific reference 

to issues and recommendations for the future of services to support 

the emotional wellbeing of adopted children. 

NAS also collaborated with the All Wales Heads of Children’s Services 

group and the Welsh Local Government Association to provide 

written evidence to the National Assembly for Wales Public Accounts 

Committee inquiry, which looks at public services for care experienced 

children and young people. The Independent Chair of the NAS Advisory 

group also wrote to the committee chair. 

NAS meets twice a year with the relevant Welsh Minister for Children 

to discuss the NAS Annual and Mid Year reports. 

NAS has been engaged with the Welsh Government review of 

the adoption regulations prompted by the implementation of the 

Regulation and Inspection of Social Care Act 2017.  Alongside this, 

NAS has made a formal request to the Welsh Government to make 

changes to the regulations for the assessment of adopters, and for 

the provision of adoption support services. These changes are being 

requested to facilitate the improvements that NAS wishes to see 

implemented. 

NAS has also engaged with the Welsh Government’s development 

of new arrangements for Additional Learning Needs by attending 

workshops and meeting with officials. 

Page 489



20

NAS has worked with the Care Inspectorate Wales in their 

development of a revised methodology for adoption services in Wales. 

One of the regions, Western Bay, was inspected as a pilot, alongside an 

inspection of the national functions between January and March 2017. 

Early feedback for both is positive and the publication of both reports 

is awaited. The remainder of the regions will be inspected during 

2018/20 with the VAA’s towards the end of the programme. 

eNCourAGe THe deVeLoPMeNT oF IMProVed 

ProFeSSIoNAL uNderSTANdING ANd SKILLS IN 

PerMANeNCe ANd AdoPTIoN reLATed TASKS 

ACroSS THe worKForCe

A number of our initiatives are impacting on the workforce within 

regional services and local authorities. Examples of this include our 

marketing and recruitment work, the new life journey materials 

for children who are or will be adopted, and training in specific 

therapeutic techniques, which are available to staff and adopters 

within regions.

Our Welsh Government grant aid has enabled NAS to contract with 

AFA	Cymru	and	Adoption	UK,	allowing	us	to	develop	post	approval	

training modules for adopters based on feedback. We aim to make 

these available during 2018/19 in a variety of ways to suit different 

learning styles. 

Intelligence nationally and regionally, backed up by research, 

consistently indicates that support in the first year of placement and 

beyond is particularly needed. Our vision is that adopters will have 

access to more detailed and specific training/development at any 

stage after the child is placed or formally adopted. This forms a key 

part of the Framework for Adoption Support that we have developed, 

and is in recognition that adoption has lifelong implications for all 

involved. 

eNSurING our GoVerNANCe ArrANGeMeNTS 

worK weLL

NAS has been in existence for three years and a review has 

been commissioned, using Institute of Public Care, to ensure the 

governance, management and operational arrangements of NAS are 

‘fit for purpose’, enabling successful delivery of its stated role and 

purpose. The review commenced in the final quarter of 2017/18 and 

will be completed during 2018/19.

Reviews of the collaborative arrangements for North Wales and the 

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff also took place during 2017/18.

Your FeedBACK
Regional adoption services record compliments and complaints received at the 

service. There may be some under-reporting of both, particularly where these 

are received and dealt with by individual local authorities. 

Across wales during 2017/18, there were 14 complaints and 17 compliments specifically 

recorded. There are no national themes arising from these complaints or compliments; two 

regions have noted receipt of more than one complaint about a similar element of service  

and have taken appropriate action.

Page 490



21

The local government elements of the National Adoption Service are funded  

in the same way as all other local authority services in Wales. 

The central team receives an allocation from the rate support grant which was £311,000 for 

2017/18 and is used for the small team, governance and development/improvement. The 

Wales Adoption Register, managed by the central team, is funded by grant aid from the Welsh 

Government.

The Voluntary Adoption Agencies are independent charities but also receive funding from the 

Welsh Government Third Sector grant. This funding provides a little over £300,000 additional 

funding for adoption services.

welsh Government Adoption Support development Grant and Additional resources

Welsh Government provided a development grant of £90,000 and recurring additional annual 

resources of £125,000 available up to 31st March 2019, against a business case focused on the 

continuing implementation of the ‘Adoption Support Framework’ and supporting recruitment. 

Adoption Support Life Journey 

materials framework

Adopter Training Recruitment

Recruitment to 

Adoption Support 

Development 

Manager post 

including capital 

costs of post creation

Continued support to 

the development of 

the Adoption Support 

Framework.

Continued 

development and 

implementation of 

the Life Story Toolkit 

and Good Practice 

Guide

Allocation to each 

region for cost of 

additional capacity 

for this work to be 

undertaken with 

children placed for 

adoption

Development of 

members section on 

www.adoptcymru.

com

Development of 

additional toolkits for 

other stakeholders

Co-production 

with adopters and 

adopted children and 

young people

Post approval training 

modules developed

Project expanded to 

include a review of 

the current pre-

approval package

A national radio 

campaign ran for one 

month

National and 

regional expert public 

relations and media 

services including 

development of 

marketing plans 

and recruitment 

campaigns

Review of www.

adoptcymru.com 

website

Family day and 

promotional activity 

during National 

Adoption Week

FINANCe

Page 491



22

PrIorITIeS For 2018/19

CoNTINuING To IMProVe 
AdoPTIoN SuPPorT 

This will include:

•	 Agreeing	the	next	priorities	and	identifying	funding

•	 Continuing	things	that	are	already	helping	e.g.	improving	

life journey work, improving ‘adoption awareness’ in 

schools, trying to change the law for adoption support, 

improving training and development for adopters, 

consistent approaches across Wales

FuNdAMeNTAL To ACHIeVING 
THeSe wILL Be THINKING AHeAd

•	 Continuing	co-production	and	engagement	with	those	who	

use adoption services

•	 Thinking	ahead	about	the	sort	of	adoption	service	we	want	

for the future

•	 Working	to	improve	the	legal,	policy	&	evidence	framework	

that affects adoption

•	 Encouraging	the	development	of	improved	professional	

understanding and skills

PLACING CHILdreN eFFeCTIVeLY

This will include:

•	 Keeping	recruitment	focused	on	the	needs	of	children	likely	

to be adopted

•	 Implementing	the	new	Wales	Adoption	Register	and	

adopter database 

Page 492



National Adoption Service Central Team 

c/o City of Cardiff Council  

Room 409 County Hall  

Atlantic Wharf  

Cardiff CF10 4UW 

T: 029 2087 3927 

E: contact@adoptcymru.com 

www.adoptcymru.com

The National Adoption Service was created to improve services for all those affected by 

adoption in Wales. 

The National Adoption Service (NAS) for Wales, launched in November 2014, is an innovative 

collaborative for the provision of adoption services. It brought together Welsh local authority 

adoption services into a three-tier structure which includes partnerships at all levels with 

Voluntary Adoption Agencies based in Wales, Health and Education Services, as well as others.

At local authority level, all 22 Welsh councils continue to provide services to all looked after 

children whilst identifying and working with those children for whom a plan for adoption is 

appropriate.

Regionally, local authorities work together within five regional collaboratives to provide a range 

of adoption services. Each regional collaborative has links with the voluntary adoption agencies, 

health and education. The services provided differ in each collaborative but all provide the 

adoption agency functions for children, recruit and assess adopters, offer counselling to birth 

parents and advice to adopted adults. Some currently directly provide adoption support services, 

whereas in others this remains with their local authorities.

Page 493



This page is intentionally left blank



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

24th JANUARY, 2019

THE INTRODUCTION OF FIXED PENALTY NOTICES TO DEAL WITH SMALL 
SCALE FLY-TIPPING

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF HIGHWAYS AND STREETCARE IN 
DISCUSSIONS WITH CLLR A. CRIMMINGS CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ENVIRONMENT, LEISURE AND HERITAGE

Author: Nigel Wheeler Director of Highways and Streetcare

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To consider new legislative powers through the Amendment of the            
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The Unauthorised Deposit of            
Waste (Fixed Penalties) (Wales) Regulations 2017, introducing and setting 
of the level of the fixed penalty for small-scale fly-tipping to £400 with no 
early payment discount option. 

1.2 To consider the range of measures to improve the approach to address     
fly-tipping. The report outlines the opportunities of dealing with issues           
associated with fly-tipping through adopting new technologies and            
legislative powers.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Cabinet:

2.1 Set the amount of the   small-scale fly-tipping FPN at £400 with no early 
payment scheme. This ability to issue a fixed penalty notice is an 
amendment under Section 33z(b) of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990.

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Government has made provision to amend the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 to include a fixed penalty notice as a means of 
disposal of a fly tipping offence instead of taking the matter to court. The 
amendment focuses on small scale fly tipping of up to 4 black bags. 
Commercial and hazardous waste would not be afforded this option and 

Page 495

Agenda Item 8



would be taken to prosecution. The measures have been taken to avoid 
small scale fly tippers from attending court.

3.2 The advantage of utilising this disposal of offence is to avoid costly legal 
processes.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 Fly-tipping is the illegal dumping of waste on to land. It can pollute the 
environment, be harmful to human health and spoils our enjoyment of our 
towns and countryside.

4.2 To tackle fly-tipping across the county, Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) for 
small-scale fly-tipping offences can be issued by an authorised officer to 
those who commit this offence. This new measure will enable the authority 
to provide a more proportionate response to low-level, high-volume 
offences and act as a deterrent to offenders.

4.3 The FPN fines for small-scale fly-tipping can range between £150 and 
£400. If no amount is specified by the waste collection authority, the 
amount of the fixed penalty is £200. Provision can be made by the waste 
collection authority for a discount for early payment of a fixed penalty.

5 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 An Equality and Diversity Assessment has not been carried out in 
connection with the recommendation set out in this report as the contents 
and actions do not require a policy or service change, resulting in no 
reasonably foreseeable differential impacts. 

6 CONSULTATION 

6.1 No requirement for consultation to be undertaken

7 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

7.1 Currently action through the courts results in fines and costs being 
awarded. Any fines issued are sent to HM Treasury and costs awarded are 
given back to the local authority.

7.2 In the event of small scale fly tipping and a fixed penalty being issued, the 
revenue is given back to the local authority.

Page 496



7.3 Any failure to pay the fixed penalty ticket will result in court proceedings 
and the outcome is as described above.

7.4 If Cabinet agree to the introduction of fixed penalties for small-scale fly-
tipping as proposed, the number of fines and financial impact will be 
monitored by the Service and budget adjustments will be made if 
appropriate.   

8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 

8.1 Enforcement Officers have existing powers and authorised under S33 of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

8.2 This amendment under section 33z(b) enables the officers to issue fixed 
penalty tickets for the offence of fly tipping

9 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE WELL-
BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT.

9.1 The delivery of this strategy will contribute to the Council’s corporate 
priorities:

 Economy –building a strong economy
 People – promoting independence
 Place – creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live 

and work

9.2 The proposal is made in full consideration of the sustainable development 
principles. The proposal also will support the Council to contribute to four 
of the seven well being goals namely:-

 A globally responsible Wales
 A Wales of Cohesive communities
 A more equal Wales
 A healthier Wales

10 CONCLUSION

10.1 The list below is from Natural Resourses Wales and provides guidance on 
what constitutes small scale fly tipping and will help LA’s achieve a 
consistent approach to issuing fly-tipping FPN’s in Wales. There will be 
individual circumstances that will need to be considered on occasion but 
this list should be followed where possible.

 First time non-habitual offenders only
 Non-hazardous waste only

Page 497



 Up to 4 black bags
 One or two bulky items (e.g. furniture, white goods)

Fly-tipping and Litter

It should be counted as fly tipping if the waste is “too large to be removed by a 
normal hand-sweeping barrow”. In simple terms, a single full bin bag upwards 
would constitute a fly-tip. Similarly, several carrier bags full of rubbish dumped 
together would also constitute a single fly-tip. 

Page 498



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

AS AMENDED BY

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

24.01.19

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF HIGHWAYS AND STREETCARE IN 
DISCUSSIONS WITH CLLR A. CRIMMINGS CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ENVIRONMENT, LEISURE AND HERITAGE

Item:  THE INTRODUCTION OF FIXED PENALTY NOTICES TO DEAL WITH 
SMALL SCALE FLY-TIPPING

Background Papers

None

Officer to contact:  

Page 499



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CABINET 

 
24TH JANUARY 2019 

 
PORTH TOWN CENTRE: DRAFT STRATEGY 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION, PLANNING AND 
HOUSING IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING, COUNCILLOR BEVAN  
 
Author: Derek James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to set out the results of the public 

consultation exercise carried out on the draft Porth Town Centre 
Strategy; and the focussed service user consultation on the specific 
proposals to relocate the services currently provided by Alec Jones Day 
Centre to the new Community Hub at Porth Plaza. 

 
1.2 In addition, this report seeks Cabinet to approve the Porth Town Centre 

Strategy and the further development and delivery of schemes as set out 
within the document. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 
2.1 Considers the responses to the public consultation exercise undertaken 

in respect of the Porth Town Centre Strategy and determines whether 
any amendments are required to the proposals.  
 

2.2 Considers the responses to the focussed service user consultation on 
the specific proposals to relocate the activities currently provided at Alec 
Jones Day Centre to the new Community Hub at Porth Plaza and 
determines whether any amendments are required to the proposals. 
 

2.3 Subject to 2.2, and in response to the feedback received through the 
consultation as set out in paragraph 7.4 and 7.8 of the report, authorise 
the Director, Public Health, Protection & Community Services to 
undertake a further engagement exercise with the service users of Alec 
Jones Day Centre to identify and put in place the necessary 
arrangements for alternative hot meal provision. 
 

Page 501

Agenda Item 9



  

 
 

2.4 Subject to 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 above, approve the Porth Town Centre 
Strategy (subject to any changes as result of the engagement process 
outlined above) and the further development and delivery of schemes as 
set out within the document. 

 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To continue to deliver on the Council's commitment to support the 

regeneration of town centres and encourage private sector investment 
in the high street economy, as set out in Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council’s 2016-20 Corporate Plan “The Way Ahead”.  

 
3.2 To deliver this commitment and to tackle the many challenges currently 

faced by our town centres, the solution requires an integrated, co-
ordinated and holistic approach to town centre regeneration that 
harnesses the many exciting opportunities currently presented through 
the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal.  

 
4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 Enabling vibrant and enticing town centres, with a strong offer, which 

recognises that they are at the heart of our communities is a clear 
commitment within Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s 2016-
20 Corporate Plan “The Way Ahead”. The plan also makes a 
commitment that they will benefit from investment to ensure an attractive 
environment exists for businesses, residents and shoppers. 

 
4.2 To deliver this commitment and to tackle the many challenges currently 

faced by our town centres, the solution requires a sophisticated and 
sustainable approach to regeneration. 

 
4.3 As such, the Porth Town Centre strategy sets out an integrated, co-

ordinated and holistic approach to town centre regeneration that takes 
into account the distinctive role Porth has at the heart of the community 
and its important location for services, employment, housing and 
transport functions. 

 
4.4 On the 16th October, Cabinet agreed to initiate a public consultation 

exercise on the draft Porth Town Centre Strategy and receive a further 
report detailing the results from the consultation exercise. 

 
5.0  PORTH TOWN CENTRE: PROPOSED STRATEGY (SUMMARY) 

 
5.1  The proposed vision for Porth Town Centre is: 
 

‘To transform Porth Town Centre into a prosperous and attractive town, 
which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents and 

Page 502



  

 
 

businesses; anchored by Porth Transport Hub and a much regenerated 
Station Quarter’. 

 
5.2 To achieve this vision, the strategy is supported by a series of strategic 

objectives that will drive its delivery and translate directly into a series of 
projects and actions: 

 
1. To improve connectivity with the town centre and surrounding areas 

through the development of a Transport Hub. 
2. To create the conditions for the town to become a thriving Station 

Quarter. 
3. To improve the key gateways into the town.  
4. To support the development of housing. 
5. To provide the conditions to strengthen employment opportunities.  

 
Making it Happen – the Key Schemes 

 
5.3  Achieving the vision and objectives for the town cannot be achieved with 

one simple scheme. Instead, it demands the implementation of a wide 
range of co-ordinated and integrated physical development projects. 
The draft Porth Town Centre Strategy takes each of these strategic 
objectives and sets out a wide range of projects and investment 
opportunities in more detail. This includes:  

 
The development of a modern quality Transport Hub and Station 
Quarter that efficiently links commercial development with 
residential areas. 

 
5.4 The delivery of this project will result in transformational change for Porth 

by improving the connectivity within the town centre and surrounding 
areas. This has the potential to attract more people to the town to work, 
live, visit and invest therefore improving the footfall and the ability of the 
town to attract investment by creating jobs and homes. The potential also 
exists to create a modern well-designed arrival point that welcomes 
visitors, business people and residents, providing a high quality 
experience.  

 
5.5 The strategy has identified the site currently occupied by the Alec Jones 

Day Centre as having the potential to accommodate a new Transport 
Hub. This site is ideally positioned for a Transport Hub; housing a bus 
interchange, taxi rank, cycle racks and linking to the train station and the 
park & ride. The site covers approximately 1,700 sq m allowing for the 
delivery of a new fit for purpose bus station, which will act as a catalyst 
for a much-regenerated Station Quarter with a mix of commercial, retail, 
office and residential developments. 

 

Page 503



  

 
 

(Appendix 1 within the strategy document includes a map outlining the 
proposed area for the transport hub and station quarter).  

  
5.6  The development of a Transport Hub at this site would provide an 

integrated and improved interchange that aligns both the bus and train 
stations that will allow them to cope with future, increased passenger 
numbers and increased services, whilst offering easy access to the 
whole public transport network. Opportunities to encourage active travel 
through improved pedestrian and cycle routes and the creation of cycle 
docking facilities will also be a key feature of the Transport Hub 
development.   

 
5.7 This project will also seek to work with Transport for Wales to develop 

an integrated ticketing system that offers local residents and visitor’s 
simplicity, convenience and value for money across the bus and rail 
services serving the metro. This would address the current issue of 
passengers using a connecting bus service to Porth train station and 
currently have to pay separately for their bus and train journeys. 

 
The development of Porth Plaza into the Community Hub for 
Rhondda South. 

 
5.8 The opportunity exists for Porth Plaza to be developed as a Community 

Hub to provide a range of Council services from the same location. This 
will provide direct access to many of the services residents need on a 
daily basis as well as providing opportunities to receive business 
support, employment support and information, advice and assistance on 
a range of issues that affect people’s quality of life and well-being. 

 
5.9 Community hubs provide a focal point and facilities to foster greater local 

community activity and bring residents, the local business community, 
and smaller organisations together to improve the quality of life in their 
areas. This development, located in the heart of the town centre, would 
bring more residents into the town; improving footfall levels and potential 
spend at local businesses.  

 
5.10 In developing Porth Plaza into a Community Hub, it was proposed to re-

locate the services currently provided by Alec Jones Day Centre to the 
new Community Hub. The current Day Centre is currently underutilised 
with an average of 27 meals served per day.  The co-location of services 
within Porth Plaza will enable the Council to provide residents and 
community groups with access to rooms to meet and socialise. 

 
5.11  Bringing the current Day Centre services together with other services will 

provide a better offer and create economies of scale in terms of staffing 
and building costs. Making better, more cost effective use of our 
community assets and reinvesting resources in new or retrofitted, fit for 

Page 504



  

 
 

purpose buildings will enable services to be sustainable in the longer 
term.  
 
The provision of additional long and short term parking to 
accommodate the future regenerated Porth Town centre. 

 
5.12 Improving the car parking offer throughout the town will improve the 

quality of infrastructure needed to support town centre investment and 
also allow visitors and shoppers to enjoy improved access to the town 
whilst creating a more positive experience. 

 
Extending the current Park and Ride provision within the town 
centre.  

 
5.13 The development of a Phase 2 park and ride facility is currently in the 

early stages of development and will be progressed during 2018 with 
completion expected in 2019. The facility aims to provide a further 72 
(circa) parking spaces, taking the overall park and ride offer in the town 
to almost 150 parking spaces. 

 
The redevelopment of existing underused, disused and derelict 
buildings throughout the town to create housing, office and retail 
accommodation.  

 
5.14 A number of properties close to the train station and at key locations 

throughout the town centre have the potential for mixed-use 
development, with commercial and retail opportunities on the ground 
floors and the reuse of vacant floor space at upper levels, suitable for 
residential use.  Converting unused or underused commercial space into 
economically productive property also helps boost the profitability of the 
town.   

 
Explore opportunities to relocate Council Staff into Porth Town 
Centre. 

 
5.15 As part of the Council’s proposal to transform Adult Social Care, 

Bronwydd House, which currently houses over 200 Council employees, 
has been identified as a site for extra care housing developments. As 
such, the first phase of this project will be to explore opportunities to 
relocate these staff to underused or vacant office space/premises within 
Porth Town Centre. This will generate footfall into the town that has the 
potential to enhance the town centre economically.  

 
Public realm improvements. 

 
5.16 The enhancement of the town centre streets and spaces as part of the 

Station Quarter and Transport Hub developments will raise the quality, 

Page 505



  

 
 

value and confidence in the town. This will create a far more attractive 
environment for shoppers and visitors to the town, and enhance the 
town’s distinctiveness. 

 
The introduction of the Town Centre Maintenance Grant. 

 
5.17 The Town Centre Maintenance Grant will provide financial support to 

town centre traders / landlords (including vacant properties) to undertake 
minor improvements and maintenance works which will improve the 
external front elevation of town centre properties. The scheme will 
contribute to a positive impact on the street scene, creating a more 
attractive and vibrant environment which has the potential to increase 
retail spend and stimulate further private sector investment. 

 
The redevelopment of the former Porth Junior school site for 
residential use. 

 
5.18 The development of new residential units within Porth will help diversify 

the existing housing stock, promote housing in sustainable locations that 
are well served by public transport; and increase the footfall into the town 
centre.  

  
Developing extra care housing for the elderly and vulnerable. 

 
5.19 The economic value of this development will be beneficial to the town as 

older people will be able to live within and be part of thriving local 
communities, including the town centre, and increase regular daily 
footfall to benefit the mix of local independent traders and national retail 
chains. 

 
6.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 An equality Impact Assessment form (EqIA) screening form has been 

prepared for the purpose of this report. It has been found that a full report 
is not required at this time.  

 
6.2 In relation to the specific proposals to relocate the services currently 

provided by Alec Jones Day Centre to the new Community Hub at Porth 
Plaza a full equality impact assessment has been undertaken. This was 
undertaken given the proposal will affect persons with a protected 
characteristic, particularly age and disability. The full equality impact 
assessment is presented at Appendix 2 and shows that although there 
are areas of concern it is possible to take steps to mitigate any adverse 
impact, for example: 

 
• Whilst the current Day Centre activities can be successfully 

transferred to the Community Hub, the reconfigured building may not 

Page 506



  

 
 

be suitable to offer the hot meals that are currently provided from the 
Day Centre.  Therefore, it is proposed that, subject to members 
decision, to mitigate the impact on service users the Council will 
explore alternative provision within the town centre where service 
user can be signposted to other local cafes/providers. Ongoing 
community engagement will be central to the development and future 
of the Porth Plaza Community Hub. 

• By exploring the potential of allocating additional disabled parking 
bays at Porth Plaza car park to meet the potential increase in demand 
if the Day Centre activities are transferred to Porth Plaza community 
hub. 

 
7.0. CONSULTATION  
 
7.1 As previously mentioned, on the 16th October, Cabinet agreed to initiate 

a public consultation exercise on the draft Porth Town Centre Strategy 
over a 6 week period. It was also agreed that this would include a 
focused service user consultation on the specific proposals to relocate 
the services currently provided by Alec Jones Day Centre to the new 
Community Hub at Porth Plaza.  

 
7.2 The following paragraphs present the findings of the consultation on the 

proposed strategy for the regeneration of Porth Town Centre: 
 
 Porth Town Centre Strategy Consultation 
 
7.3 The 6 week consultation period ran from the 29th October until 10th 

December 2018. The consultation used a range of methods including a 
questionnaire, two public face to face engagement events held at Porth 
Plaza and Morrisons and a number of smaller engagement events held 
at community and leisure centres. In addition to this, officers attended an 
Older Persons Wellbeing event at Ystrad Sport Centre to raise 
awareness with over 70 people in attendance. 

 
7.4 The response to the consultation exercise are presented at Appendix 3 

and can be summarised as follows: 
 

• In total, 139 people attended the face to face events and there were 
72 responses to the questionnaire. 

• 80% of respondents to the questionnaire felt that the strategic 
objectives outlined in the proposals would improve Porth Town 
Centre although some concerns were raised about increased parking 
issues and the timeline for the project causing disruption to the area.  

• The face to face engagement events responses were mostly positive 
with very few negative comments being made. The majority of people 
were supportive of the overall strategy and particularly supportive of 
the proposed transport hub. Negative comments centred mainly 

Page 507



  

 
 

around concerns about increased traffic and parking issues. Local 
food businesses also expressed concern that if Porth Plaza were to 
include a café/dining area this will be unwelcome competition and 
contradict the vision set out within the strategy specifically around 
support for town centre businesses. The businesses did however 
express an interest in working with the Council to come up with an 
appropriate solution and possibly provide the hot meals themselves. 

 
7.5 The full consultation report is presented at Appendix 3 and includes 

comments received from respondents during the consultation exercise. 
Overall, the consultation shows that respondents are supportive of the 
Porth Town Centre Strategy and welcome the proposals. 

 
 Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation 
 
7.6 The targeted consultation period ran for 6 weeks, from the 29th October 

to the 10th December, 2018. The following methods were used to consult 
with Day Centre service users; 

 
• An online and paper questionnaire. 
• Drop in Engagement events on the 16th and 22nd November 2018, 

located at the Day Centre 
• A dedicated email address (consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk) and 

freepost address if needed. 
 
7.7 The responses to the consultation exercise are presented at Appendix 4 

and can be summarised as follows: 
 
• Overall, 27 people filled in a questionnaire and 39 people engaged 

directly with us at the events.   
• The main reasons for using the Day Centre were for meeting friends 

and socialising (82% of service users) and to have lunch (70% 
service users). 

• Respondents were asked what they would do if the Day Centre 
activities were to transfer to Porth Plaza.  92% of service users 
responded to this question stating that they would attend the new 
Community Hub and nobody stated that they would stop attending 
the activities. 

• Respondents were asked what they would do if the Day Centre meals 
were to transfer to Porth Plaza.  91% of service users responded to 
this question stating that they would attend the new Community Hub 
for a hot meal. 

• It is important to note that further comments from the service users 
were focussed on their desire to have the same service and meals, 
at the same cost, as they currently receive in the Day Centre.  

Page 508

mailto:consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk


  

 
 

• Service users were asked what the impact of the proposed transfer 
of the day centre would have on them. Some of the responses stated 
that there would be no impact, as long as the current facilities were 
transferred to Porth Plaza.   

• There were concerns raised regarding the lack of parking at Porth 
Plaza. 

• Discussion with the service users showed that they value the work 
and friendliness of the staff at the centre and some of the comments 
made were regarding concerns about the impact the proposal would 
have on the current Day Centre staff. 

 
7.8 In addition to the above points, during the consultation a number of 

service users expressed concerns about the layout and open plan nature 
of Porth Plaza. Some service users expressed a wish to see a separate 
dining area exclusively for their use. With the proposed 
reconfiguration/usage of Porth Plaza this would not be possible. 

 
7.9 Service users also expressed a view that the provision at Porth Plaza 

should be the same type of meals, available at the same time of day and 
at the same cost. If Porth Plaza is reconfigured to make the ground floor 
and entrance more vibrant, including the movement of the library to 
create a better service offer with additional community room capacity, it 
may not be possible to provide like for like service provision to that 
currently available in Alec Jones Day Centre. However, the current Day 
Centre activities, including community group activities, could still be 
successfully transferred to the Community Hub 

 
7.10 As part of the consultation process the Council also engaged with the 

family of the late Alec Jones’  regarding the proposals to relocate the Day 
Centre to the new Community Hub in Porth Plaza and to look at how it 
could recognise the name and contribution made by Alec Jones going 
forward if the proposals were agreed. The family thanked the Council for 
its consideration of them as part of the consultation process, and as such 
found the proposals for Porth to be very interesting. The family 
suggested an appropriate way in which to recognise Alec Jones’ positive 
contribution would be to erect a plaque on the site of the former Day 
Centre or new Transport Hub.   

 
7.11 In conclusion, in light of the consultation feedback, the concerns raised 

by local businesses and existing service users of the day centre and the 
constraints around the layout of Porth Plaza, it will be necessary to 
explore alternative options for provision of hot meals in the town. One 
option would be to explore an arrangement with a local café or food 
business which would address the wishes of existing service users and 
respond to the concerns of local businesses around potential 
competition.  

 

Page 509



  

 
 

7.12 The full consultation report is presented at Appendix 4 and includes 
comments received from respondents during the consultation exercise. 
Overall, the consultation shows that respondents are supportive of the 
services they receive at the Alex Jones Day Centre transferring to the 
Porth Plaza Community Hub. 

 
8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications in developing this outline 

strategy for Porth, but as the opportunities are developed, the financial 
implications will be fully assessed, and where appropriate reported to 
Cabinet.  

 
9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 
9.1 There are no current legal implications, but as the opportunities are 

developed, the legal implications will be fully assessed.  
 
10.0 LINKS TO THE CORPORATE AND NATIONAL PRIORITIES AND THE 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT. 
 
10.1 The delivery of this strategy will contribute to the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 
 

• Economy – building a strong economy 
• People – promoting independence 
• Place – creating neighbourhoods where people are proud to live and 

work 
 

10.2 Enabling vibrant and enticing town centres, with a strong offer, which 
recognises that they are at the heart of our communities is a clear 
commitment within Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s 2016-
20 Corporate Plan “The Way Ahead”. 

 
10.3 The strategy is consistent with the sustainable approach promoted by 

the well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act through the five ways 
of working: 

 
• Long term – the objectives identified, and the actions that will deliver 

these objectives, are part of a longer-term vision of enhancing Porth 
and builds upon the long term vision of the Council.  

• Prevention – the strategy recognises that there are a number of 
challenges that need to be addressed in order to achieve the vision. 
The projects identified will respond to these concerns in order to 
ensure that they don’t get worse or occur in the first place. 

• Integration – the projects identified in the strategy will help deliver a 
number of the objectives identified within the Council’s Corporate 

Page 510



  

 
 

Plan. A key feature of the strategy is to ensure the approach to 
regenerating Porth is joined up, integrated and co-ordinated.  

• Collaboration – intrinsic to this approach is collaboration with other 
public services and third sector organisations. 

• Involvement – communities will be involved with the delivery of a full 
public consultation to obtain the views of wider stakeholders. 

 
10.4 This approach makes a direct contribution to the seven national well-

being goals, in particular a prosperous Wales, a resilient Wales, a 
healthier Wales, a Wales of cohesive communities and a more equal 
Wales.  

 
11.0 CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 This report sets out the results of the public consultation exercise carried 

out on the draft Porth Town Centre Strategy; and the focussed service 
user consultation on the specific proposals to relocate the services 
currently provided by Alec Jones Day Centre to the new Community Hub 
at Porth Plaza. Overall, the consultation shows that respondents are 
supportive of the Porth Town Centre Strategy and welcome the 
proposals. 

 
11.2 The new Community Hub at Porth Plaza will provide a range of services 

that are responsive to the needs of Porth town centre; these would 
include a front facing newly designed library and employability support. 
Whilst the current Day Centre activities can be successfully transferred 
to the Community Hub, the reconfigured building may not be suitable to 
offer the hot meals that are currently provided from the Day Centre.  
Therefore, it is proposed that, subject to members decision, to mitigate 
the impact on service users the Council will explore alternative provision 
within the town centre where service users can be signposted to other 
local cafes/providers. Ongoing community engagement will be central to 
the development and future of the Porth Plaza Community Hub. 

 
11.3 The outline strategy includes a wide range of activity which is both short 

and long term for delivery involving a range of partners. It is both 
ambitious and realistic in its approach and achieving the vision and 
objectives for the town cannot be achieved with one simple scheme. 
Instead, it demands the implementation of a wide range of co-ordinated 
and integrated physical development projects. 

 
11.4 The delivery of these projects would result in transformational change 

for Porth by improving the connectivity within the town centre and 
surrounding areas. This has the potential to attract more people to the 
town to work, live, visit and invest therefore improving the footfall and the 
ability of the town to attract investment creating jobs and homes. 

 

Page 511



  

 
 

11.5 As Porth is the gateway to the two Rhondda Valleys this transport 
interchange will not just benefit the residents of Porth but will also have 
a positive impact on a much wider population. 

 
 
 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee 
Public Service Delivery, Communities & Prosperity 
 
Contact Officer 
Derek James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity (01443 281115)  

Page 512



  

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

PORTH TOWN CENTRE: DRAFT STRATEGY 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION, PLANNING AND 
HOUSING IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT AND HOUSING, COUNCILLOR BEVAN  
 
 

Item:   
 

Background Papers 
 
 
Cabinet – 16th October, 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer to contact:   
Derek James, Head of Regeneration and Prosperity (01443 281115) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 513

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Meetings/Cabinet/2018/10/16/Reports/AgendaItem8PorthTownCentreStrategy.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

STRATEGY
2018/19

PORTH
TOWN
CENTRE

Page 515



Enabling vibrant and enticing town
centres, with a strong offer, which
recognises that they are at the heart of
our communities is a clear commitment
within Rhondda Cynon Taf County
Borough Council’s 2016-20 Corporate
Plan “The Way Ahead”. The plan also
makes a commitment that they will
benefit from investment to ensure an
attractive environment exists for
businesses, residents and shoppers.

To deliver this commitment and to tackle
the many challenges currently faced by
our town centres, the solution requires a
sophisticated and sustainable approach
to regeneration.

As such, this regeneration strategy sets
out an integrated, co-ordinated and
holistic approach to town centre
regeneration that takes into account the
distinctive role Porth Town Centre has at
the heart of the community and its
important location for services,
employment, housing and transport
functions.

Pivotal to this strategy is the key aim to
harness the many exciting opportunities
currently presented through the Cardiff
Capital Region City Deal, the Valleys
Taskforce and the Council’s Strategic
Opportunities Area approach to
regeneration and provide a framework
for taking Porth forward into the future
that delivers economic growth and job
creation. A range of projects and
investment opportunities in and around
Porth town centre is included in the
framework; many of which can be
delivered within the short to medium
term, whilst others will be longer-term
schemes.

Contents Introduction

1 Porth Town Centre:                               1
The current challenges and opportunities
• Connectivity ................................................2
• Town Centre Gateways ..............................4
• Retail ..........................................................5 
• Carparking ..................................................6
• Housing ......................................................7

2 Vision                                                     8
& Objectives:
• The Vision ..................................................8
• Strategic Objectives: ............................8 - 9

3 Making it Happen:                               10
The key schemes

4 Next Steps                                           14
What the Council will do

5 Implementation Plan                              15
Timescales and objectives

6 Appendix                                                   17
Porth Town Centre Zonal Map

Page 516



1PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

In developing this strategy, it is important to understand the key
challenges, but also the opportunities that exist in and around Porth
that have the potential to support the regeneration of the town. 

These challenges and opportunities have been identified and
summarised under the following themes: 

• Connectivity
• Town Centre Gateway
• Car Parking
• Retail
• Housing

PORTH TOWN CENTRE: 
The current challenges and opportunities

Page 517



2 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

Connectivity
Transport is fundamental
to connecting people,
businesses and services;
whether it is connecting
people to jobs, education,
leisure or community
facilities, or connecting
visitors and residents. 

Porth is a key settlement identified within the County
Borough's Northern Strategy Area, as set out in the
Council's Local Development Plan. It is regarded as the
gateway to the Rhondda Fawr and Rhondda Fach valleys
because both valleys meet at Porth, and it is reasonably
well connected with Pontypridd and Cardiff via the A4058
and the A470 (see appendix 1 for a map of Porth Town
Centre and the focus for this strategy). However, the
A4058 south of Porth experiences daily high volume
traffic as it leads to Pontypridd and the A470 to Cardiff.

Porth train station is located on the Treherbert line, with
two trains per hour running from Porth into Cardiff. The
National Cycle Network 881 connects to the station via an
off-road dedicated cycle/footway route that connects from
the southbound platform northward up the Rhondda
Fach. According to the Office of Rail and Road, in
2016/17 there were 341,742 entries and exits at Porth
station, making it the 33rd (out of 222) busiest in Wales. 

Porth also benefits from an established, but at capacity,
Park and Ride facility conveniently located adjacent to the
train station. The £1.8M scheme, opened in the summer
of 2016, provides 73 park and ride spaces together with
improved disabled access, cycle parking and improved
access to the station. 

However, a poor transport interchange still exists between
bus and rail services within the town, with bus stops
currently located along Pontypridd Road and Porth Street
(B4278), several hundred metres from the train station
with no accessible taxi rank or cycle storage. This current
set up prevents a seamless transition for those who use
the bus link service from the surrounding areas to the
train service in Porth. This is especially an issue for
residents of the Rhondda Fach, Trebanog, Tonyrefail and
Gilfach Goch as no rail link exists and therefore bus links
to Porth Station are vital to allow commutable journeys. 

In addition to this, passengers using a connecting bus
service to Porth train station currently have to pay
separately for their bus and train journeys. This
unintegrated approach is inconvenient for passengers
and often results in them paying more for their journey.
The current deregulated bus market makes it difficult to
achieve an integrated approach. 

Page 518



3PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Opportunity

Porth’s key location and its train station is seen as one of the towns greatest assets – many
similar sized towns in the UK do not benefit from such connectivity, and it is therefore
fundamental that such an asset is capitalised upon.

Major infrastructure projects are an instrument for kick-starting regeneration with train stations,
and their surrounding environments, increasingly seen as the steer for regeneration
programmes as previously inaccessible land is unlocked and dilapidated buildings bought back
into use. 

Through Cardiff Capital City Deal there is an exciting opportunity to facilitate significant change
and kick start the regeneration of Porth, which has the potential to provide resources to unlock
significant economic growth, delivering jobs and private sector investment. The City Deal
Investment Fund will also facilitate the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, which will make
substantial improvements to the connectivity by public transport across the region 

The Metro will focus on modernising the core valley lines resulting in far more frequent and
faster trains in and out of Cardiff. As part of this development, Porth Train Station will see an
increase in train services from two trains per hour to four trains per hour from 2022. This
presents an excellent opportunity to capitalise on this investment and transform Porth into a key
Transport Hub and open up the possibility of a much-regenerated Station Quarter. 

The development of Porth as a Transport Hub would provide an integrated and improved
interchange that aligns both the bus and train stations that will allow them to cope with future,
increased passenger numbers and increased services, whilst offering easy access to the whole
public transport network. Opportunities to encourage active travel through improved pedestrian
and cycle routes and the creation of cycle docking facilities will also be a key feature of the
Transport Hub development. 

Furthermore, one of Transport for Wales’s strategic goals is to achieve a fully integrated, joined-
up transport system with integrated ticketing. This provides an opportunity to work with
Transport for Wales to develop such scheme that offers local residents and visitor’s simplicity,
convenience and value for money across the bus and rail services serving the metro. This would
address the current issue of passengers using a connecting bus service to Porth train station
and currently have to pay separately for their bus and train journeys.

Alongside this, developing and investing in the delivery of park and ride enhancements would
also provide transportation and environmental benefits. In particular, an extended Porth Park and
Ride facility would attract drivers from a wide catchment area, significantly shorten vehicular
journeys, improve accessibility to areas of employment by sustainable travel, reduce congestion
on the local and strategic highway network and improve air quality.

The delivery of these projects would result in transformational change for Porth by improving
the connectivity within the town centre and surrounding areas. This has the potential to attract
more people to the town to work, live, visit and invest therefore improving the footfall and the
ability of the town to attract investment creating jobs and homes.

Page 519



4 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

Town Centre
Gateways
The gateways to a town
are what visitors see first
and create the perception
of what can be expected
from the rest of the town.
The appearance of
gateways can be used to
raise the profile of the
town, increasing the
awareness as an attractive
and worthwhile place to
visit and invest.

Stations are intrinsically attached to their local community
and act as a gateway to both town and railway. Porth
station gateway extends westwards along Station Street
to the junction with Hannah Street. Porth Train Station and
the approach to the station is currently aesthetically
uninviting and very uninspiring. Many visitors travelling to
the town will arrive at Porth without a real sense of arrival
as the relationship between the transport interchange and
the town is extremely poor.

In addition to this, there are at present a number of
prominent, vacant and under-used buildings in the vicinity
of the train station and the town centre, specifically
Station Street and Hannah Street. Some of the buildings
have seriously dilapidated and become local ‘eyesores’
and hotspots for anti-social behaviour resulting in the
long term blight of the area, which will affect inward
investment, businesses and property prices. 

Opportunity

The station is an important gateway into the town. With the development of the metro and
Porth as a Transport Hub, there is an excellent opportunity to transform the area into an
attractive, modern and well-designed arrival point for residents and visitors to the town with
enhanced public realm and improved signage and infrastructure (soft landscaping). 

Developing the area around the Train Station and Transport Hub into a Station Quarter would
provide a fitting gateway into Porth, creating a fully integrated, accessible and welcoming town
centre with a focus on the redevelopment of key buildings that offer diverse uses. Commercial,
office, retail and residential developments in the Station Quarter and town centre has the
potential to strengthen the existing economic assets while diversifying its economic base.
Converting unused or underused commercial space into economically productive property also
helps boost the profitability of the town. 

Page 520



5PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Retail
As with many of Rhondda
Cynon Taf’s town centres
the main economy of
Porth is retail, with the
centre of Porth home to
the shopping district
based around Hannah
Street, with other
businesses mainly located
on nearby Pontypridd
Road and Porth Street. 

Town centre retail is facing a multitude of challenges to
their future vitality and viability. Many of our High Streets
are characterised by falling retail sales, reduced footfall,
increased business failures and rising vacancies. The
growth of internet shopping and multi-channel retailing
also means that many retailers are actively seeking to
reduce rather than increase their store portfolios.

Porth’s town centre footfall has dropped year on year
from 2011, from a weekly average of 13,210 to 9,274
currently, although the vacancy rate in 2017 was 11.6%,
which is below the Welsh average of 13% but slightly
higher than the UK average of 11%.

Over recent years, three national banks have closed their
branches in the town leaving it without a single bank.
Traders firmly believe that this has affected and
contributed to the decline in footfall which has had a
negative impact on local businesses. 

Opportunity

The Transport Hub has the potential to attract new economic investment to the Station
Quarter, town centre and surrounding area with the development of mixed-use
neighbourhoods and multi-functional buildings within a few hundred metres of the station.
There is the potential to incorporate quality, town centre accommodation, which is attractive
to young professionals, and the development of retail units suitable for entrepreneurs, small
businesses and start-ups. 

As part of the Council proposals to transform Adult Social Care, Bronwydd House, which
currently houses over 200 Council employees, has been identified as a suitable site for extra
care housing developments. As such, an opportunity exists for many of these staff to be
relocated to underused or vacant office space/premises within Porth Town Centre. Locating over
200 Council staff into Porth Town Centre will not only bring back to use one or a number of
vacant buildings but will also generate footfall into the town that has the potential to enhance the
town centre economically. 

A further opportunity to locate public sector services within the town also exists with the
Council’s commitment to develop Community Hubs across the borough. Due to Porth’s pivotal
location and soon to be improved transport links, it is ideally placed to provide the Community
Hub approach to serve the Rhondda South. The hub will provide a range of services such as
business support, employment support and information, advice and assistance on a range of
issues. This development, located in the heart of the town centre, would bring more residents
into the town; improving footfall levels and potential spend within local businesses. 

Page 521



6 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

Car Parking 
The provision of town
centre parking can be
considered as customer
service, the aim of which
is to provide good access
to the town for residents,
workers, shoppers and
visitors.

Porth Town Centre currently benefits from a mixed but
limited parking offer with two main public car parks; one
short-stay in West Taff Street (up to 2 hrs) offering 30
spaces and one long-stay in Foundry Place offering 46
spaces. Both car parks are located in the south of the
town which provides the main route of access into the
town for vehicles. An additional 35 limited waiting spaces
(1 hour, no return within 1 hour) area also available
throughout Hannah Street.

Although a decision made by the Council in 2017 to
introduce free parking across many of its towns, including
Porth, has gone some way to improving the parking 
offer, a lack of physical parking still exists which presents
a challenge and acts as a barrier for those accessing 
the town.

Opportunity

Improving the car parking offer throughout the town will improve the quality of infrastructure
needed to support town centre investment and also allow visitors and shoppers to enjoy
improved access to the town whilst creating a more positive experience.

Whilst it is envisaged that the enhancements to public transport as part of the Metro will increase
the number of people travelling to and from Porth by public transport, the potential relocation of
200 Council employees to the town centre, means that there is still a need for additional car
parking. 

The availability of quality parking in the right locations play a key role in the perception and
attractiveness of the town centre and in turn is fundamental to increasing footfall. Throughout
the town there are a number of vacant sites that have the potential to provide further car 
parking spaces. 

Page 522



7PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Housing
The 2015 Mid-Year
Population Estimates
indicated that Porth had a
population of 6,000 people
living in different areas of
the town, namely
Birchgrove, Britannia,
Glynfach, Llwyncelyn,
Mount Pleasant and Porth
town centre.

Porth has habitually been identified as a mid-housing market
area across Rhondda Cynon Taf in recent Local Housing
Market Assessments. It is known locally as the ‘Gateway to the
Valleys’, due to its pivotal position at the foot of the Rhondda
Fawr and Rhondda Fach, rendering it one of the higher
demand parts of the Rhondda specifically. 

The Council's annual Housing Market Needs Assessment has
identified a need in Porth for one bedroom apartments, plus
four units for Low Cost Home Ownership comprising a mix of
two and three bedroom houses. Furthermore, and as part of
the Council’s approach to Transforming Adult Social Care and
the development of extra care housing, it has been estimated
that Rhondda Cynon Taf will need a further 220 extra care
housing units to meet the needs of an increasingly older
population. In relation to Porth, it is estimated that an additional
60 units will be required to meet the needs of the community. 

Opportunity
The development of new residential units within the town centre and surrounding area would help
diversify the existing housing stock, promote housing in sustainable locations that are well served by
public transport; and increase the footfall into the town centre. This type of accommodation is likely
to appeal to young professionals who may be unable to afford the house prices for similar
accommodation in Cardiff. The increase in train services from Porth to Cardiff as part of the metro
development would make living in Porth an even more attractive proposition. 

Furthermore, as part of Pontypridd’s Regeneration Strategy, Transport for Wales is committed to
locating approximately 500 staff to the new Taff Vale office complex on its completion in 2020. Given Taff
Vale’s close proximity to Porth, and the forthcoming Metro programme which will improve connections
between Pontypridd and Porth, it is not inconceivable to envisage an increased demand for housing in
the Porth area. 

To accommodate this potential demand, a number of properties close to Porth train station have the
potential for mixed-use development; with commercial and retail opportunities on the ground floors and
the reuse of vacant floor space at upper levels for residential use. Such opportunities can help to
seamlessly integrate retail, open market sale and affordable units for rent within the town centre. The
incorporation of additional residential units can provide natural surveillance of the streets when retail
outlets are closed and help to combat the issues associated with a transient evening population. This
can make a positive contribution towards the ongoing regeneration of the town centre, improve
commercial property vacancy rates and increase regular daily footfall. Furthermore, such developments
also present an opportunity to support growth and investment in the Town Centre by increasing the
potential pool of labour for traders and providing job opportunities for the residents, closer to home. 

As previously mentioned, Bronwydd House in Porth has been identified as a suitable location for an
extra care development. This site has been identified as it is close to the town centre, has good access
to transport, health services and local amenities, and the site is of sufficient size to deliver an aspirational
offer with good social and community opportunities for residents in the scheme and surrounding area.
The economic value of this development will be beneficial to the town as older people will be able to live
within and be part of thriving local communities, including the town centre and increase regular daily
footfall to benefit the mix of local independent traders and national retail chains.

Page 523



8 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

The purpose of this section is to set out the kind of place that Porth could become if it positively
harnesses its assets and effectively co-ordinates the regeneration effort.

The Vision:

Central to the vision is the ability to create a sense of place by boosting the perception and
experience of the town, generating a positive environment in which to live, work, visit and invest. 
The vision will help to rejuvenate and sustain the town centre, grow the local economy, increase job
opportunities and provide for urban living. The renewal of key sites across the town and the
development of the Transport Hub and Station Quarter will be the catalyst for such changes.

Strategic Objectives:
To achieve this vision and address many of the challenges identified in section 2, this strategy is
supported by a series of strategic objectives that will drive its delivery and translate directly into a
series of projects and actions:

1 To improve connectivity with the town centre and surrounding areas through the
development of a Transport Hub. This includes:

• Developing a modern quality transport interchange to efficiently link commercial development
with residential areas that capitalises on and maximises the opportunities being presented
through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, specifically the delivery of the South East Wales
Metro.

• Work with Transport for Wales to develop and introduce a fully integrated, smart ticketing
scheme that offers local residents and visitor’s simplicity, convenience and value for money
across the bus and rail services serving the metro.

• The provision of additional long and short term parking to accommodate the future
regenerated Porth town centre.

• Extending the current Park and Ride provision within Porth. 

‘To transform Porth Town Centre into a prosperous and 
attractive town, which offers a wide range of opportunities
for visitors, residents and businesses; anchored by Porth
Transport Hub and a much regenerated Station Quarter’.

VISION AND OBJECTIVES

Page 524



9PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

2 To create the conditions for the town to become a thriving Station Quarter. This includes:

• Optimising the area around the station and proposed transport hub to create a thriving hub of
enterprises. 

• Targeting existing underused and vacant buildings around the station and proposed
Transport Hub to create modern mixed-use accommodation that is attractive to young
professionals and units suitable for entrepreneurs, small businesses and start-ups. 

• Transforming the perception of Porth from a peripheral town into a fully integrated part of the
Cardiff Capital Region.

• Creating the conditions to attract and develop new amenities.

3 To improve the key gateways into the town. This includes:

• Creating a fully integrated, accessible and welcoming town centre with a focus on the
redevelopment of key buildings, which offer diverse uses, on the main approaches into the
town.

• Creating a modern well-designed arrival point for residents and visitors to the town, with
particular focus on the Transport Hub and Station Quarter.

• Introducing a Town Centre Maintenance Grant to provide financial support to
traders/landlords (including vacant properties) to undertake minor improvements and
maintenance works which will improve the external front elevation of town centre properties.

• Public realm improvements including the creation of new public spaces.

4 To support the development of housing. This includes:

• Identifying key residential opportunities, including vacant properties that need redeveloping or
renovating, that can be unlocked to create the best mix of private and affordable housing.

• Improving the standard of existing housing and broaden the mix of housing through new
developments.

• Developing extra care housing for the elderly and vulnerable, which provides affordable,
flexible and adaptable accommodation that meets the criteria for lifetime homes.

5 To provide the conditions to strengthen employment opportunities. This includes:

• Strengthening employment opportunities through investment in disused and underused sites
and the development of a Transport Hub and thriving Station Quarter.

• The development of a Community Hub to provide a range of Council services from the same
location. This will provide direct access to many of the services residents need on a daily
basis as well as providing opportunities to receive business support, employment support
and information, advice and assistance on a range of issues that affect people’s quality of life
and well-being.

• Connecting people to opportunities; getting residents to work, education and training,
connecting businesses with suppliers and customers, as well as providing easy access for
visitors.

Page 525



10 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

This Porth Town Centre Strategy is both ambitious and realistic in its approach. Achieving the
vision and objectives for the town cannot be achieved with one simple scheme. Instead, it
demands the implementation of a wide range of co-ordinated and integrated physical
development projects.

The following projects have therefore been identified that, if delivered, will be the most effective at
bringing about the desired change in Porth:

MAKING IT HAPPEN
THE KEY SCHEMES

Project
One
The development of 
a modern quality
Transport Hub and
Station Quarter that
efficiently links
commercial
development with
residential areas.

The delivery of this project will result in transformational change for
Porth by improving the connectivity with the town centre and other
areas. This has the potential to attract more people to the town to work,
live, visit and invest therefore improving the footfall and the ability of the
town to attract investment creating jobs and homes. The potential also
exists to create a modern well-designed arrival point that welcomes
visitors, business people and residents, providing a high quality
experience.

This strategy has identified the area currently occupied by the Alec
Jones Day Centre as having the potential to accommodate a new
Transport Hub. This site is ideally positioned for a Transport Hub;
housing a bus interchange, taxi rank and cycle racks, and linking to the
train station and park & ride. The site covers approximately 1,700 sq m
allowing for the delivery of a new fit for purpose bus station, which will
act as a catalyst for a much-regenerated Station Quarter with a mix of
commercial, retail, office and residential developments. (Please see
appendix 1 for map outlining the proposed area for the Transport Hub
and Station Quarter). 

The development of a Transport Hub at this site would provide an
integrated and improved interchange that aligns both the bus and train
stations that will allow them to cope with future, increased passenger
numbers and increased services, whilst offering easy access to the
whole public transport network. Opportunities to encourage active
travel through improved pedestrian and cycle routes and the creation of
cycle docking facilities will also be a key feature of the Transport Hub
development. 

This project will also seek to work with Transport for Wales to develop
an integrated ticketing system that offers local residents and visitor’s
simplicity, convenience and value for money across the bus and rail
services serving the metro. This would address the current issue of
passengers using a connecting bus service to Porth train station and
currently have to pay separately for their bus and train journeys.

This project contributes towards the delivery of all objectives outlined in
this strategy and will act as a catalyst for further investment and all
proposed projects.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short to medium term (0-6 years)

Page 526



Project
Two
The development of
Porth Plaza into the
Community Hub for
Rhondda South.

The opportunity exists for Porth Plaza to be developed as a
Community Hub to provide a range of Council services from the
same location. This will provide direct access to many of the
services residents need on a daily basis as well as providing
opportunities to receive business support, employment support and
information, advice and assistance on a range of issues that affect
people’s quality of life and well-being.

Community hubs provide a focal point and facilities to foster greater
local community activity and bring residents, the local business
community and smaller organisations together to improve the
quality of life in their areas. This development, located in the heart of
the town centre, would bring more residents into the town;
improving footfall levels and potential spend within local businesses. 

In developing Porth Plaza into a Community Hub, it is proposed to
re-locate the services currently provided by Alec Jones Day Centre
to the new Community Hub. The current Day Centre is currently
under utilised with an average of 27 meals served per day. The co-
location of services within Porth Plaza will enable the Council to
provide a café style food outlet where food is available throughout
the day, including hot meals. Residents and community groups
would continue to have access to rooms to meet and the activities
currently delivered as part of the Day Centre offer.

Bringing the current Day Centre services together with other
services will provide a better offer and create economies of scale in
terms of staffing and building costs. Making better, more cost
effective use of our community assets and reinvesting resources in
new or retrofitted, fit for purpose buildings will enable services to be
sustainable in the longer term. 

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short term (0-3 years)

11PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Project
Three
The provision of
additional long and
short term parking 
to accommodate 
the future
regenerated Porth
Town centre.

Improving the car parking offer throughout the town will improve the
quality of infrastructure needed to support town centre investment
and also allow visitors and shoppers to enjoy improved access to
the town whilst creating a more positive experience.

A number of key sites with the potential to provide further car
parking throughout the town will be explored and a feasibility study
carried out with a view to developing them in a way that
compliments the current offer and ensures a flexible and balanced
parking offer exists for those who visit, work and shop in the town.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short term (0-3 years)

Page 527



12 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

Project
Six
Explore opportunities
to relocate Council
Staff into Porth Town
Centre.

As part of the Councils proposal to transform Adult Social Care,
Bronwydd House, which currently houses over 200 Council
employees, has been identified as a site for extra care housing
developments. As such, the first phase of this project will be to
explore opportunities to relocate these staff to underused or vacant
office space/premises within Porth Town Centre.

Locating over 200 Council staff into Porth Town Centre will not only
bring back to use one or a number of vacant buildings but will also
generate footfall into the town that has the potential to enhance the
town centre economically. 

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short term (0-3 years)

Project
Five
The redevelopment 
of existing
underused, disused
and derelict buildings
throughout the town
to create housing,
office and retail
accommodation. 

A number of properties close to the train station and at key locations
throughout the town centre have the potential for mixed-use
development, with commercial and retail opportunities on the
ground floors and the reuse of vacant floor space at upper levels,
suitable for residential use. 

Commercial, office, retail and residential developments in the
Station Quarter and town centre has the potential to strengthen the
existing economic assets while diversifying its economic base.
Converting unused or underused commercial space into
economically productive property also helps boost the profitability of
the town. 

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short to medium term (0-6 years)

Project
Four
Extending the 
current Park and 
Ride provision within
the town centre. 

The completion of the town’s first park and ride facility in 2016
resulted in the creation of 73 new parking spaces adjacent to the
train station. This has gone some way to creating a more integrated
transport interchange in the town, however with plans to increase
the frequency of the train service to Treherbert to four trains per hour
(north and southbound) from December 2022 as part of the South
Wales Metro, the demand for an additional park and ride facility is
highly likely.

With this in mind, a project to develop a Phase 2 park and ride
facility (north of the current facility) is currently in the early stages of
development and will be progressed during 2018 with completion
expected in 2019. The facility aims to provide a further 72 (circa)
parking spaces, taking the overall park and ride offer in the town to
almost 150 parking spaces.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short term (0-3 years)

Page 528



13PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Project
Seven
Public realm
improvements.

The enhancement of the town centre streets and spaces as part of
the Station Quarter and Transport Hub developments will raise the
quality, value and confidence in the town. This will create a far more
attractive environment for shoppers and visitors to the town, and
enhance the town’s distinctiveness.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short to medium term (0-6 years)

Project
Eight
The introduction 
of the Town Centre
Maintenance Grant.

The Town Centre Maintenance Grant will provide financial support to
town centre traders / landlords (including vacant properties) to
undertake minor improvements and maintenance works which will
improve the external front elevation of town centre properties. The
scheme will contribute to a positive impact on the street scene,
creating a more attractive and vibrant environment which has the
potential to increase retail spend and stimulate further private sector
investment.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short term (0-3 years)

Project
Nine
The redevelopment 
of the former Porth
Junior school site for
residential use.

The development of new residential units within Porth will help
diversify the existing housing stock, promote housing in sustainable
locations that are well served by public transport; and increase the
footfall into the town centre. 

The former Porth Junior School site has the potential to address
much of the prevailing housing need in the area through the
development of one bedroom apartments and two, three and four
bedroom houses, but also provides scope for sustainable tenant
progression on site.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Short to medium term (0-6 years)

Project
Ten
Developing extra 
care housing for 
the elderly and
vulnerable.

Bronwydd House in Porth has been identified as a key site for extra
care developments. This site has been identified as it is close to the
town centre, has good access to transport, health services and local
amenities, and the site is of sufficient size to deliver an aspirational
offer with good social and community opportunities for residents in
the scheme and surrounding area. 

The economic value of this development will be beneficial to the
town as older people will be able to live within and be part of thriving
local communities, including the town centre, and increase regular
daily footfall to benefit the mix of local independent traders and
national retail chains.

Approximate implementation times scales:
Medium term (4-6 years)

Page 529



14 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

To realise these opportunities the Council will:

NEXT STEPS

Consult the right
people at the right
time...

to achieve the best results we will talk to the appropriate people and
organisations to benefit the project development. Involvement of
stakeholders and our residents is vital in ensuring that our
regeneration projects deliver the best possible outcomes. We will be
continuing to work with local businesses, education institutions,
training providers, the housing sector, individuals and communities to
shape and support projects for the benefit of everyone. 

Work in partnership... with the right people and organisations at the right time. This will
include the Council and other public sector bodies including Welsh
Government and the private sector. 

Put in place the best
delivery arrangements...

that will make sure that we work with partners to project manage
delivery effectively, ensuring that we drive the most successful
outcomes. 

Source funding and
investment...

in a timely and creative way so that we can develop the most effective
financial packages to ensure projects can go ahead. 

Develop effective
business cases...

for individual projects and initiatives to ensure that they are viable and
cost effective, deliver the optimum benefits and outcomes and are
sustainable into the future. 

Monitor and evaluate... so that we will ensure that we are able to improve delivery by
understanding and learning from good practice and challenges
experienced. 

Review and consider
available
opportunities...

new opportunities often arise and some identified now, may become
more difficult to achieve. We will review and appraise the portfolio of
projects regularly.

Page 530



15PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

The implementation plan sets out each project, along with an
indication of the delivery timescales and which strategic objective
the project supports. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 

MET S
H

O
R

T 
TE

R
M

0-
3 

yr
s

M
E

D
IU

M
 T

E
R

M
4-

6 
yr

s

LO
N

G
 T

E
R

M
7+

 y
rs

O
N

E

The development of a
modern and quality
Transport Hub and Station
Quarter that efficiently links
commercial development
with residential areas. 

The Transport Hub will provide an integrated
and improved interchange that aligns both the
bus and train stations that will allow them to
cope with future, increased passenger
numbers and increased services, whilst
offering easy access to the whole public
transport network. 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

TW
O

The development of Porth
Plaza into the Community
Hub for Rhondda South.

The opportunity exists for Porth Plaza to be
developed as a Community Hub to provide a
range of Council services from the same
location. The co-location of public and
voluntary sector services within the town will
result in increased footfall. 

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓

TH
R

E
E

The provision of additional
long and short term
parking to accommodate
the future regenerated
Porth Town centre.

Improving the car parking offer throughout the
town will enhance the quality of infrastructure
needed to support town centre investment and
also allow visitors and shoppers to enjoy
improved access to the town.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓

F
O

U
R

Extending the current Park
and Ride provision within
the town centre. 

The completion of the town’s first park and
ride facility in 2016 resulted in the creation of
73 new parking spaces adjacent to the train
station. A project to develop a Phase 2 park
and ride facility is currently in the early stages
of development and will be progressed during
2018 with completion expected in 2019.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓ ✓

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

Page 531



16 RHONDDA CYNON TAF

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 

MET S
H

O
R

T 
TE

R
M

0-
3 

yr
s

M
E

D
IU

M
 T

E
R

M
4-

6 
yr

s

LO
N

G
 T

E
R

M
7+

 y
rs

F
IV

E

The redevelopment of
existing underused,
disused and derelict
buildings throughout the
town to create modern,
housing, office and retail
accommodation.

A number of properties close to the train station
and at key locations throughout the town centre
have been identified as being suitable for mixed
use development.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

S
IX Exploring opportunities

to relocate Council Staff
into Porth Town Centre.

Bronwydd House which currently houses over 
200 Council employees, has been identified as 
a site for extra care housing developments. As
such, an opportunity exists for many of these 
staff to be relocated to underused or vacant 
office space/premises within Porth Town Centre.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

S
E

V
E

N

Public realm
improvements.

The enhancement of the town centre streets 
and spaces as part of the Station Quarter and
Transport Hub developments will raise the quality,
value and confidence in the town.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓

E
IG

H
T

The introduction of the
Town Centre
Maintenance Grant.

The Town Centre Maintenance Grant will provide
financial support to town centre traders / landlords
(including vacant properties) to undertake minor
improvements and maintenance works which will
improve the external front elevation of town centre
properties.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓

N
IN

E

The redevelopment of
the former Porth Junior
school site for
residential use.

The development of new residential units within
Porth will help diversify the existing housing stock.
The former Porth Junior School site has the
potential to address much of the prevailing
housing need in the area through the
development of one bedroom apartments and
two, three and four bedroom houses.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓

TE
N Developing extra care

housing for the elderly
and vulnerable.

Bronwydd House in Porth has been identified as 
a key site for extra care developments. This site
has been identified as it is close to the town
centre, has good access to transport, health
services and local amenities.

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
✓ ✓

Page 532



17PORTH TOWN CENTRE STRATEGY 2018/19

Appendix
Porth Town Centre Zonal Map

Page 533



This page is intentionally left blank



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

Please ensure that you refer to the ‘Equality Impact Assessment Guidance’ 
when completing this form.  If you would like further assistance please contact 
the Equality & Diversity Team. 
 
Details 
Name of initiative to be assessed: Relocation of Alec Jones Day Centre activities to 
Porth Plaza 
Name of responsible officer: Paul Mee 
Group/Directorate: Children and Community Services 
Service Area: Community Services and Day Services 
Date: 31st December 2018 
 
a) What are you assessing for impact? 
 

Service/
Function 

Policy/ 
Procedure 

Project Strategy Plan Proposal Information/ 
Position 
statement 

       
 
b) Please name and describe below: 
 

The Council owns Alec Jones Day Centre at Porth which is an open access 
centre for the use of adults aged 50 and over. It is open from Monday to 
Friday from10.00 a.m. to 4.00 p.m. and provides a subsidised meal service 
and social activities for its users. Currently, the numbers attending for lunch-
time provision is an average of 27 customers per day. 
 The daytime activities include the following: 
- Wales Council for the Deaf meeting 
- Singing for the brain 
- CISWO 
- Arosfa Senior Citizens meeting 
- Age Concern Nail cutting service 
- Welsh Language Group 
 
The Local Authority does not have a statutory duty to provide a Day Centre 
service with subsidised meals and activities for people over the age of 50. 
The proposal under consideration is to merge the Day Centre with other 
Council services that are delivered at Porth Plaza and to invest in changing 
the internal lay-out and refurbishing the Porth Plaza building to accommodate 
the needs of service-users. In addition to maintaining services for current 
users this would allow opportunities to develop further partnerships for the 
benefit of residents and to attract more people to the venue.  
The Council currently delivers and/or facilitates a range of services at Porth 
Plaza including: 
- a library service 

Page 535



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

- One4All advice service 
- the provision of jobsearch and employment advice in partnership with a 
range of partners 
- community meetings 
- education and training courses 
- youth activities 
 
The facilities available for community use include: 
- Public access PCs 
- free Wi-Fi  
- community meeting rooms 
- education/training room 
- IT suite 
- consultation rooms for use by external providers for delivery of advice and 
information on a range of health and well-being, welfare and other issues. 
There is also a creche on-site. 
 
Under the current proposal the activities undertaken at Alec Jones Centre 
would transfer to Porth Plaza where there is scope for further activities and 
initiatives of benefit to current Day Centre users (and other residents) to be 
developed.  This would then enable the Alec Jones Day Centre site to be 
redeveloped as part of the wider Town Centre Regeneration Strategy while 
strengthening the development of Porth Plaza Community Hub. 
 

 
c) Is the delivery of this initiative affected by legislation or other drivers 

such as codes of practice? 
If so, please identify what and how 
 

Legislation: 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places an emphasis 
on the principle of sustainable development.This proposal makes a direct 
contribution to the seven national well-being goals, in particular a prosperous 
Wales, a resilient Wales, a healthier Wales and a Wales of cohesive 
communities. Making better, more cost effective use of our community assets 
and reinvesting resources in new or remodelled, fit for purpose buildings will 
enable services to be sustainable in the longer term. 
 
Other drivers 
The development of community hubs are identified as strategic priorities in the 
following plans and projects: 
Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 2018- 2023 
The Public Service Board's aim to promote safe, confident, strong and thriving 
communities improving the well-being of residents and visitors and building on 
our community assets can be achieved through the development of 
community hubs. The proposed relocation of Day Centre activities to Porth 

Page 536



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

Plaza can help to reduce loneliness and social isolation by creating a town 
centre venue where a wide range of activities and events can be facilitated 
and a programme developed in partnership with all of its users.  
 
The Cwm Taf Regional Plan 2018-2023  
This five year plan sets out how the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-being 
Partnership Board will respond to the findings of the Population Needs 
Assessment completed in 2017.   
Evidence gathered from talking to people for the Population Assessment 
demonstrated that the following are important to the wellbeing of people with 
care and support needs:  

 
• Making connections with others  
• Access to Information and advice  
• Organisations working better together  
• Stopping problems before they start or get worse  
 

The needs of vulnerable people and families can sometimes escalate into 
statutory services because there are limited opportunities available for people 
to seek help earlier. Good practice research has identified that strong 
community based initiatives are effective in providing low level support options 
and these are usually available from a community hub or open access facility. 
It is intended that the proposal to create a hub at Porth Plaza will provide 
wellbeing opportunities for those who are most vulnerable in the community 
as well as providing a wider range of activities for current users of the day 
centre.  The Porth Plaza building consists of 1973sq metres gross internal 
area (compared to Alec Jones Day Centre's 393 sq metres gross internal 
area) and this allows room for expansion and growth as the hub develops so 
that it can meet the community's needs over the longer term.   
 
Our Valleys, Our Future  
This plan's priorities for ensuring better public services includes an action to 
use existing, and create new, community hubs as well as a range of actions 
that will improve the health and well-being of communities.  
 
Town Centre Regeneration   
Enabling vibrant and enticing town centres, with a strong offer which 
recognises that they are at the heart of our communities, is a clear 
commitment within Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council's 2016-2020 
Corporate Plan ('The way Ahead').  
To deliver this commitment and to tackle the many challenges currently faced 
by our town centres the solution requires a sophisticated and sustainable 
approach to regeneration. The relocation of Alec Jones Day Centre forms an 
integral part of the proposed Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy which 
sets out an integrated, co-ordinated and holistic approach to town centre 
regeneration that takes into  account the distinctive role Porth has at the heart 
of the community and its important location for services, employment, housing 
and transport functions.   

Page 537



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

 

 
 
d) Does the initiative directly affect service users, employees or the wider 

community? 
 
Yes   Continue assessment 
No   No need to continue screening or carry out an EqIA 

Page 538



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

 
Screening is used to decide whether the initiative you are responsible for has a high 
or medium impact on any of the protected groups and will require a full EqIA. 
 
Please provide details of the possible impact your proposal may have on the 
following groups, this may not necessarily be negative, but may impact on a group 
with a particular characteristic in a specific way. 
 
You should also identify whether this constitutes a high, medium or low impact. 
 
Please refer to Equality Impact Assessment Guidelines for further information. 
 
Protected Characteristic Impact 
Age High.There are potentially negative and positive 

impacts on older people. 

As the proposal is to close Alec Jones Day Centre 
and to transfer its services to Porth Plaza, it has a 
major impact on adults over the age of 50 who 
currently use this service. In general Day Centre 
users were supportive of the proposed relocation 
of their current activities to Porth Plaza, but some 
service users who completed the survey 
expressed a wish to continue with the provision of 
both actvities and hot meals at Porth Plaza. 

Beyond this user group the proposal has a 
potentially positive impact on people over the age 
of 50 in the community who would benefit from the 
development of a community hub with easy 
access to a wide range of services within Porth. 

See mitigations in the full Equality Impact 
Assessment below for how the provision of hot 
meals will be addressed.   

Disability High. There are potentially negative and positive 
impacts on people with disabilities. Accessibility 
has been identified as an issue for a small number 
of Day Centre users as the current car park that is 
adjacent to Porth Plaza is always in high demand 
and spaces are at a premium. It is also further for 
at least one user to walk from the bus stop.  

However on the positive side relocation of 
activities to the Porth Plaza Community Hub will 
enable disabled customers to access a wider 
range of information and advice at one venue and 
there will be opportunities to develop more 
activities and provision to support them through 
partnerships with third sector and other 
organisations. 

 See mitigations in the full Equality Impact  

Screening/Relevance Test: Is an equality impact assessment required? 

Page 539



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

Assessment below for how concerns relating to 
parking can be addressed.  

Gender Reassignment Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership  Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Pregnancy and Maternity Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Race Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Religion or Belief Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Sex Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Sexual Orientation Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely. 

Other Characteristics  

Welsh Language Low positive - access to a training room will 
facilitate the delivery of Welsh language classes or 
other community learning classes in the medium of 
Welsh if there is a demand for these locally.The 
current Welsh language group held at Alec Jones 
Day Centre will be able to transfer to Porth Plaza 
and potentially this provision could be further 
developed at the new venue. 

Carers Medium positive - the potential to develop more 
provision on the Porth Plaza site could result in 
more  activities being developed for people with a 
range of ill-health issues such as dementia, and 
engagement with third sector organisations who 
have space to deliver information and advcie from 
Porth Plaza community hub would facilitate easy 
access to information on a range of issues that 
affect carers and their families. 

Armed Forces Community Neutral - there is no evidence to suggest that an 
impact is likely.  

 
If after completing the EqIA screening/relevance test, you determine that this 
service/function/policy/project is not relevant for an EqIA you must provide 
adequate explanation below. (Please use additional pages if necessary). 
 

Page 540



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

      

 
Are you happy that you have sufficient evidence to justify your decision? 
 
Yes  No  
 
Signed: W. Edwards Position: Head fo Community Services Date: 
4/1/19 
N.B.  If the initial screening process has identified actual or potential high or 
medium negative impact on a particular group or groups then you MUST carry 
out a full EqIA. 
 
Approved by Head of Service or Director 
 
 
Signed:       Position:       Date:       
 
 
 
Full Equality Impact Assessment 
 
You should use the information gathered at the screening stage to assist you in 
identifying possible negative/adverse impact and clearly identify which groups are 
affected. 
 
In terms of any disproportionate/negative/adverse impact that the proposal may have 
on a protected group, what steps (if any) could be taken to reduce that impact for 
each group identified.  Attach a separate action plan if necessary. 

Age  
Concerns were raised by Day Centre users about potential changes to the 
lunch-time meals provision specifically the possible loss of access to hot 
meals and potential impact on the cost of meals provided. Questions were 
raised regarding the ability to deliver this provision at Porth Plaza. 
It is unlikely that the meal provision can be facilitated within Porth Plaza 
community hub so that other alternatives will need to be explored.  
 
Actions to address the issues: 
Officers will continue to engage with Day Centre users and local café 
proprietors to assess the best way in which access to meals can be sustained 
for this customer group within Porth town centre. there is potential to explore 
an arrangement with local food business operator(s) whereby service users 
could be signposted to access a hot meal. 
A solution will be agreed prior to the potential closure of the Day Centre. 
 
Disability 
A concern was raised in relation to the access to parking spaces for Day 

Page 541



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

Centre users if the provision is relocated to Porth Plaza as the car park 
adjacent to the building is very busy and parking places are limited.   
Actions to address the issue:  
The Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy has identified the need for 
additional parking spaces in the town centre and if these are created it could 
alleviate pressure on the Porth Plaza car park in future. 
Officers will explore the potential of allocating additional disabled parking bays 
at Porth Plaza car park to meet the potential increase in demand if the Day 
Centre activities are transferred to Porth Plaza community hub. 
 

If ways of reducing the impact have been identified but are not possible, please 
explain why they are not possible. 
     

 
Evidence Sources 
(i) Give details of any data or research that has led to your reasoning above, in 
particular, the sources used for establishing the demographics of service users. 
Service usage data held with Adult Services was used to ascertain service level and 
activity data for the Day Centre. 
Service usage data held by the Library Service was used to ascertain the level of 
room usage and activities delivered currently at Porth Plaza. 
(ii) Give details of how you have engaged with service users on the proposals and 
steps taken to avoid any disproportionate impact on a protected group and how you 
have used any feedback to influence your decision. 
 
A 6 week consultation was undertaken between 29th October and 10th December 
2018. This included two drop-in sessions on 16th November and 22nd November.  
Full details of the consultation are provided in the Consultation Report produced by 
the Consultation team. 
 
Key feedback from the consultation events were as follows: 
 
- overall acceptance of the rationale for moving the Day Centre activities from the 
Day Centre to Porth Plaza  
-  concern about the effect the proposal would have on the provision of subsidised 
hot meals for Day Centre users   
- need for the nail-cutting service to be retained 
- some concern about parking issues at Porth Plaza and the town in general 
 
 
 
Are you satisfied that the engagement process complies with the requirements of the 

Page 542



EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

Statutory Equality Duties? 
Yes  No  
 
Decision Log - detail how Elected Members and Senior Managers have been 
involved in the decision process (give dates of key meetings and decisions made). 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Cabinet Report 16th October 2018  
  

 
 
Review 
 
Date of Next Review:       

If review is not required, explain why: 
      

 
Completed by:       
Signature:       
Job Title:       
Date:       
 
This assessment must be approved by an appropriate Head of Service or 
Director 
 
 

 
Please return a copy to: 
 
Equality & Diversity Team 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach Vale 
CF40 2XX 
 
Email: equality@rctcbc.gov.uk 

Approved by:       

Signature:       

Job Title:       

Approval date:       

Page 543

mailto:equality@rctcbc.gov.uk


EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 

 

Page 544



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Porth Town Centre Regeneration 
Strategy  

Consultation 
 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council 

 
December 2018 

 

Page 545



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

2 
 

 
CONTENTS  

  Page 
 

 Executive Summary 
 

3 

1. Introduction 
 4 

2. Background 
 5 

3. Methodology 
 6 

4. Consultation Results  
 7 

   
   

List of figures 
 

Figure No. Page 
Fig 1. Which of the Strategic Objectives do you think would help the 
regeneration of Porth Town Centre 

8 

Fig 2. Do you think the Strategic Objectives will improve Porth Town 
Centre 

10 

Fig 3. Key Scheme- Development of modern quality Transport Hub and 
Station Quarter 

11 

Fig 4. Key Scheme- Development of Porth Plaza into a Community Hub 11 
Fig 5. Key Scheme- Provision of long and short term parking  12 
Fig 6. Key Scheme- Extending the current Park and Ride provision 12 
Fig 7. Key Scheme- Redevelopment of existing underused, disused and 
derelict buildings 

13 

Fig 8. Key Scheme- Explore opportunities to relocate Council Staff into 
Porth Town Centre 

13 

Fig 9. Key Scheme- Public realm improvements 14 
Fig 10. Key Scheme- Introduction of the Town Centre Maintenance Grant 14 
Fig 11. Key Scheme- Redevelopment of the former Porth Junior school 
site for residential use 

15 

Fig 12. Key Scheme- Developing extra care housing for the elderly and 
vulnerable 

15 

Fig 13. Respondent profile- Gender  18 
Fig 14. Respondent profile- Age 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 546



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

3 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
• This report presents the findings of the consultation on the proposed 

strategy for the regeneration of Porth Town Centre.  
 

• The consultation was conducted in-house.  The 6 week consultation 
period ran from the 29th October until 10th December 2018. The 
approach taken included a questionnaire for members of the public and 
face to face engagement events.  
 

• 139 people attended the face to face events and there were 72 
responses to the questionnaire.  
 

• The majority of respondents were supportive of the proposed strategy, 
welcoming the likely benefits that regeneration could bring.  
 

• 80% of respondents to the questionnaire felt that the strategic objectives 
outlined in the proposals would improve Porth Town Centre although 
some concerns were raised about increasing current parking issues and 
the timeline for the project causing disruption to the area.  
 

• The table below shows the results of respondents views on which of the 
Strategic Objectives they think would help with the regeneration of Porth 
Town Centre.  

 
 

To improve connectivity with the town centre and 
surrounding areas through the development of a Transport 
Hub. 

83% 

To improve the key gateways into the town. 80% 
To provide the conditions to strengthen employment 
opportunities. 

77% 

To create the conditions for the town to become a thriving 
Station Quarter. 

75% 

To support the development of housing. 39% 
 
 

• Respondents were asked whether they thought a series of key schemes 
will improve Porth Town Centre. The table below shows the results of 
those who responded ‘Yes’. 

 
The redevelopment of existing underused, disused and derelict 
buildings throughout the town 

90% 

The development of transport Hub and Station Quarter  86% 
The provision of additional long and short term parking  85% 
The introduction of the Town Centre Maintenance Grant 85% 
Extending the current Park and Ride provision 83% 

Page 547



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

4 
 

Public realm improvements 77% 
The development of Porth Plaza into a Community Hub 75% 
Developing extra care housing for the elderly and vulnerable 73% 
Explore opportunities to relocate Council Staff into Porth Town 
Centre 

69% 

The redevelopment of the former Porth Junior school site for 
residential use. 

47% 

 
 

• The face to face engagement events responses were mostly positive 
with very few negative comments being made. The majority of people 
were supportive of the overall strategy and particularly supportive of the 
proposed transport hub. Negative comments centred mainly around 
concerns about increased traffic and parking issues. 
 

• Overall the consultation shows that respondents are supportive of the 
strategy for regeneration.  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 548



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

5 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 
1.1 This report presents the findings of a consultation to gather public 

views on the proposed strategy for the regeneration of Porth town 
centre.  

 
1.2 The strategy has the following vision for the future – “To transform 

Porth Town Centre into a prosperous and attractive town, which offers 
a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents and businesses; 
anchored by Porth Transport Hub and a much-regenerated Station 
Quarter” and to obtain views on this strategy.  

 
1.3 Section 2 outlines the background to the proposal and the proposed 

new changes that were consulted upon. 
 
1.4 Section 3 details the methodology used. 
 
1.5 Section 4 presents the consultation results. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 549



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

6 
 

 
2.      BACKGROUND  

 
The Proposal 

 
2.1  The proposed vision for Porth Town Centre is: 

 
‘To transform Porth Town Centre into a prosperous and attractive      
town, which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents 
and businesses; anchored by Porth Transport Hub and a much 
regenerated Station Quarter’. 

 
Background 

 
 
2.2 Enabling vibrant and enticing town centres, with a strong offer, which 

recognises that they are at the heart of our communities, is a clear 
commitment within Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council’s 
2016-20 Corporate Plan “The Way Ahead”. The plan also makes a 
commitment that they will benefit from investment to ensure an attractive 
environment exists for businesses, residents and shoppers. 

 
2.3 To deliver this commitment and to tackle the many challenges currently 

faced by our town centres, the solution requires a sophisticated and 
sustainable approach to regeneration. 

 
2.4 As such, the Porth Town Centre regeneration strategy sets out an 

integrated, co-ordinated and holistic approach to town centre 
regeneration that takes into account the distinctive role Porth has at the 
heart of the community and its important location for services, 
employment, housing and transport functions. 
 

2.5  To achieve this vision, the strategy is supported by a series of strategic 
objectives that will drive its delivery and translate directly into a series 
of projects and actions: 
 
1. To improve connectivity with the town centre and surrounding areas 
through the development of a Transport Hub. 
2. To create the conditions for the town to become a thriving Station 
Quarter. 
3. To improve the key gateways into the town. 
4. To support the development of housing. 
5. To provide the conditions to strengthen employment opportunities. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 550



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

7 
 

3.     METHODOLOGY 
 
 
3.1 The purpose of the consultation was to seek views on the proposed 

strategy for the regeneration of Porth town centre.  
 
3.2 The consultation has been conducted in-house. The consultation period 

ran from 29th October until 10th December 2018. 
 
3.3 There were 2 public face to face events held at Porth Plaza and 

Morrisons and a number or smaller engagement events held at 
community and leisure centres. The locations of the smaller events were 
based on their location in relation to Transport Hub connections to 
communities on bus routes, without access to rail. 

 
3.4  There was an online campaign with a dedicated page on the consultation 

webpage and social media posts created to raise awareness of the 
strategy and consultation events.  

 
3.5 In addition to the face to face engagement, a questionnaire was 

produced with responses being collected either via tablet at the face to 
face events or being completed online.  

 
3.6 Officers attended an Older Persons Wellbeing event held at Ystrad 

Sports Centre to raise awareness with over 70 people in attendance.  
 
3.7 Two emails were received from members of the public providing their 

views on the proposed strategy.  
 
3.8     Family members of the late Alec Jones were consulted with in respect of 

how the strategy may continue to recognise Alec Jones, in light of 
proposals to close the day centre and relocate services to the 
Community Hub.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 551



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

8 
 

4 CONSULTATION RESULTS  
 
 
 Results Questionnaire 
 
4.1  Respondents were asked ‘Which of the Strategic Objectives do you think 

would help the regeneration of Porth Town Centre?’ and were able to 
select more than one answer. 

 
 

 
           Figure 1 
 
  

Objective 1 – ‘To improve connectivity with the town centre and 
surrounding areas through the development of a Transport Hub’ received 
the highest response (83%) closely followed by objective 3 – “To improve 
key gateways into the town” (80%).  The lowest response was for 
objective 4 – “to support the development of housing”. 

  
 Comments included: 
  
 Transport Hub 
 
 “By developing a transport hub within the town centre, I would imagine this 

would lead to improved footfall within the town, which they need to be geared 
up to with the necessary support.” 

 
 “More central area for transport is a good thing.” 
 
 “This will help with development of Porth. Flow of transport to Cardiff and 

surrounding area.” 
 
 
  

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

 

39%

75%77%80%83%

1) To improve connectivity with the town centre and surrounding areas through the development of a Transport Hub

3) To improve the key gateways into the town 

5) To provide the conditions to strengthen employment opportunities

2) To create the conditions for the town to become a thriving Station Quarter 

4) To support the development of housing

Q1 Which of the Strategic Objectives do you think would help the regeneration of Porth Town Centre?

Page 552



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

9 
 

 Parking 
 
 “Parking needs to be drastically improved.” 
 
 “The roads are too congested going through Porth and up to Pontypridd Road, 

make sure it doesn’t get even more congested with buses pulling in and out of 
Station Street. Parking is an issue in Porth and often find myself parking in 
Morrisons to go to the Plaza/Pop Factory.” 

 
 “Get rid of the ugly job centre building and provide people that are employed 

on Hannah Street with somewhere to park their cars. The street is always badly 
cluttered with cars.”  

 
Employment Opportunities 

 
 “…..Lots of buildings are empty and businesses have left the town centre. 

Redevelopment would encourage business to return, and increase employment 
opportunities…..” 

 
 “Supporting businesses within Hannah St to continue trading is of vital 

importance to improve the current provision within the town…” 
 
 
4.3 Overall, the results showed respondents were positive about the 

objectives with many supportive comments for each proposed objective.  
 
 “They are all good ideas especially targeting vacant buildings.” 
 
 “We would like Porth to be a busy town again.” 
 
 “Well done with the question, my answer is yes to all 5.” 
 
4.4 Of the few negative responses, concerns were raised regarding the 

possible downsides of the objectives not providing the desired outcome. 
 
 “Additional housing will not necessarily increase footfall within the town centre 

as shopping habits are very much individual to a person’s needs. Additionally, 
more housing specifically where it has been suggested could significantly add 
to the already congested areas around the schools.” 

 
 “One of my concerns is that the Station Quarter could degenerate into an area 

of fast food outlets, set up to cater for the increasing needs of traveller for food 
and drink.” 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 553



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

10 
 

4.5 Respondents were also asked ‘Do you think the Strategic Objectives 
outlined in Q1 will improve Porth Town Centre?’  

 
 Results show that the majority of people who responded (80%) agreed 

that the objectives would improve Porth Town Centre. 
 

 
Figure 2 

 
 Of those who answered ‘Yes’ some of the positive comments included: 
 

“This is a great opportunity for businesses and residents that could see a vast 
improvement in the town centre, compared to how it has declined over recent 
years.  Promotion of any opportunities for businesses/residents to get involved 
in this process should be undertaken and there is a vital need to highlight the 
benefits these objectives can bring to them. 

 
“Yes this will improve Porth which is really needed.” 

  
 “Any help would be greatly appreciated.” 
 
 “The developments look positive and important. I hope work will be able to 

begin soon.” 
 

“Centralised services will make Porth a more attractive town to commute 
from and visit …” 
 
“Better connectivity. Integrated transport connections, and positive 
encouragement or people to transfer to Public Transport options.” 
 

 
4.6 Of the small number who responded ‘No’ some comments included: 
 
 “Redevelopment on the suggested scale would disrupt the economic social use 

of the town for a long time.” 

80%

10%

10%

 

Yes No Don't know

Do you think the Strategic Objectives will improve Porth Town
Centre?

Page 554



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

11 
 

 
 “Unless Porth is made accessible for driving customers then this initiative will 

not work. A transport hub will cause more traffic therefore people will avoid 
going into Porth.” 

 
 
4.7  Respondents were then asked whether they thought a series of key 

schemes would improve Porth Town Centre.  
 

The results show that the majority of people agreed with all of the 
schemes outlined in the questionnaire.  
 

         
Figure 3 

 
Comments included: 

 
 “Transport networks are the key to regeneration. People will only shop in Porth 

if there are shops, centre is worth coming for. Support for traders etc. is 
essential.” 

 
“The business strategy has many facets to it and needs dividing and consulting 
individually. For example, business and residential should complement each 
other not have one to the detriment of the other.” 

   
Figure 4 
 
 

 

Don't know
4%

No
10%

Yes
86%

1. The development of a modern quality Transport Hub and
Station Quarter that efficiently links commercial
development with residential areas.

 

Don't know
14%

No
11%

Yes
75%

2. The development of Porth Plaza into the Community
Hub for Rhondda South.

Page 555



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

12 
 

“….Also thought needs to be given to which are the most relevant services 
needed in the community hub based on the demographic of the area and also 
the levels of poverty experienced by residents.” 

 

 
Figure 5 
 
 

“Extra parking for what purpose?  ……….Unless you attract major retail 
brands, you can build all the car parks you want, won't help, same with 
transport, won't help.” 

  
“When such a good sustainable transport hub is proposed I don't agree that 
spending on car parking is a compatible proposal. Traffic reduction (actual 
reduction in the number of vehicles) would enhance the visual and 
environmental attractiveness of Porth as a destination, particularly as a 
sustainable hub centre that doesn't require the car to get to it.” 

 
Figure 6 

 
 There were a number of comments made in relation to parking and the 

Park and Ride provision concerning effects on residents and traffic 
levels.  

 
 Comments included: 
 
 “If your to increase parking for Park and Ride residents around that that live 

next to the station would like permits as most days it’s a struggle to park near 
our home and frustrating.” 

 

Don't know
9%

No
7%

Yes
85%

3. The provision of additional long and short term parking
to accommodate the future regenerated Porth Town

centre.

 

Don't know
7%

No
10%

Yes
83%

4. Extending the current Park and Ride provision within
the town centre.

Page 556



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

13 
 

 
 “When such a good sustainable transport hub is proposed I don’t agree that 

spending on car parking is a compatible proposal. Traffic reduction (actual 
reduction in the number of vehicles) would enhance the visual and 
environmental attractiveness of Porth as a destination, particularly as a 
sustainable hub centre that doesn’t require to car to get to it.” 

 
 “I don’t see many people using the park and ride for its specific use (to park and 

ride the train). I see lots of people parking there just to go to the shops in town 
or to the Rheola or the Dr’s Surgery. Why make it bigger if people don’t use it 
for its intended use anyway?” 

 

  
Figure 7 

 
 

“…….. I am not convinced of the argument creating more housing will 
automatically lead to more expenditure in the Town centre.” 

 

           
Figure 8 

 
There were a few comments provided in relation to these questions in 
support of the proposals and acknowledging the issue of derelict 
buildings and the benefits to be gained from relocating Council Staff. 
However there were a small number of comments that questioned the 
potential for negative impacts on businesses as a result of relocation.  
 

 

Don't know
9%

No
1%

Yes
90%

5. The redevelopment of existing underused, disused and
derelict buildings throughout the town to create housing,

office and retail accommodation.

 

Don't know
13%

No
19%

Yes
69%

6. Explore opportunities to relocate Council Staff into
Porth Town Centre.

Page 557



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

14 
 

Comments included: 
 

“From my past experience in leafleting in Rhondda I have been shocked by the 
number of empty derelict properties.” 

 
“Closing the council offices in Bronwydd will reduce the number of people 
visiting Hannah Street each day and keeping trade alive.” 

 
“I think it’s a great idea to bring people from the Council into the Town as they 
have the opportunity to engage more with businesses. It also gives them the 
opportunity to pop out on their lunch and buy lunch in the town’s shops and 
cafes. As long as they don’t get relocated near Morrisons as that will take away 
business from the town shops again.” 

  
Figure 9 

          
Figure 10 

 

Don't know
19%

No
4%

Yes
77%

7. Public realm improvements.

 

Don't know
11%

No
4%

Yes
85%

8. The introduction of the Town Centre Maintenance Grant
to provide financial support to town centre traders /
landlords (including vacant properties) to undertake minor
improvements and maintenance works which will improve
the external front elevation of town centre properties.

Page 558



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

15 
 

          
Figure 11  

 
A number of comments were made in relation to the redevelopment of 
Porth Junior School with an even split of both negative and positive 
comments on this proposal. 

 
 Comments included: 

  
“Under no circumstances should Porth Junior School be used for housing when 
the council finally realises that super schools DO NOT WORK we will need these 
schools to re-open to give our children the best start to their educational life 
which they haven’t got currently with the new super school initiative.” 
 
“Creation of residential accommodation within Town Centre could provide 
more encouragement for better use of facilities. However it is important that as 
residential presence grows, so must community facilities, such as shops, 
recreational facilities, service facilities (eg Libraries. Community Centres. Doctor 
Surgeries etc.)  

    
Figure 12 

 
 

Comments included: 
 

“Extra care housing and care support will provide more options for people, not 
leading to full residential care.” 

 

 

Don't know
26%

No
27%

Yes
47%

9. The redevelopment of the former Porth Junior school
site for residential use.

 

Don't know
10%

No
17%

Yes
73%

10. Developing extra care housing for the elderly and
vulnerable.

Page 559



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

16 
 

“I originally come from a place which had an initiative to provide more extra 
care housing for elderly residents and now most are surplus to requirements. 
It’s a business model that only makes sense to the developers as they make 
money but usually the initiative falls flat.” 

 
4.8  Finally, respondents were asked ‘Do you have any views on the 

development or content of the implementation plan? And they were also 
given the opportunity to provide further comments’ 

 
 37% of people who responded to this question answered ‘yes’, with a 

theme emerging in the comments concerning the timeline for the strategy 
and possible disruption caused. 

  
“It would be better done seamlessly than in bits.” 
 
“It appears that the strategy will be delivered a small part at a time and this 
could mean delays in completing the whole plan.” 
 
“As long as it doesn’t take too long. I think the timing allocated for each project 
in the plan is far too long. Porth has struggled enough so why not give them 
what they deserve sooner rather than later? Businesses have struggled enough 
so the least the council can do is move it a little quicker.” 
  
“Provide timely updates for the residents of Porth and Cymmer area. Least 
disruption. Quick wins.” 
 
“Great concept and plans, however, as Porth resident I am concerned of 
potential traffic congestion during the building/construction of the hub and 
surrounding areas.” 
  

4.9 Some of the respondents were keen to be involved in the ongoing 
regeneration plans, as they develop. 

 
“A plan that grows with the project is preferable to a rigid one. This is a good 
idea” 

 
“that for this implementation plan to succeed, then I believe a strong focus 
should be on advertising how businesses and key stakeholders can be involved 
- not just the usual few.” 

 
“I think that the implementation plan would need contribution from local 
representatives from the community. Key stakeholder organisations have 
been mentioned above which understood is important, however it is the 
people who use the town centre on a daily basis who should be consulted. 
Representatives from organisations will likely have an overarching view in 
terms of numbers and figures, however decisions shouldn't be made solely by 
representatives who don't have day to day involvement in the town.” 
 

Page 560



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

17 
 

“All plans should have public opinion it adds to public buy in of the plan and 
makes it easier to deliver.” 

 
 
4.10 Further positive comments in support of the proposals were provided at 

the end of the survey, including the following; 
 

“I think it's a great plan and I hope it's carried through.” 
 

“I think this is really positive for Porth and I commend the plans” 
 

“Really positive for Porth” 
 

“It should happen sooner than later.” 
 

“Very clear and easy to understand” 
 

“Will look forward to Porth being developed. It will certainly bring more 
customers to the shops and build a lovely high street to visit.” 

 
“Support the plans” 

 
“Hope this happens and gets the funding needed” 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 561



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

18 
 

Respondent Profile 
 
4.11 In total 72 people took responded to the questionnaire.  The breakdown 

by type of respondent is shown below. 
 
4.12 Gender 
  
   

 
Figure 13 

  
 

Age 

 
Figure 14 

 
4.11  Under the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duties, the 

Council has a legal duty to look at how its decisions impact on people 
because they may have particular characteristics.  Respondents felt the 
proposal would affect them because of age and disability characteristics, 
the following are a small selection of the comments received: 
  
“More disabled parking is a must.” 

Male 
53%

Female
41%

Prefer not to say
6%

 

Gender

25-34
18%

35-44
25%

45-54
21%

55-64
19%

65-74
10%

75+
7%

 

Age

Page 562



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

19 
 

 
“I am a disabled person so would want suitable access to all parts of the town 
after regeneration completed.” 
 
“As I get older, I will be looking closer to home for the facilities that I need both 
on a practical level and socially.” 

 
 
4.12  Under the Welsh Language Measure 2011 and Welsh Language 

Standards the Council has a legal duty to look at how its decisions 
impact on the Welsh Language.  The following are a selection of the 
comments received: 

 
“All services and signage should be offered bilingually and should be promoted 
as such by all stakeholders. Both languages should be treated as equals.” 
 
“I am a Welsh learner I would welcome more Welsh language opportunities in 
the area, specifically any way to practice with other learners/Welsh speakers.” 
 
“More use of Welsh throughout the communication hub.” 
 
“The Welsh language doesn’t appear to be supported anywhere in Porth.” 
 
“Positive effect would be to give people the option to learn Welsh through 
promoting Welsh valley culture.” 
  
“Encourage use and jobs offering the Welsh language as an option.” 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 563



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

20 
 

Results - Face to Face Engagement 
  
4.13 There were a number of face to face engagement events held during the 

course of the consultation with 139 people actively engaging with officers 
during these events.  

 
 The events provided an opportunity for a mixture of residents, business 

owners, traders and staff affected by the proposed strategy to provide 
their views.  

 
 Overall, the responses to the consultation were largely positive with only 

a few minor concerns being noted.  
 
 Some positive comments included: 
 

“Anything to improve Porth is a positive thing.” 
 
“I’m so glad something is being done.” 
 
“Bronwydd site is a good location for the extra care facility.” 
 
“Overall it’s fantastic to see the Council being creative in improving Porth Town 
Centre.” 

 
4.14 There were some concerns raised regarding parking and suggestions for 

additional regeneration ideas, including the provision for young people 
and tourism.   

 
“Why don’t we purchase the land at the rear of upper cuts to provide a car park 
for Porth Farm Surgery?” 
 
“Why can’t each Community Hub house a Tourist Information Centre?” 
 
“What is tourism doing to link in with businesses about their products/services 
and how these can boost tourism?” 
 
“Turning Porth Plaza into a Community Hub is only for the older generation and 
to downgrade a vital council run service. Where are the plans to improve things 
for the younger generation so they can have access to community hubs/youth 
clubs? These plans should be for the benefit of everyone to attract the local 
community but more than that make Porth a better place to live not a place 
where you have to survive.” 

 
4.15 Of the few negative comments, these included: 
 

“I don’t like the coffee shop idea within the transport hub as it takes away 
business from the other coffee shops.” 

 

Page 564



Porth Town Centre Regeneration Strategy   December 2018 
 

21 
 

“The extra care facility on Bronwydd site is not suitable for the elderly as it is 
located on a hill and is too far from the town, would be better to locate it in the 
old offices/flats in town where the area is more flat and central.” 
 
“What Porth needs is to be regenerated for the present day and more 
importantly for the future. The regeneration should be for the community of 
Porth and not about attracting visitors from elsewhere. There isn’t currently 
anything in Porth to attract the local community let alone anyone else! The 
town centre needs much more variety in local shops, community buildings and 
services and not more takeaways and hairdressers.” 
 

4.16 There was some level of concern expressed by the local food businesses 
in the area.  They felt that if Porth Plaza were to include a café/dining 
area, that this may affect their trade and would be unwelcome 
competition.  The businesses did however express an interest in working 
with the Council to come up with an appropriate solution and possibly 
provide the hot meals themselves. 

 
4.17 Comments were also made regarding the Transport Hub and concerns 

regarding safety of this proposal. 
 

“The new station quarter where buses pull into the station and reverse out is 
hazardous to pedestrians walking behind the vehicles when reversing. It should 
be a pull in, drop off and drive straight out layout so buses don’t have to park 
and reverse out.” 
 
“The route for the buses to get in and out of the bus station will become 
dangerous. Turning from Station Street to Pontypridd Road is difficult now as 
many people think it’s a one way street as well as the parked cars plus no one 
lets the traffic out from Station street. This will inevitably cause delays. The 
whole idea of a ‘Transport Hub’ is to make it easier to travel by public 
transport.” 

  
 
 
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 

Page 565



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation 
 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
 

December 2018 
  
 

Page 567



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

2  
 

 
CONTENTS 

  
  
  
  
   

  Page 
 

 Executive Summary 
 

3 

1. Introduction 
 4 

2. Background 
 5 

3. Methodology 
 6 

4. Questionnaire Results  
 7 

5. Engagement Event Results 
 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 568



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

3  
 

 
 
 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 
• This report presents the findings of the consultation on proposals to relocate 

the services of Alec Jones Day Centre to a new Community Hub in Porth 
Plaza as part of a new proposed strategy for regenerating Porth Town 
Centre (also subject to consultation). 
 

• The targeted consultation ran for 6 weeks, from the 29th October to the 10th 
December, 2018. The following methods were used to consult with 
stakeholders; 

 
• An online and paper questionnaire. 
• Drop in Engagement events on the 16th and 22nd November 2018. 

A dedicated email address (consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk) and 
freepost address if needed. 

 
• Overall, 27 people filled in a questionnaire and 39 people engaged directly 

with us at the events.   
 

• The main reasons for using the Day Centre were for meeting friends and 
socialising (22 service users) and to have lunch (19 service users). 

 
• Respondents were asked what they would do if the Day Centre activities 

were to transfer to Porth plaza.  The majority (24 service users) who 
responded to this question said they would attend the new community Hub 
and nobody stated that they would stop using the service. 

 
• Respondents were asked what they would do If the Day Centre meals 

were to transfer to Porth Plaza.  Nearly all (21 service users), who 
responded to this question said they would attend the new Community Hub 
for a meal. 

 
• Further comments from the service users focussed on their desire to have 

the same service and meal as they currently receive in the Day Centre.  
 

• Service users were asked what the impact of the proposed transfer of the 
day centre would have on them.   Some of the responses stated that there 
would be no impact, as long as the current facilities were transferred to Porth 
Plaza.   

 
• There were concerns about parking at the proposed new venue and service 

users wanted the meals currently provided to be transferred to the new 
facility along with other facilities. 

Page 569

mailto:consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk


Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

4  
 

 
• Discussion with the service users showed that they value the work and 

friendliness of the staff at the centre and some of the comments were 
concerned about the impact the proposal would have on the staff. 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 
1.1 This report presents the findings of the consultation on proposals to 

relocate the services of Alec Jones Day Centre to a new Community 
Hub in Porth Plaza as part of a new proposed strategy for regenerating 
Porth Town Centre (also subject to consultation). 
 

1.2 Section 2 outlines some brief background. 
 

1.3 Section 3 details the methodology. 
 

1.4 Section 4 presents the results from the online questionnaire. 
 

1.5 Section 5 presents the views that were received at the engagement 
events. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 570



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

5  
 

 
 

 
2. BACKGROUND  

 
2.1  The proposed vision for Porth Town Centre is: 

 
‘To transform Porth Town Centre into a prosperous and attractive      
town, which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents 
and businesses; anchored by Porth Transport Hub and a much 
regenerated Station Quarter’. 
 

2.2  The proposed strategy has identified the site currently occupied by the 
Alec Jones Day Centre as having the potential to accommodate a new 
Transport Hub. This site is ideally positioned for a Transport Hub; 
housing a bus interchange, taxi rank, cycle racks and linking to the train 
station and the park & ride. The site covers approximately 1,700 sq m 
allowing for the delivery of a new fit for purpose bus station, which will 
act as a catalyst for a much-regenerated Station Quarter with a mix of 
commercial, retail, office and residential developments. 

 
2.3  The development of a Transport Hub at this site would provide an 

integrated and improved interchange that aligns both the bus and train 
stations that will allow them to cope with future, increased passenger 
numbers and increased services, whilst offering easy access to the 
whole public transport network. Opportunities to encourage active travel 
through improved pedestrian and cycle routes and the creation of cycle 
docking facilities will also be a key feature of the Transport Hub 
development 

 
2.4  The opportunity exists for Porth Plaza to be developed as a Community 

Hub to provide a range of Council services from the same location. 
In developing Porth Plaza into a Community Hub, it was proposed to re-
locate the services currently provided by Alec Jones Day Centre to the 
new Community Hub.  

 
2.5  Bringing the current Day Centre services together with other services 

would provide a better offer and create economies of scale in terms of 
staffing and building costs. Making better, more cost effective use of our 
community assets and reinvesting resources in new fit for purpose 
buildings would enable services to be sustainable in the longer term. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 571



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

6  
 

 
 
3 METHODOLOGY 
 
 
3.1 The targeted consultation ran for 6 weeks, from the 29th October to the 

10th December, 2018.  
 
3.2 The aim of the consultation was to gather the views of the Alec Jones 

Day Centre service users on the proposal to re-locate the services 
currently provided by the Day Centre to the new Community Hub in Porth 
Plaza. 

 
3.3 The following methods were used to consult with stakeholders; 
 

• An online and paper questionnaire. 
• 2 Drop in Engagement events on the 16th and the 22nd November 

2018. 
• A poster to advertise the above events. 
• A dedicated email address (consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk) and 

freepost address if needed. 
 
3.4  Overall, 27 people filled in a questionnaire and 39 people engaged 

directly with us at the events.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 572

mailto:consultation@rctcbc.gov.uk


Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

7  
 

 
 
4 Questionnaire Results 
 
 
4.1 27 survey responses were received. 
 
4.2 All responses received were from service users (26), apart from 1 who 

did not say. 
 
4.3 The main reasons for using the Day Centre were for meeting friends and 

socialising (22 service users) and to have lunch (19 service users) as 
shown below; 

 
Counts 
Base % 
Respondents 

  

Base 27 
100.0% 

If yes, what are your main reasons for 
using the Day Centre 

 

Meet friends / socialise 22 
81.5% 

To have lunch 19 
70.4% 

Member of a group that is based in the 
Day Centre 

9 
33.3% 

To take part in an activity that is provided 
at the Day Centre 

3 
11.1% 

Other (Please state) 2 
7.4%   

 
 
4.4 Further comments for the main reason for using the centre included; 
 

Breakfast everyday 
 
CISWO - Coal Industry Social Workers Organisation 
 
I have a shower there approx. twice weekly another purpose built facility. 
 
I take part in the nail cutting service provided. This is important to me as I can 
no longer reach and cut my own toenails. 
 

Page 573



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

8  
 

Old Age- Thursday, Bingo 
TV Room 
 
The cooked food at lunch time is so important to us. I attend the nail cutting 
service. 
 
The Centre provides me with a sense of companionship and I enjoy a warm 
affordable meal 
 
Would be happy to join new groups and activities 
 

 
4.5 Respondents were asked what they would do if the Day Centre activities 

were to transfer to Porth Plaza.  The majority (24 service users) who 
responded to this question said they would attend the new community 
Hub and nobody stated that they would stop using the service. 

 
Counts 
Base % 
Respondents 

  

Base 26 
100.0% 

If the Day Centre activities were to 
transfer to Porth Plaza 

 

Attend the new Community Hub in Porth 
Plaza 

24 
92.3% 

Stop attending the Day Centre - 
- 

Attend an alternative venue 1 
3.8% 

Other (Please State) 1 
3.8% 

 
 
4.6 Further comments in relation to activities at the centre included; 
 

As long as they have the meals and nail cutting service. 
 
Free to attend. Big enough for 25/30 people. Private area. Accessible/lift. 
 
Tea/coffee 
 
Need to be central to Porth. Meal provisions. 

 
 
 
 

Page 574



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

9  
 

 
 
4.7 Respondents were asked what they would do If the Day Centre meals 

were to transfer to Porth Plaza.  Nearly all (21 service users), who 
responded to this question said they would attend the new Community 
Hub for a meal. 

 
Counts 
Base % 
Respondents 

  

Base 23 
100.0% 

If the Day Centre meals were to transfer to Porth Plaza, 
... 

 

Attend the new Community Hub in Porth Plaza 21 
91.3% 

Stop attending the Day Centre - 
- 

Attend an alternative venue 1 
4.3% 

Other (Please State) 1 
4.3% 

 
 
4.8 Further comments from the service users focussed on the desire to have 

the same service and type of meal as they currently receive in the Day 
Centre.  

 
Cooked dinners- would want exactly the same at the same price 
 
Meals the same. Price the same. Service received. 
 
Meals, price and service the same 
 
Would expect to have the same type of meal as I get in Alec Jones 
 
Same meals- hot meals 
 
Don't know- parking is a problem by the Plaza. Want similar meals. 
 
Is there enough room to prepare cooked food in the Plaza because we want 
our dinner there 

 
 
 
 

Page 575



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

10  
 

 
 
4.9 Service users were asked how the transfer of the day centre would 

impact upon them.  The following are a selection of the comments 
received; 

 
No Impact 
 
As I have had confirmation that my group can continue to meet in the plaza 
with the same conditions there will be no impact. 
 
No difference as long as you can still have meals and socialise 
 
No impact 
 
None if like for like 
 
Would attend in Porth Plaza 
 
Would make it easier 
 
It would be just a matter of getting used to the new venue 

 
 Parking Concerns 
 

Difficult parking 
 
Did query car parking in the town centre. 
 
I have concerns about the parking availability around the Plaza 
 
Parking/disabled. Unsure. 
 
Parking availability 
 
Personally, I am capable of the extra walking involved, should I need to use my 
car then parking space is needed. 
 
Wouldn't see friends as they couldn't park. Isolation. 
 
Other concerns 
 
Health and safety- dangerous y/p running around. Need our own area. 
 
I will miss the warmth and kindness 
 
Large impact- attended for 16 years 
 

Page 576



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

11  
 

Loss of social outlet 
Longer walk to get there from my bus stop. Sometimes I take the taxi, not 
regular. 
 
Negative impact if there is nowhere to go or nothing to do during the days 
 

 
4.10 Any other comments and suggestions included; 
 
 
 Similar Service required 
 

As long as kept the same would be happy 
 

Meals 
 

I feel that the Porth plaza should be able to provide an adequate meal service 
in line with the Alec Jones day centre, a service well provided by the workforce 
down the years 
 
If meals at lunchtime can't be provided toast and tea provision would be 
important. Want somewhere to sit and socialise all AM. Not a café feel 

 
 Staff 
 

I am concerned about the staff 
 
We are worried about the ladies working at Alec Jones Day Centre. They cook 
good food we want them to cook for us. 

 
 Parking 
 

Concerned about car parking around the plaza 
 

Keep the Day Centre as it is 
 

Keep it as it is. Take account of older people and disabled. 
 
Keep this open 
 
Keep the Alec Jones Day Centre, instead build bus station etc. around this. 

 
 

Respondent Profile 
 
4.11 The gender split of respondents was 50/50. 
 
4.12 The majority of respondents were 75+ (84%) 
 

Page 577



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

12  
 

4.13 Under the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duties, the 
Council has a legal duty to look at how its decisions impact on people 
because they may have particular characteristics.  The comments 
below show a selection of those received;  

 
 Age 

Age and Mobility - my eyes are very poor. I would need to get used to going to 
another building. 
Age, Disability 
Disability 
 
 

4.14 Under the Welsh Language Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language 
Standards the Council has a legal duty to look at how the decisions 
impact on the Welsh Language.  The comments below show a 
selection of those received;  

 
As I attend a welsh group I feel that more people may attend the centre. 
Consideration for Welsh classes 
This centre already has a Welsh language class 10am Friday takes place in the 
TV room. 
 

 
4.15 As part of the consultation process the Council also engaged with the 

family of the late Alec Jones’ regarding the proposals to relocate the Day 
Centre to the new Community Hub in Porth Plaza and to look at how it 
could recognise the name and contribution made by Alec Jones going 
forward if the proposals were agreed. The family suggested an 
appropriate way in which to recognise Alex Jones’ positive contribution 
would be to erect a plaque on the site of the former Day Centre or new 
Transport Hub.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 578



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

13  
 

 
5 Engagement Events  
 
 
 Drop In events 
 
5.1 We engaged with 39 people at the drop in events.  The Day Centre 

service users were mainly guided through the questionnaire to respond. 
In addition the conversations at the events can be summarised under 
the following themes; 

  
 
Keep the Centre 
 
• Purpose built building and facilities why not keep 
• Why can’t they build the bus station next to the Day Centre? 
• Purpose built, 30 years ago, stay as it is here 
• Was purposefully built using European funding 

 
Replicate in Porth Plaza 

• Importance of the Centre for social interaction.  The new one needs 
to look the same. 

• Nail cutting facility must continue 
• Need similar size rooms/space as are available now. 
• Old Age Arosfa Group (Bingo – 30 people) - Meet every other 

week, would like to meet weekly in Porth Plaza if possible. 
Happy to move across, as long as they can continue to meet and 
hopefully weekly. 

 
Meals  

• Concerns about the layout and open plan nature of the existing 
Porth Plaza. Some service users wanted to see a separate dining 
area exclusively for their use.  

• Concerns that the cooking facilities in Porth are not adequate/large 
enough 

• The provision at Porth Plaza should be the same type of meals, 
available at the same time of day and at the same cost. 

• Want hot food/meals the same as they are now. 
• Hot meals at same cost as now. 
• Not so much about moving down to Porth Plaza, more about the 

fact we want hot meals down there 
 
 

Page 579



Alec Jones Day Centre Consultation   December 2018 
 

14  
 

Parking 

• Disabled parking issues at the Porth Plaza, lack of parking 

 
 

Health/Social 

• Health - “helps with my depression” 
• Fairly mobile so I will  be able to get to the Porth Plaza 
• Good for old and disabled people in the community 
• Saves money on placements in care and health 
• Helps with loneliness and isolation, depression and dementia 
• Interaction with people important 
• Older people need help cooking, due to health, standing up and 

mental health. 

Other 

• Need for the shower room 
• TV Room well used 
• Dangerous road on the corner of Porth Plaza, could be dangerous, 

may need a new crossing 
 

 
 
 

__________________________________________________ 
 

Page 580



Document is Restricted

Page 581

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 589

By virtue of paragraph(s) 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 591

By virtue of paragraph(s) 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 PROPOSALS TO ESTABLISH PRIMARY EDUCATION PROVISION FOR THE LLANILID HOUSING DEVELOPMENT
	Authors: Andrea Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools and Lisa Howell, Business and School Organisation Manager.
	Consultation Report Dolau;Llanilud
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Document and Impact Assessments
	Appendix 2 - Llanilid Consultation Meetings
	Appendix 3 - Consultation responses

	4 21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS PROGRAMME - PROPOSALS TO IMPROVE EDUCATION PROVISION IN CYNON VALLEY
	Authors: Andrea Richards, Head of 21st Century Schools and Lisa Howell, Business and School Organisation Manager.
	Consultation Report Hirwaun-Penderyn Final
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Document and Impact Assessments
	Appendix 2 - Consultation meeting notes
	Appendix 3 - Draft Scrutiny Minutes
	Appendix 4 - Consultation responses

	5 PROPOSAL TO RE-ALIGN LEARNING SUPPORT CLASS PROVISION WITHIN RCT
	FINAL Cabinet feedback report 16.1.19
	FINAL Cabinet feedback report 16.1.19
	Introduction

	Appendix 1a
	FINAL Cabinet feedback report 16.1.19
	Introduction
	3.  Who does it apply to? Please indicate by highlighting or deleting as appropriate
	Addressing the Impact

	People / issues to consider
	Positive
	Age 
	(young and old)


	6 KEY STAGE 4 AND KEY STAGE 5 EXAMINATION RESULTS AND PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOL CATEGORISATION FOR 2018
	7 NATIONAL ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2017/2018 AND THE VALE, VALLEYS AND CARDIFF REGIONAL ADOPTION COLLABORATIVE ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18
	App 1 - VVC Annual Report 1.4.17- 31.3.18
	App 1A - VVC Annual Report 2017-2018 (081018)
	App 2 - National Adoption Wales Annual Report  2017-2018

	8 THE INTRODUCTION OF FIXED PENALTY NOTICES TO DEAL WITH SMALL SCALE FLY-TIPPING
	9 PORTH TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION STRATEGY
	Item:
	Background Papers
	Porth Town Centre Strategy 2018 v.03
	Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment Form relocation of Alec Jones Day Centre
	Appendix 3 - Porth Town Centre full consultation report
	CONTENTS
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2.      BACKGROUND
	3.     METHODOLOGY
	4 CONSULTATION RESULTS

	Apendix 4 - Alec Jones Day Centre Full Consultation report
	CONTENTS
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. BACKGROUND


	11 REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S SENIOR AND ASSOCIATED MANAGEMENT POST STRUCTURE - UPDATE
	Appx 2 (i) - CHIEF EXEC -  UPDATE Proposed April 2019
	Appx 2 (iv) - UPDATE PROSP DEVEL & FL SERVICES -  Proposed April 2019


